Advances in Neuroethics Series Editors: V. Dubljević · F. Jotterand · R.J. Jox · E. Racine

L. Syd M Johnson Andrew Fenton Adam Shriver *Editors*

Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals



Advances in Neuroethics

Series Editors

Veljko Dubljević North Carolina State University Raleigh, NC, USA

Fabrice Jotterand Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, USA

Ralf J. Jox Lausanne University Hospital and University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

Eric Racine IRCM, Université de Montréal, and McGill University Montréal, QC, Canada Advances in neuroscience research are bringing to the forefront major benefits and ethical challenges for medicine and society. The ethical concerns related to patients with mental health and neurological conditions, as well as emerging social and philosophical problems created by advances in neuroscience, neurology and neurotechnology are addressed by a specialized and interdisciplinary field called neuroethics.

As neuroscience rapidly evolves, there is a need to define how society ought to move forward with respect to an ever growing range of issues. The ethical, legal and social ramifications of neuroscience, neurotechnology and neurology for research, patient care, and public health are diverse and far-reaching — and are only beginning to be understood.

In this context, the book series "Advances in Neuroethics" addresses how advances in brain sciences can be attended to for the benefit of patients and society at large.

Members of the international editorial board:

- Bernard Baertschi, University of Geneva, Switzerland
- James Bernat, Dartmouth College, Hannover, USA
- Hillel Braude, Mifne Center, Rosh Pinna, Israel
- Jennifer Chandler, University of Ottawa, Canada
- Hervé Chneiweiss, Sorbonne, Paris, France
- Kathinka Evers, Uppsala University, Sweden
- Joseph J. Fins, Weil Cornell Medical College, New York, USA
- Paul Ford, Cleveland Clinic, USA
- Walter Glannon, University of Calgary, Canada
- Judy Illes, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada
- Neil Levy, Florey Institute of Neuroscience and Mental Health, Melbourne, Australia
- Jorge Moll, D'Or Institute for Research and Education, Botafogo, Brazil
- Jonathan Moreno, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, USA
- Karen S. Rommelfanger, Emory University, Atlanta, USA
- Dan Stein, University of Cape Town, South Africa
- Nicole Vincent, Georgia State University, Atlanta, USA
- Kevin Chien Chang Wu, National Taiwan University, Taipei City, Taiwan

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/14360

L. Syd M Johnson • Andrew Fenton • Adam Shriver Editors

Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals



Editors L. Syd M Johnson Center for Bioethics and Humanities SUNY Upstate Medical University Syracuse, NY, USA

Humanities Department Michigan Technological University Houghton, MI, USA

Adam Shriver Oxford Uehiro Centre for Practical Ethics University of Oxford Oxford, United Kingdom Andrew Fenton Department of Philosophy Dalhousie University Halifax, NS, Canada

 ISSN 2522-5677
 ISSN 2522-5685
 (electronic)

 Advances in Neuroethics
 ISBN 978-3-030-31010-3
 ISBN 978-3-030-31011-0
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

Chapter 13 is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). For further details see license information in the chapter.

All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG. The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Acknowledgments

Thanks to MacGregor Malloy and Robby Berman for their assistance in preparing the manuscript for publication.

Contents

1	Introduction to Animal Neuroethics: What and Why? L. Syd M Johnson	1
Par	t I Neuroscience of Nonhuman Minds	
2	Sentience and Consciousness as Bases for Attributing Interests and Moral Status: Considering the Evidence and Speculating Slightly Beyond David DeGrazia	17
3	The Human Challenge in Understanding Animal Cognition Christophe Boesch	33
4	Mental Capacities of Fishes Lynne U. Sneddon and Culum Brown	53
5	Bovine Prospection, the Mesocorticolimbic Pathways, and Neuroethics: Is a Cow's Future Like Ours?	73
6	Speciesism and Human Supremacy in Animal Neuroscience Robert C. Jones	99
Par	t II Neuroethical Issues and Nonhuman Animals	
7	On Mitigating the Cruelty of Natural Selection Through Humane Genome Editing	119
8	In Defense of Neural Disenhancement to Promote Animal Welfare	135
9	The Four Cs of Modern (Neuro)ethology and Neuroethics:Cognition, Complexity, Conation, and CultureSimon Gadbois	151

10	as an Ethical Issue for Captive Dolphins and Whales	177
11	Animal Rights and Captivity in a Non-Ideal World	191
12	Nonhuman, All Too Human: Toward Developing Policiesfor Ethical Chimera ResearchG. K. D. Crozier, Andrew Fenton, Letitia Meynell,and David M. Peña-Guzmán	205
13	The Role of Neuroscience in Precise, Precautionary, and Probabilistic Accounts of Sentience	221
Par	t III Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animal Research Ethics	
14	A Threshold Standard for Regulating Invasive Nonhuman Primate Research in the Age of the Major Brain Projects	237
	Tom Buller	
15	Tom Buller The Right to Bodily Sovereignty and Its Importance to Mental and Physical Well-Being Hope Ferdowsian	255
15 16	Tom Buller The Right to Bodily Sovereignty and Its Importance to Mental and Physical Well-Being Hope Ferdowsian The Trouble with Animal Models in Brain Research L. Syd M Johnson	255 271
15 16 17	Tom BullerThe Right to Bodily Sovereignty and Its Importance to Mental and Physical Well-BeingHope FerdowsianThe Trouble with Animal Models in Brain ResearchL. Syd M JohnsonAnimal Models and the Search for Drug Treatments for Traumatic Brain InjuryPandora Pound	255 271 287

Editors and Contributors

About the Editors

L. Syd M Johnson is a philosopher/bioethicist/neuroethicist and Associate Professor in the Center for Bioethics and Humanities at Upstate Medical University. She is an Associate Editor for *Neuroethics* and a member of the NIH BRAIN Initiative Neuroethics Working Group. Dr. Johnson's books include *The Routledge Handbook of Neuroethics* (with Karen Rommelfanger, Routledge, 2018) and *Chimpanzee Rights: The Philosophers' Brief* (Routledge, 2019), and her articles have appeared in numerous bioethics, neuroscientific, and medical journals. Her research focuses on ethical issues related to brain injuries, including sport-related neurotrauma, brain death, and disorders of consciousness, and her interest in all things with brains includes every kind of critter, zombies, and robots.

Andrew Fenton is Associate Professor in the Department of Philosophy at Dalhousie University. He has authored or coauthored papers related to animal philosophy or animal research ethics in such journals as *Biology and Philosophy*, *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics, Developing World Bioethics, Journal of Animal Ethics*, and *The Monist* and has chapters on these topics in *The Routledge Handbook of Neuroethics* (coedited by L. Syd M Johnson and Karen Rommelfanger, Routledge, 2018), *The Routledge Handbook of Philosophy of Animal Minds* (coedited by Kristin Andrews and Jacob Beck, Routledge, 2018), and the *Philosophy of Behavioral Biology* (coedited by Kathryn Plaisance and Thomas Reydon, Springer, 2012). Fenton has also been a part of a small but mighty group of philosophers submitting amici curiae in support of two cases spearheaded by the Nonhuman Rights Project. These recent efforts resulted in a coauthored book, *Chimpanzee Rights: The Philosophers' Brief* (Routledge, 2019), whose royalties go to the Nonhuman Rights Project.

Adam Shriver is a Research Fellow at the Oxford Uehiro Centre for Practical Ethics and the Wellcome Centre for Ethics and Humanities at the University of Oxford. A graduate of the interdisciplinary Philosophy-Neuroscience-Psychology (PNP) program at Washington University in St. Louis, he has published articles at the intersection of animal ethics and the neurosciences in journals such as

Philosophical Psychology, Neuroethics, The Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics, and The Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics. Adam coorganized a pre-conference workshop on Animals and Neuroethics for the 2009 Society for Philosophy and Psychology annual meeting, coauthored the introduction to a special issue of the Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics on Neuroethics and Animals (2014), and organized a 2016 workshop on Animal Research Neuroethics at the University of Pennsylvania with funding from the Alternatives Research Development Foundation.

About the Authors

Christophe Boesch is the director of the Department of Primatology of the Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology in Leipzig, Germany. He is also the founder and president of the Wild Chimpanzee Foundation (www.wildchimps.org). Boesch's first field experience started in 1973, when he conducted census work on the mountain gorillas of Virunga National Park in Rwanda, under the supervision of Dian Fossey. In 1976, Boesch began his long-term fieldwork with chimpanzees at Taï National Park in Côte d'Ivoire. The Taï chimpanzee project has been ongoing since 1997 and includes students studying all aspects of the ecology, social organization, tool use, hunting, cooperation, food-sharing, intercommunity relationships, and cultural and cognitive capacities of this population of chimpanzees.

Culum Brown studies behavioral ecology of fishes with a special interest in cognition, personality, and laterality. He is Professor of vertebrate evolution at Macquarie University, coeditor of the volume *Fish Cognition and Behavior*, and Editor of the *Journal of Fish Biology*.

Tom Buller is Professor of Philosophy at Illinois State University. Recent publications include "The New Ethics of Neuroethics" (*Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics*, 2018); "The Future of Neuroethics Research and Training" in *The Debate About Neuroethics*, edited by Racine E and Aspler J (Springer, 2017); "Advance Consent, Critical Interests, and Dementia Research" (*Journal of Medical Ethics*, 2015); and "Animal Minds and Neuroimaging: Bridging the Gap between Science and Ethics?" (*Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics*, 2014).

Gary L. Comstock is Professor of Philosophy at North Carolina State University where he conducts research on ethical questions in the biological sciences. The author of two books, *Research Ethics: A Philosophical Guide to the Responsible Conduct of Research* (Cambridge University Press, 2013) and *Vexing Nature? On the Ethical Case Against Agricultural Biotechnology* (Kluwer, 2000), he is coauthor of *Chimpanzee Rights: The Philosophers' Brief* (Routledge, 2019) and coeditor of *The Moral Rights of Animals* (Lexington Press, 2016). He has written on ethical questions surrounding the study of animal behavior and neuroanatomy, the genetic modification of farm animals, the permissibility of hunting, machine medical ethics, and animal metacognition. Recent papers take up legal questions concerning the intrinsic value of companion animals and the merits of the argument for animal rights from overlapping species.

G. K. D. Crozier is Professor of Philosophy at Laurentian University in Sudbury, Canada, and cofounder of the multidisciplinary Centre for Evolutionary Ecology and Ethical Conservation. Dr. Crozier holds a Canada Research Chair in Environment, Culture and Values.

David DeGrazia is Elton Professor of Philosophy at George Washington University and Senior Research Fellow in the National Institutes of Health Department of Bioethics. His writings about animals include *Taking Animals Seriously: Mental Life and Moral Status* (Cambridge University Press, 1996), *Animal Rights: A Very Short Introduction* (Oxford University Press, 2002), and, with Tom Beauchamp, *Principles of Animal Research Ethics* (Oxford University Press, forthcoming 2019).

Rey Edison is a graduate student at the MIT Media Lab. Their current research includes considering genetic methods of improving animal well-being, modeling gene drives to assess safety and efficacy, and other technologies based on evolutionary principles.

Kevin Esvelt is Assistant Professor at the MIT Media Lab, where he leads the Sculpting Evolution Group in exploring evolutionary and ecological engineering. The first to realize that CRISPR "gene drive" systems could unilaterally alter wild populations of organisms, Esvelt and his colleagues revealed their findings and called for open discussion and safeguards before they demonstrated the technology in the laboratory. At MIT, the Sculpting Evolution Group develops localized technologies for community-guided environmental editing. Guided by the people of Nantucket and Martha's Vineyard, they are the technical hands of the "Mice Against Ticks" project aiming to prevent tick-borne disease and are working with Maori and other New Zealanders on humanely removing invasive rodents. Other research interests include unraveling the workings of molecular evolution and reducing animal suffering in the laboratory, the city, and the farm. An outspoken advocate of sharing research plans to accelerate discovery and improve research safety, Esvelt seeks to use gene drive as a catalyst to reform the scientific ecosystem. His work has appeared in major scientific journals, including *Nature* and *Science*, and features regularly in popular media, including The New York Times, The New Yorker, and NPR.

Andrew Fenton is Associate Professor in the Department of Philosophy at Dalhousie University. He has authored or coauthored papers related to animal philosophy or animal research ethics in such journals as *Biology and Philosophy*, *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics, Developing World Bioethics, Journal of*

Animal Ethics, and The Monist and has chapters on these topics in The Routledge Handbook of Neuroethics (coedited by L. Syd M Johnson and Karen Rommelfanger, Routledge, 2018), The Routledge Handbook of Philosophy of Animal Minds (coedited by Kristin Andrews and Jacob Beck, Routledge, 2018), and the Philosophy of Behavioral Biology (coedited by Kathryn Plaisance and Thomas Reydon, Springer, 2012). Fenton has also been a part of a small but mighty group of philosophers submitting amici curiae in support of two cases spearheaded by the Nonhuman Rights Project. These recent efforts resulted in a coauthored book, Chimpanzee Rights: The Philosophers' Brief (Routledge, 2019), whose royalties go to the Nonhuman Rights Project.

Hope Ferdowsian MD, MPH, is a fellow of the American College of Physicians and the American College of Preventive Medicine. She has served as an assistant clinical professor of medicine at the George Washington University School of Medicine and Health Sciences, as an associate professor of Microbiology and Immunology at Georgetown University, and now as an associate professor in the Department of Internal Medicine at the University of New Mexico School of Medicine. As an internist and preventive medicine and public health physician, her expertise spans the fields of medicine, public health, and ethics. She has lectured in academic centers and public spaces in North America, Europe, Asia, Africa, and Australia. Internationally, she has worked in the Democratic Republic of Congo, Ethiopia, Kenya, Malawi, South Africa, Uganda, and the Federated States of Micronesia. Domestically, she works with nonprofit organizations providing healthcare and advocacy for vulnerable populations. Her work primarily focuses on the connections between the rights, health, and well-being of people and animals, and she has published broadly in this area. Her recent book, Phoenix Zones: Where Strength Is Born and Resilience Lives (The University of Chicago Press, 2018), also explores this topic.

Bob Fischer is Associate Professor in the Department of Philosophy at Texas State University. He is the author of *The Ethics of Eating Animals* (Routledge, 2019), *Animal Ethics—A Contemporary Introduction* (Routledge, forthcoming), and many essays on topics in applied ethics.

Simon Gadbois is the director of the Canid (and Reptile) Behaviour and Olfaction Laboratory in the Department of Psychology and Neuroscience at Dalhousie University. He integrates the disciplines of ethology, comparative psychology (animal psychophysics specifically), and neuroscience in his research, as well as the schools of zoosemiotics, post-cognitivism, and classical ethology. He worked closely with John Fentress, Peter McLeod, and Fred Harrington in lupine behavioral endocrinology and wild canid natural action sequences. He is a species generalist, having worked with invertebrates, fish, reptiles, birds, and mammals, and combines field work and lab experiments in his research. His current interests include reptile

conservation and the study of wild and domestic Canids, in particular social behavior, communication, and olfaction.

Robert Garner is Professor of Politics in the School of History, Politics and International Relations at the University of Leicester. He has published widely on animal ethics and politics. His books include *Animals, Politics and Morality* (Manchester University Press, 2004), *Animal Ethics* (Polity Press, 2005), *The Political Theory of Animal Rights* (Manchester University Press, 2005), and *A Theory of Justice for Animals* (Oxford University Press, 2013).

L. Syd M Johnson is a philosopher/bioethicist/neuroethicist and Associate Professor in the Center for Bioethics and Humanities at Upstate Medical University. She is an Associate Editor for *Neuroethics* and a member of the NIH BRAIN Initiative Neuroethics Working Group. Dr. Johnson's books include *The Routledge Handbook of Neuroethics* (with Karen Rommelfanger, Routledge, 2018) and *Chimpanzee Rights: The Philosophers' Brief* (Routledge, 2019), and her articles have appeared in numerous bioethics, neuroscientific, and medical journals. Her research focuses on ethical issues related to brain injuries, including sport-related neurotrauma, brain death, and disorders of consciousness, and her interest in all things with brains includes every kind of critter, zombies, and robots.

Robert C. Jones is Associate Professor in the Department of Philosophy at California State University, Dominguez Hills. He works on questions at the intersection of applied ethics, animal cognition, speciesism, and social justice, with a focus on animal liberation theory and activism. He is a contributing author to *Chimpanzee Rights: The Philosophers' Brief* (Routledge, 2019), and his essays include "Animal Cognition and Moral Status" in *The Routledge Companion to Environmental Ethics*, edited by Andrew Light and Benjamin Hale (Routledge, forthcoming); "The Precautionary Principle: A Cautionary Note" (*Animal Sentience: An Interdisciplinary Journal on Animal Feeling*, 2017); "Veganism as an Aspiration" (with Lori Gruen) in *The Moral Complexities of Eating Meat*, edited by Ben Bramble and Bob Fischer (Oxford University Press, 2015); "Animal Rights is a Social Justice Issue" (*Contemporary Justice Review*, 2015); "Science, Sentience, and Animal Welfare" (*Biology & Philosophy*, 2013); and "A Review of the Institute of Medicine's Analysis of using Chimpanzees in Biomedical Research" (with Ray Greek, Science and Engineering Ethics, 2014).

Lori Marino is a neuroscientist and expert in animal behavior and intelligence who was on the faculty of Emory University for twenty years. She is founder and president of *The Whale Sanctuary Project*, whose mission is to create the first permanent seaside sanctuary for captive orcas and beluga whales in North America. She is also executive director of *The Kimmela Center for Animal Advocacy*, a science-based nonprofit organization combining academic scholarship with animal advocacy. Dr. Marino has published over 130 peer-reviewed scientific papers, book chapters, and magazine articles on brain evolution, intelligence and self-awareness

in other animals, human-nonhuman animal relationships, and captivity issues, including "Self-recognition in the bottlenose dolphin: A case of cognitive convergence" (with Diana Reiss, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 2001); "Cortical complexity in cetacean brains" (with Patrick Hof and Rebecca Chanis, *The Anatomical Record*, 2005); "Brain structure and intelligence in cetaceans" in *Whales and Dolphins: culture, cognition and conservation*, edited by P Brakes, MP Simmonds, C Bass (Earthscan, 2011); "Do zoos and aquariums promote attitude change in visitors? A critical evaluation of the American Zoo and Aquarium study" (with Scott Lilienfeld, Randy Malamud, Nathan Nobis, and Ron Broglio, *Society and Animals*, 2010); and "Captivity" in *Critical Terms for Animal Studies*, edited by Lori Gruen (University of Chicago, 2018).

Letitia Meynell is Associate Professor of Philosophy (cross-appointed with Gender and Women's Studies) at Dalhousie University in Nova Scotia. Her work includes *Chimpanzee Rights: The Philosophers' Brief* (2019) with twelve coauthors, "Insight and Imagination: A New Account of the Content of Thought Experiments" (*Synthese*, 2014), and "Evolutionary Psychology, Ethology and Essentialism (Because What They Don't Know Can Hurt Us)" (*Hypatia*, 2012).

David M. Peña-Guzmán is Assistant Professor in Humanities and Liberal Studies at San Francisco State University. He holds an M.A. and Ph.D. in Philosophy from Emory University and has been a Postdoctoral Fellow at the Centre for Evolutionary Ecology and Ethical Conservation at Laurentian University and at the Berman Institute of Bioethics at Johns Hopkins University. His interests include animal studies, the history and philosophy of science, continental philosophy, meta-philosophy, and social theory. His work has appeared in journals such as *Animal Sentience, Foucault Studies, Hypatia,* and *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part A*.

Pandora Pound has been conducting research since 1990 and has worked within universities and medical schools throughout the UK, mainly in the field of public health. She was an early proponent of the need for systematic reviews of animal research and has published on the need for an evidence-based approach in this field. In 2017, she left academia to focus on this issue and to work toward more humanrelevant approaches to the development and testing of medicines and now works for Safer Medicines Trust, UK. Her published papers include "Better science for safer medicines: the human imperative" (with K Archibald, K Tsaioun, and JG Kenna, Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine, 2018); "Is it possible to overcome issues of external validity in preclinical animal research? Why most animal models are bound to fail" (with M Ritskes-Hoitinga M, Journal Translational Medicine 2018); "Retrospective harm benefit analysis of pre-clinical animal research for six treatment interventions" (with CJ Nicol, PLoS ONE 2018); "Transparency and public involvement in animal research" (with R Blaug, Alternatives to laboratory animals: ATLA, 2016), 167–173; "Is animal research sufficiently evidence based to be a cornerstone of biomedical research?" (with M Bracken, British Medical Journal, 2014); and "Where is the evidence that animal research benefits humans?" (with S Ebrahim, P Sandercock, M Bracken, and I Roberts, *British Medical Journal*, 2004).

Adam Shriver is a Research Fellow at the Oxford Uehiro Centre for Practical Ethics and the Wellcome Centre for Ethics and Humanities at the University of Oxford. A graduate of the interdisciplinary Philosophy-Neuroscience-Psychology (PNP) program at Washington University in St. Louis, he has published articles at the intersection of animal ethics and the neurosciences in journals such as *Philosophical Psychology, Neuroethics, The Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics,* and *The Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics.* Dr. Shriver co-organized a pre-conference workshop on Animals and Neuroethics for the 2009 Society for Philosophy and Psychology annual meeting, coauthored the introduction to a special issue of the *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics* and Animals (2014), and organized a 2016 workshop on Animal Research Neuroethics at the University of Pennsylvania with funding from the Alternatives Research Development Foundation.

Lynne U. Sneddon Director, Bioveterinary Science, University of Liverpool, was the first researcher to discover nociceptors that detect painful stimuli in fish in 2002. Her empirical studies have driven the fish welfare agenda in many contexts and led to the development of a contemporary definition of animal pain. She is Chair of the Animal Section, Society for Experimental Biology; performs editorial roles for several journals; and is a research grant panel member for NC3Rs UK.

List of Figures

Fig. 3.1	Schematic illustration of the influences that mold	
	cognition in individuals. In nature, an individual is	
	always confronted with the simultaneous influences of	
	his genetic characteristics, his life historical traits, the	
	environment he inhabits, and the social life of his group	
	(for social species). If the first two present limited	
	variations, the last two can be highly variable within	
	a species whose distribution covers different environment	
	types. Finally, in some species, cultural aspects are also	
	among the factors that may affect the development of	
	cognitive abilities. For some influences, I provided	
	in brackets some of the dimensions of the influences	
	expected to more directly affect cognition	37
Fig. 3.2	The different sizes of the layers represent the selective	
	pressure they impose on the individuals. In wide-ranging	
	animal species, the environment may differ quite	
	importantly and will directly influence the complexity	
	of the ecological challenges experienced by the individuals.	
	The diagram on the left illustrates a complex and challenging	
	environment, as shown in Fig. 3.1. The diagram on the right	
	represents a comparatively simple environment where the	
	selective pressures of the environment and social life are	
	more limited	37
Fig 4 1	A diagrammatic representation of the abilities that make	
1 15. 1.1	an animal sentient. Animals should have some of the following	
	and not necessarily all of these: an ability to evaluate the	
	ability of others in relationship to itself and third parties	
	and be able to form relationships with others: remember	
	its own actions and use memories to inform future behavior:	
	assess the risks and benefits of its situation or its behavioral	
	choices: experience positive and negative affective states:	
	and have some degree of awareness or basic consciousness	
	(Adapted from Broom [8])	55

Fig. 4.2	Direct reciprocity is rarely seen in birds and mammals but here are photographs depicting this complex behavior in rabbitfishes. The foraging individual (in the head-down position) feeds in cracks and crevices in the substratum, while the vigilant individual is positioned in the water column with its head up. Note the obstructions to the visual field of the forager, suggesting high vulnerability to predation and the unobstructed field of perception of the vigilant fish. (a) <i>Siganus corallinus</i> , (b) <i>S. vulpinus</i> , (c) <i>S. doliatus</i> , (d) <i>S. nucllus</i> (Takap from Brandl and Ballwood [12])	
	Photographs taken and owned by Jordan M. Casey.	
	reproduced under a Creative Commons License	
	http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)	57
Fig. 4.3	Social buffering of fear responses in zebrafish where the focal fish were held alone or with conspecifics and exposed to an inpute predator que, alarm substance. Freezing, an anti-predator	
	hehavior was reduced in the social treatments compared	
	to social isolation (a) Schematic representation of the	
	behavioral treatments. From left to right: Alone Ctrl_alone	
	focal fish (red outline) administered with water.	
	Alone AS-alone focal fish (red filling) administered with	
	AS, SB $(O + V)$ Ctrl-focal fish (green outline) administered	
	with water and exposed simultaneously to shoal water and	
	a shoal of 8 conspecifics, and SB ($O + V$) AS-focal fish	
	(green filling) administered with AS and exposed	
	simultaneously to shoal water and a shoal of 8 conspecifics.	
	Gray and red drops represent water and AS administration,	
	respectively. (b) 3D plots representative of each behavioral	
	treatment. Each 3D plot represents the first 5 min after AS	
	onset for the focal fish closest to the mean in each treatment.	
	n = 20 per treatment. Total freezing percentages	
	presented (red circles) in each 3D plot are	
	(from left to right) Alone_Ctrl-1.95%, Alone_AS-56.24%,	
	SB (O + V)_Ctrl=0.00%, and SB (O + V)_AS=23.32%.	
	(c) Freezing % in baseline (Bl) vs. first 5 min after AS onset	
	(AS). $n = 20$ per treatment. Mean \pm SEM are shown.	
	p' < 0.05, p' < 0.01, and precise 0.001. (d) Freezing %	
	over the 30 min test in 10 min bins. $n = 20$ per treatment.	
	Mean \pm SEM are shown. $*p' < 0.05, **p' < 0.01,$	
	and $***p' < 0.001$ (Reproduced from Faustino et al. [89]	
	under a Creative Commons License	
	http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)	63

Fig. 5.1	The reward system: liking, wanting, learning. Reprinted	
	with permission from Elsevier [59]	83
Fig. 5.2	Prediction: bovine SEEKING system. Figure based on	
	midsagittal view, "The brain of Bos taurus,	
	version 3.0" [71], reprinted with permission of Floris	
	Wouterlood, with hypothetical markings	
	and labels superimposed and brain circumference outline	
	removed	86
Fig. 5.3	Hierarchical topography of temporal receptive windows	
	in fMRI image. Reprinted with permission of The Journal	
	of Neuroscience from [74]. Figure cropped and modified	
	with permission of Uri Hasson	88
Fig. 5.4	Prediction: bovine BELIEF system. Figure based on lateral	
	view figure of "The brain of Bos taurus, version 3.0" [71],	
	reprinted with permission of Floris Wouterlood, with	
	hypothetical markings and labels superimposed	89
Fig. 7.1	Domesticated livestock mammals outmass all wild terrestrial	
	mammals combined by a factor of 14. Domesticated chickens	
	outmass all wild birds by a factor of 3	121
Fig. 9.1	The perspectives of the cognitive sciences, affective	
0	neurosciences, and post-Cognitivism in regard to the	
	three components of the mind/brain	158
	1	



Introduction to Animal Neuroethics: What and Why?

L. Syd M Johnson

Abstract

The emergence and development of neuroethics over the last two decades has occurred in parallel with progress and advancement in several separate sciences, including various neurosciences, comparative psychology, comparative cognition, and ethology. The rapid growth of knowledge about animal brains, minds, intelligence, culture, behaviors, and capacities made by these sciences continues to be integrated into the philosophical discourse on animal ethics, but has thus far had little impact on animal research regulations. Our aim is to bend what have heretofore been more or less parallel tracks into convergence and intersection, and examine the implications of neuroscientific research for our understanding of the minds of other animals, the moral status of these animals, and our moral obligations to them. We challenge neuroethics to adopt a less anthropocentric focus and explore how growing knowledge of nonhuman minds challenges human supremacy.

Keywords

Animals \cdot Neuroethics \cdot Anthropocentrism \cdot Human supremacy

1.1 Introduction

The emergence and development of neuroethics over the last two decades has occurred in parallel with progress and advancement in several separate sciences, including various neurosciences, comparative psychology, comparative cognition, and ethology. The rapid growth of knowledge about animal brains, minds,

L. S. M. Johnson (🖂)

Center for Bioethics and Humanities, SUNY Upstate Medical University, Syracuse, NY, USA

Humanities Department, Michigan Technological University, Houghton, MI, USA e-mail: johnsols@upstate.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_1

intelligence, culture, behaviors, and capacities made by these sciences continues to be integrated into the philosophical discourse on animal ethics, but has thus far had little impact on animal research regulations. In this volume, our aim is to bend what have heretofore been more or less parallel tracks into convergence and intersection, and examine the implications of neuroscientific research for our understanding of the minds of other animals, the moral status of these animals, and our moral obligations to them. In so doing, we aim to challenge neuroethics to adopt a less anthropocentric focus and integrate new knowledge, a more inclusive ethics, and emerging scientific and technological innovations so as to expand its scope. So positioned, neuroethics can envision how a shift away from anthropocentrism could expand its role in critical discussions of our treatment of other animals and explore how growing knowledge of nonhuman minds challenges the human supremacy currently threatening our planet.

1.2 What Is Animal Neuroethics?

As this book demonstrates, some of the classic problems and concerns of neuroethics, such as cognitive enhancement, and the ethics of neuroscience and neuroscientific research, are reiterated in an animal-focused neuroethics. The traditional bifurcation of neuroethics, described by Adina Roskies as *the ethics of neuroscience* and *the neuroscience of ethics* [1], is certainly echoed in an animal-focused neuroethics. In the former category, the creation and use of nonhuman animals in neuroscientific research prompts questions that are obviously important to any animal-focused ethics, including neuroethics. A variety of animal species are used in neuroscientific and brain research, including basic research that seeks to map the brain, and understand brain cells and structures as well as their functions. Applied research uses a variety of animal models to understand diseases and disorders of the brain and mind, and to discover and test therapies. For example, some of the global big brain projects, like Japan Brain/MINDS, are currently focusing their efforts on the development and use of genetically modified nonhuman primates (NHPs), specifically marmosets.

Although the animal research industries as we know them began in earnest after the Second World War, research with animals and the use of animals as model organisms dates back centuries. To consider the ethical permissibility of using them in research challenges a well-entrenched scientific establishment built on the nearly unlimited use of animals [2]. Research ethics, at its best, is in the business of questioning and reevaluating the established use of certain (human) populations as research subjects, including children, and institutionalized populations such as prisoners and patients. An ethically and scientifically informed reevaluation of the use of animals cannot be beyond consideration simply because of the potentially enormous practical implications for the research enterprise. In a very real sense, this is an ethical problem that the behavioral and neurosciences have created—the success of the scientific study of animal brains and behavior in expanding our understanding of animal brains and minds, and the myriad ways that they are structurally and functionally similar to human brains and minds, itself weakens longstanding scientific and ethical assumptions and presumptions about the permissible use of animals in neuroscientific research. In that way, an animal-focused neuroethics is both an *ethics of neuroscience* and a *neuroscience of ethics*—knowledge gained from the study of animal brains and minds can and must inform animal ethics.

While the use of animals in research has long been an important focus of animal ethics, research ethics, as well as the guidelines and regulations that govern research with animals, an animal-focused neuroethics must be more comprehensive and look beyond questions about the use of animal models in neuroscientific, cognitive, and psychological/psychiatric research. Just as a human-centered neuroethics is more than the ethics of brain research, an animal-focused neuroethics can look beyond research ethics. We anticipate that an animal-focused neuroethics will be uniquely positioned to push the boundaries of what neuroethics does and what issues it takes up. A number of novel concerns and themes emerged as this book took shape, pointing to the ways that an animal neuroethics is truly not just more of the same *with animals*, but rather something that promises to lead to an expansion of the scope of neuroethics. The diversity of the authors of the chapters in this collection also points to a promising expansion of the scientific disciplines that a more broadly focused neuroethics—already quite multi- and interdisciplinary—can and should welcome into the fold.

These novel (for neuroethics) themes, concerns, and disciplines include *comparative psychology* and *comparative cognition*, or research that compares the brains, minds, cognitive capacities, and behaviors of different species. Our focus in this book is primarily on what studies of animal behavior and cognition tell us about those animals, particularly with respect to whether they have the capacities commonly thought to confer moral status or moral concern. As noted below, however, viewing neuroethics in a less anthropocentric light will lead us to consider a variety of nonhuman entities, including those that are not biological organisms.

1.3 Animal Neuroethics: The What and the Why

In "Sentience and Consciousness as Bases for Attributing Interests and Moral Status: Considering the Evidence—and Speculating Slightly Beyond" [3], philosopher David DeGrazia begins with the assumption that sentient beings have interests and that having interests is sufficient (but perhaps not necessary) for moral status. He considers the state of the evidence for sentience in mammals and birds, reptiles, amphibians, fish, cephalopods, and arthropods (in particular, crustaceans and insects). In considering the possibility that insects are conscious but not sentient, DeGrazia goes farther afield and considers whether human-made robots might also one day be conscious but not sentient, eliciting implications for their moral status.

Philosopher Gary Comstock considers the cow in "Bovine Prospection, the Mesocorticolimbic Pathways, and Neuroethics: Is a Cow's Future Like Ours?" [4]. Like many farmed animals, cows get little respect and little recognition as

thinking, feeling creatures. Comstock considers the scant evidence for bovine cognition and asks what neuroscience can tell us, if anything, about the capacities of cows to think about the future. The question is important if having the right to a future—and a right not to be slaughtered—requires the ability to *think* about one's future. Comstock distinguishes several kinds of prospection and surveys what is known about the neuroanatomy of future-directed bovine beliefs and desires to ask whether a cow's prospection is *like ours*, where that is understood to include *all* human beings.

If cows get little respect, fish get even less, and their mental lives are quite poorly understood. In "Mental Capacities of Fishes," fish researchers Lynne Sneddon and Culum Brown [5] review the evidence for sentience and cognitive abilities in fishes to highlight the growing empirical evidence of their mental capacities. The evidence for pain, and for the capacities to experience positive and negative welfare states such as fear and stress, are still debated when it comes to fishes. Fish models are increasingly used in a wide variety of experimental contexts and their adoption is growing globally, although they are too frequently excluded from animal welfare regulations. But if fish are sentient and can suffer, this has ethical implications for their use in scientific studies and for current regulatory schemes that exclude them from welfare considerations.

In his chapter "The Four Cs of Modern (Neuro)ethology and Neuroethics: Cognition, Complexity, Conation and Culture," canid neuroethologist and neuroendocrinologist Simon Gadbois [6] critically engages what he sees as the *over-use* of certain kinds of mental state ascriptions to explain or model animal behavior. Though Gadbois rejects the traditional Behaviorism and early Ethology that each shunned the use of mentalistic terms in their scientific analyses of animal behavior, he reminds us that what looks to be quite complex behavior can arise from very simple psychological mechanisms or neurological processes. What's more, for Gadbois, much behavior need not reflect complex or *any* mental representations beyond that which permits an animal, based on past experience, to see what uses objects or individuals in their environment afford them and to be moved to behave accordingly. Rather than emphasizing cognition, Gadbois suggests a return to explanations that either do not require the ascription of mental states or foreground the role of emotions, innate motivations, and preferences.

In "Speciesism and Human Supremacy in Animal Neuroscience," philosopher Robert C. Jones [7] contends that the kinds of scientific and philosophical arguments used to deny the moral considerability of nonhumans reflect a kind of anthropodenial embedded in speciesism and, specifically, human supremacy and neurotypicalism. Skepticism regarding animal minds, cognition, and experience (e.g., reluctance to attribute thoughts, beliefs, phenomenal consciousness, and sentience) is frequently justified by reference to what we might call physiological heterologies in neural structure as well as differences in cognitive complexity when comparing humans and other animals. Underlying such claims are nonscientific, normative assumptions about human supremacy. Jones argues both that there is good reason to believe that vertebrates such as fish—and even invertebrates such as some crustaceans, insects, and arachnids-are experiencing beings and that these conclusions have ethical implications.

Another theme that emerged in a substantive and interesting way in the book is *captivity*. The ethics of using captive populations in research has long been a concern of research ethics, given the dark history of exploiting vulnerable, easily accessible, captive populations like institutionalized children and incarcerated persons. Captivity for animals used in research, and the way it affects both the quality of life of the animals and the quality of the science [8], is an important issue for both neuroscience and neuroethics. The effects of captivity and social deprivation on both animal welfare and the ecological validity of cognitive and brain research are important considerations that bear on the value of such scientific research with animals [9–11]. Other captive animals—those in zoos and aquaria, for example—have not been a traditional concern for neuroethics. Several chapters look at the psychosocial, neurological/neurodevelopmental, and health effects of captivity on animals, as well as the deleterious effects of captivity on the quality and value of research.

In "The Human Challenge in Understanding Animal Cognition," primatologist Christophe Boesch [12] critically examines the emphasis on controlled experiments with captive animals in comparative cognition studies. Animals raised in captivity and living in laboratories, he argues, are completely detached from species-typical socio-ecologies, and studies of captive animals limit the progress of science. While studying free-living animals in their native environments—like the chimpanzees Boesch studies—has provided a wealth of detailed observations on sophisticated cognitive achievements, captive experimental studies have for too long concentrated on the "failure" of nonhuman species to demonstrate so-called uniquely human cognitive skills. If we want to understand the evolution of human and human-like cognitive abilities, Boesch argues that we must integrate information about brain plasticity and consider ecological validity and population differences.

In "Large Brains in Small Tanks: Intelligence and Social Complexity as an Ethical Issue for Captive Dolphins and Whales," neuroscientist Lori Marino [13] examines the effects of captivity on cetaceans, who are highly complex, largebrained social mammals. While dolphins have been used in research and for military purposes, the primary reason dolphins and whales are kept in captivity is for entertainment-thousands are kept in concrete tanks in marine parks and aquaria around the world. In these environments, these animals experience a lack of control, a lack of stimulation, a diminished social world, and the loss of the ability to engage in activities necessary for them to thrive. That they are such complex, self-aware, intelligent beings makes it more difficult for them to cope with artificial environments, Marino argues, resulting in stereotypies, self-harm, reduced life expectancy, and negative short- and long-term health effects. Marino thus establishes that traditional concerns of the animal rights and animal welfare communities—animal captivity and exploitation for entertainment—are also neuroethical concerns insofar as it is the effects of captivity on the cognitive capacities and psychological lives of cetaceans that amplifies the harm experienced by these social creatures. Marino concludes that the only ethical response is to phase

out the captivity of dolphins and whales for entertainment and move those in commercial facilities to sanctuaries that can better meet their needs.

Political philosopher Robert Garner explores what animal ethics has to say about the issue of captivity in "Animal Rights and Captivity in a Non-Ideal World" [14]. The best-known theories of animal rights are prohibitionist and/or abolitionist when it comes to using animals and keeping them captive. This would, of course, have significant implications for human use of and interactions with animals, including in science. One response is to reject animal rights in favor of welfarism, which permits use and captivity within limits related to animal welfare. Garner considers whether a more nuanced, interest-based rights theory would allow the claim that at least some animals do not have a strong enough interest in liberty to be accorded a *right* not to be kept in captivity. Another approach would involve the adoption of a non-ideal theory of animal rights, which would bracket liberty—and the issue of captivity—as a component of an ideal theory and therefore not of immediate ethical concern.

The position of animals within society, as well as within science, is mirrored, for better or worse, in certain human populations as well. The psychosocial and neurological/neurodevelopmental effects of captivity on humans are a concern for neuroethics to take up in a way that is informed by the brain sciences and driven by important sociopolitical considerations [15]. It's an area where neuroethicists—as philosophers, legal scholars, social scientists, neuroscientists, and animal scientists—can actively participate in a critically important public discourse as human mass incarceration and the use of solitary confinement become the focus of social and political attention and activism [2]. Studying the effects of captivity on animals in a way that is attentive to how captivity itself frustrates the fulfillment of important needs, alters behavior, and alters the brain and mind can inform our ethical, social, and legal thinking about the ethics of human captivity. What we learn about captivity in humans can also inform the way we view the captivity of nonhuman animals in the various settings in which they are kept. This is especially true of the large, social mammals most like us, including many NHPs used in research and for entertainment, and the elephants and cetaceans held in zoos and aquaria.

Animals used in *agriculture*, and neuroethical questions related to agriculture and agricultural research, are themes present in several chapters of this book, which consider the numerous species that are farmed, captured, and killed for food. Agriculture and the agricultural sciences have never been a part of neuroethics as it has heretofore been framed, and this new avenue promises interesting and fruitful intersections with the ascendant field of food ethics.

The aforementioned chapters on cows and fishes consider the cognitive capacities of species traditionally farmed and killed for food. Chapters by Edison and Esvelt, and Fischer, consider a traditional neuroethics question—enhancement—in the context of agricultural animals. Both chapters consider how animals might be genetically altered to enhance their welfare within intensive farming environments—genetic versions of what Bernard Rollin has referred to as *technological sanders*. "Under industrial conditions ... animals do not naturally fit in the

niche or environment in which they are kept, and are subjected to 'technological sanders' that allow for producers to force square pegs into round holes—antibiotics, feed additives, hormones, air handling systems—so the animals do not die and produce more and more kilograms of meat or milk" (p. 106 in [16]). Edison and Esvelt, and Fischer, examine using genetic modifications not to enhance productivity per se, but rather to reduce animal suffering as those square pegs are forced into round holes.

In "On Mitigating the Cruelty of Natural Selection Through Humane Genome Editing," gene drive researchers Rey Edison and Kevin M. Esvelt [17] consider the possibility that future insights into the genetics of mood will enable us to substantially improve the lives of trillions of agricultural animals. Breeding and artificial selection already govern the genetics of billions of domesticated animals, as well as their predisposition to well-being. Edison and Esvelt outline the moral responsibilities of those who choose to engage with the problem of enhancing the welfare of farmed animals and discuss possible approaches for evaluating the efficacy of genetic methods. They address the concern that over-optimizing for indirect measures of well-being may reduce the extent to which we can be confident that those phenotypes are still meaningful indicators of what we are trying to measure. Given that animals used in agriculture are already selectively bred, what are the implications of using genetic methods to improve animal well-being in intensive farming environments?

Philosopher Bob Fischer takes up that question as well in his chapter "In Defense of Neural Disenhancement to Promote Animal Welfare" [18]. Fischer argues that animal welfare advocates don't act wrongly if they promote research into ways of neurally disenhancing animals. Whereas neuroethics has traditionally considered the implications of neural or cognitive *enhancement* in humans, Fischer focuses on *disenhancement* and contends that, while it may be a less than ideal solution to welfare concerns related to agricultural animals, it has the potential to reduce a tremendous amount of suffering. Disenhancement is not as bad, morally speaking, as it can initially seem to be, Fischer contends, and is a promising way of mitigating the suffering of animals who live in confinement in intensive agricultural operations.

Neuroethical concerns about the creation of chimeras—particularly mice with human brain cells—have frequently focused on the possible "humanization" of these creatures, with ethical implications for their welfare and use in research. That is, one of the concerns about research that creates chimeric animals is that the research itself might result in animals that it would be wrong to use in research because they could develop human-like intelligence or other capacities that might enhance their moral status. In "Nonhuman, All Too Human: Towards Developing Policies for Ethical Chimera Research," philosophers G.K.D. Crozier, Andrew Fenton, Letitia Meynell, and David M. Peña-Guzmán [19] address the ethical challenges raised by chimera research policy, using as a case study the National Institutes of Health proposal to change its policy governing the funding of human-nonhuman animal chimera research. The authors find a troubling shift from a focus on nonhuman animal *welfare* to poorly thought-out concerns with *humanization*. They raise concerns about modifying animals in ways that could significantly impact neurological

functions and behavioral capacities, with serious implications for the welfare of research subjects. The authors endorse robust restrictions on chimera research, particularly in the face of a growing globalization of research in varied and inconsistent regulatory environments, and argue that policies should not be based on beliefs about inherent human uniqueness. Instead, at a minimum, they should conform to the widely accepted 3Rs framework for research involving nonhuman animals, our best welfare science, and our best understanding of the capacities of other animals, unspoiled by a denial of relevant similarities.

In many societies it is commonplace to save or spare some animals at the expense of others, and to make judgments accordingly in ways that would be unconscionable were the relevant individuals humans. Philosopher Adam Shriver's chapter "The Role of Neuroscience in Precise, Precautionary, and Probabilistic Accounts of Sentience" [20] indirectly engages policy and applied ethical discussions that touch on anything from animal rescues in disaster zones to the use of animals in science. Shriver's chapter provides a critical discussion of minimizing harms to animals in the face of uncertainty about which animals are sentient. He examines three possible accounts that purport to guide decisions to that end: precise, precautionary, and probabilistic accounts of sentience. One challenge faced by policymakers and ethicists in the domain of animal welfare is that there is little consensus about what constitutes good evidence for sentience and how research from the neurosciences might add to evidence of sentience. Where it's possible to save or spare many animals, and erring on the side of assuming sentience is not overly costly, Shriver suggests that applying the Precautionary Principle-taking precautionary measures when sentience is not scientifically confirmed—is the right approach. The implication is that neuroanatomical similarities—and confirmatory neuroscientific evidence—may sometimes *not* be required where there are concerns about animal life or welfare. Many other cases, however, would require a weighting principle that incorporates an assessment of the likelihood of sentience into decisions about use or intervention. Precise accounts of sentience, Shriver argues, are not directly relevant for ethical decision-making, but nevertheless must be pursued in order to better refine the other accounts.

The final section of the book looks at questions about the *ethics of neuroscience* and specifically the use of animals in brain research. These chapters variously explore how research regulations can respond to the global increase in the use of nonhuman primates (NHPs) in a way that aligns with moral concerns about these animals, how a scientifically informed and enhanced understanding of animal welfare and well-being can refocus animal research ethics, and how brain research on animals has frequently failed to deliver benefits for humans—the very benefits used to justify harmful, invasive research.

In "A Threshold Standard for Regulating Invasive Nonhuman Primate Research in the Age of the Major Brain Projects," philosopher Tom Buller [21] examines animal welfare regulations in several countries that are currently ramping up their use of NHPs in brain research. Concern about the use of NHPs—who have complex social and environmental needs that are impossible to replicate in captive, laboratory settings—has increased as more is understood about these animals. At the same time, the genetic modification of NHPs, and their development as models of human brain disorders, is a significant part of some of the national big brain projects, especially in Japan, China, and the United States. There is considerable variety in the national and international regulations governing the use of these animals. Buller examines these regulations and argues that in order for the various national projects to gain broad public support *and* provide adequate protection for NHPs, it is important that the regulations are harmonized and set an appropriate balance between protecting animals while encouraging scientific investigation and progress. Buller considers a number of approaches to tightening the regulations and concludes that the most satisfactory approach is to adopt a threshold standard of invasiveness.

Physician and human and animal rights advocate Hope Ferdowsian, in "The Right to Bodily Sovereignty and Its Importance to Mental and Physical Wellbeing" [22], describes how respect for bodily liberty and integrity (or bodily sovereignty) have driven the creation and enforcement of relevant rules and regulations in human subjects research, as reflected in documents like the Belmont Report. Little to no attention, however, is given to respect for the bodily sovereignty of nonhuman animals in research or other areas of society, despite its importance in determining health and well-being. As our understanding of well-being and the welfare needs of all animals grows, a more nuanced view of autonomy and vulnerability in both human and nonhuman animals is called for. Freedom from bodily trespasses and freedom of choice are critical to health and well-being in both human and nonhuman animals, and Ferdowsian argues that rules and regulations governing the protection of nonhuman animals should be updated to reflect our scientific understanding of these needs.

Philosopher and neuroethicist L. Syd M Johnson's chapter "The Trouble with Animal Models in Brain Research" [23] focuses on two problems with animal models used in neuroscientific research: the failure of many animal models to yield useful and beneficial information, and the ethical dilemma built in to claims about the similarity-based usefulness of an animal model, which is especially acute in the context of brain-related research. The chapter uses as a case study the wellknown and well-studied failure of animal models in stroke research. The ethical dilemma arises because the similarity of the animals to humans is part of the scientific justification for using them—but their similarity to humans is also a reason to acknowledge their moral considerability. Indeed, as we learn more about animal minds and brains through neuroscientific research, as well as psychological, ethological, and comparative psychology research, the problem becomes only more acute. The successes of these sciences are themselves working to undermine the justification for further use of animals in research.

The essentially Utilitarian cost/benefit claim that human benefits justify harms to animals in research is undermined if those benefits consistently fail to materialize. Matters are even more serious if there is the potential for significant harm to humans, including opportunity costs, wasted resources, and risks to human research subjects. Considering the costs, harms, and benefits of animal research is foundational to regulatory approvals of animal research and the basis of animal research ethics as it is currently practiced within the scientific and regulatory community. But the balance of harms and benefits is heavily tipped to favor human interests. An honest reckoning of the costs and harms to animals *and* the purported benefits to humans is unlikely to support the *status quo* because very little research will be useful or needed, and thus very little will be ethically justifiable.

Medical sociologist Pandora Pound examines the impact of preclinical animal research on the treatment of human traumatic brain injury in "Animal Models and the Search for Drug Treatments for Traumatic Brain Injury" [24]. Pound describes several scientific problems with the use of animal models, including poor internal and external validity, the difficulty of replicating human pathophysiology, and the near impossibility of recapitulating the human clinical context in animals. She argues that the evidence suggests that animal research into traumatic brain injuries is crude, harmful, and ineffective. Pound concludes that it's highly unlikely that modifications to preclinical studies can solve these problems and that animal models will never be fully scientifically valid, no matter how many improvements or modifications are attempted. Like Johnson, Pound argues that the Utilitarian harm/benefit calculus that provides the dominant ethical framework for justifying research with animals is undermined when the shortcomings of animal research, and the failure to yield benefits for humans, are accurately calculated.

1.4 Concluding Thoughts

The refocusing toward a less anthropocentric neuroethics is already beginning, as neuroethicists have considered the ethical questions raised by the development of engineered organisms, engineered neural circuitry, and the possibility of sentient machines. These organisms include neural organoids (also called cerebral organoids, or "mini-brains"). These small clusters of cultured, in vitro brain cells are important models for studying brain function, development, and brain disorders. As more complex organoids [25] and networks of organoids that could link different cell types—more closely approximating the functions of a whole brain—are created, urgent questions arise about the ontological and moral status of these organisms, as well as the philosophical implications of the existence of living, extracorporeal brain-like and brain-origin organisms. Ex vivo human brain tissue can currently be maintained in culture for months, perhaps even years. In 2019, researchers at Yale announced that they were able to restore circulation, cellular and electrical function, and perfusion in pig brains taken from slaughtered animals that had been dead for several hours [26]. Human-animal chimeras are engineered for a number of purposes, including for use as models of human disorders. The ethical implications of creating human-like characteristics in mice with human neuron cells have been among the neuroethical issues such research has raised [27], but as human-NHP chimeras are created, such concerns promise to be resurrected. Neuromorphic computing can simulate and investigate dynamic neural processes and identify more efficient approaches for computing [2, 28]. As these machines become more complex, the possible emergence of properties like self-awareness could challenge longstanding assumptions that only biological systems—specifically humans—can possess such characteristics, and that only biological organisms warrant moral consideration.

All of these entities, whether they are human-engineered, of human origin, or of animal origin, are of neuroethical interest because of the unique philosophical, social, and cultural status of the brain and mind as the locus of personhood, rights, and moral status. As an interdisciplinary field, neuroethics is positioned to interrogate longstanding scientific and ethical assumptions about the special significance of humans and humanity. Neuroethics has established itself as a discipline that is forward-looking—sometimes to a fault as speculative outcomes and consequences of neurotechnologies fail to materialize. But looking and thinking ahead, and carefully, about the creation and instrumentalization of neural, neural-origin, and neural-inspired entities must be part of the remit of a forward-looking neuroethics.

And a neuroethics that looks beyond straightforwardly human entities must necessarily include nonhuman animals. There is a diverse, deep, and rich body of philosophical literature on animal ethics, but a specifically "animal neuroethics" has yet to emerge, although there have been efforts to connect the two [29]. Our aim, in this book, is to introduce the questions, concerns, and challenges of an animalfocused neuroethics and to point the way forward to a neuroethics that is altogether less anthropocentric. Such a neuroethics will be pushed as a field to move beyond some of its traditional concerns and questions. It will be better positioned to tackle both the novel and familiar problems, and engage with the intriguing puzzles and possibilities that will arise as more and more nonhuman, near-human, and humancreated organisms and entities emerge as the brain sciences advance. At the same time, some of the essential issues and questions of an animal-focused neuroethics will also inform and expand our thinking about new directions and concerns regarding humans and human-centered neuroethics.

Finally, our understanding of animals and what makes them matter (or not) will help shape and inform our understanding and thinking about other near-human and human-origin organisms and entities, including neural organoids, synthetic embryos, human-animal chimeras, robots, and artificial intelligence. In the best case, it may clarify our thinking about those entities, but there is also the possibility—one neuroethics should be prepared to grapple with—that it will further *complicate* our thinking about them.

References

- 1. Roskies A. Neuroethics for the new millenium. Neuron. 2002;35(1):21-3.
- 2. Johnson LSM, Maslen H. Toward a less anthropocentric neuroethics. The Neuroethics Blog; 2019.
- 3. DeGrazia D. Sentience and consciousness as bases for attributing interests and moral status: considering the evidence—and speculating slightly beyond. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- 4. Comstock GL. Bovine prospection, the mesocorticolimbic pathways, and neuroethics: is a cow's future like ours? In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.

- Sneddon LU, Brown C. Mental capacities of fishes. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- Gadbois S. The four Cs of Modern (neuro)ethology and neuroethics: cognition, complexity, conation and culture. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- Jones RC. Speciesism and human supremacy in animal neuroscience. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- Garner JP. The significance of meaning: why do over 90% of behavioral neuroscience results fail to translate to humans, and what can we do to fix it? ILAR J. 2014;55(3):438–56.
- Boesch C. Ecology and cognition of tool use in chimpanzees. In: Sanz C, Call J, Boesch C, editors. Tool use in animals: cognition and ecology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2013. p. 21–47.
- Clubb R, Mason G. Captivity effects on wide-ranging carnivores. Nature. 2003;425:473. https://doi.org/10.1038/425473a.
- 11. Marino L, Frohoff T. Towards a new paradigm of non-captive research on cetacean cognition. PLoS One. 2011;6(9):e24121.
- 12. Boesch C. The human challenge in understanding animal cognition. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- Marino L. Large brains in small tanks: intelligence and social complexity as an ethical issue for captive dolphins and whales. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- 14. Garner R. Animal rights and captivity in a non-ideal world. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- Baskin-Sommers AR, Fonteneau K. Correctional change through neuroscience. Fordham L Rev. 2016;85:423.
- 16. Rollin BE. Animal rights as a mainstream phenomenon. Animals. 2011;1(1):102-15.
- Edison R, Esvelt KM. On mitigating the cruelty of natural selection through humane genome editing. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Spinger; 2020.
- Fischer B. In defense of neural disenhancement to promote animal welfare. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- Crozier G, Fenton A, Meynell L, Peña-Guzmán DM. Nonhuman, all too human: towards developing policies for ethical chimera research. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- 20. Shriver A. The role of neuroscience in precise, precautionary, and probabilistic accounts of sentience. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- Buller T. A threshold standard for regulating invasive nonhuman primate research in the age of the major brain projects. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- 22. Ferdowsian H. The right to bodily sovereignty and its importance to mental and physical wellbeing. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- Johnson LSM. The trouble with animal models in brain research. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- 24. Pound P. Animal models and the search for drug treatments for traumatic brain injury. In: Johnson LSM, Fenton A, Shriver A, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Dordrecht: Springer; 2020.
- Goto-Silva L, Ayad NME, Herzog IL, Silva NP, Lamien B, Orlande HRB, et al. Computational fluid dynamic analysis of physical forces playing a role in brain organoid cultures in two different multiplex platforms. BMC Dev Biol. 2019;19(1):3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12861-019-0183-y.

- Vrselja Z, Daniele SG, Silbereis J, Talpo F, Morozov YM, Sousa AMM, et al. Restoration of brain circulation and cellular functions hours post-mortem. Nature. 2019;568(7752):336–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1099-1.
- Greely HT, Cho MK, Hogle LF, Satz DM. Thinking about the human neuron mouse. Am J Bioeth. 2007;7(5):27–40.
- Calimera A, Macii E, Poncino M. The human brain project and neuromorphic computing. Funct Neurol. 2013;28(3):191.
- 29. Buller T, Shriver A, Farah M. Guest editorial: broadening the focus. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2014;23(2):124–8.

Part I

Neuroscience of Nonhuman Minds



Sentience and Consciousness as Bases for Attributing Interests and Moral Status: Considering the Evidence and Speculating Slightly Beyond

David DeGrazia

Abstract

Sentient beings are capable of having pleasant or unpleasant experiences and therefore have interests, which I assume to be necessary and sufficient for moral status. But which animals are sentient? While sentience is sufficient for having interests, maybe it is not necessary. Perhaps some creatures are conscious—having subjective experience—yet are not sentient because their consciousness contains nothing pleasant or unpleasant. If so, do they nevertheless have interests and moral status? This chapter addresses both questions. After identifying several methodological assumptions, it proceeds to consider the state of the evidence for sentience in mammals and birds, reptiles, amphibians, fish, cephalopods, and arthropods (in particular, crustaceans and insects). It then takes up the possibility that insects are conscious yet not sentient. In exploring the mental life of insects, the discussion considers the possibility of robots who are conscious but not sentient, eliciting implications for moral status.

Keywords

 $Sentience \cdot Consciousness \cdot Interests \cdot Moral \ status \cdot Animals \cdot Robots$

2.1 Introduction

Sentient beings are capable of having pleasant or unpleasant experiences. This capacity entails having a quality of life or experiential welfare, from which it follows that sentient beings have interests. The possession of interests, I assume, is both

17

D. DeGrazia (🖂)

George Washington University, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: ddd@gwu.edu

This is a U.S. government work and not under copyright protection in the U.S.; foreign copyright protection may apply 2020 L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in

Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_2

necessary and sufficient for moral status. So sentient beings have moral status. But which animals are sentient?

While sentience is sufficient for having interests and moral status, perhaps it is not necessary. A fascinating possibility prompted by recent research on insects is that some creatures are conscious—that is, have subjective experience—yet are not sentient because their consciousness contains nothing pleasant or unpleasant. If so, do they nevertheless have interests and moral status?

This chapter addresses both questions. After identifying several methodological assumptions, it proceeds to consider the state of the evidence for sentience in mammals and birds, reptiles, amphibians, fish, cephalopods, and arthropods (in particular, crustaceans and insects). It then takes up the possibility that insects are conscious yet not sentient. In exploring the mental life of insects, the discussion considers the possibility of robots who are conscious but not sentient, eliciting implications for moral status.

2.2 Methodological Assumptions

Sentience is the capacity for having any pleasant or unpleasant experiences—or, as I use the term, any *feelings*. So evidence for the possession of any feeling is evidence for sentience. In this chapter, I will focus on one feeling: *pain*. By way of a working definition, pain is an unpleasant sensory experience that is typically associated with actual or potential tissue damage.¹ The capacity to experience pain presumably evolved—assuming it conferred a selective advantage to its possessors²—to help animals avoid or minimize harm, thereby increasing their chances for survival and reproduction. In considering evidence for pain in animals, I will mainly examine behavioral and neuroanatomical evidence. Although evolutionary considerations can favor or disfavor the attribution of a particular type of mental state, I will deemphasize such considerations because they are somewhat speculative and, relatedly, there are widely varying accounts of the selective advantage (if any) that consciousness—as compared to unconscious information processing—confers on an animal. We are not in a strong position to say which of these accounts is correct, so I won't rely on any such account.

In asking about animal sentience I will assume that there is no "problem of other minds" with respect to active human beings. While we might reasonably ask about *the basis* for our knowledge that human beings with whom we interact and converse have minds (and are sentient), it is not reasonable to doubt *that* they have minds. As for the basis of our knowledge, I assume it takes the form of an inference to the best

¹Roughly this definition may be found in various sources. See, e.g., [1].

²This qualification is motivated by the possibility that consciousness and particular conscious states such as pain have no selective advantage over their unconscious, similarly information-processing counterparts.

explanation of other people's behavior—against the background of knowledge about common species membership and similar neuroanatomy.³

We know that ordinary human beings are capable of experiencing pain and many other feelings. Claims of knowledge are more interesting with respect to nonhuman animals, whose behavior and neuroanatomy are similar to our own only to varying degrees. In considering different types of animals, I will consider evidence for the following features and phenomena to be significant in supporting an attribution of sentience.

- 1. Nociception or similar responsiveness to noxious stimuli. Nociceptors are receptors, specifically neural end organs, that respond to potentially tissue-damaging (mechanical, thermal, or chemical) stimuli. Stimulating them causes an organism to withdraw a body part, displaying an immediate and very basic defense against harm. In humans, nociception constitutes part of the neuroanatomy of pain, but pain also requires processing in parts of the cerebral cortex (with rare possible exceptions⁴). Nociception—or something functionally similar—is ordinarily necessary, but is not sufficient, for pain.
- 2. A central nervous system with a (suitable) brain. A central nervous system seems necessary for pain and other feelings in order to process information from the environment to a central control system, the brain, which then sends information via the nervous system to various body parts to enable effective motor responses. A good reason to doubt that plants and extremely primitive invertebrates such as protozoa and sponges are sentient is that they lack a central nervous system and brain. On the other hand, lack of a brain that includes a cerebral cortex (as mammals have) is a contentious reason to doubt that an animal can feel pain, because in nonmammalian species some other brain part—such as the dorsal ventricular ridge in birds—may play an analogous role in transforming a nociceptive event into the experience of pain.
- 3. *Protective behavior toward injured body parts.* When we are injured or subjected to highly painful stimuli, we frequently experience not only immediate pain but also residual pain or soreness. In these circumstances we typically guard our injured body part—for example, by limping (thereby protecting a hurt leg), holding an injured arm, or favoring a healthy hand over an injured hand. We also sometimes rub an injured body part in an effort to reduce painful sensations. (In calling such behavior "protective," I expand the ordinary use of the term.)

³My approach may be inconsistent with classic foundationalism, since I help myself to knowledge of species membership and of the hardware in other people's heads when I haven't looked inside. For the record, I regard classical foundationalism as a time-dishonored approach to epistemology that leads, uselessly, to global skepticism. My approach to epistemology is consistent with both coherentism and moderate foundationalism.

⁴There is reason to believe that some human beings, despite being born without a cortex, nevertheless have conscious experiences [2]. If so, perhaps their experiences include pain, in which case there would be some exceptions to the rule that human pain requires cortical processing.

- 4. Learned avoidance. If a creature learns to avoid a noxious stimulus, this behavior indicates some form of memory of past encounters with the stimulus. It is possible, in principle, for such recording of and learning from past noxious instances to be unconscious—an automatic associative learning with no pain. But I will take learned avoidance to constitute one piece of evidence in favor of attributing pain, the idea being that in ordinary cases of learned avoidance an animal felt pain, remembered it, and was thereby motivated to avoid the stimulus.
- 5. Opioid receptors, endogenous opioids, and/or behavioral responsiveness to anesthetics, analgesics, and opioids. In humans, these compounds relieve pain or, if administered prior to an injury or noxious event, might prevent pain altogether. When pain causes guarding of a body part or motivates avoidance of a situation that has caused pain in the past, the administration of pain-relieving compounds often reduces such pain behavior. Thus, a football player with a leg injury might be willing to run and even run normally after receiving an analgesic. When an animal's behavior is *prima facie* pain behavior but becomes more "normal" in response to anesthetics, analgesics, or opioids, the behavioral difference provides some evidence that animal can indeed experience pain and therefore relief from pain. For example, following an injection of bee venom in the lips, a fish might rub its lips against a surface but discontinue rubbing after receiving morphine.
- 6. *Trade-offs between noxious stimulus avoidance and other health-promoting behaviors.* Nociceptive responses to noxious stimuli, as noted, are automatic and inflexible. Behavior that displays a willingness to endure a noxious stimulus in order to meet some other requirement such as obtaining food or water is more flexible. For example, a rat might endure an electric shock in order to reach desperately needed water. Such behavior suggests a mind that can weigh motivations—here, to avoid pain and to obtain water—in terms of urgency or importance rather than simply responding automatically to immediate stimuli.⁵

In the discussion that follows, I will assume that evidence of these six kinds are highly relevant in attributing pain and therefore sentience. (Occasionally, the discussion will also consider other suggestive phenomena such as sophisticated intellectual capacities and physiological responses associated with stress.) More specifically, evidence of the first two kinds—nociception and an apparently suitable nervous system—is necessary but not sufficient for a strong case; evidence of all six kinds constitutes a very strong case; and evidence of the first two kinds and some but not all of the other kinds of evidence constitutes a case of some intermediate degree of strength for attributing pain and sentience. My assumption that the six kinds of evidence together present a very strong case is not trivial, because it is possible in

⁵Gary Varner [3] influentially presented a table of types of evidence for sentience. The types of evidence he catalogues overlap with my list of six criteria. I prefer my list because it combines several of his neurological criteria concisely into "a central nervous system with a (suitable) brain" and offers considerably more specificity regarding behavioral criteria.
principle that all six criteria could be met in an insentient creature that possessed a highly complex system of unconscious information processing. While this sort of conjecture is possible, it seems to me less reasonable than the assumption that a creature displaying the foregoing six features and phenomena is sentient and can experience pain. Hence my assumption.

2.3 Evidence of Sentience in Different Animal Classes

2.3.1 Mammals and Birds

The case for attributing the capacity to experience pain—and therefore sentience—to nonhuman mammals is overwhelmingly strong. Human pain features two largely discrete systems: a sensory-discriminatory system, which conveys information about the intensity and bodily location of a noxious stimulus to the somatosensory cortex, and a motivational-affective system, which registers unpleasantness and motivates adaptive action through the anterior cingulate cortex to the frontal lobe [4].⁶ As human experience is our familiar starting point for asking about animal experience, our everyday concept of pain includes both dimensions: pain involves (1) information about the bodily location of a noxious event and (2) unpleasantness. One reason the case for attributing pain to some nonhuman animals is overwhelming is that mammals share the basic neurological architecture—the thalamocortical (thalamusto-cortex) complex—in which pain processing occurs in humans [5, 6]. In addition, mammals as a class have nociceptors, display protective behavior toward injured body parts, have an endogenous opioid system similar to that of humans, and meet the other criteria listed above. That mammals meet these criteria is not controversial.

The thesis that birds can experience pain and are sentient is less obvious at first glance because avian neuroanatomy differs significantly from mammalian neuroanatomy. Birds lack a cerebral cortex, prompting the question of whether they have a brain part that functions in a relevantly similar way so that nociception can generate the conscious experience known as pain. An affirmative answer seems justified. Like mammals, birds do have a cerebrum, or telencephalon, even if not a cortex on its outer surface [7].⁷ Moreover, as Edelman et al. state it, "the somatomotor circuitry within the avian dorsal pallium appears to be homologous to the mammalian basal ganglia-cortico-thalamic loop. . ." (p. 173 in [8]).⁸ In addition, it seems plausible to hypothesize that the dorsal ventricular ridge in birds plays the same role as the cortex in mammals (p. 122–24 in Tye [9]). Birds appear to have a suitable nervous system and brain for sustaining conscious experiences, including pain.

⁶It is worth noting that these two systems are unlikely to be *entirely* discrete.

⁷The cited article is also illuminating about some of birds' more impressive intellectual feats, as discussed in the next paragraph.

⁸The authors cite Medina and Reiner [7]. See also Tye (p.124 in [9]). Tye cites Dugas-Ford et al. [10].

Birds also satisfy nearly all of our other criteria for animal pain: nociceptive and endogenous opioid systems (see, e.g., p. 63 in [11]; p. 113-6 in [12]; p. 211-4 in [13]), protective behavior ([9], p. 127–8), and learned avoidance [14]. However, I am not aware of evidence one way or another regarding trade-offs between noxious stimulus avoidance and other health-promoting behaviors. At the same time, the thesis that birds are sentient seems indirectly confirmed by evidence that they are capable of remarkable intellectual feats.⁹ (More precisely, these intellectual feats are suggestive of consciousness; but given the aforementioned evidence for sentience, evidence for these feats strengthens the overall case for sentience.) These include crows' fashioning tools to help them accomplish goals [16]. They also include birds' storing "food of different kinds in hundreds of distinct places to retrieve later, [remembering] not only where they have put food but what was put in each place. so the more perishable items can be retrieved before the longer lasting ones" (p. 141 in [17]), [18, 19]. Now, it is conceivable that an entirely unconscious creature could perform such feats, but this seems unlikely in the world as we know it, especially when the creature has neural systems for nociception and endogenous opiates and exhibits protective behavior and learned avoidance. Overall, the case for avian sentience seems extremely strong. Based on what we currently know, it is far more reasonable to believe birds are sentient than to believe they are not.

2.3.2 Reptiles

Mammals and birds are warm-blooded, highly social animals. Nearly all other animals are cold-blooded and either asocial or social in ways that seem less likely to include emotional attachment. These and other differences tend to make reptiles and amphibians seem more alien than birds and nonhuman mammals. An impression of being alien, however, is not a reliable basis for denying mental states. So let us consider available evidence, beginning with reptiles, who share a common ancestor with mammals, birds, and the extinct dinosaurs, and with all of these animals fall under the general clade known as amniotes.

Reptiles satisfy at least several of our criteria for attributing pain. They have nociceptive systems, central nervous systems culminating in brains that bear substantial structural similarity to avian brains, and endogenous opioid systems.¹⁰ Some further evidence comes from Michel Cabanac and colleagues, who contend that consciousness first evolved in early amniotes—with the implication that present-day reptiles, birds, and mammals are conscious creatures whereas amphibians, fish, and invertebrates are not [21]. (Note that the authors' inference that amphibians, fish, and invertebrates are insentient assumes that the evolution of consciousness has not

⁹The two examples that follow involve corvids and tits. The examples presented by Gunturkun and Bugnyar [15] involve corvids and parrots. So the claim that impressive intellectual feats bolster the case for sentience might apply only to corvids, tits, and parrots.

¹⁰For a helpful review of the scientific literature on these topics, see [20].

occurred two or more times in different animal lines.) They hypothesize that as landbased lifeforms evolved, "existence required more and more stimulus-response pathways; eventually, a point was reached where it became more efficient, in terms of speed and flexibility, to route all decision making through a single mental space ... according to the criterium [sic] of maximal pleasure" (p. 267 in [21]). These newly conscious creatures were capable of pleasure and pain, which afforded them a single hedonic currency for selecting behaviors. Consistent with the hypothesis that consciousness and sentience emerged with amniotes, the authors conducted trials involving "taste aversion learning"—in which animal subjects could learn to associate a food's pleasant taste with the unpleasant indigestion that followed, thereafter avoiding the food (an analogue to learned pain avoidance and an example of trade-off behavior)-and found reptiles but not amphibians to demonstrate such learning [22]. Further, the authors cite literature suggesting that reptiles, when handled, produce characteristic physiological responses that indicate stress (an emotional response)-similar to those found in mammals and birds-whereas amphibians and fish do not (p. 268 in [21]).

The case for reptilian sentience seems rather strong, though not quite as strong as the case for mammalian and avian sentience. Of the six kinds of evidence we are looking for, we have confirmed at least four of them in reptiles and, if we allow taste aversion learning to count as learned pain avoidance, five. Moreover, we don't have counterevidence with respect to protective behavior—just no evidence either way. What about Cabanac's interesting thesis that consciousness and sentience emerged with amniotes? Once again, we need to consider available evidence.

2.3.3 Amphibians

Descendants of fish, the amphibian class comprises such animals as frogs, newts, and salamanders, which live first in water and then, following a physical metamorphosis, the rest of their lives on land. There is reason to believe that amphibians lack an integrated perception or mental model of the world. Frogs, for example, apparently have one visual stream that allows them to detect and snap at moving objects such as flies and a distinct visual stream that enables them to walk around barriers. The lack of unified visual perception was demonstrated in an experiment in which surgical rewiring in a frog's brain resulted in a left-right reversal of prey detection while leaving untouched the ability to perceive right and left for purposes of walking around objects (p. 89 in [17]), [23]. Perhaps amphibians in general lack an integrated consciousness of the environment.

Would it follow that they are not conscious at all or that they lack sentience? It would not. The experience of pain is sufficient for sentience. Perhaps creatures like frogs and salamanders have certain sensations such as pain, hunger, and thirst and respond directly to these sensations in adaptive ways—escaping a noxious stimulus, finding and eating food, finding water and drinking—without any single representation of the world and of themselves within it. Unified consciousness might permit more efficient trade-off behavior such as tolerating pain in an effort to access needed food, but perhaps amphibians never evolved this sort of cognition. They might nevertheless be sentient. On the other hand, if amphibian behavior appears consistent with simple reflexive behavior, it would be more doubtful that amphibians actually experience feelings. Maybe, for example, frogs' two or more visual systems involve unconscious visual perception. Maybe their nociceptive responses to noxious stimuli are never attended by pain. What does the evidence suggest?

My reading of the literature suggests a case of intermediate strength for amphibian sentience and, specifically, the capacity to feel pain [24–26]. It is wellestablished that amphibians possess systems for both nociception and endogenous opioids, but it is unclear whether their brains include anything functioning like a cortex that can allow nociceptive signals to be experienced consciously as pain. I am not aware of evidence of protective behavior toward injured body parts, of learned avoidance, or of motivational trade-offs. Indeed, the aforementioned reasons to believe that amphibians lack a unified perception of the world make it seem unlikely that they engage in motivational trade-offs. It is far from clear whether amphibians are sentient.

2.3.4 Fish

There seems to be more evidence for fish sentience than for amphibian sentience, but perhaps only because fish—a major food source for human beings—have been studied more extensively. Yet, in speaking about fish one has to be careful due to the enormous range of species this term covers.¹¹ Fish are gill-bearing aquatic vertebrates that, unlike amphibians, never live on land. They divide into jawless fishes such as lampreys and hagfish, cartilaginous fishes such as sharks and stingrays, and bony fishes, which include most extent fish species. It should not be surprising if different types of fish have significantly different cognitive and sensory capacities.

There is stronger evidence that bony fishes—or at least teleost (ray-finned) fishes, which comprise the vast majority of bony fishes—are sentient than the evidence for sentience in the other, more primitive (evolutionarily ancient) types of fish. In fact, there is some counterevidence in the case of the more primitive fishes. For example, careful efforts to identify nociceptors in stingrays have been unsuccessful and, in the case of lampreys, the evidence was ambiguous [28]. Sharks, meanwhile, appear to lack nociceptors and, as a result, are able to feed while being torn to pieces by other sharks and to feed on noxious prey that leave large numbers of barbs in their mouths [9, 26]. At the same time, the evidence is unclear as to whether some jawless and cartilaginous fishes have opioid receptors [29]. My overall sense is that the case for sentience in these more ancient types of fish is somewhat weak. Bony fishes, at least teleosts, are a different matter.

Let us consider the evidence. Rainbow trout, a commonly studied species, have been found to have nociceptive and endogenous opioid systems [28];

¹¹Colin Allen makes this point persuasively; see (p. 26 in [27]).

25

moreover, rainbow trout injected with acid rubbed the affected area against a surface (unlike controls who were injected with saline)—displaying a type of protective behavior—and decreased this behavior when given morphine [30]. Goldfish learned to avoid electric shock unless they were given morphine beforehand (p. 126–7 in [28]). In addition, goldfish have been found to engage in trade-offs between the need to feed and the avoidance of electric shock. As Tye describes the finding, "the number of feeding attempts decreased with increased shock intensity [whereas] with increased food deprivation, the number and duration of feeding attempts increased..." (p. 98 in [9, 31]).

So far, then, representatives of teleost fish species have been found to meet five of our six criteria. The remaining criterion, possession of a central nervous system and a brain suitable for pain experience, has been a topic of dispute. Do teleost fish brains contain structures suitable to transform complex information processing into conscious experiences such as pain? James Rose has argued that fish-and other nonmammalian animals-are incapable of conscious experience (which is necessary for sentience) because they lack a neocortex (cerebral cortex) [32]. But, of course, the question is not whether fish have a neocortex but whether they have something that functions in a relevantly similar way. Recall that neither birds nor reptiles have a neocortex yet the case for their sentience is strong; presumably circuitry in their dorsal pallium can function analogously to the thalamocortical system in mammals. Several scholars have suggested that the fish forebrain may have evolved to support conscious experience (see, e.g., [33, 34]). Interestingly, there is reason to believe that even some human beings who lack a cerebral cortex are capable of conscious experiences (though not of a normal range or complexity) and purposive action; the author of an influential study suggests that midbrain and thalamic functioning are most crucial for basic consciousness in vertebrates, including humans, though it must be stressed that his thesis is controversial [2]. In any case, it would be unreasonable to require a cortex for an attribution of consciousness in nonmammalian animals if some other brain part or system appears to play an analogous role. Returning to teleost fish in particular, the case for sentience in these animals is not defeated by the absence of a cortex and seems fairly strong overall-stronger than the case for sentience in amphibians and the more primitive types of fish and perhaps as strong, or nearly as strong, as the case for reptilian sentience.

2.3.5 Cephalopods

Our discussion thus far has focused on vertebrates. While it is sometimes assumed that invertebrates are more primitive and less likely to be sentient than vertebrates *across the board*, this assumption is oversimplified. Probably the strongest candidates for invertebrate sentience are the cephalopods, a type of mollusk that includes octopuses, squid, and cuttlefish. Because mollusks and vertebrates developed from more primitive animals that branched apart some 600 million years ago, cephalopods present a compelling case of the evolution of consciousness and

sentience that occurred in parallel with vertebrates [17]. In other words, conscious minds appear to have evolved independently at least twice.

Considering the phenomenon of parallel evolution, it would be unreasonable in looking for evidence of sentience to require cephalopods to have a nervous system that is very similar, structurally, to the mammalian nervous system. Indeed, cephalopods have more neurons in their semiautonomous tentacles than in their brains.¹² Instead of similarity, it is appropriate to look for complexity—which is consistent with the criterion "a central nervous system with a (suitable) brain"—and perhaps to give a bit more weight to behavioral criteria. With these points in mind, the case for sentience in cephalopods seems very strong.

To begin, cephalopods have a nociceptive system and, when they withdraw from a noxious stimulus, usually change bodily color and often produce a cloud of ink [26, 35, p. 26]. Speaking to the apparent suitability of their nervous system for conscious experiences, Edelman et al. state the following: "Cephalopods, particularly the octopus, have complex sensory receptors and nervous systems that, at least in numbers of constituent neurons alone, rival those of some vertebrates" (p. 177 in [8]). The cephalopod brain has a hierarchical structure with the higher centers dedicated to sensory analysis, memory, learning, and decision-making [35]. Although there is not clear evidence one way or another regarding whether cephalopods have an endogenous opiate system, ¹³ Elwood reports that they have "an adrenal system that releases adrenal hormones when the animal is exposed to noxious, potentially painful, stimuli, and noradrenaline and dopamine are released when the animal is disturbed..." (p. 178 in [37]), [38]. Because cephalopods, especially octopuses, have demonstrated a remarkable capacity to learn, it is difficult to be skeptical that they can learn to avoid noxious stimuli. Octopuses display the ability to learn mundane lessons such as how to pull levers to obtain food in a laboratory setting. But their learning ability is revealed more impressively when octopuses work out creative means to achieving their own ends-such as escaping from a tank when (and only when) nearby humans are not looking, unscrewing a jar from the inside, and squirting water at bulbs to turn off lights [17]. Octopuses have also been found to engage in motivational trade-offs between noxious stimulus avoidance and other requirements such as food intake [37]. There is, on the whole, a very strong case for cephalopod sentience—perhaps comparable in strength to the case for reptilian sentience.

What about other invertebrates? The most likely candidates for sentience, after cephalopods, are certain arthropods.

¹²Many people who reflect on octopuses' mental lives have wondered what it is like to be an octopus. I suggest an additional question: What, if anything, is it like to be an octopus tentacle?

¹³For a discussion of ambiguous evidence, see della Roca et al. (p. 79 in [36]).

2.3.6 Arthropods

The largest phylum in the animal kingdom, arthropods include crustaceans such as crabs and lobsters; insects such as bees, ants, and flies; and spiders of myriad varieties. All have segmented bodies and exoskeletons. Given the fact that sentience evolved in vertebrates and apparently evolved in a separate mollusk line that includes cephalopods, the possibility of arthropod sentience suggests the possibility that sentience evolved independently in at least three different animal lines. Despite the enormous range of animals in the arthropod phylum, due to space constraints I will confine my discussion to crabs and to insects, especially bees.

It is uncertain whether crabs are sentient. On the one hand, there have been conflicting reports regarding nociceptive behavior or its absence; and as Lynne Sneddon comments in a review of evidence for pain in aquatic animals, little is known about the neurobiology of crustacean nociception [39]. Since nociception is generally a necessary condition for the capacity to experience pain, these concessions might seem to doom any case for sentience in crabs. Yet other evidence is fairly strong. For example, hermit crabs have exhibited grooming following electric shocks and trade-offs between shock avoidance and access to preferred shell types; shore crabs have demonstrated avoidance learning and trade-offs similar to those found in hermit crabs [37, 39]. Moreover, morphine reduces apparent pain behavior in crabs, while glass prawns engage in rubbing or grooming if treated with acid but reduce such behaviors if administered a local anesthetic [37]. On the whole, there seems to be an intermediate case for attributing sentience to at least some crustaceans including crabs.

Turning to insects, the evidence is consistent with the intriguing possibility that at least some—such as bees—are conscious but not sentient. Bees appear to lack nociceptors but do respond to noxious stimuli and so may be said to engage in nociceptive behavior. But other aspects of their behavior—learned avoidance but no clear instances of protective behavior—seems ambiguous with respect to whether they feel pain [9].¹⁴ I remain agnostic on this matter. Yet it will be instructive to suppose, for the sake of discussion, that bees cannot feel pain or any other feelings, entailing a lack of sentience.¹⁵ If this is true, then some real-world creatures are insentient yet conscious.

Consciousness is subjective experience or awareness. It is more basic than sentience, which requires awareness that involves feeling, that is, experience with a hedonic tone. Recently Andrew Barron and Colin Klein have advanced a powerful argument that insects are conscious [41]. In the case of vertebrates, they argue, the capacity for subjective experience is supported by integrated midbrain structures that

¹⁴One especially noteworthy aspect of insect behavior is an apparent lack of protective behavior toward injured body parts [40].

¹⁵Although Tye believes bees may not experience pain, he argues that they experience fear and perhaps anxiety [9]—unpleasant feelings that would entail that bees are sentient after all. So Tye would not accept the present supposition.

create a neural model of the state of a mobile animal in space-a thesis consistent with the claim that a mammalian neocortex is not necessary (even in humans) for basic consciousness. Structures in the insect brain function analogously, according to the authors. (Here it is noteworthy that the tiny brain of a bee has almost a million neurons, making it far denser in neurons than the human cortex [9].) In both vertebrates and insects this sort of integrated control system evolved to deal efficiently with the challenges of (1) sensory reafference (in which a creature needs to distinguish sensory data produced by its own actions and those produced by the external world), (2) multiple sensory inputs, and (3) navigating through space to locations outside of immediate sensory range. As the authors state, "[f]or active animals with well-developed spatial senses, it is computationally more effective to resolve the reafference problem once for a unified sensory model than to resolve it in a dispersed and peripheral way for each sense independently" (p. 4902 in [41]). They also contend that the midbrain's integration of different types of relevant information "provides the capacity to resolve competing behavioral priorities or motivations and rank needed resources by both urgency and availability" (p. 4902 in [41]). In view of both the authors' functional-neuroanatomical reasoning and the background understanding that bees are capable of remarkable communicative and navigational feats, I find the thesis that bees are conscious more reasonable than the thesis that they are not. Perhaps, as the authors contend, insects as a clade are conscious creatures. They may or may not be sentient as well.

2.4 Conclusion: From Bees to Bots and Back

At this point I would like to explore implications of the possibility that some animals—let's stick with bees—are conscious, even intelligent in some ways, yet insentient. This possibility motivates a question that brings us back to ethics: If bees are like this, do they have interests and consequently moral status? We assume, for the sake of discussion, that the bees cannot feel pain or experience other pleasant or unpleasant feelings. If they have interests, in what are they grounded?

Bees' efficient, complex navigation through space demonstrates that they have *aims* of some sort. They endeavor to do things, like find their way to food. But the idea of an aim is ambiguous. It might mean a built-in goal that, in itself, implies no *caring or concern* about its achievement. An autonomous vehicle presumably has the aim of reaching its assigned destination intact, but at least as I envision such machines they do not care about achieving this goal because they are not conscious and cannot care about anything. But now imagine an autonomous vehicle—or, if this is easier to imagine, a robot—that possesses not only built-in aims but also a type of consciousness that processes information about its environment (senses), about its own location and state (self-awareness), about its previous actions and their consequences for its system (memory), etc. There is something that it is like to be this machine. It has subjective experience of some complexity. Does it have interests? This, I submit, depends on further detail.

Suppose that the robot not only has built-in aims, but cares about, or desires, their achievement such that the robot tends to *feel* frustrated at the frustration of its aims and to *feel* satisfied at the satisfaction of its aims. This robot, it turns out, *is* sentient because, whether or not it can feel pain in response to noxious stimuli, it can experience the pleasant feeling of satisfaction and the unpleasant feeling of frustration. Clearly, then, the robot has interests and moral status.

Suppose, on the other hand, that the robot does not care about, or desire, anything, including achieving its aims. Indeed, unlike HAL in 2001, this robot does not mind the prospect of its own destruction. Suppose, then, that its experience is limited to perceptions, thoughts, and memories. And it simply does what it was built to do. This robot, I suggest, has no interests and no moral status. We might admire it, as we might admire a beautiful rainbow or oak or painting, but we cannot sympathize with it—since it has no conative point of view to appreciate and take on. This robot may strike us as very strange insofar as it has a point of view on reality but no interests to make it matter, from its point of view, what happens to it. Maybe bees and at least some other insects are like this.

But I suspect they are not, and here's why. (Admittedly, the following discussion is highly speculative.) If we can build an insentient yet conscious robot to perform certain tasks, it is plausible to suppose that it will become more proficient at avoiding destruction and performing its tasks, other factors being equal, if it acquires motivation—in the form of feeling—beyond its original software-determined compulsion to perform its tasks. After all, I suggest, if it is conscious and intelligent it will more reliably remain intact and do its job if it *cares* about these things rather than being blasé about them. Now consider bees. If they are conscious and have certain action tendencies or general aims built into them through natural selection, and if they don't care whether they can achieve them, then a better biological model could emerge through random mutations in which creatures have the same abilities but care about achieving their aims-that is, have desires that tend to keep them and their hive mates alive and available for reproduction. This model would seem to have a selective advantage. And bees have existed for something like 100 million years. Moreover, as noted, their brains are extremely dense in neurons. My guess, then, is that if bees are conscious, they are also sentient—having at least some capacity for feelings whether or not they include pain—in which case they have moral status.

If it's slightly difficult, as I am suggesting, to imagine that present-day bees and perhaps some other insects are conscious yet insentient, it is easier to imagine that some robots will be conscious but insentient—assuming (as I think we should) we can imagine robots being conscious at all. In that case, all we have to imagine is that we didn't design them in a way that generated feelings. Then they would have no moral status, with the important implication that we could use them for our own purposes without exploiting them in any morally relevant sense. But our dilemma might be that we *could* produce, for selfish purposes, more efficient robots who would need feelings for their increased efficiency, but then, having done so, we would need to acknowledge their moral status and stop regarding them simply as tools or resources for our own use.

What if we created robots who could have pleasant feelings but not unpleasant ones? Would that eliminate the dilemma? That might help, morally, insofar as their quality of life would be good, but it might entail a cost in efficiency if the capacity for negative affect conferred additional motivation to achieve aims. Also, while increasing quality of life, such an engineering feat might leave untouched ethical issues concerning *respect for beings with moral status*—an area of deep uncertainty in cases, such as we are imagining, in which the beings with moral status seem to lack (given their built-in aims) even the potential to become autonomous. Further exploration of these fascinating issues will have to await another occasion.

Some philosophers and scientists treat sentience and consciousness as interchangeable and therefore as equally good bases for moral status. I have distinguished the two concepts, understanding sentience as involving not just consciousness but also the capacity for feelings—experiences that are pleasant or unpleasant. I have also argued that while sentience is sufficient for having interests and moral status, consciousness is sufficient for neither. This claim, of course, is independent of the empirical investigations on which most of this chapter focused before turning to speculations about bees and future robots.

To close on a personal note, if someday we are able to create conscious robots, I would prefer robots that are also sentient. Such robots would be more interesting and, in a sense, more "complete." I would love in my lifetime to befriend such a being. In the meantime, I need to figure out the best way to interact with the living animals of whose possible or likely sentience I have only recently become aware.

Disclaimer and Acknowledgments This work was supported, in part, by funds from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Clinical Center. The views expressed here are the author's own and do not reflect the position or policy of NIH or any other part of the federal government. The author would like to thank Syd Johnson, Adam Shriver, Andrew Fenton, colleagues in the Department of Philosophy, George Washington University, and attendees of a talk at the 2018 Rocky Mountain Ethics Congress at the University of Colorado-Boulder for feedback on a draft.

References

- IASP terminology. International Association for the Study of Pain; 2017. http://www.iasppain. org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698#Pain. Accessed 20 Dec 2018
- 2. Merker B. Consciousness without a cerebral cortex: a challenge for neuroscience and medicine. Behav Brain Sci. 2007;30(1):63–81.
- 3. Varner GE. Nature's interests? New York: Oxford University Press; 1998.
- 4. Hardcastle V. The myth of pain. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 1999.
- 5. Seth AK, Baars BJ, Edelman DB. Criteria for consciousness in humans and other mammals. Conscious Cogn. 2005;14(1):119–39.
- 6. Shriver A. Minding mammals. Philos Psychol. 2006;19(4):433-42.
- Medina L, Reiner A. Do birds possess homologues of mammalian primary visual, somatosensory, and motor cortices? Trends Neurosci. 2000;23(1):1–12.
- Edelman DB, Baars BJ, Seth AK. Identifying hallmarks of consciousness in non-mammalian species. Conscious Cogn. 2005;14(1):169–87.
- 9. Tye M. Tense bees and shell-shocked crabs: are animals conscious? New York: Oxford University Press; 2016.

- Dugas-Ford J, Rowell JJ, Ragsdale CW. Cell-type homologies and the origins of the neocortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(41):16974–9.
- 11. Smith J, Boyd K. Lives in the balance: the ethics of using animals in biomedical research. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1991.
- 12. Gentle MJ, Hunter L, Waddington D. The onset of pain related behaviours following partial beak amputation in the chicken. Neurosci Lett. 1991;128(1):113–6.
- 13. Gentle MJ, Corr SA. Endogenous analgesia in the chicken. Neurosci Lett. 1995;201(3):211-4.
- 14. Shettleworth S. The role of novelty in learned avoidance of unpalatable 'prey' by domestic chicks (*Gallus gallus*). Anim Behav. 1972;20(1):29–35.
- 15. Güntürkün O, Bugnyar T. Cognition without cortex. Trends Cog Sci. 2016;20(4):291-303.
- Hunt GR. Manufacture and use of hook-tools by new Caledonian crows. Nature. 1996;279 (6562):249–51.
- 17. Godfrey-Smith P. Other minds. New York: Farrer, Straus and Giroux; 2016.
- Clayton NS, Dickinson A. Episodic-like memory during cache recovery by scrub jays. Nature. 2001;395(6699):272–4.
- Sherry D, Duff S. Behavioural and neural bases of orientation in food-storing birds. J Exp Biol. 1996;199(1):165–72.
- 20. Mosley C. Pain and nociception in reptiles. Vet Clin North Am. 2011;14(1):45-60.
- Cabanac M, Cabanac AJ, Parent A. The emergence of consciousness in phylogeny. Behav Brain Res. 2009;198(2):267–72.
- 22. Paradis S, Cabanac M. Flavor aversion learning induced by lithium chloride in reptiles but not in amphibians. Behav Process. 2004;67(1):11–8.
- 23. Ingle D. Two visual systems in the frog. Science. 1973;181(4104):1053-5.
- 24. Machin KL. Fish, amphibian, and reptile analgesia. Vet Clin North Am Exot Anim Pract. 2001;4(1):19–33.
- 25. Stevens CW. Opioid research in amphibians: an alternative pain model yielding insights on the evolution of opioid receptors. Brain Res Rev. 2004;46(2):204–15.
- 26. Smith ES, Lewin GR. Nociceptors: a phylogenetic view. J Comp Physiol A. 2009;195 (12):1089–106.
- 27. Allen C. Fish cognition and consciousness. J Agric Environ Ethics. 2013;26(1):25-39.
- Sneddon LU. Evolution of nociception in vertebrates: comparative analysis of lower vertebrates. Brain Res Rev. 2004;46(2):123–30.
- Dreborg S, Sundström G, Larsson TA, Larhammar D. Evolution of vertebrate opioid receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(40):15487–92.
- 30. Sneddon LU. The evidence for pain in fish: the use of morphine as an analgesic. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2003;83(2):153–62.
- Millsopp S, Laming P. Trade-offs between feeding and shock avoidance in goldfish. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2008;113(1–3):247–54.
- 32. Rose JD. The neurobehavioral nature of fishes and the question of awareness and pain. Rev Fish Sci. 2002;10(1):1–38.
- Chandroo KP, Yue S, Moccia RD. An evaluation of current perspectives on consciousness and pain in fishes. Fish Fish. 2004;5(4):281–95.
- 34. Ito H, Yamamoto N. Non-laminar cerebral cortex in teleost fishes? Biol Lett. 2008;5(1):117-21.
- 35. Smith JA. A question of pain in invertebrates. ILAR J. 1991;33(1-2):25-31.
- Della Rocca G, Di Salvo A, Giannettoni G, Goldberg ME. Pain and suffering in invertebrates: an insight on cephalopods. Am J Anim Vet Sci. 2015;10(2):77–84.
- 37. Elwood RW. Pain and suffering in invertebrates? ILAR J. 2011;52(2):175-84.
- Stefano GB, Cadet P, Zhu W, Rialas CM, Mantione K, Benz D, et al. The blueprint for stress can be found in invertebrates. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2002;23(2):85–93.
- 39. Sneddon LU. Pain in aquatic animals. J Exp Biol. 2015;218(7):967-76.
- Eisemann CH, Jorgensen WK, Merritt DJ, Rice MJ, Cribb BW, Webb PD, et al. Do insects feel pain?—A biological view. Cell Mol Life Sci. 1984;40(2):164–7.
- Barron AB, Klein C. What insects can tell us about the origins of consciousness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(18):4900–8.



The Human Challenge in Understanding Animal Cognition

Christophe Boesch

How is it that wild-born captive chimpanzees often show immediate and apparently intelligent solutions of laboratory tests of tool-using, whereas chimpanzees that have been separated from the mother at birth and raised under controlled conditions in an experimental nursery acquire the same performances slowly or not at all? Menzel et al. (Folia Prima 12:273–83, 1970)

Abstract

Animal cognition studies have progressively moved themselves to an impasse due to an overemphasis on controlled experiments on captive animals that are completely detached from species-typical socio-ecologies. If progresses in studies on wild-living animals have provided a wealth of detailed observations on sophisticated cognitive achievements, captive experimental studies have concentrated on the "failure" of nonhuman species to demonstrate so-called uniquely human cognitive skills. In the present chapter, I stress the need to better understand what "cognition" is and to perform valid comparisons on chimpanzees if we want to understand the evolution of human cognitive abilities. Cognition is not just an innate property of a species, but an adaptation of individuals to their living conditions. As such, cognitive studies need ecological validity to explore the adaptations to the environments typical to the studied species. New understanding about brain plasticity and the effect of environmental enrichment in different species, including humans, confirm the importance of environment on the development of cognitive abilities. This invalidates the assumption of most experimental captive studies that one can generalize from such atypical conditions to the whole of the species. Furthermore, observations on

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

C. Boesch (🖂)

Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology, Leipzig, Germany e-mail: boesch@eva.mpg.de

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_3

wild chimpanzees stress the importance of population differences, thereby illustrating how cognition develops over the lifespan as individuals solve the daily challenges faced in their social and physical environment. Combining the information about brain plasticity, environmental validity, and population differences will permit cognitive studies to progress and finally contribute to our understanding of the evolution of human and human-like cognitive abilities.

Keywords

Comparative cognition · Ecological validity · Environmental influences · Chimpanzees · Anthropomorphism

3.1 Introduction

Fifty years ago, Emil Menzel et al. [1] pinpointed a peculiarity that has been at the core of our difficulties in understanding animal cognition, namely, that wild populations tend to reveal an array of behavioral diversities and cognitive abilities unequalled by captive populations. Menzel's observation echoes with many field primatologists as we follow our subjects in the forest and see how hard it is for them to find their way, and find the food they need to survive. This image of primates searching for food every day for hours, in a mostly forested environment where no direct visible clues to the location of food exist, is at the center of our understanding of the lives of wild animals. It is in total contrast to the life of captive animals, whose food is provided at regular daily hours and who have plenty of free time in the limited space of their enclosures. Could it be that by concentrating most of our effort on studying the cognition of captive animals, we are missing the most important aspects of what animal cognition is? Do humans have a basic problem in understanding animal cognition due to the mere fact that they are humans? If we answer these questions in the affirmative, then what should a better comparative cognition field look like?

There are several reasons to study animal cognition: One reason is simply to satisfy our curiosity about the other creatures who share our world. Another major scientific reason is that we will gain important insights into human cognition only if we know what animal cognition is, including its evolutionary roots and progress, and how various social and environmental factors, such as upbringing, affect cognitive development. An additional reason is that studying the minds of other animals may provide us with information that could benefit those animals. In the case of endangered species like chimpanzees, for example, insights into their cognition could provide information about what kinds of environments they need to not only exist, but to thrive. In the case of captive animals, we may gain information that will improve their welfare in captivity, such as how to provide ethologically appropriate housing and an enriched environment. Finally, there are those who, by studying the intelligence of so-called inferior animals, hope to demonstrate the natural superiority of humans.

Harmful research—which includes research with captive primates—is generally justified by its benefits for humans, in a calculus that seeks to balance harms and

benefits. Keeping nonhuman primates in captivity is inherently harmful to them, but, as will be explained in detail below, it also results in impoverished cognitive science because of a number of important differences between wild and captive animals. Therefore, looking in turn at the four reasons for studying primate cognition in captive animals, it becomes clear that such research is inadequately ethically justified. Satisfying our curiosity about other creatures doesn't justify keeping those creatures in captivity—not only will we fail to understand what those animals are truly like in their natural state, but we will have caused them harm for a purpose with limited benefits. While studying other primates may indeed provide important insights into human cognition, it is again the case that our understanding will be at best diminished and at worst misled when we study captive animals, for those animals may well be cognitively impaired by the living conditions of captivity. Similarly, studying captive animals will provide us with limited insight into the needs of wild, endangered animals. It may be possible to enhance the welfare of captive animals, but this justification begs the question. If it is already understood that the welfare of animals is diminished by captivity, studying captive animals as a way to enhance their welfare in captivity would appear to justify experimenting on captive animals only by subjecting them to captivity, without questioning the ethics of captivity. Finally, making a normative claim about the superiority of humans can neither be confirmed nor falsified by empirical evidence without a clear and quantifiable understanding of cognitive complexity. In any case, if it is only captive animals that are being studied, in experiments that do not capture their actual intelligence, then any results will be tainted by selection bias.

3.2 Definition of Cognition: One or Many Cognitions?

The nature-nurture discussion is closed in the sense that most people would disagree with a purely innate determinism, but there remains heated discussion about the relative contribution of the genotype compared with the environment in producing the phenotype, including cognition. The belief that animals growing all their lives in artificial and deprived captive conditions can be considered as representative of the whole of the species suggests a deterministic approach. Therefore, the blind faith in captive experiments rests on the assumption that cognitive development in nonhuman animal species follows a rigid course and is only marginally, if ever, influenced by the conditions under which an individual grows up. As if to confirm this, most publications on captive experiments contain no discussion about the representative-ness of the subjects included in the study and happily generalize their results to the whole of the species [2, 3].

Furthermore, progress in our understanding of animal cognition has been slowed by Morgan's Canon, the rule of animal behavior that suggests that the most parsimonious explanation should always be favored until the cognitively more complex one has been demonstrated. This proves detrimental to science as you cannot obtain evidence of complex cognitive processes if you do not include them as one of the alternatives in your data collection protocols *before* collecting your data. Such a priori denial of the mentalistic in animals has tremendously hampered our ability to understand the evolution of cognition in both animals and humans (see Kummer et al. [4] presenting such an argument).

Menzel's question represents a real challenge for those who consider cognition as largely an innate attribute of the species that is barely affected by living conditions and the course of development. This view makes it barely possible to reconcile the observations of different cognitive achievements in individuals of the same species living under different conditions. The common response to such a dilemma is to deny the existence of such differences and to attribute them either to mistakes in the interpretation or to lucky anecdotes (e.g., [5-12]). Most experimental psychologists who view captive individuals as representative of the whole species tend to dismiss wild observations on the basis that they can *never* be conclusive, as too many confounding variables are assumed to be present that could potentially produce the differences observed. In other words, only a controlled experiment can be conclusive. This attitude ignores the richness of nature, and the reality is that our in-depth knowledge of human nature comes mainly from observations in the "wild" and not in captivity. Indeed, human psychology would be quite poor if it were reduced to what can be observed in controlled experiments.

If we now take seriously the data that have been produced on the cognitive development of animals living under different conditions, we see that "cognition" is something that develops in an individual as it grows in an environment containing different challenges. If we accept that different selective pressures are present within a species, then Menzel's remark makes perfect sense. On this view, "cognition" develops in interactions with the outside world (Fig. 3.1).

An important correlate of this notion of cognition developing in interaction with the outside world is that even within species there is not *one* cognition. In the real world, living conditions tend *not* to remain stable and fixed for generations; they often vary even across seasons and therefore require some flexibility to react to ecological variations that can be expected to provide fitness benefits to the individuals. Thus, we should expect flexibility to be selected when learning abilities are present.

Integrating ecology into our thinking about cognition has become even more important as a consensus is slowly emerging that the main driver for the development of brain size and brain organization is the ecology, particularly the challenges of finding food rather than the social life as previously postulated [13-16].

For example, individuals living in a high visibility environment with landmarks that help with orientation will need less developed spatial skills to find their food than those living in a low visibility environment where food is harder to find. When, in addition, the first environment has a small number of trees producing fruit at the same time, while the second one has a much larger diversity of food trees with rather irregular fruiting schedules, then the individuals living in the second environment will need, in addition to a precise mental map of tree locations, a way of classifying tree species in terms of synchrony and productivity (Fig. 3.2). The first environment, with higher visibility, corresponds to the one chimpanzees encounter in Gombe National Park, with an open woodland mosaic habitat (see Goodall [17, p. 2], [18],



Fig. 3.1 Schematic illustration of the influences that mold cognition in individuals. In nature, an individual is always confronted with the simultaneous influences of his genetic characteristics, his life historical traits, the environment he inhabits, and the social life of his group (for social species). If the first two present limited variations, the last two can be highly variable within a species whose distribution covers different environment types. Finally, in some species, cultural aspects are also among the factors that may affect the development of cognitive abilities. For some influences, I provided in brackets some of the dimensions of the influences expected to more directly affect cognition



Fig. 3.2 The different sizes of the layers represent the selective pressure they impose on the individuals. In wide-ranging animal species, the environment may differ quite importantly and will directly influence the complexity of the ecological challenges experienced by the individuals. The diagram on the left illustrates a complex and challenging environment, as shown in Fig. 3.1. The diagram on the right represents a comparatively simple environment where the selective pressures of the environment and social life are more limited

[19, 338] for pictures), while the chimpanzees living in the Taï forest or Loango National Park encounter an environment more like the second one [20].

3.3 Ecological and Social Drivers of Cognition in Chimpanzees

What are the main drivers that select for higher cognitive capacities? The natural environment where chimpanzees live is tropical Africa, ranging from some rather open mosaic savanna-gallery forests to dense tropical rainforests. In such a diversity of forested environments, many challenges are present that force the individuals to gain some understanding of the resources important for their development and survival. Within these forests, chimpanzees have a diet based mainly on ripe fruits, some immature leaves, insects, and meat, whereas other primate species sharing their environment are generally happy to eat ripe and unripe fruits, mature leaves, and insects. So, in direct food competition with them, chimpanzees are outcompeted, as unripe fruits and mature leaves are much more abundant than ripe fruits. This has been observed in Gombe National Park, where baboon populations have thrived eating grass, stems, and unripe fruits, while chimpanzees declined due to limited access to ripe fruits [21]. To survive amid such competition, chimpanzees have to become efficient at finding their food, especially in forests with lower visibility. The three main drivers of cognitive adaptations that enhance their survival are the need to find food in dense forests, the need to extract food using tools, and the need to cooperate in hunting.

3.3.1 Finding Food in Dense Forests Represents a Special Cognitive Challenge

Due to their larger body size compared to other primate species, chimpanzees feed preferentially on rich, ripe, fleshy fruits to cover their nutritional needs. Fruit-bearing trees are dispersed through the whole forested territory, and fruit production in tropical forests varies greatly. In some tree species, each individual tree bears fruit at different times of the year, and others produce fruits rarely. More predictable tree species provide a high level of synchronous fruit production among the individual trees of the same species. It remains difficult for humans to predict exactly what cognitive faculties would be the most advantageous under such conditions. In a sense, the answer has to come from the animals themselves, as we should expect different species to respond differently. Baboons, who eat a lot of unripe fruits, would certainly not respond in the same way as ripe fruit eaters like chimpanzees.

In the Taï forest, it seems that chimpanzees access abundant fruiting tree species with great success using a simple straight line search strategy moving in a random direction [22]. However, the situation is totally different in forests with rare and large fruiting trees, where a similar random search strategy would be extremely costly, forcing the chimpanzees into a kilometers-long search with limited success. Within such a forest, chimpanzees are under high selection pressure to develop sophisticated spatial mapping abilities based on long-term memory and planning of routes to find these rare but large fruiting tree species [23–25]. Even so, success would be limited, and chimpanzees base their selection of trees not only on the memory of their location but also on the memory of the amount of fruit eaten during their previous

visits (sometimes occurring a year earlier) [26]. Chimpanzees have another skill to ensure success: the ability to classify trees into botanical classes, sorted according to some knowledge of fruit production patterns, so that more synchronous tree species would be visited more systematically once an individual tree bearing fruit has been discovered. They would not do this for known non-synchronous fruiting tree species [24]. Finally, chimpanzees have developed a sophisticated sense of what fruit types are more subject to food competition from other species, and for the highly prized fruits, they ensure access by building night nests the previous evening, facing in the direction of the breakfast tree [27].

In Taï chimpanzees, the successful foraging for rich food sources requires individuals to possess precise mental maps, combined with long-term memory of past foraging events, a precise botanical classification of species fruiting patterns, as well as a sense of the level of competition for different fruits. Planning, long-term memory, Euclidian mental mapping, and botanical classification are among the cognitive skills demonstrated by chimpanzees in this context.

3.3.2 Extracting Embedded Food

Embedded foods like hard-shelled nuts and insects hidden in nests are rich food sources. For those, tool use permits access to high-quality food. If tool use is rather common in the animal kingdom, it is in most cases a specialization to access one food type with one type of tool [28–30]. Flexible tool use, where different types of tools are used for many different purposes, has been observed only in a very limited number of species, mainly humans, Caledonian crows, and chimpanzees [31]. A diet reliant on hard to extract, but rich food has been proposed as a driver of human evolution [32, 33] and the acquisition of skillful tool use. Chimpanzees have undergone a very similar evolutionary process, as they expanded their diet toward harder to extract, but richer, food sources.

Taï chimpanzees use hammers to crack five species of nuts and eat them on a daily basis for 4 months of the year [34]. It is intriguing that the nuts cracked by the chimpanzees at Taï are also present in most of the forests between Côte d'Ivoire and Gabon, but nut-cracking is only seen in Côte d'Ivoire and Liberia [35]. The selective pressure to open hard-shelled nuts is present in all of these forests, but is channeled by cultural differences, so that only the chimpanzees living in the west of the Sassandra River have been seen to crack the nuts. Nut-cracking in the tropical rainforest with naturally occurring tools is less easy than it may seem. I have regularly asked human visitors to crack nuts in the Taï forest to obtain a feeling for the challenges, and a newcomer may need up to 40 min to open one nut. As chimpanzees use natural branches and stones as hammers, they are confronted with a huge availability of potential tools. The ground in the forest is littered with branches, but only a tiny fraction possess the physical properties required of a good tool. Chimpanzees may learn to use tools to crack nuts, but they also need to have a good understanding of what a tool is and what physical properties it needs to function as a good nutcracker [36, 37].

Recently, Giulia Sirianni studied how Taï chimpanzees manage the complexity of tool selection for the softer *Coula* nuts, a challenge that at first glance seems easier. She convincingly showed that the chimpanzees consider at least five different factors when selecting a hammer to crack nuts [36]: the material, weight, hardness of the potential hammer, its distance to the anvil, and the position of the anvil (in the tree or on the ground). Choosing the optimal hammer involves comparing the properties of all available hammers, as well as their distances to the nut-cracking site. This sophisticated conditional selection of hammers is well within the abilities of the chimpanzees. The individual must renew its complex selection process each time they want to crack nuts, and reevaluate the five different factors in a very flexible decision process.

An experimentalist might have argued that the situation in the forest is simply too complex to study. Indeed, studies of the understanding of tools in captive chimpanzees have tested at most one or two properties of the tools [7, 38]. These studies were therefore able to say very little about the cognition of tool selection. The situation in nature can be even more complex. For example, when cracking hard *Panda* nuts chimpanzees use only stone hammers and those are rare in the forest. In the only study examining this behavior, Taï chimpanzees were able to select the stone with the optimal weight that was closest to a *Panda* nut tree, even when the transport distance exceeded hundreds of meters in dense forest [39]. This finding was met with skepticism because it suggested a level of cognitive achievement equivalent to what is seen in 9-year-old human children.

3.3.3 Hunting and Cooperation

Cooperation among non-related individuals represents an evolutionary puzzle. It has been suggested that it only truly exists in humans [40–43]. This claim originated from the assumption that such cooperation can only emerge when individuals are able to consider others as independent agents with their own intentions and motivations, and that one can only truly cooperate after taking into account different perspectives, and aligning one's own selfish interests with those of others (also called "shared intentionality"). Such claims are supported by experimental studies with captive chimpanzees raised in human-made artificial social groups. What those experimental results really showed was that raising individuals in artificial social groups does not promote cooperation in simple and arbitrary tasks.

Meat is for humans a very nutrient-dense food source, and historically, humans in many societies invested a lot of effort and skill securing enough meat for consumption. Therefore, meat access correlates in humans with both cooperation in hunting, and in sharing food within groups [44, 45]. Similarly, all chimpanzee populations under study in Africa are known to hunt different species of small mammals, and their behavior when successful shows clearly how highly they value meat [31]. So we should expect that chimpanzees would also develop special skills for capturing prey. In the Taï forest, which is a continuous, dense rainforest, many monkey species live high up in the canopy, and hunting them is a challenge for chimpanzees.

The strongest evidence for cooperation comes from the Taï chimpanzees that have been observed hunting small arboreal monkeys in groups for 70% of their hunts; individuals perform different, complementary roles within the groups [34, 46, 47]. Thanks to meat sharing rules that favor hunters and, among them, the ones having the most important hunting roles, hunters eat more meat than individuals that do not hunt [47]. These observations have been confirmed in a study where more meat stable isotopes were found in the hair of successful hunters [48].

Cooperation to obtain meat has been observed with different levels of sophistication in wild chimpanzees, with chimpanzees in intact forest developing more sophisticated levels of social cooperation. In populations where *individual* hunting success is high, and where the forest structures allow for cornering prey, group hunting is observed less frequently, and cooperative actions among individuals seem in Ngogo chimpanzees [18] and Gombe chimpanzees rare. as seen [49]. Chimpanzees show that under the relevant selective pressures, they can develop precise social knowledge about others, what they can do, and how they can combine their actions to develop successful cooperative hunting strategies. Notwithstanding this, some experimental psychologists have reinterpreted hunting data that suggest cooperation among chimpanzees to suggest interpretations compatible with denying true cooperation in nonhuman primates [10, 19, 50].

3.4 Are There Real Differences Between Captive and Wild Populations?

The late Emil Menzel studied animals in captive settings and was genuinely interested in cognition. Initially, he worked with Richard Davenport and Harry Nissen to examine the effect of different social rearing experiences on social and cognitive development [1, 51-54]. This led him to realize the importance of living conditions when comparing cognitive development within one species. Menzel thereafter pioneered the study of captive chimpanzees living in social groups, with access to large semi-natural enclosures [55]. In the early 1960s and 1970s, psychologists were often concerned about the living conditions of their subjects, as work on chimpanzees had shown the drawbacks of captive living conditions on cognition [56-60]. The main lesson from that work was that the deprived socio-ecological nature of captivity had long-lasting negative consequences on the development of individuals. In a series of classic experiments following on the original Harlow maternal deprivation experiments, Mason showed that cognitive development improves in rhesus monkeys reared by live surrogate mothers [61-63]. This stressed the importance of a proactive and caring environment in the development of primates.

However, in recent years, the field of experimental psychology has become dominant in the study of animal cognition, imposing its experimental paradigm over all others when the aim is to look at the presence of a cognitive mechanism. Observations in the wild were downgraded to the level of simple anecdotes, important for formulating hypotheses about a possible cognitive process, but incapable of providing definitive evidence due to the presence of many possible alternative explanations in nature [50, 64, 65]. This new approach came along as a surprising twist, as researchers became oblivious to the negative effects of captive living conditions on the development of cognitive abilities, and no mention was made of the artificial conditions under which the subjects of those studies were kept, or of the potential negative effect those conditions might have (e.g., [7, 41]). Readers of such studies are left wondering about the developmental history of the subjects, whether they were brought up by their mothers or by surrogates, and what captive conditions they faced, as such details are mostly absent from the publications. This research has been published in some of the highest impact journals in science, however.

More recently, a renewed critical look at captive studies has developed, and concentrated on determining the effects of different social and ecological conditions on the development of cognitive processes in captive individuals. They concentrate on specific social and environmental aspects of captivity, such as being mother-raised versus human- or peer-raised, having access to social partners of different ages, or living in an enriched physical environment with many objects, toys, and food to search for, and seek to determine how such variables influence the cognitive development of young chimpanzees [66–71]. In all domains explored, mother-raised chimpanzees in richer social groups and enriched environments.

In a series of long-term studies, chimpanzees have been shown to be extremely sensitive to small changes in their social and physical environment: Kim Bard and her team have documented the negative impacts of deprived social engagements in early life on the development of social cognition skills, such as joint attention and cooperation, and shown that chimpanzees provided with enriched social engagement experiences performed equally to human children of the same age [68, 72]. Sally Boysen and her team have compared the performance of young chimpanzees living in captive conditions with some environmental enrichment and within a multi-age social group (e.g., [73–76]). In tests of tool modification and awareness of knowl-edge of others, the enriched-living chimpanzees did better than young chimpanzees living in small peer groups with limited environmental enrichment [6, 7].

Thus, cognition in captive settings varies relative to the conditions. Questions concerning the differences between wild observations and captive experiments remain relevant [77–80]. Outsiders to primatology find it puzzling and don't know what to make of the conflicting observations made on wild chimpanzees, who show themselves to be an inventive species very skilled within their rich natural environment, and captive chimpanzees who are disappointingly conservative and passive.

Why do we see such differences between wild and captive populations of the same species? Some studies have recently concentrated on the developmental and abnormal behaviors observed in chimpanzees raised in captivity as compared to wild individuals [81–84]. They confirmed that anxiety and obsessive-compulsive disorders were present in 20% of the captive chimpanzees studied, while almost absent in wild individuals [83]. At the same time, 58% of captive chimpanzees surveyed showed signs of depression while only 3% of wild individuals did so [82]. In another study, the authors concluded "while most behavior in captive

chimpanzees is 'normal' in the sense that it is behavior seen in their wild counterparts, abnormal behavior is endemic in captivity. For some individuals it may dominate much of their activity, but for the rest it is a persistent element of their everyday behavior, despite living in social groups in enriched environments" [81, p. 5]. This persistence over the lifetime of negative effects of early deprivation has also been confirmed in a study documenting the neurological effects in the brains of adult chimpanzees up to 46 years old [85], and in another study looking at the increased health consequences 20 years after such deprivation [86].

Strengthening those results, numerous studies have documented the positive effects of environmental enrichment on cognitive development in captive settings in a range of animal species, including fish, rats, and many primate species [85, 87, 88]. Basically, all deteriorations in the physical and social environment have long-lasting negative effects of different amplitude on the subjects, and those changes leave characteristic marks in brain organization, revealing an unexpectedly high level of brain plasticity. This often remained visible in adults even when the environmental deprivation happened during early phases in life.

In humans as well, deprivation can have long-lasting negative effects, as so dramatically seen in the study of children raised in Romanian orphanages where many aspects of their development were affected, with the negative impacts persisting for many years [89, 90]. This higher than expected brain plasticity can also provide positive effects, especially for those who specialize in a specific activity [91, 92]. For example, professional musicians present a higher volume of gray matter in motor, auditory, and visual-spatial brain regions compared to nonmusicians. Interestingly, these changes in the brain increase with the amount of practice of the individuals. Similar structural changes in the brain, in specific regions known to be activated by the repeated performance of specific tasks, have been found in taxi drivers [93], chess players [94], and gymnasts [95], as well as among humans belonging to different cultures when making mathematical calculations [96].

How can we explain the predominance in the field of animal cognition of an approach that has been known for decades to be detrimental to cognitive development?

3.5 Human Bias and Ecological Validity

We are only humans, and it is difficult for us to think and plan as a chimpanzee or a dolphin would. As such we are naturally inclined toward anthropocentrism when it comes to understanding other animal species [97, 98]. It becomes very hard for us to conceptualize the specific environmental conditions that are relevant for the development of a specific cognitive capacity in another animal species. How would we react when 20 m high up in a tree? To most scientists, this question makes no sense. But at the same time, this is exactly what we ask animals to do, when we place them in cages in front of a computer screen to perform experiments. In other words, empathy for animals is what is needed.

Some researchers intentionally search for the presence of human cognitive skills in other species, in an attempt to characterize the uniqueness of human cognition. For example, the test of self-recognition in a mirror is used, when mirrors do not exist in a species' natural environment. So-called "failures" to perform in an anthropocentric test are viewed as potentially showing a limit to other species' ability to copy humans. However, producing failures is relatively easier than proving the presence of an ability. In addition, such an approach tells us very little about the true cognitive abilities of other species. No one should expect all animal species to have the same cognitive abilities, or even all individuals within a species, and therefore, we should not merely list what humans can do better, but also what the other species can do better. A fruitful comparison needs to include both aspects.

The majority of the tests performed on animals have minimal or no ecological validity. As experimenters, we cannot envision what is relevant to a species that we have only observed in captivity, and whose daily foraging and social living experience are radically altered. For example, chimpanzees have often been asked to manipulate a complex apparatus equipped with sliding or revolving doors, pulling ropes, or raking objects outside their cages. A very similar problem arose in crosscultural human studies, where the question was how to test humans belonging to cultures where typical Occidental objects like coins, rulers, cups, and pens do not exist [99–101]. Faced with surprising negative results in some psychological tests of conservation of length, for example, the experimenters started to wonder if the results were not due to the procedures used. In an attempt to correct this, native daily-use objects were included in the tests rather than Occidental objects, leading to much better performance in the tested subjects. Therefore, the question of ecological/ cultural validity of experimental procedures has been at the center of many recent cross-cultural psychological studies allowing for much more reliable and interesting insights into the human mind [102-106]. If ecological/cultural validity has been so important in improving our understanding of cross-cultural human cognition, why has ecological validity been so neglected by comparative psychologists studying animals?

This absence of concern for ecological validity in primate research might explain some perplexing conclusions, such as the suggestion that bird tool use is superior to that of captive chimpanzees [107–110]. That the performance of birds is very impressive—and there is no doubt that they have been underestimated in the past—evidences the care taken by bird researchers to improve the ecological validity of the tests they use to study their subjects. This care is present in their choice of materials and tasks (matching those found in the wild), and by making living conditions as natural as possible, including having free-ranging subjects who come into cages only for testing (which is relevantly similar to methods for testing humans in psychological studies) [111, 112]. Such efforts by the researchers to present only ecologically meaningful objects and tasks to birds, and investing valuable effort in trying to have their subjects understand the tasks, have tremendously increased the value of avian cognition research. To such scientists, a negative result from their subjects is often perceived as a challenge to find new ways of presenting a task so that the subjects could understand what is wanted from them. They are guided by the reality that an absence of evidence is not evidence of absence. Sadly, such care and consideration has rarely been shown to primate subjects, including chimpanzees. If captive primate experimental studies have any intrinsic value, it is to show that any understanding of chimpanzees' cognition when they are subject to lifelong social and ecological deprivation is limited at best.

Recently, some researchers have started to invest important effort into going into the field and offering different tests to natural populations of free-ranging primates to understand better their social and physical cognition (for monkeys, see [113–117]; for chimpanzees, see [118–124]). This new approach will provide valuable information on animal cognition in the natural environment.

3.6 The Future of Animal Cognition Studies?

Unless the scientific paradigm changes, human understanding of the minds of other species will remain imbued with anthropomorphism, anthropocentrism, and ethnocentrism. It might be revealing that primate cognitive studies are mainly with captive individuals removed from their natural environment, while cognitive studies on dogs or birds are done with great care, providing the subjects with a natural social and ecological environment. Humans have long had an empathic relationship with dogs, and so we can readily understand what they need for their well-being [125, 126]. On the other side, birds are so clearly different from us that we seem to have no issue with understanding that they have very different needs from us, and a real effort has been made to provide appropriate environmental conditions to ensure the ecological validity of experiments. Primates are in many ways so close to us, and this is even more clear for chimpanzees, that we tend to think we naturally know what they need and directly transfer our preferences onto them. This is the major mistake that has been hindering primate cognition work. This unconscious anthropocentrism transfers our perceptions onto other primate species without any awareness of their very different needs and their ecology.

The second concerning aspect is that science in the 1960s and 1970s went through a phase where much more concern prevailed about the role of the environment on the ontogeny of the individuals, and on how to perform controlled experiments. This was, so to speak, the golden age of animal cognition. Now, in an unexpected twist, this knowledge has been ignored by a large segment of experimental psychology, and we are back to the old way of treating animals as programmed machines that are barely affected in their development by the external environment. This purely deterministic way of looking at animals has blocked major progress in our understanding of primate cognition, compared to the huge progress that has been made in the field of bird cognition.

The huge contrast between work in avian and primate cognition is slowly influencing a younger generation of scientists, one willing to go into the field and adapt to this complex situation so as to make precise and detailed experiments to obtain precious information on primate cognition in domains that are so important for their survival: understanding of predators [114, 127], finding their food [23, 24,

26, 128], tool use [123], hunting behavior [46], social learning [115], and communication [121].

Progress is therefore under way, but slowly. There is urgency. All over the tropics, natural environments are under attack from many different directions, and numerous wild primate populations are now in danger of extinction. If we want to understand animal cognition, it is now or never. Researchers should establish their study sites and with their presence protect the primates they are following [129]. For most primate species, we have only studied one or a few populations and we know that some species inhabit very different environmental niches where we would expect to see them develop different cognitive capacities (some examples in chimpanzees, capuchin monkeys, and macaques are very convincing; see [31, 37, 130]). This may be our only chance to understand animal cognition and through this understand the specificity of human cognition.

References

- 1. Menzel E, Davenport R, Rogers C. The development of tool-using in wild-born and restriction-reared chimpanzees. Folia Prima. 1970;12:273–83.
- 2. De Waal F. The ape and the sushi master: cultural reflections of a primatologist. New York: Basic Books; 2001.
- 3. De Waal F. Are we smart enough to know how smart animals are. New York: Basic Books; 2016.
- 4. Kummer H, Dasser V, Hoyningen-Huene P. Exploring primate social cognition: some critical remarks. Behaviour. 1990;112(1–2):84–98.
- 5. Penn D, Holyoak K, Povinelli D. Darwin's mistake: explaining the discontinuity between human and nonhuman minds. Behav Brain Sci. 2008;31:109–78.
- 6. Povinelli D. Folk physics for apes: the chimpanzee's theory of how the world works. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2000.
- 7. Povinelli D, Ballew N. World without weight: perspectives on an alien mind. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- Call J, Tomasello M. Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? 30 years later. Trends Cogn Sci. 2008;12(5):187–92.
- 9. Tomasello M, Carpenter M, Call J, Behne T, Moll H. Understanding and sharing intentions: the origins of cultural cognition. Behav Brain Sci. 2005;28:675–91.
- Tomasello M, Call J. Assessing the validity of ape-human comparisons: a reply to Boesch (2007). J Comp Psychol. 2008;122(4):449–52.
- 11. Tennie C, Call J, Tomasello M. Push or pull: imitation vs. emulation in great apes and human children. Ethology. 2006;112:1159–69.
- 12. Tennie C, Call J, Tomasello M. Ratcheting up the ratchet: on the evolution of cumulative culture. Philos Trans R Soc B. 2009;364:2405–15.
- Deaner R, Nunn C, Schaik C. Comparative tests of primate cognition: different scaling methods produce different results. Brain Behav Evol. 2000;55:44–52.
- Lefebvre L, Sol D. Brains, lifestyles and cognition: are there general trends? Brain Behav Evol. 2008;72:135–44.
- Barks S, Calhoun M, Hopkins W, Cranfield M, Mudakikwa A, Stoinski T, et al. Brain organization of gorillas reflects species differences in ecology. Am J Phys Anthropol. 2015;156:252–62.
- González-Forero M, Gardner A. Inference of ecological and social drivers of human brain size evolution. Nature. 2018;557:554–7.

- Goodall J. The chimpanzees of Gombe: patterns of behavior. Cambridge: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press; 1986.
- Watts D, Mitani J. Hunting behavior of chimpanzees at Ngogo, Kibale National Park, Uganda. Int J Primatol. 2002;23(1):1–28.
- 19. Tomasello M, Call J. The role of humans in the cognitive development of apes revisited. Anim Cogn. 2004;7:213–5.
- 20. Janmaat KR, Boesch C, Byrne R, Chapman CA, Goné Bi ZB, Head JS, et al. Spatio-temporal complexity of chimpanzee food: how cognitive adaptations can counteract the ephemeral nature of ripe fruit. Am J Primatol. 2016;78:626–45.
- Thaxton M (2006) Why the chimpanzees of Gombe National Park are in jeopardy. Population Reference Bureau. https://www.prb.org/whythechimpanzeesofgombenationalparkareinjeopardy. Accessed 04 May 2019.
- 22. Normand E, Boesch C. Sophisticated Euclidian maps in forest chimpanzees. Anim Behav. 2009;77:1195–201.
- 23. Normand E, Ban SD, Boesch C. Forest chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes verus*) remember the location of numerous fruit trees. Anim Cogn. 2009;12:797–807.
- 24. Janmaat KR, Ban SD, Boesch C. Chimpanzees use long-term spatial memory to monitor large fruit trees and remember feeding experiences across seasons. Anim Behav. 2013;86 (6):1183–205.
- Ban S, Boesch S, Janmaat K. Taï chimpanzees anticipate revisiting high-valued fruit trees from further distances. Anim Cogn. 2014;17(6):1353–64.
- 26. Janmaat KR, Ban SD, Boesch C. Tai chimpanzees use botanical skills to discover fruit: what we can learn from their mistakes. Anim Cogn. 2013;16(6):851–60.
- Janmaat KR, Polansky L, Ban SD, Boesch C. Wild chimpanzees plan their breakfast time, type, and location. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(46):16343–8.
- Beck B. Animal tool behavior. New York: Garland Press; 1980.
- 29. Amant R, Horton T. Revisiting the definition of animal tool use. Anim Behav. 2008;75:1199–208.
- Bentley-Condit V, Smith E. Animal tool use: current definitions and an updated comprehensive catalog. Behaviour. 2010;147:185–221.
- 31. Boesch C. Wild cultures: a comparison between chimpanzee and human cultures. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2012.
- Kaplan H, Hill K, Lancaster J, Hurtado A. A theory of human life history evolution: diet, intelligence and longevity. Evol Anthropol. 2000;9(4):156–85.
- 33. Kaplan H, Robson A. The emergence of humans: the coevolution of intelligence and longevity with intergenerational transfers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(15):10221–6.
- Boesch C, Boesch-Achermann H. The chimpanzees of the Taï forest: behavioural ecology and evolution. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2000.
- Boesch C, Marchesi P, Marchesi N, Fruth B, Joulian F. Is nut cracking in wild chimpanzees a cultural behaviour? J Hum Evol. 1994;26:325–38.
- 36. Sirianni G, Mundry R, Boesch C. When to choose which tool: multidimensional and conditional selection of nut-cracking hammers in wild chimpanzees. Anim Behav. 2015;100:152–65.
- 37. Visalberghi E, Sirianni G, Fragaszy D, Boesch C. Percussive tool use by Taï Western chimpanzees and Fazenda Boa Vista bearded capuchin monkeys: a comparison. Philos Trans R Soc B. 2015;370:20140351.
- Hanus D, Call J. Chimpanzees infer the location of a reward on the basis of the effect of its weight. Curr Biol. 2008;18(9):R370–2.
- Boesch C, Boesch H. Mental map in wild chimpanzees: an analysis of hammer transports for nut cracking. Primates. 1984;25:160–70.
- Tomasello M, Call J, Nagell K, Olguin R, Carpenter M. The learning and use of gestural signals by young chimpanzees: a trans-generational study. Primates. 1994;35(2):137–54.

- 41. Tomasello M. The cultural origin of human cognition. Cambridge: Harvard University Press; 1999.
- 42. Tomasello M. Why we co-operate. Boston Review. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2009.
- Warneken F, Chen F, Tomasello M. Cooperative activities in young children and chimpanzees. Child Dev. 2006;77(3):640–63.
- 44. Washburn SL, Lancaster C. The evolution of hunting. In: Lee RB, DeVore I, editors. Man the hunter. Chicago: Aldine; 1968. p. 293–303.
- 45. Isaac G. The food sharing behavior of protohuman hominids. Sci Am. 1978;238:90-108.
- Boesch C, Boesch H. Hunting behavior of wild chimpanzees in the Taï National Park. Am J Phys Anthropol. 1989;78:547–73.
- 47. Boesch C. Cooperative hunting roles among Taï chimpanzees. Hum Nat. 2002;13(1):27-46.
- Fahy G, Richards M, Riedel J, Hublin JJ, Boesch C. Stable isotope evidence of meat eating and hunting specialization in adult male chimpanzees. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110 (15):5829–33.
- 49. Gilby I, Eberly L, Pintea L, Pusey A. Ecological and social influences on the hunting behaviour of wild chimpanzees, *Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii*. Anim Behav. 2006;72:169–80.
- 50. Tomasello M, Call J. Primate cognition. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1997.
- Menzel EW. Spontaneous invention of ladders in a group of young chimpanzees. Folia Primat. 1972;17:87–106.
- Menzel EW. A group of young chimpanzees in a one-acre field. In: Schrier AM, Stollnitz F, editors. Behavior of nonhuman primates. New York: Academic; 1974. p. 83–153.
- Menzel EW. Cognitive mapping in chimpanzees. In: Hülse SH, Fowler H, Honig WK, editors. Cognitive process in animal behavior. Hillsdale: Lawrence Erlbaum; 1978. p. 375–422.
- 54. Menzel E, Davenport R, Rogers C. Effects of environmental restriction upon the chimpanzee's responsiveness in novel situation. J Comp Psychol. 1961;56:329.
- 55. Menzel EW. Chimpanzee spatial memory organization. Science. 1973;182(4115):943-5.
- 56. Harlow H, Harlow M. Social deprivation in monkeys. Sci Am. 1962;207:136-46.
- Harlow H, Harlow M. The affectional system. In: Schreier A, Harlow H, Stollnitz F, editors. Behavior of nonhuman primates: modern research trends, vol. 2. New York: Academic; 1965. p. 287–334.
- Davenport RK. Some behavioral disturbances of great apes in captivity. In: Hamburg DA, McCowan E, editors. In the great apes. Menlo Park: Benjamin/Cummings; 1979. p. 341–57.
- Davenport R, Rogers C, Rumbaugh D. Long-term cognitive deficits in chimpanzees associated with early impoverished rearing. Dev Psychol. 1973;9:343–7.
- Rogers CM, Davenport RK. Effects of restricted rearing on sexual behavior of chimpanzees. Dev Psychol. 1969;1(3):200–4.
- Capitanio J, Mason W. Cognitive style: problem solving by rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatto*) reared with living or inanimate substitute mothers. J Comp Psychol. 2000;114 (2):115–23.
- 62. Mason W. Determinants of social behavior in young chimpanzees. In: Schreier A, Harlow H, Stollnitz F, editors. Behavior of nonhuman primates: modern research trends. New York: Academic; 1965. p. 335–64.
- 63. Mason W. Social experience and primate development. In: Burghardt GM, Bekoff M, editors. The development of behavior: comparative and evolutionary aspects. New York: Garland Press; 1978. p. 233–51.
- 64. Galef B. Tradition in animals: field observations and laboratory analyses. In: Bekoff M, Jamieson D, editors. Interpretation and explanation in the study of animal behavior. Boulder: Westview Press; 1990. p. 74–95.
- Heyes CM. Anecdotes, training, trapping and triangulating: do animals attribute mental states? Anim Behav. 1993;46:177–88.

- 66. Bard K, Myowa-Yamakoshi M, Tomonaga M, Tanaka M, Costall A, Matsuzawa T. Group differences in the mutual gaze of chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Dev Psychol. 2005;41 (4):615–24.
- Bard K, Brent L, Lester B, Worobey J, Suomi S. Neurobehavioural integrity of chimpanzee newborns: comparisons across groups and across species reveal gene–environment interaction effects. Infant Child Dev. 2011;20(1):47–93.
- Bard K, Bakeman R, Boysen S, Leavens D. Emotional engagements predict and enhance social cognition in young chimpanzees. Dev Sci. 2014;17(5):682–96.
- Bard K, Leavens D. The importance of development for comparative primatology. Annu Rev Anthropol. 2014;43:183–200.
- Leavens D, Bard K, Hopkins W. BIZARRE chimpanzees do not represent 'the chimpanzee'. Behav Brain Sci. 2010;33(1):100–1.
- 71. Leavens D, Bard K, Hopkins W. The mismeasure of ape social cognition. Anim Cogn. 2017:1–18.
- Van Ijzendoorn M, Bard K, Bakermans-Kranenberg M, Ivan K. Enhancement of attachment and cognitive development of young nursery-reared chimpanzees in responsive versus standard care. Dev Psychobiol. 2009;51:173–85.
- Bania A, Harris S, Kinsley H, Boysen S. Constructive and deconstructive tool modification by chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Anim Cogn. 2009;12:85–95.
- Bulloch M, Boysen S, Furlong E. Visual attention and its relation to knowledge states in chimpanzees, *Pan troglodytes*. Anim Behav. 2008;76:1147–55.
- Furlong E, Boose K, Boysen S. Raking it in: the impact of enculturation on chimpanzee tool use. Anim Cogn. 2008;11:83–97.
- Yocom A, Boysen S. Comprehension of functional support by enculturated chimpanzees *Pan* troglodytes. Curr Zool. 2011;57(4):429–40.
- Boesch C. What makes us human (*Homo sapiens*)? The challenge of cognitive cross-species comparison. J Comp Psychol. 2007;121(3):227–40.
- Boesch C. Away from ethnocentrism and anthropocentrism: towards a scientific understanding of "what makes us human". Behav Brain Sci. 2010;33(2/3):26–7.
- 79. Gardner R. Animal cognition meets evo-devo. Behav Brain Sci. 2005;28:699-700.
- Gardner R. Comparative intelligence and intelligent comparisons. Behav Brain Sci. 2008;31:135–6.
- Birkett L, Newton-Fisher N. How abnormal is the behavior of captive, zoo-living chimpanzees? PLoS One. 2011;6(6):e20101.
- Ferdowsian H, Durham D, Kimwele C, Kranendonk G, Otali E, Akugizibwe T, et al. Signs of mood and anxiety disorders in chimpanzees. PLoS One. 2011;6(6):e19855.
- Ferdowsian H, Durham D, Johnson C, Brune M, Kimwele C, Kranendonk G, et al. Signs of general anxiety and compulsive disorders in chimpanzees. J Vet Behav. 2012;7:353–61.
- 84. Ferdowsian H, Durham D, Brüne M. Mood and anxiety disorders in chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*): a response to Rosati et al. (2012). J Comp Psychol. 2013;127(3):337–40.
- Bogart S, Bennett A, Schapiro S, Reamer L, Hopkins W. Different early rearing experiences have long-term effects on cortical organization in captive chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Dev Sci. 2014;17(2):161–74.
- Clay A, Bloomsmith M, Bard K, Maple T, Marr M. Long-term effects of infant attachment organization on adult behavior and health in nursery-reared, captive chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). J Comp Psychol. 2015;129(2):145–59.
- Kalcher E, Franz C, Crailsheim K, Preuschoft S. Differential onset of infantile deprivation produces distinctive long-term effects in adult ex-laboratory chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Dev Psychobiol. 2008;50:777–88.
- Leeuwen E, Mulenga I, Chidester D. Early social deprivation negatively affects social skill acquisition in chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Anim Cogn. 2014;17:407–14.

- Troller-Renfree S, McLaughlin K, Sheridan M, Nelson C, Zeanah C, Fox N. The beneficial effects of a positive attention bias amongst children with a history of psychosocial deprivation. Biol Psychol. 2017;122:110–20.
- Humphreys K, Miron D, McLaughlin K, Sheridan M, Nelson C, Fox N, et al. Foster care promotes adaptive functioning in early adolescence among children who experienced severe early deprivation. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2018;59(7):811–21.
- Gaser C, Schlaug G. Brain structures differ between musicians and non-musicians. J Neurosci. 2003;23(27):9240–5.
- 92. Groussard M, Viader F, Landeau B, Desgranges B, Eustache F, Platel H. The effects of musical practice on structural plasticity: the dynamics of grey matter changes. Brain Cogn. 2014;90:174–80.
- Maguire E, Spiers H, Good C, Hartley T, Frackowiak R, Burgess N. Navigation expertise and the human hippocampus: a structural brain imaging analysis. Hippocampus. 2003;13:250–9.
- Hänggi J, Brütsch K, Siegel M, Jäncke L. The architecture of the chess player's brain. Neuropsychologia. 2014;62:152–62.
- 95. Huang R, Lu M, Song Z, Wang J. Long-term intensive training induced brain structural changes in world class gymnasts. Brain Struct Funct. 2015;220:625–44.
- 96. Tang Y, Zhang W, Chen K, Feng S, Ji Y, Shen J, et al. Arithmetic processing in the brain shaped by cultures. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(28):10775–80.
- 97. Goodrich G, Allen C. Conditioned anti-anthropomorphism. Comp Cogn Behav Rev. 2007;2:147–50.
- 98. Wynne C. What are animals? Why anthropomorphism is still not a scientific approach to behavior. Comp Cogn Behav Rev. 2007;2:125–35.
- 99. Berry J, Poortinga Y, Segall M, Dasen P. Cross-cultural psychology: research and applications. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2002.
- Mishra R, Dasen P, Niraula S. Ecology, language and performance on spatial cognitive tasks. Int J Psychol. 2003;38(6):366–83.
- Segall M, Dasen P, Berry J, Poortinga Y. Human behavior in global perspective: an introduction to cross-cultural psychology. 2nd ed. New York: Pergamon; 1999.
- 102. Henrich J, Ensminger J, Boyd R, Henrich N, Bowles S, Hill K, et al. "Economic man" in crosscultural perspective: behavioral experiments in 15 small-scale societies. Behav Brain Sci. 2005;28:795–855.
- Henrich J, McElreath R, Barr A, Ensminger J, Barrett C, Bolyanath A, et al. Costly punishment across human societies. Science. 2006;312:1767–70.
- 104. Henrich J, Ensminger J, McElreath R, Barr A, Barrett C, Bolyanatz A, et al. Markets, religion, community size and the evolution of fairness and punishment. Science. 2010;327:1480–4.
- 105. Medin D, Atran S. The native mind: biological categorization and reasoning in development and across cultures. Psychol Rev. 2004;111(4):960–83.
- 106. Marlowe F, Berbesque J, Barr A, Barrett C, Bolyanatz A, Cardenas J, et al. More "altruistic" punishment in larger societies. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci. 2008;275:587–90.
- Emery N, Clayton N. Mentality of crows: convergent evolution of intelligence in corvids and apes. Science. 2004;306:1903–7.
- 108. Emery N, Clayton N. Comparative social cognition. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2009;60:87-113.
- 109. Seed A, Emery N, Clayton N. Intelligence in corvids and apes: a case of convergent evolution? Ethology. 2009;115:410–20.
- 110. Güntürkün O, Bugnyar T. Cognition without cortex. Trends Cogn Sci. 2016;20(4):291-303.
- 111. Bugnyar T, Heinrich B. Pilfering ravens, *Corvus corax*, adjust their behaviour to social context and identity of competitors. Anim Cogn. 2006;9:369–76.
- 112. St Clair J, Rutz C. New Caledonian crows attend to multiple functional properties of complex tools. Philos Trans R Soc B. 2013;368(1630):20120415.
- 113. Cheney D, Seyfarth R. How monkeys see the world: inside the mind of another species. Chicago: Chicago University Press; 1990.

- 114. Cheney D, Seyfarth R. Baboon metaphysics: the evolution of a social mind. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press; 2007.
- 115. Van de Waal E, Bshary R. Social-learning abilities of wild vervet monkeys in a two-step task artificial fruit experiment. Anim Behav. 2011;81(2):433–8.
- 116. Van de Waal E, Borgeaud C, Whiten A. Potent social learning and conformity shape a wild primate's foraging decisions. Science. 2013;340(6131):483–5.
- 117. Flombaum J, Santos L. Rhesus monkeys attribute perceptions to others. Curr Biol. 2005;15 (5):447–52.
- 118. Matsuzawa T. Primate origins of human cognition and behavior. Tokyo: Springer; 2009.
- 119. Crockford C, Wittig R, Mundry R, Zuberbuehler K. Wild chimpanzees inform ignorant group members of danger. Curr Biol. 2012;22:1–5.
- 120. Crockford C, Wittig R, Zuberbühler K. Chimpanzees distinguish acoustically similar alert hoos from resting hoos. Folia Primatol. 2013;84(3–5):291–2.
- 121. Crockford C, Wittig RM, Zuberbühler K. An intentional vocalization draws others' attention: a playback experiment with wild chimpanzees. Anim Cogn. 2015;18(3):581–91.
- Crockford C, Wittig RM, Zuberbühler K. Vocalizing in chimpanzees is influenced by socialcognitive processes. Sci Adv. 2017;3(11):e1701742.
- 123. Gruber T, Muller M, Strimling P, Wrangham R, Zuberbuehler K. Wild chimpanzees rely on cultural knowledge to solve an experimental honey acquisition task. Curr Biol. 2009;19:1–5.
- 124. Gruber T, Poisot T, Zuberbuehler K, Hoppitt W, Hobaiter C. The spread of a novel behavior in wild chimpanzees: new insights into the ape cultural mind. Commun Integr Biol. 2015;8(2): e1017164.
- 125. Range F, Varanyi Z, Huber L. Selective imitation in domestic dogs. Curr Biol. 2007;17:866–72.
- 126. Topal J, Gergely G, Erdohegyi A, Csibra G, Miklosi A. Differential sensitivity to human communication in dogs, wolves and human infants. Science. 2009;325:1269–72.
- 127. Schel A, Tranquilli S, Zuberbuehler K. The alarm call system of two species of black-andwhite colobus monkeys (*Colobus polykomos* and *Colobus guereza*). J Comp Psychol. 2009;123(2):136–50.
- 128. Janson CH. Experimental evidence for spatial memory in foraging wild capuchin monkeys, *Cebus apella*. Anim Behav. 1998;55(5):1229–43.
- 129. Campbell G, Kuehl H, Diarrassouba A, N'Goran P, Boesch C. Long-term research sites as refugia for threatened and over-harvested species. Biol Lett. 2011;7:723–6.
- Luncz L, Svensson M, Haslam M, Malaivijitnond S, Proffitt T, Gumert M. Technological response of wild macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*) to anthropogenic change. Int J Primatol. 2017;38:872–80.



Mental Capacities of Fishes

Lynne U. Sneddon and Culum Brown

Abstract

Fish models are increasingly used in a wide variety of experimental contexts and their adoption is growing globally. This chapter reviews the evidence for sentience and cognitive abilities in fishes to highlight the growing empirical evidence of the mental capacities of fish. The definition of sentience is presented along with the scientific data pertinent to understanding what fishes are capable of, as well as higher order cognitive abilities such as numerical skills and the capacity for learning and memory. Being able to experience positive and negative welfare states such as pain, fear, and stress is highly debated for fishes; thus this chapter reviews the evidence for and arguments against conscious perception of pain and fear. If suffering and sentience are accepted in fishes, this has ethical implications for the way in which we use fish in scientific studies.

Keywords

Animal sentience \cdot Cognition \cdot Intelligence \cdot Learning \cdot Memory \cdot Pain \cdot Welfare

4.1 Introduction

The term *sentience* is vitally important in the animal welfare world where being regarded as sentient provides an animal with protection under national guidelines or legislation. In its simplest form, sentience means that an animal can detect external stimuli and experience either the sensation of perceiving such stimuli, or is aware of

L. U. Sneddon (🖂)

University of Liverpool, Liverpool, UK e-mail: lsneddon@liverpool.ac.uk

C. Brown Macquarie University, Sydney, NSW, Australia e-mail: culum.brown@mq.edu.au

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_4

how the perception alters their subjective psychological or mental states. For example, if an animal is sentient, then when exposed to a tissue-damaging stimulus, the animal experiences the associated pain and is aware that it is in discomfort. This means that animals may suffer when experiencing pain, fear, or stress, but equally may have positive experiences such as contentedness or happiness.

Animal sentience has been discussed by philosophers at least since Aristotle. René Descartes' opinion was that animals are mere "automata" or unfeeling robots. Descartes suggests that although animals may show signs of joy and fear they do so unconsciously without having awareness of what they are feeling [1]. This type of thinking facilitates the use of animals without guilt or concern that their welfare may be compromised. However, it is impossible to know what an animal feels with absolute certainty because of the other minds problem [2]. From an evolutionary perspective, if animals did not experience an adverse, negative affective state associated with painful, damaging stimuli, then they would never learn to avoid injury [3].

Contemporary thinking has now shifted to accept that perception of external stimuli goes hand in hand with consciously experiencing it [4] and that animals do have subjective feelings that are important and can be measured [3, 5]. The idea that animals have feelings has driven the welfare agenda in recent years to safeguard the well-being of animals under human care [6]. Providing empirical evidence of whether animals experience pleasurable or unpleasant affective states and are sentient beings is key to changing attitudes toward the treatment of such animals [7].

4.2 Definition of Sentience

Contemporary definitions of animal sentience provide clear criteria and a means of measuring empirical evidence to make sound, science-based judgments about whether an animal is sentient. The definition of sentience we employ here is adapted from Broom [8] who states a sentient being *has some ability* to:

- Evaluate the actions of others in relation to itself and third parties (i.e., form relationships within and between species).
- Remember some of its own actions (the cognitive ability to learn and recall those memories that should influence future behavior).
- Assess risks and benefits (make decisions based on the information available externally and its own subjective state).
- Have some feelings (positive or negative affective states such as pain, fear, and pleasure).
- Have some degree of awareness (often termed consciousness).

If there is evidence of some or all of these criteria within an animal group in which this can be tested, then one must conclude they are indeed sentient (Fig. 4.1). For mammals, this concept is generally accepted. However, nowhere is it more aggressively challenged than in fishes [9].



Fig. 4.1 A diagrammatic representation of the abilities that make an animal sentient. Animals should have some of the following and not necessarily all of these: an ability to evaluate the ability of others in relationship to itself and third parties and be able to form relationships with others; remember its own actions and use memories to inform future behavior; assess the risks and benefits of its situation or its behavioral choices; experience positive and negative affective states; and have some degree of awareness or basic consciousness (Adapted from Broom [8])

Humans use fishes in a variety of ways, which may influence how they perceive the value of a fish's life [10]. Further, being cold-blooded, living in water, and not having expressive faces make fishes perhaps more difficult to appreciate. Currently, fish are used for food in fisheries and farming, for sport in recreational fishing, as companion animals, and as ornamental exhibits, but it is their prominence in scientific research that is particularly important in our discussion here. Fishes are used in increasing numbers in experiments. For example, over half a million fish are used annually in the United Kingdom in experimental procedures [11]. Here we present empirical studies that show that fish fulfil our definition of animal sentience, and discuss each criterion where there is evidence from a variety of fish species. If fishes are indeed sentient beings, this has significant implications for their treatment in research and beyond.

4.3 Do Fish Form Relationships?

The ability to form relationships and evaluate the actions of others in relation to oneself and to third parties demonstrates the capacity of fishes to consider how to alter their behavior in response to another being. It suggests that fishes have the intelligence to understand other individual's intentions and behavior and to match or alter their own behavior accordingly. An excellent example of this is the direct reciprocity shown in rabbitfishes, a coral reef fish [12]. Reciprocity requires complex cognitive abilities since animals must match one or more conspecifics in behavior, and it has been suggested that reciprocity is limited to animals that can meet these intellectual demands. Direct reciprocity, where animals form a very intimate relationship and alter their behavior according to their partner or group, has been demonstrated in only a few species of birds and mammals until recently. Direct reciprocity is considered important because it requires: the ability to recognize specific individuals, memory retrieval of past events, and intentions that guide an animal's future behavior in the expectation it will be rewarded. In a study investigating four species of rabbitfishes, direct reciprocity was seen between pairs where one partner would remain vigilant in an upright position, on the lookout for predators, while the other was foraging in among coral reef crevices (Fig. 4.2) [12]. Alternation between foraging and vigilance occurred frequently in these pairs so both individuals precisely matched their partner's behavior and intentions. In contrast to solitary individuals, paired fish undertook longer vigilance bouts, but were rewarded by having a partner with greater foraging efficiency; paired fish showed more consecutive bites and deeper penetration into crevices.

Fishes form a number of cooperative relationships within and between species. These include: being able to identify individuals and preferring their company [13, 14]; helping behavior in cooperatively breeding cichlids where individuals get access to resources by caring for young and defending their territory [15, 16]; parasite removal by cleaner wrasses who form cleaning stations for their client fish, some of whom travel to the cleaning station and wait in line to be cleaned by their preferred wrasse [17, 18]; predator inspection in groups of guppies [19]; and hunting between two species such as the moray eel and grouper who are more successful hunting together than alone [20]. Thus, there is ample evidence from a variety of species that fish can evaluate the intentions of others and modulate their own behavior accordingly, and can form complex relationships with other individuals.

4.4 Cognitive Ability and Neurodevelopment

The cognitive ability of fishes is grossly underrated, and this has flow-on effects for how fishes are treated [21]. However, research over the last few decades has shown that fishes have mental capacities on par with most other vertebrates (see [22, 23] for a review). Fish are not the mindless automatons the public generally perceives them to be. The reality is that most fishes have evolved to flourish in a myriad of aquatic niches, from abyssal marine habitats to desert springs, and their brains and behavior are suitably equally diverse. This massive diversity (there are more species of fishes than the rest of the vertebrates combined) is indicative of their evolutionary success.

Redouan Bshary famously compared the cognitive abilities of fishes to nonhuman primates and did not find them wanting [24]. In many domains, fishes perform just as well as nonhuman primates, including spatial learning, numerical skills, tool use,



Fig. 4.2 Direct reciprocity is rarely seen in birds and mammals but here are photographs depicting this complex behavior in rabbitfishes. The foraging individual (in the head-down position) feeds in cracks and crevices in the substratum, while the vigilant individual is positioned in the water column with its head up. Note the obstructions to the visual field of the forager, suggesting high vulnerability to predation and the unobstructed field of perception of the vigilant fish. (**a**) *Siganus corallinus*, (**b**) *S. vulpinus*, (**c**) *S. doliatus*, (**d**) *S. puellus* (Taken from Brandl and Bellwood [12]; Photographs taken and owned by Jordan M. Casey, reproduced under a Creative Commons License http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)

social intelligence, social learning, and others. The list of fish intelligence success stories reflects a series of skills that, not so long ago, were thought to be uniquely human. It is apparent that Darwin had it right all along: The difference in mind between humans and other animals is one of degree rather than kind, and so too with fishes.

4.4.1 Social Learning

Social learning is widespread in fishes (see [22] for a review). Fish pay attention to the behavior of other fish around them and can rapidly acquire novel information in this fashion. For example, fish may use social information to discover an escape route [25, 26], the location of a foraging patch [27], or to identify novel prey [27]. The decision to use social or private information is influenced by the individual personality of the fish, where the propensity to take risks affects overall behavior (i.e., bold risk-takers versus shy, risk averse individuals) [28]. Information can be passed between individuals of the same generation (horizontal transmission) or between generations (vertical transmission). The latter case can lead to the generation of unique, population-specific behaviors that may be independent of an animal's ecology—in other words, culture [29]. Guppies can be trained to use specific colored doorways to access food rewards and remain faithful to these pathways even if they are maladaptive (e.g., the food reward is closer to the alternative doorway) [30]. While the development of culture has been demonstrated repeatedly in captive experiments [31], there is also good evidence from field manipulations. For example, many fishes rely on cultural knowledge to learn about the pathways to foraging locations or breeding grounds. In one study, small groups of French grunts were translocated to novel locations and the resident populations at these locations were either retained or removed. When the local population remained in place, the translocated fish adopted the local group's pathway from their daytime resting locations to their nighttime foraging grounds [32].

4.4.2 Spatial Navigation

Fishes are a model for understanding the evolution of spatial learning and navigation. Because there are so many species to work with, living in a wide range of niches, fishes make fantastic models for comparative studies. Scientists have been researching the navigation abilities of intertidal gobies for many years. Intertidal gobies live in the same rock pool for extended periods of time and, when displaced, rapidly return home [33] suggesting well-developed navigation and orientation skills. A very early study showed that gobies form cognitive maps of the surrounding rock pools at high tide and can thus leap from pool to pool when threatened [34]. When the spatial learning skills of species inhabiting rocky tide pools were compared with those from sandy habitats in a variety of mazes, it was revealed that rock pool gobies had enhanced spatial learning and tended to rely on landmarks rather than egocentric navigation methods [35, 36]. Examination of their brains revealed that gobies show a neurodevelopmental trade-off, investing in particular parts of their brains to suit the environment in which they live. Rock pool dwelling fish have relatively large telencephalons (equivalent to the mammalian hippocampus), a brain area responsible for spatial learning, whereas sand dwellers had a larger optic tectum [37, 38]. These results mirror classic studies conducted in birds and mammals and indicate that natural selection tends to act in a very domain-specific
manner [39, 40]. When juveniles were reared in a variety of different habitats, those reared in complex habitats developed enhanced spatial skills [41]. Moreover, when fish were tested at different times of the year, males showed decreased spatial learning corresponding to the breeding season, when their activities are confined to guarding the nest. Females showed no such reduction [42]. Again, these results are similar to those seen in terrestrial vertebrates (e.g., [43]) and indicate that fish brains can be highly plastic and adaptable to suit the fishes' specific niche.

4.4.3 Numerical Skills

The numerical skills of fishes have been well-studied and for the most part fishes seem to use the same cognitive mechanisms to keep track of quantities as do mammals, including humans [44]. The experimental setup often takes two forms. The first utilizes the natural schooling behavior of fish where they are drawn toward the larger of two shoals for safety in numbers. By manipulating the sizes of the choice shoals one can determine when the fish can no longer discriminate between the shoals. The second requires training in which food rewards are paired with abstract objects (e.g., dots on a card). Fish can be rewarded for choosing the smaller or the larger quantity. For comparisons of a small number of objects, fish use an object tracking system which is restricted to quantities around 4 or 5. Most nonhuman animals, including fish, struggle when comparing sets of 3 versus 4 or 4 versus 5 [44–46]. However, with enhanced training experience, numerical skills can improve [47, 48]. For larger sets, fish use a comparative method that relies on ratios and is therefore subject to Weber's Law [44]. That is, as the magnitude of the two quantities increases, a larger disparity is required to obtain the same level of discrimination ability. There is some evidence that numerical abilities in humans are affected by the degree of individual cerebral lateralization [49, 50]. Cerebral lateralization refers to the preferential use of one hemisphere over the other when analyzing particular information and was once believed to be a uniquely human trait but is in fact widespread among vertebrates (see [51] for a review). Laterality has been associated with enhanced cognition in a range of animals including parrots [52] and fish [53]. A study involving guppies, using two different experimental protocols, found that strongly left and right lateralized individuals had enhanced numerical skills compared with nonlateralized individuals [54].

4.4.4 Decision-Making

In line with the theme that fishes are primitive animals with little flexibility in their behavior, many believe that fish behavior is largely reflexive. Contrary to this widely held belief, fish make all manner of complex decisions and often trade-off conflicting needs against one another. One of the most obvious examples of this behavioral flexibility comes in the form of predator risk assessment. Fishes can assess the relative risk of a given situation and adjust their behavior accordingly (risk-sensitive hypothesis [55]). For example, depending on the perceived risk, they adjust the amount of time spent feeding versus being vigilant, vary the size of the shoal they join, or vary habitat use [56–58]. Hungry fish are more likely to take greater risks to access foraging patches than satiated fish [59]. The trade-offs that fish make tell us much about how they perceive the world around them, but they can also provide insights to their basic needs, which may be particularly relevant in a welfare context. In the context of pain perception and avoidance, experiments show that under normal circumstances fish rapidly learn to avoid locations associated with electric shocks, but social species of fish are willing to trade-off exposure to shock (i.e., they pay a pain cost) to get access to conspecifics [60]. Similarly, fish are not willing to put up with shock and show strong avoidance if they are satiated, but after three days of starvation are willing to get shocked to access a food patch [61]. Collectively this work illustrates that the decision-making processes of fish are no less sophisticated than those of terrestrial vertebrates and are certainly not simple stimulus-response reflexes with no learning, memory, or decision-making.

4.5 Welfare and Capacities for Feeling: Pain, Fear, and Pleasure

4.5.1 Pain

When considering the arguments about sentience in animals, Jeremy Bentham (1823) famously stated "The question is not, Can they reason? nor, Can they talk? but, Can they suffer?" (p. 311 in [62]). In the animal welfare realm demonstrating that an animal may suffer during adverse events makes a powerful case for improving guidelines and legislation for the treatment of that animal. Thus, there has been a focus on proving that poor welfare is indeed detrimental to an animal, and the question of pain perception is a primary driver of changes in attitude. Nowhere is there such fierce debate over the capacity of an animal to experience pain than in the case of fish. In 2002, Rose published a review in which he denied the existence of pain and consciousness in fish [63]. His view was that animals must have a humanlike multilayered cortex to have awareness of pain-negating all animals except possibly nonhuman primates. In the same year, Sneddon published the first evidence for the existence in rainbow trout of nociceptors, receptors that detect painful stimuli [64]. Subsequently, studies have demonstrated that fish nociceptors are strikingly similar to those found in mammals, the molecular mechanisms of nociception are evolutionarily conserved [65], behavioral changes during painful treatment are prolonged and are not simple nocifensive reflexes (instantaneous defensive withdrawal responses), and that pain-relieving drugs prevent the adverse changes in behavior and physiology seen in fishes [10]. Further, fish fulfil the criteria for animal pain based upon published scientific studies [3, 10].

Skeptics who deny pain in fish have been criticized for two main reasons: Firstly, suggesting that a function such as pain suddenly arises in nonhuman primates and humans with no ancestor or evolutionary precursor defies the process of evolution.

Charles Darwin referred to the capacity of animals to experience pain and the many similarities to humans. Secondly, many skeptics do not deny pain in birds even though, like fish, they possess a singly-laminated cortex. More recently, Key [66] argued that birds can experience pain but fish cannot, which is contrary to his own position on the required cortical structures. Moreover, Key puts forward evidence to support the existence of pain in mammals but then refutes the same evidence as insufficient for fish. Even in the face of identical findings demonstrating pain in both mammals and fish [67], Key denies pain in fish [66]. Scientists who use mammalian models and are experts in human brain function declared that Key's description of how the brain works in relation to pain was incorrect [68]. Bjorn Merker stated "(Key's opinion) looks more like a ramshackle structure gaping with holes and pieced together from imperfectly understood neuroscience and often faulty literature citations" (p. 3 in [69]).

Zebrafish are increasingly used as a model for pain experimentation (e.g., [70–77]), which seemingly implies acceptance that fish not only experience pain, but do so in ways similar to mammals. For ethical reasons and to ensure good welfare, it would be prudent to know if these animals experience pain and further avoid and alleviate it where practically possible. However, if one denies pain in zebrafish, then this calls into question their use in this context. There is no dispute over whether fish experience stress or fear, which are similar in their subjective nature to pain. The empirical evidence is overwhelming for pain in fish, and indeed some countries provide protection for fish in a similar manner to mammals, in the context of scientific experimentation, where legislation requires pain is minimized in fish (e.g., Europe and many states in Australia).

4.5.2 Fear

Fear is the activation of a defensive behavioral system that protects animals, including humans, against potentially dangerous environmental threats [78]. Three main criteria can be used to assess the capacity for fear [78]. Firstly, the systems that control the fear response should be similar (have a common neuronal basis) to those neural systems that underpin human fear and anxiety. Secondly, a variety of threatening stimuli should generate a consistent suite of behaviors that protect the animal against the threat. Finally, drugs that modulate human fear and anxiety (e.g., benzodiazepines) should show similar effects in the animal. These criteria can be used to assess the potential for fear in fish. Fear stimuli are psychological threats to survival and these motivate the animal to make defensive responses (freezing, hiding, or fleeing). Rodent models have been employed in such paradigms investigating the neuronal circuitry, and the mammalian amygdala and hippocampal regions are particularly important in mediating emotions, especially fear learning and memory. Fish have behaviors, cognitive mechanisms, and brain areas that are homologous to the fear circuitry in mammals [79-81]. For example, the dorsomedial telencephalon in the forebrain area of goldfish has identical functions in fear as the amygdala of mammals does in mediating fear responses and learning, whereas the goldfish dorsolateral telencephalon is homologous to the mammalian hippocampus, involved in spatial learning and memory retrieval [81, 82]. Measurements of startle, freezing, increased school cohesion, and other defensive behaviors occur alongside physiological parameters such as heart rate and the release of stress hormones such as cortisol.

Studies in fish have demonstrated a consistent response to threatening stimuli, such as: avoidance of novel objects, freezing to reduce conspicuousness, escape or fleeing behaviors, thigmotaxis (where the fish swims next to tank walls avoiding open, central areas), sinking to the bottom, fast start swimming, and many more [83]. Many agents decrease fear and anxiety, including benzodiazepines, opioids, and cholinergic and serotonergic drugs. When exposed to an alarm substance, minnows displayed a behavioral alarm response even when a chemical feeding stimulus was released into the water. However, when fish were exposed to high, but non-sedative, levels of chlordiazepoxide, they did not show the fright response to the alarm substance and displayed vigorous exploration when presented with the chemical feeding stimulus [84]. Rodents that have been administered benzodiazepines show similar changes in exploratory behavior [84, 85]. Piracetam is prescribed to reduce anxiety in humans. Chronic administration of piracetam also reduces fear behavior in zebrafish where fish spend more time in a white area in a scototaxic (light versus dark chamber) test [86]. Similarly, there are numerous ecotoxicological studies indicating that fish respond to pharmaceuticals such as fluoxetine (Prozac) in a manner similar to humans (e.g., [87]). These examples demonstrate the capacity for fear in fishes and clearly show that the underlying physiological mechanisms and neural substrates are similar.

4.5.3 Pleasure

Do fishes experience pleasure? This is an intriguing question and one that has largely remained unexplored. One of the best examples that suggest that they do is that of surgeonfish who, when given access to a moving cleaner wrasse model fitted with brushes, will voluntarily align itself with the model to receive a "massage." Those fish who engage with this model have much lower concentrations of the stress hormone cortisol, and thus it appears that the massage has a calming effect on the fish. This relates to the massage actual cleaner wrasses give with their pelvic fins to much larger, predatory client fish during the process of social reconciliation [88]. For gregarious species, such as zebrafish, being in a group can be beneficial. For example, zebrafish held in a group recover much more quickly from fear-eliciting [89, fg. 3] and painful events [90]. This phenomenon, known as social buffering, in which individuals are more resilient in groups, also activates comparable brain regions in fish and mammals [89], and thus the mechanisms may be evolutionarily conserved, indicating some evidence for a capacity for pleasure (Fig. 4.3).



Fig. 4.3 Social buffering of fear responses in zebrafish where the focal fish were held alone or with conspecifics and exposed to an innate predator cue, alarm substance. Freezing, an anti-predator behavior, was reduced in the social treatments compared to social isolation. (a) Schematic representation of the behavioral treatments. From left to right: Alone_Ctrl-alone focal fish (red outline) administered with water, Alone_AS-alone focal fish (red filling) administered with AS, SB (O + V) _Ctrl-focal fish (green outline) administered with water and exposed simultaneously to shoal water and a shoal of 8 conspecifics, and SB (O + V)_AS-focal fish (green filling) administered with AS and exposed simultaneously to shoal water and a shoal of 8 conspecifics. Gray and red drops represent water and AS administration, respectively. (b) 3D plots representative of each behavioral treatment. Each 3D plot represents the first 5 min after AS onset for the focal fish closest to the mean in each treatment. n = 20 per treatment. Total freezing percentages presented (red circles) in each 3D plot are (from left to right) Alone_Ctrl-1.95%, Alone_AS-56.24%, SB (O + V)_Ctrl-0.00%, and SB (O + V)_AS-23.32%. (c) Freezing % in baseline (Bl) vs. first 5 min after AS onset (AS). n = 20 per treatment. Mean \pm SEM are shown. *p' < 0.05, **p' < 0.01, and ***p' < 0.001. (d) Freezing % over the 30 min test in 10 min bins. n = 20 per treatment. Mean \pm SEM are shown. *p' < 0.05, **p' < 0.01, and **p' < 0.001 (Reproduced from Faustino et al. [89] under a Creative Commons License http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)

4.6 Individual Recognition, Self-Recognition, and Consciousness

Schools of fish are seldom made up of a random assortment of individuals. Many social preferences are shaped by both familiarity and relatedness [91] using phenotype matching [92] or olfactory imprinting [93]. Fishes are capable of recognizing one another, and this has most often been tested experimentally in the context of familiarity. Flathead minnows distinguish their shoal mates from unfamiliar fish using chemical cues [94] and female guppies have schooling preferences for familiar individuals [95]. Sticklebacks can distinguish between individuals based on visual cues alone [96]. Damselfish and cichlids also use color patterns on the faces of conspecifics to facilitate individual recognition [97]. Archerfish can even differentiate between human faces [98]. Familiarity in female guppy shoals develops over a period of about 12 days [13].

Many species of fish are also capable of distinguishing kin from non-kin, and this is most often achieved through chemical means (although rainbowfish also use visual cues) [99]. In sticklebacks and Arctic char, for example, kin recognition is facilitated by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) genotypes [100, 101]. Arctic char show reduced aggression when housed in sibling groups compared with mixed groups [102] and kin recognition persists even when related individuals are reared separately, suggesting a strong innate component [100]. Stickleback kin recognition, in contrast, is facilitated by social learning rather than innate preferences [103]. Although kin recognition is often observed under laboratory conditions, it is rarely observed in the wild [104]. Embryonic fish are sensitive to chemical cues while still in the egg [105], prompting the question: At what age are fish capable of kin recognition? By observing the heart rates of embryonic damselfish, Atherton and McCormick [106] found strong reactions to alarm cues emanating from closely related individuals 7–11 days post-fertilization depending on the species.

One major question that still remains to be answered comprehensively is whether or not fish are capable of self-recognition. To date the results have been mixed. One of the standard tests often employed in mammals is the mirror self-recognition (MSR) test. Put simply, a mark is placed on the animal and a mirror is provided. When chimpanzees, orangutans, gorillas, and Asian elephants were presented with their mirror image, they notice something unusual on their body and rather than exploring their mirror image, they explore their own bodies [107, 108]. Similarly, the Eurasian magpie has passed the test [109]. This indicates that they understand that the figure in the mirror is themselves; that is, they have self-recognition, one of the hallmarks of consciousness. We still do not fully understand what fishes make of their own mirror image. Many fish species seem to treat mirror images as unfamiliar conspecifics although the responses are not the same as when they first meet a real unfamiliar fish [110–113]. Male Siamese fighters, for example, initially respond as if the image is a rival and they behave aggressively toward it [87, 114]. Many species, however, treat the image as a social companion or gradually ignore it [113]. The MSR test has been applied to cichlids but they failed it [115]. Initially the cichlids behaved aggressively toward their mirror image, but this behavior declined over a number of days as is often the case when animals are first exposed to mirrors. Following injection of a mark on one side, there was no evidence that the fish spent more time looking in the mirror, nor did they spend more time observing the marked versus the unmarked flank. A recent test using cleaner wrasse as the model species found that the wrasse passed the test showing evidence of contingency testing [116]. It should be noted that cleaner wrasses are highly motivated to pick off ectoparasites on other fishes and this fact may partially explain their success. It is important to note that the fish made no attempt to remove the mark from their mirror image; rather they scraped their own bodies in an attempt to remove it. Mirror tests have also been applied to manta rays and they showed some evidence of contingency checking (repetitive or unusual movements directed toward their mirror image) and self-exploration [117]. With so few studies conducted to date, it is difficult to tell with any certainty if fish are capable of visual self-recognition.

In contrast to the evidence for self-recognition in fishes in the visual realm, evidence in the chemical realm is far more convincing. As previously mentioned, sticklebacks use MHC genotypes to recognize kin, but they also use it for mate choice preferences [118, 119]. In both cases during the decision-making process, the fish are making references to self in order to either optimize the MHC compatibility with their partner [120] or preferentially school with related individuals [103, 121, 122]. Experiments using in vitro fertilization in sunfish have shown that males guarding nests are able to determine if they are the father of the offspring in their nest via chemical recognition. The only way this can occur is if they were using self-referent phenotype matching for kin recognition. In similar experiments and context, male cichlid fishes also showed preferences for smells from their own nest versus those of unfamiliar males and preferred their own odor to that of a familiar brother [123]. Collectively these results suggest fish have an ability to recognize themselves using chemical cues.

4.7 Conclusions

Clearly fishes do fulfil our interpretation of Broom's [8] criteria for animal sentience and this has wide reaching implications for the use of fish by humans. If we consider only their use as scientific research models, there is a trend toward an increase in the use of fishes globally, driven at least in part by the 3Rs mandate to adopt "less sentient" species. We propose that the general principles of animal care, ethics, and health that are applied to experimental mammals should also be applied to fishes. Ethical justification of research should be considered and experimenters asked to consider the harms versus the benefits of the research. Further the 3Rs—Replacement, Reduction, and Refinement—can help inform whether the chosen species is the best model for the experimental question; that in vivo experiments are the best means of testing the hypothesis rather than cells, tissue preparations, meta-analyses, or in silico approaches; that the minimum effective sample size is used, that the most refined and least invasive methods and techniques are used; and that health and welfare are being safeguarded during the fish's time in the laboratory. This includes the development of humane end points and appropriate methods of humane killing or euthanasia. This naturally requires robust welfare assessment tools as well as recognizing when to intervene to improve welfare. For example, if a fish exhibits signs of pain, then the researcher can decide whether to provide analgesia to reduce suffering where studying pain is not the objective of the study. The goal of all scientists is to use healthy individuals in their experiments where practicable to ensure the validity and reliability of the outcomes. Therefore, it is in the interests of the scientific community to consider and improve the welfare of fishes.

References

- 1. Kenny A. Descartes' philosophical letters. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1970.
- Harnad S. Other bodies, other minds: a machine incarnation of an old philosophical problem. Minds Mach. 1991;1(1):43–54.
- Sneddon LU, Elwood RW, Adamo S, Leach MC. Defining and assessing pain in animals. Anim Behav. 2014;97:201–12.
- 4. Stamp Dawkins M. Why animals matter: animal consciousness, animal welfare, and human well-being. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- 5. Griffin D. The question of animal awareness. New York: Rockefeller; 1976.
- 6. Duncan IJH. The changing concept of animal sentience. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2006;100 (1–2):11–9.
- 7. Proctor H. Animal sentience: where are we and where are we heading? Animals. 2012;2 (4):628–39.
- 8. Broom DM. Sentience and animal welfare. Wallingford: CABI; 2014.
- 9. Sneddon LU, Lopez-Luna J, Wolfenden DCC, Leach MC, Valentim AM, Steenbergen PJ, et al. Fish sentience denial: muddying the waters. Anim Sentience. 2018;3(21):1–11.
- 10. Sneddon LU. Pain in aquatic animals. J Exp Biol. 2015;218(7):967-76.
- Home Office UK (2017). https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/statistics-of-scientificprocedures-on-living-animals-great-britain-2017. Accessed 21 July 2018.
- 12. Brandl SJ, Bellwood DR. Coordinated vigilance provides evidence for direct reciprocity in coral reef fishes. Sci Rep. 2015;5:14556.
- Griffiths SW, Magurran AE. Familiarity in schooling fish: how long does it take to acquire? Anim Behav. 1997;53(5):945–9.
- 14. Brown C. Do female rainbowfish (*Melanotaenia* spp.) prefer to shoal with familiar individuals under predation pressure? J Ethol. 2002;20(2):89–94.
- 15. Bergmüller R, Taborsky M. Experimental manipulation of helping in a cooperative breeder: helpers 'pay to stay' by pre-emptive appeasement. Anim Behav. 2005;69:19–28.
- Bergmüller R, Heg D, Taborsky M. Helpers in a cooperatively breeding cichlid stay and pay or disperse and breed, depending on ecological constraints. Proc R Soc Lond B. 2005;272:325–31.
- 17. Bshary R, Schäffer D. Choosy reef fish select cleaner fish that provide high-quality service. Anim Behav. 2002;63:557–64.
- 18. Bshary R, Grutter AS. Image scoring and cooperation. Nature. 2006;441:975-8.
- 19. Dugatkin LA, Alfieri M. Tit-for-tat in guppies (Poecilia reticulata): the relative nature of cooperation and defection during predator inspection. Evol Ecol. 1991;5(3):300–9.
- Bshary R, Hohner A, Ait-el-Djoudi K, Fricke H. Interspecific communicative and coordinated hunting between groupers and giant moray eels in the Red Sea. PLoS Biol. 2006;4(12):e431.
- 21. Brown C. Fish intelligence, sentience and ethics. Anim Cogn. 2015;18:1-17.

- 22. Brown C, Laland KN. Social learning in Fishes. In: Brown C, Laland KN, Krause J, editors. Fish cognition and behavior. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011. p. 186–202.
- Brown C, Laland KN, Krause J. Fish cognition and behavior. In: Brown C, Laland KN, Krause J, editors. Fish cognition and behavior. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Wiley-Blackwell Publishing; 2011. p. 1–9.
- 24. Bshary R, Wickler W, Fricke H. Fish cognition: a primate's eye view. Anim Cogn. 2002;5 (1):1–13.
- Brown C, Warburton K. Social mechanisms enhance escape responses in shoals of rainbowfish, Melanotaenia duboulayi. Environ Biol Fish. 1999;56(4):455–9.
- Brown C, Laland KN. Social learning of a novel avoidance task in the guppy: conformity and social release. Anim Behav. 2002;64:41–7.
- 27. Brown C, Laland KN. Social enhancement and social inhibition of foraging behavior in hatchery-reared Atlantic salmon. J Fish Biol. 2002;61(4):987–98.
- Trompf L, Brown C. Personality affects learning and trade-offs between private and social information in guppies, *Poecilia reticulata*. Anim Behav. 2014;88:99–106.
- 29. Laland KN. Animal cultures. Curr Biol. 2008;18(9):R366-70.
- 30. Laland KN, Williams K. Social transmission of maladaptive information in the guppy. Behav Ecol. 1998;9(5):493–9.
- Laland KN, Williams K. Shoaling generates social learning of foraging information in guppies. Anim Behav. 1997;53(6):1161–9.
- 32. Helfman GS, Schultz ET. Social transmission of behavioral traditions in a coral reef fish. Anim Behav. 1984;32:379–84.
- White GE, Brown C. Site fidelity and homing behavior in intertidal fishes. Mar Biol. 2013;160 (6):1365–72.
- Aronson LR. Orientation and jumping behavior in the gobiid fish *Bathygobius soporator*. Am Mus Novit. 1951;1486:1–12.
- White GE, Brown C. A comparison of spatial learning and memory capabilities in intertidal gobies. Behav Ecol Sociobiol. 2014;68(9):1393–401.
- White GE, Brown C. Microhabitat use affects brain size and structure in intertidal gobies. Brain Behav Evol. 2015;85(2):107–16.
- White GE, Brown C. Cue choice and spatial learning ability are affected by habitat complexity in intertidal gobies. Behav Ecol. 2015;26(1):178–84.
- White GE, Brown C. Variation in brain morphology of intertidal gobies: a comparison of methodologies used to quantitatively assess brain volumes in fish. Brain Behav Evol. 2015;85 (4):245–56.
- 39. Pravosudov VV, Clayton NS. A test of the adaptive specialization hypothesis: population differences in caching, memory, and the hippocampus in black-capped chickadees (*Poecile atricapilla*). Behav Neurosci. 2002;116(4):515–22.
- 40. Gaulin SJC, Fitzgerald RW. Sexual selection for spatial-learning ability. Anim Behav. 1989;37:322–31.
- Carbia PS, Brown C. Environmental enrichment influences spatial learning ability in captivereared intertidal goby (*Bathygobius cocosensis*). Anim Cogn. 2019;22(1):89–98.
- 42. Carbia P, Brown C. Sexually dimorphic spatial learning is seasonally driven in the intertidal Cocos Frillgoby (*Bathygobius cocosensis*); 2019, Anim Cogn, In Press.
- Pyter LM, Reader BF, Nelson RJ. Short photoperiods impair spatial learning and alter hippocampal dendritic morphology in adult male white-footed mice (*Peromyscus leucopus*). J Neurosci. 2005;25(18):4521–6.
- 44. Agrillo C, Piffer L, Bisazza A, Butterworth B. Evidence for two numerical systems that are similar in humans and guppies. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e31923.
- 45. Ward C, Smuts BB. Quantity-based judgments in the domestic dog (Canis lupus familiaris). Anim Cogn. 2007;10(1):71–80.
- Hunt S, Low J, Burns KC. Adaptive numerical competency in a food-hoarding songbird. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2008;267:2373–9.

- Bisazza A, Agrillo C, Lucon-Xiccato T. Extensive training extends numerical abilities of guppies. Anim Cogn. 2014;17(6):1413–9.
- DeLong CM, Barbato S, O'Leary T, Wilcox KT. Small and large number discrimination in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) with extensive training. Behav Process. 2017;141:172–83.
- Arsalidou M, Taylor MJ. Is 2+2=4? meta-analyses of brain areas needed for numbers and calculations. NeuroImage. 2011;54(3):2382–93.
- 50. Chassy P, Grodd W. Comparison of quantities: core and format-dependent regions as revealed by fMRI. Cereb Cortex. 2012;22(6):1420–30.
- Bisazza A, Brown C. Lateralization of cognitive function in fishes. In: Brown C, Laland K, Krause J, editors. Fish cognition and behavior. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011. p. 298–324.
- Magat M, Brown C. Laterality enhances cognition in Australian parrots. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2009;276(1676):4155–62.
- Bibost AL, Brown C. Laterality influences cognitive performance in rainbowfish Melanotaenia duboulayi. Anim Cogn. 2014;17(5):1045–51.
- Dadda M, Agrillo C, Bisazza A, Brown C. Laterality enhances numerical skills in the guppy, *Poecilia reticulata*. Front Behav Neurosci. 2015;9:285.
- 55. Lima SL, Dill LM. Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. Can J Zool. 1990;68(4):619–40.
- 56. Brown GE, Rive AC, Ferrari MCO, Chivers DP. The dynamic nature of antipredator behavior: prey fish integrate threat-sensitive antipredator responses within background levels of predation risk. Behav Ecol Sociobiol. 2006;61(1):9–16.
- Hellström G, Heynen M, Oosten J, Borcherding J, Magnhagen C. The effect of group size on risk taking and social conformity in Eurasian perch. Ecol Freshw Fish. 2011;20(4):499–502.
- Werner EE, Gilliam JF, Hall DJ, Mittelbach GG. An experimental test of the effects of predation risk on habitat use in fish. Ecology. 1983;64(6):1540–8.
- 59. Killen SS, Marras S, McKenzie DJ. Fuel, fasting, fear: routine metabolic rate and food deprivation exert synergistic effects on risk-taking in individual juvenile European sea bass. J Anim Ecol. 2011;80(5):1024–33.
- 60. Dunlop R, Millsopp S, Laming P. Avoidance learning in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) and trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and implications for pain perception. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2006;97(2):255–71.
- 61. Millsopp S, Laming P. Trade-offs between feeding and shock avoidance in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2008;113(1):247–54.
- 62. Bentham J. An introduction to the principles of morals and legislation. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1823.
- 63. Rose JD. The neurobehavioral nature of fishes and the question of awareness and pain. Rev Fish Sci. 2002;10:1–38.
- 64. Sneddon LU. Anatomical and electrophysiological analysis of the trigeminal nerve in a teleost fish, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Neurosci Lett. 2002;319(3):167–71.
- 65. Sneddon LU. Comparative physiology of nociception and pain. Physiology. 2018;33:63-73.
- 66. Key B. Why fish do not feel pain. Anim Sentience. 2016;1(3):1.
- 67. Sneddon LU, Leach MC. Anthropomorphic denial of fish pain. Anim Sentience. 2016;1(3):28.
- 68. Damasio A, Damasio H. Pain and other feelings in humans and animals. Anim Sentience. 2016;1(3):33.
- 69. Merker BH. The line drawn on pain still holds. Anim Sentience. 2016;1(3):46.
- Curtright A, Rosser M, Goh S, Keown B, Wagner E, Sharifi J, et al. Modeling nociception in zebrafish: a way forward for unbiased analgesic discovery. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0116766.
- Magalhaes FEA, de Sousa CAP, Santos SAA, Menezes RB, Batista FLA, Abreu ÂO, et al. Adult zebrafish (Danio rerio): an alternative behavioral model of Formalin-induced nociception. Zebrafish. 2017;14(5):422–9.
- Schroeder P, Sneddon LU. Exploring the efficacy of immersion analgesics in zebrafish using an integrative approach. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2017;187:93–102.

- Lopez-Luna J, Al-Jubouri Q, Al-Nuaimy W, Sneddon LU. Activity reduced by noxious chemical stimulation is ameliorated by immersion in analgesic drugs in zebrafish. J Exp Biol. 2017a;220:1451–8.
- 74. Lopez-Luna J, Al-Jubouri Q, Al-Nuaimy W, Sneddon LU. Impact of analgesic drugs on the behavioral responses of larval zebrafish to potentially noxious temperatures. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2017b;188:97–105.
- Lopez-Luna J, Al-Jubouri Q, Al-Nuaimy W, Sneddon LU. Impact of stress, fear and anxiety on the nociceptive responses of larval zebrafish. PLoS One. 2017c;12(8):e0181010.
- Lopez-Luna J, Canty MN, Al-Jubouri Q, Al-Nuaimy W, Sneddon LU. Behavioral responses of fish larvae modulated by analgesic drugs after a stress exposure. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2017d;195:115–20.
- 77. Taylor JC, Dewberry LS, Totsch SK, Yessick LR, DeBerry JJ, Watts SA, Sorge RE. A novel zebrafish-based model of nociception. Physiol Behav. 2017;174:83–8.
- Fendt M, Fanselow MS. The neuroanatomical and neurochemical basis of conditioned fear. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1999;23:743–60.
- Gorissen M, Manuel R, Pelgrim TNM, Mes W, de Wolf MJS, Zethof J, et al. Differences in inhibitory avoidance, cortisol and brain gene expression in TL and AB zebrafish. Genes Brain Behav. 2015;14:428–38.
- Nathan FM, Ogawa S, Pahar IS. Kisspeptin1 modulate odorant evoked fear response in two serotonin receptor subtypes (5-HT1A and 5-HT2) in zebrafish. J Neurochem. 2015;133 (6):870–8.
- Perathoner S, Cordero-Maldonado ML, Crawford AD. Potential of zebrafish as a model for exploring the role of the amygdala in emotional memory and motivational behavior. J Neurosci Res. 2016;94(6):445–62.
- Portavella M, Vargas JP, Torres B, Salas C. The effects of telencephalic pallial lesions on spatial, temporal, and emotional learning in goldfish. Brain Res Bull. 2002;57(3–4):397–9.
- Maximino C, Marques de Brito T, Dias CA, Gouveia A Jr, Morato S. Scototaxis as anxietylike behavior in fish. Nat Protoc. 2010;5(2):209–16.
- Rehnberg BG, Bates EH, Smith RJF, Sloley BD, Richardson JS. Brain benzodiazepine receptors in fathead minnows and the behavioral-response to alarm pheromone. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1989;33(2):435–42.
- Crawley JN. Exploratory behavior models of anxiety in mice. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1985;9:37–44.
- 86. Grossman L, Stewart A, Gaikwad S, Utterback E, Wu N, DiLeo J, et al. Effects of piracetam on behavior and memory in adult zebrafish. Brain Res Bull. 2011;85:58–63.
- Hedayatirad M, Nematollahi MA, Forsatkar MN, Brown C. Prozac impacts lateralization of aggression in male Siamese fighting fish. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2017;140:84–8.
- Soares MC, Oliveira RF, Ros AFH, Grutter AS, Bshary R. Tactile stimulation lowers stress in fish. Nat Commun. 2011;2:534.
- 89. Faustino AI, Tacão-Monteiro A, Oliveira RF. Mechanisms of social buffering of fear in zebrafish. Sci Rep. 2017;7:44329.
- White LJ, Thomson JS, Pounder KC, Coleman RC, Sneddon LU. The impact of social context on behavior and the recovery from welfare challenges in zebrafish, *Danio rerio*. Anim Behav. 2017;132:189–99.
- 91. Ward AJW, Hart PJB. The effects of kin and familiarity on interactions between fish. Fish Fish. 2003;4(4):348–58.
- 92. Gerlach G, Lysiak N. Kin recognition and inbreeding avoidance in zebrafish, *Danio rerio*, is based on phenotype matching. Anim Behav. 2006;71(6):1371–7.
- Gerlach G, Hodgins-Davis A, Avolio C, Schunter C. Kin recognition in zebrafish: a 24-hour window for olfactory imprinting. Proc R Soc Biol Sci. 2008;275(1647):2165–70.
- Brown GE, Smith RJ. Fathead minnows use chemical cues to discriminate natural shoalmates from unfamiliar conspecifics. J Chem Ecol. 1994;20(12):3051–61.

- 95. Magurran AE, Seghers BH, Shaw PW, Carvalho GR. Schooling preferences for familiar fish in the guppy, *Poecilia reticulata*. J Fish Biol. 1994;45(3):401–6.
- 96. Waas JR, Colgan PW. Male sticklebacks can distinguish between familiar rivals on the basis of visual cues alone. Anim Behav. 1994;47(1):7–13.
- 97. Satoh S, Tanaka H, Kohda M. Facial recognition in a discus fish (Cichlidae): experimental approach using digital models. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0154543.
- 98. Newport C, Wallis G, Reshitnyk Y, Siebeck UE. Discrimination of human faces by archerfish (*Toxotes chatareus*). Sci Rep. 2016;6:27523.
- 99. Arnold KE. Kin recognition in rainbowfish (*Melanotaenia eachamensis*): sex, sibs and shoaling. Behav Ecol Sociobiol. 2000;48(5):385–91.
- Olsen KH, Grahn M, Lohm J, Langefors A. MHC and kin recognition in juvenile Artic charr, Salvelinus alpinus (L.). Anim Behav. 1998;56(2):319–27.
- 101. Peuhkuri N, Seppa P. Do three-spined sticklebacks group with kin? Ann Zool Fenn. 1998;35:21–7.
- Olsen KH, Jarvi T. Effects of kinship on aggression and RNA content in juvenile Arctic charr. J Fish Biol. 1997;51(2):422–35.
- 103. Frommen JG, Luz C, Bakker TCM. Kin discrimination in sticklebacks is mediated by social learning rather than innate recognition. Ethology. 2007;113(3):276–82.
- 104. Russell ST, Kelley JL, Graves JA, Magurran AE. Kin structure and shoal composition dynamics in the guppy, *Poecilia reticulata*. Oikos. 2004;106(3):520–6.
- 105. Oulton LJ, Haviland V, Brown C. Predator recognition in rainbowfish, *Melanotaenia duboulayi*, embryos. PLoS One. 2013;8(10):e76061.
- 106. Atherton JA, McCormik MI. Kin recognition in embryonic damselfishes. Oikos. 2017;126 (7):1062–169.
- 107. Gallup GG. Chimpanzees: self-recognition. Science. 1970;167:86-7.
- 108. Plotnik JM, de Waal FBM, Reiss D. Self-recognition in an Asian elephant. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(45):17053–7.
- 109. Prior H, Schwarz A, Güntürkün O. Mirror-induced behavior in the magpie (Pica pica): evidence of self-recognition. PLoS Biol. 2008;6(8):e202.
- 110. Verbeek P, Iwamoto T, Murakami N. Differences in aggression between wild-type and domesticated fighting fish are context dependent. Anim Behav. 2007;73(1):75–83.
- 111. Desjardins JK, Fernald RD. What do fish make of mirror images? Biol Lett. 2010;6(6):744-7.
- 112. Suddendorf T, Butler DL. The nature of visual self-recognition. Trends Cogn Sci. 2013;17:121–7.
- 113. Balzarini V, Taborsky M, Wanner S, Koch F, Frommen J. Mirror, mirror on the wall: the predictive value of mirror tests for measuring aggression in fish. Behav Ecol Sociobiol. 2014;68:871–8.
- 114. Forsatkar MN, Mematollahi MA, Brown C. Male Siamese fighting fish use fill flaring as the first display towards territorial intruders. J Ethol. 2017;35:51–9.
- 115. Hotta T, Komiyama S, Kohda M. A social cichlid fish failed to pass the mark test. Anim Cogn. 2018;21(1):127–36.
- 116. Kohda M, Takashi H, Takeyama T, Awata S, Tanaka H, Asai J, et al. Cleaner wrasse pass the mark test: what are the implications for consciousness and self-awareness testing in animals? BioRxivorg. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1101/397067.
- 117. Ari C, D'Agostino DP. Contingency checking and self-directed behaviors in giant manta rays: do elasmobranchs have self-awareness? J Ethol. 2016;34:167–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10164-016-0462-z.
- 119. Milinski M, Griffiths S, Wegner KM, Reusch TB, Haas-Assenbaum A, Boehm T. Mate choice decisions of stickleback females predictably modified by MHC peptide ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(12):4414–8.

- 120. Aeschlimann PB, Häberli MA, Reusch TBH, Boehm T, Milinski M. Female sticklebacks (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) use self-reference to optimize MHC allele number during mate selection. Behav Ecol Sociobiol. 2003;54(2):119–26.
- 121. Fitzgerald GJ, Morrissette J. Kin recognition and choice of shoal mates by threespine sticklebacks. Ethol Ecol Evol. 1992;4(3):273–83.
- 122. Mehlis M, Bakker T, Frommen J. Smells like sib spirit: kin recognition in three-spined sticklebacks (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) is mediated by olfactory cues. Anim Cogn. 2008;11 (4):643–50.
- Thünken T, Waltschyk N, Bakker T, Kullmann H. Olfactory self-recognition in a cichlid fish. Anim Cogn. 2009;12(5):717–24.



Bovine Prospection, the Mesocorticolimbic Pathways, and Neuroethics: Is a Cow's Future Like Ours?

Gary Comstock

Abstract

What can neuroscience tell us, if anything, about the capacities of cows to think about the future? The question is important if having the right to a future requires the ability to think about one's future. To think about one's future involves the mental state of prospection, in which we direct our attention to things yet to come. I distinguish several kinds of prospection, identify the behavioral markers of future thinking, and survey what is known about the neuroanatomy of future-directed bovine beliefs and desires. I suggest, in conclusion, that instead of asking whether a cow's prospection is *conscious*, ask whether it is *like ours*—with "ours" understood to include all human beings.

Keywords

Cow cognition · Mesocorticolimbic pathways · Nonhuman animal consciousness · Bovine prospection · Neuroethics

5.1 Introduction

A Holstein is locked in a stanchion at a feed trough, her eyes wide with anticipation, her neck outstretched. At the start of this YouTube video sequence [1], the cow is clearly looking forward to something. Or is she? Can cows think about their future? In this chapter I briefly explain the moral significance of the possibility that cows look forward, and offer some stipulative definitions of different modes of prospection. By prospection I mean thinking about what is yet to come. I survey what is known about human behavior and neuroanatomy when we have prospective beliefs and desires, and proceed to make some testable empirical predictions about

G. Comstock (🖂)

North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, USA e-mail: gcomstock@ncsu.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_5

what we should expect to find in cows if they prospect. I propose an analogy between bovine prospective beliefs and desires and the prospective beliefs and desires of non-reporting congenitally severely cognitively limited humans, such as humans with neotenic complex syndrome. In conclusion, I suggest that we stop asking whether a cow's prospection is real or conscious and ask instead whether it is like ours—with "ours" understood to include all humans.

5.2 Why Bovine Prospection Matters

In North America, steers, heifers, and bullocks (for the sake of economy of expression, I will refer to all bovines, male or female, young or old, as *cows*) are typically killed at a young age for meat. Good milk producers are milked for several years and then slaughtered. Common justifications for treating cows in this way include claims that cows are not contractors [2, 3]; lack rights [4]; do not possess language, rationality, or self-consciousness [5]; and so on. The idea here is a familiar one: that animals cannot have a right to life because they cannot take an interest in their future [6, 7]. There is little justification for causing animals unnecessary pain. However, many believe it is permissible to kill animals humanely—swiftly and painlessly-because animals act only "on instinct," live entirely "in the moment," or have only "nonconscious experiences" (for discussion, see [8]). Without conscious anticipatory plans looking forward in time, cows, one may reason, only have value because they are sentient. The cow's value as an individual able to acquire pleasure is lost when the animal is killed, but the value is replaced the moment the next sentient cow comes into being [9, 10]. On the other hand, however, if an individual looks forward to her future, killing her deprives her of her ability to satisfy her desires. If killing a prospective individual is *prima facie* wrong because it robs them of all future experiences, then killing cows may be *prima facie* wrong because it robs them of their future.

These considerations show that bovine prospection matters. If a cow cannot take an interest in her future, it may be that she has no right to it. If, on the other hand, she can take an interest in her future, she may have a right to it.

5.3 Rights and Interests

Should cows be able to think about their future, and if we can show that they can, then we will have taken a first step—a big step—toward undermining the common justification of humane slaughter. For, according to one widely accepted view, rights require interests [11]. An individual cannot have a right to something unless they have an interest in it. And their interests must be sufficiently weighty that the interests can support saddling others with the obligation to refrain from depriving the rights holder of that to which the rights holder has the right. For example, lead-free water is essential for the healthy development of children, so the children of Flint, Michigan, have a sufficiently weighty, legitimate interest in having access to

lead-free water to establish a right to have access to lead-free water. A creature that did not require lead-free water to be healthy would have no similar interest and thus no right to it. This is the presumed connection between rights and interests. Having an interest in something does not by itself establish a right to it, but having a right to something requires having a legitimate interest in it [12–14].

If having a right to *x* requires that one have an interest in *x*, then having a right to one's future requires that one have an interest in one's future. If cows have no interest in their future, they cannot have a right to it. But if they do have an interest in their future, they may have a right to it. So, much hangs on the next question.

Do cows think about their future? Let's return to the cow at the feed trough. Call her Betsy. If we run the video, the next thing we see is a youth, call him Jake, approaching Betsy with a feed tub. He dumps some grain in front of Betsy's neighbors and then some in front of Betsy. He throws the tub, presumably still with grain in it, in front of the cow two stalls to Betsy's right. Betsy stretches for it but, unable to reach it, proceeds to unlock her stanchion using her horn. After backing out, she reaches over her neighbor's neck and uses her tongue to unlock her neighbor's stall. The neighbor withdraws. Betsy repeats the procedure a second time on her second neighbor. After both neighbors have vacated, Betsy enters the second neighbor's stall, grabs the tub, and pulls it toward her.

5.4 What Is This Cow Planning?

Rewind to the first frame. What is Betsy thinking about her future, if anything, as she first observes Jake's approach? Here are three possibilities.

(a) Here comes Jake with our grain. When he gets here if he dumps it all in front of Babe like he did yesterday then I'm going to headbutt her out of the way. She's his favorite but that's not fair. They're both about to learn that I'm not taking it any more.

(b) BELIEF [if tub arrives, feed] BELIEF [if tub does not arrive, no feed] DESIRE [feed]

(c) [blank]

Call the first response *autobiographical* prospection. If (a) is correct, then Betsy is thinking about what the future holds and she is able to tell herself a story about it. Few objective observers of cows would attribute such human-like foresight to Betsy but, were she to possess it, she would likely have fitness advantages over conspecifics [15].

Call the second response *intuitive* prospection. In (b), Betsy has beliefs about and a desire for the future. Nonetheless, lacking the ability to form sentences and narratives, she cannot use these mental states to tell a story about her future. We storytellers can arrange her cognitive, conative, and emotional states into a narrative about her future but, according to (b), we would not be justified in thinking Betsy understands our story. Defenders of this second option find support in ethologist Wolfgang Kohler's idea that no animals have future-oriented thoughts extending beyond their present circumstances. According to the influential Bischof-Kohler hypothesis, after any animal has eaten her fill, she is unable explicitly to think about—much less plan for—the next hunger bout because she lacks the ability to represent herself and her future self, much less the temporal psychological connections between them [16, 17]. Nonetheless, at the moment, Betsy implicitly has the sense that grain is coming, that an obstacle stands in her way, and that she must find a way around it. This, at least, is one plausible story we could tell to explain her behavior.

According to (c), Betsy has no beliefs or desires at all, no thoughts about the future. Call this answer *stimulus-response*. Defenders of (c) might argue that because cows lack language they cannot form beliefs about the present, much less the future [5, 18, 19]. I will have more to say about cows and language shortly.

I'll argue for (b). Cows have intuitive prospection.

5.5 Prospection: Some Definitions

Here I offer some stipulative definitions of key terms I will employ.

Prospection is any mental state directed toward the future [20]. I am engaged in prospection when I wonder whether raspberries will be genetically engineered for cold tolerance by the end of the decade.

Nonconscious prospection is an unfelt bodily movement toward a future goal. I am engaged in nonconscious prospection whenever my subcortical autonomic system is making predictions about where my fingers will wind up a few milliseconds from now as I reach for a raspberry. Carruther's distracted driver steering around a double-parked lorry is engaged in nonconscious prospection as he successfully guides his vehicle to his goal without knowing or feeling what he is doing—and without the capacity to remember afterwards the details of what he has done [6]. When a blindsight patient successfully walks around an object he cannot see in order to reach the end of a hallway, he is engaged in nonconscious prospection [21]. Suhler and Churchland explore the neurobiological parameters that support such nonconscious monitoring and control [22]. Animals, like humans, have sophisticated neural and chemical processes that keep them moving toward their goals even though they are unaware of the processes.

Intuitive prospection is the fast, automatic, implicit process of anticipating or bringing about a future event without analyzing or deliberating about it [23]. Unlike nonconscious prospection, in which one feels nothing at all, intuitive prospection is a subjective experience. Tulving described our ability to look backward in time and draw on implicit memories to ride a bike, for example. The bike rider automatically follows rules to keep the contraption upright but does not need to pay attention to the rules. Similarly, looking forward in time, intuitive prospection is an ability to initiate behavior in light of one's goal without consciously turning one's attention to the steps necessary to attain it. I am engaged in intuitive prospection whenever I want a raspberry and, knowing they are in the refrigerator, walk unthinkingly to the kitchen and open the fridge. Panksepp, building on Tulving, calls this kind of experience a part of unknowing, or *anoetic* consciousness, and the work of the "core-Self" [24–26]; Damasio calls it a state of the *protoself* [27].

Deliberative prospection is a slower, rational, explicit process of consciously directing one's attention to the future and planning the steps necessary to bring it about [23]. I am engaged in deliberative, or episodic (Tulving), prospection whenever my first-order desires and beliefs about the future are disposed to be under my conscious control. By "disposed to be under my conscious control. By "disposed to be under my conscious control. By "disposed to be under my frontoparietal cortical region [28]. Tulving described our ability to look backward in time and remember the who-what-where-when details of a personal event. I can perform similar simulations of future events whether those events are indexed personally to me or not. I engage in impersonal deliberative prospection when I reflect on the fact that global temperatures are rising and a child born in twenty-second century. North Carolina may have a shorter life-expectancy than a child born there in this century. Panksepp calls this a part of *noetic* consciousness; Damasio, *core* consciousness [24, 27].

Autobiographical prospection is a variety of deliberative prospection. Here, future thoughts are indexed to the person doing the thinking: a mindreading individual with a biographical sense of self travels mentally through time. One pictures oneself as a character playing a role in a more-or-less richly detailed story. And one then reasons backward from this future simulation to plan the steps necessary to bring the simulation into being. Autobiographical prospection requires a subjective sense of time, a theory of mind, second-order beliefs—beliefs about one's beliefs—and narrative understanding. Narrative understanding allows one to see oneself as a character in a plot [12–14, 29]. I am engaged in autobiographical prospection when I am thinking about what to serve Mom for breakfast tomorrow and, recalling that she thinks large dark raspberries are sweetest and wanting to impress her, I write myself a note to go shopping for the biggest berries I can find. Panksepp, again following Tulving [25], calls this kind of experience a part of *autonoetic* consciousness; Damasio, *extended* consciousness [24, 26, 27]; and Szpunar, Spreng, and Schachter call it "planning" [30].

What sort of prospection, if any, is Betsy capable of? Does she have second-order beliefs about her future mental states in the way required for autobiographical prospection? Or is she capable only of the lower-order intuitive prospection, nonself-consciously interpreting events to come in terms of narratives only observers can construct for her? And perhaps there is even less to it. Is Betsy always acting nonconsciously, unaware of anything she does, her mind an empty blank?

To answer such questions we must examine two linked sources of evidence: behavioral and neuroanatomical. To figure out which neuroanatomical structures, if any, are being recruited in cows for which prospective purposes, we must begin by describing the target behavior. If we don't clearly identify the prospective behavior's beginning and ending points, we won't know when to look for activated neural networks when we go looking for prospection's neural correlates.

5.6 Cow Behaviors

What do cows do? One is tempted to say: not much. Most of the time they graze, ruminate, and rest, standing around, staring at nothing in particular. They enjoy chewing their cud and switching their tails, lying down, sleeping, hanging around familiar conspecifics, and avoiding antagonistic confrontations [31]. They like to groom and be groomed, rub their necks on the ground, scratch, and lick [32]. Most of the time they're doing things we interpret as displays of bovine contentment. "They appear to understand patience and composure," writes Jon Katz [33], and this might lead us to think that cows aren't actually thinking at all. They're merely acting "instinctually," responding with unlearned behaviors to stimuli.

However, as Katz adds, "cows...haven't been allowed to be smart" [33]. Indeed, the hundreds of years of domestication have produced tame animals who are docile compared to their wild relatives. And some cows are even raised as pets, in pampered conditions that do not allow the animals to develop their native capacities. Consequently, it is easy to underestimate the intelligence of cows (for a review, see [34]). Cows can learn to do most of the things dogs can learn to do: to follow [35]; to stay, kneel, or spin [36]; to fetch balls [37]; and to gain entry to buildings by pressing buttons [1]. They can learn to negotiate mazes to find food [37]. They can learn, without training, to work a pump handle to bring up water from a well and figure out by observation how to press a lever to get extra feed [38] (but, so far, apparently cannot be trained to defecate in prescribed areas [39]). But can they foresee their futures?

Let's rewind Betsy's video yet again. In the moment she's watching Jake's approach, is she travelling mentally through time, seeing herself a half minute from now having released her neighbor and about to take her neighbor's place? Is she saying to herself, "Silly farm boy, you think you can keep this old girl out of the corn? Just you watch me"?

We have no behavioral grounds to attribute autobiographical prospection to Betsy. She gives no indication that she has conscious representations of her own mind, much less Babe's or Jake's. There's no behavioral evidence to suggest she represents herself to herself as herself, thinks about her future self, or conceptualizes herself as a psychological continuity that persists between now and the future. We have no reason to believe she has a sense of what motivates Jake to do what he does nor that she has ideas about what Jake might think about her. There is no evidence that she has a sense of what justice requires in the barnyard.

To have an autobiographical capacity one must be a self-conscious agent with the mental facility to construct narratives with plots replete with characters facing obstacles. The story needs a beginning, a middle, and a denouement; that is, some explanation of how the affair ends. I take seriously Morgan's canon, always to prefer the lowest possible level explanation of an animal's psychological state [40]. The simplicity of bovine behaviors makes it very difficult to believe that cows can take an autobiographical interest in their future. I am unaware of empirical attempts to test cows for their ability to understand plots, character constructions, or narratives or for a cow's ability to understand the requirements of morality. Experiments for such

traits may eventually be devised, but I am skeptical cows will pass them for reasons I give elsewhere [41–43].

If we are to guard against anthropomorphizing cows and illegitimately ascribing human mental qualities to them, we should be cautious about ascribing to them moral states such as envy, humiliation, jealousy, pride, embarrassment, and shame. To have a virtue or vice one must be, well, a character in a narrative plot. One must understand oneself as a self and be conscious of how one's actions are affecting other selves. This kind of self-conception is what cows probably lack.

However, to avoid anthropomorphism one need not resort to a reductionistic stimulus-response view. We need not assume that animal experience is nonconscious, lacking all phenomenal qualities all of the time [6]. Nor need we become mysterians either, agreeing with neuroscientist Joseph LeDoux that "we can never know whether another animal has conscious emotional feelings" [44]. For a more plausible view is readily available, and that is this. Some animal experiences are nonconscious, some are unconscious, and some are conscious. Eventually a mature physical science may supply causal explanations of consciousness. In the meantime, many philosophers are convinced, as am I, that we must borrow the belief and desire framework of folk psychology. It's the best of the current options on offer to characterize conscious animal experiences [45, 46].

A non-anthropomorphic folk psychological description of what it is like to be a cow looking forward involves two key steps. First, determine which neuroanatomical structures humans recruit when they prospect. The prospective target behaviors include combinations of things such as squinting or widening eyes, tilting the head, favoring an ear, sniffing the air, and stretching the neck. Second, determine whether relevantly similar neuroanatomical structures are found in cows and, if they are, whether they are recruited when the cow's behavior indicates prospecting (squinting, tilting, etc.). If bovine structures are present and active during the bovine behaviors we suspect are prospective in nature, then the burden of proof will have shifted to those denying cows have an intuitive sense of their future. I am not suggesting that having such structures is necessary for prospection (and they may not be, to take just two examples, for birds or octopuses). I am suggesting that having them, and having them functioning in neurotypical ways, may be sufficient for intuitive prospection.

5.7 Hypothesis: Cows Have Intuitive Prospection

Let me say a bit more about what needs to be shown if we are to believe in bovine intuitive prospection. First, notice that intuitive prospection is like autobiographical prospection in that it has a narrative structure. To have a narrative structure is to have temporally encapsulated contiguous episodes integrated into a larger whole, a plot [13, 29, 47]. When my thoughts about my future have a plot, I foresee the end state as connected to my beginning point by a story that explains the entire sequence. The story explains my decisions as I look and move ahead, showing how the series of events in my past lead to the choices I am making now. I see my story, in other words, as a unified whole, unified from past to future by the agency of a character,

me. *I* tie together and explain the entire sequence [48]. What is the connection between narrative and explanation? An explanation is required to show how the many features of my perspective—my memories, values, emotions, and aspirations—form a coherent account of the individual in question. A story is needed to explain *me*. Without a story, I dissolve into a series of disconnected states of affairs. Others' actions also require narrative explanations. When a mind reader is explaining someone else's actions, the mind reader employs third-person biography for the explanation. Both biography and autobiography have narrative form; both employ the four elements of what the Aristotelian poetic tradition calls tragedy: plot, character, mood, and setting [12].

If this analysis of time, narrative, and personal identity is correct, then the difference between intuitive and autobiographical prospection is not in their relative structures, for each has a narrative form. The difference is in their perspective. Autobiographies are narratives told from the first-person perspective to explain one's own actions. They require that the actor be able to say "I." Biographies are narratives told from the third-person perspective to explain someone else's actions. They do not require that the actor be self-conscious or capable of telling the explanatory story, only that some narrator or other be able to tell a veridical story about the actor. This is what it meant by the claim that intuitive prospection is biographical, not autobiographical.

Do cows have intuitive prospection? To show that they do we would need to show that a story is available to explain cows' behaviors. The next section attempts to do just that by drawing on work of Peter Carruthers concerning animal metacognition [49–51].

5.8 Bovine Prospection: Belief and Desire

At t_1 Betsy possesses three mental states:

- (1) BELIEF [feed is in tub]
- (2) BELIEF [if tub is reached, eat]
- (3) DESIRE [eat]

(1)–(3) automatically produce movement at t_1 as Betsy stretches her neck toward the tub. Betsy engages in this behavior regularly, unreflectively perceiving food, positioning her body to ingest it and swallow it. If this were all there were to Betsy's behavior, then we should do away with the reference to BELIEF because we could explain her behavior more simply in stimulus-response terms.

Like most of our movements while eating, a cow's movements while eating are caused by subcortical neural networks operating below her level of attention. The external world stimulates a perception, the relevant subcortical pathways process it, and Betsy eats. In these cases, the "Betsy's mind is blank" interpretation is validated by the evidence. The sight of feed is the rewarding stimulus and Betsy's unreflective reaching for it is the response. We can always expand our explanation and interpret her behavior in terms of beliefs but, in the ordinary case, there is no need and Morgan's canon tells against the expanded explanation. Sub-threshold neural interactions suffice to explain uninterrupted eating behaviors. End of story.

However, as it happens during this particular meal, Betsy cannot reach the tub. Caught up short in satisfying her desire, she must now turn attention to what she is doing. Here, at t_2 , she finds herself with a genuine belief; that is, one that cannot be explained by the stripped-down stimulus-response apparatus:

(4) BELIEF [feed is unreachable]

(4) introduces a matter that Betsy's automatic systems cannot handle. Additional effort required to reach the goal! How to proceed? She pauses. Perhaps she feels some anxiety. Perhaps she wonders if she is still committed to (3). I am not suggesting that Betsy is carrying on an internal monologue with herself conducted in the English sentences found here. But I am suggesting that she has some kind of cow-ese, some kind of representational format in which to do her thinking. The format need not be language-like; it might be more like a map, or like music, or like gestures. It might even have more to do with odors. Whatever the internal bovine representational format, Betsy must be able to use it to represent, interpret, and interact with the external world [52]. If she finds that she still wants to eat, then she must use her thinking tools to inhibit her current urge to press again, only harder, against the stanchion. She needs a novel strategy. She calculates.

At t_3 . Betsy has a new set of attitudes:

- (5) BELIEF [if tub is not reached, do not eat].
- (6) BELIEF [tub cannot be reached unless neighbor moves]
- (7) DESIRE [neighbor moves]
- (8) BELIEF [neighbor does not move unless this lock opens]
- (9) BELIEF [this lock does not open unless head is used]
- (10) BELIEF [if head is used, this lock opens]
- (11) BELIEF [if head is not used, this lock does not open]
- (12) DESIRE [this lock opens]

The frustration of her initial strategy combined with the causal reasoning found in (10)–(12) results in her deliberately extinguishing the instinct to push harder and harder against her stanchion. Instead, she pauses, looks around, and then backs away from the stanchion. She carefully repositions her head and slides open the lock. Backing out, she again briefly surveys the scene and turns to the next challenge, moving her neighbor.

At t_4 , Betsy has taken on another set of beliefs and desires:

(13) BELIEF [that lock does not open unless tongue is used]

- (14) BELIEF [if tongue is used, that lock opens]
- (15) DESIRE [that lock opens]

The combination (13)–(15) produces the use of her tongue to open the neighbor's lock. This updating of mental states continues in an iterative process until she is

finally able to reach the tub. At that point, at least 20 s after t_1 , her story is complete. The obstacles that arose as she strived to bring a future state into existence have been overcome. She does not know the story that unifies her beginning intention with her final achievement, but we do.

Notice that the analysis is not autobiographical because nowhere in it do we find the subjective words I or me. Beginning with (4), a plot begins to form as an unexpected challenge comes into play and presents an obstacle the actor must confront. Unlike the combination of (1)–(3), the beliefs and desires constituting (1)–(15) represent a temporal series of desires and beliefs united by an individual's psychology grappling with a problem. To this extent, a narrative is required to explain the coherence of the set. The story, told from the third-person stance, is not autobiographical. It does not require that the actor have a theory of mind. Nor does it invoke metacognitive states such as *imagining* one's future bodily location, *regrouping* oneself after an initial defeat, *envisaging* others' emotions, or *judging* the fairness of their actions. While Betsy's story is not a first-person narrative, nevertheless, it is a narrative.

Betsy's prospection, then, is biographical. If this analysis of bovine prospection is correct, we can proceed to look for neuroanatomical evidence to see whether cows have structures to support the mental states just ascribed to them. To do this we must determine whether cows have neural pathways that support belief and desire and their selective inhibition. Since little is known about the neuroanatomic pathways in bovine limbic systems, let us begin with our own case. Localizing belief and desire in the human brain can provide starting points as we try to peer into the cow brain.

5.9 Neural Correlates of Human Desire

By desire I mean the positive attitudes of wanting, yearning, craving, and liking. By the satisfaction of a desire I mean the pleasurable state that accompanies desire's fulfilment. For example, hunger and thirst are desires and it's a pleasure to have them satisfied. Desires can be conscious or unconscious (although probably not nonconscious). According to MacLean's triune interpretation [53] of the human brain—a convenient approximation if no longer a sound scientific theory—unconscious desires are localized in the evolutionarily most ancient, so-called reptilian, brain: the lower, subcortical, third of the organ. Conscious desires necessarily involve the youngest, most recently evolved third of the human brain, the so-called neomammalian complex, or neocortex [53]. To have self-aware, conscious desires, then, seems to require in humans a neocortex (although, for important qualifications, see LeDoux [54], Merker [55], and Philippi et al. [56]).

The affective neuroscientist Jaak Panksepp interprets desires as part of the reward system of the brain, the approach and avoidance systems [24, 57], or what Panksepp dubs the SEEKING system. The SEEKING system animates us, moves us forward, and promotes "an energized appetitive disposition, which unconditionally promotes exploration and foraging for resources..." [57]. It can function consciously or unconsciously, operating above or below the level of phenomenal consciousness



and executive control. When the system involves the cortex, we consciously assess whether to move toward the pleasurable opportunity, be it an offer of companionship, protection, knowledge, affection, or sustenance. When the system does not involve the cortex [24, 58], we gravitate unthinkingly toward the reward, especially if it appears to be easily obtained. A partner of the SEEKING system is the FEAR system, which can launch us without thinking into rapid avoidance behavior. The SEEKING system can launch us without thinking into rapid acquisitive behavior. For this reason, it is the top prospect as the neural network recruited by the brain during intuitive prospection.

As suggested in Fig. 5.1, the human SEEKING system is set in motion by the ventral tegmental area (VTA), the green area in the midbrain, inside the pons, to the right, posterior, end, of the figure. When the VTA receives a representation of a rewarding stimulus from the eyes or nose, it immediately sends dopamine to the nucleus accumbens (also called the ventral striatum, of which it forms the largest part). It is the green area to the left, or anterior, end of the figure [60]. The VTA and nucleus accumbens are connected by the *mesolimbic dopamine pathway*, the topmost pathway in red. This pathway is contained within the subcortical basal ganglia of the medial forebrain [59] and is recruited for fast, "quick and dirty" processing. It accounts for desires without awareness. Electrical stimulation of this pathway causes feelings of pleasure, desire, and novelty seeking [61] whether or not one consciously seeks such feelings. Call it the subcortical road.¹

¹Analogously, Joseph LeDoux identifies two pathways involved in fear processing [62] originating at the sensory thalamus. An unconscious pathway connected to the amygdala is recruited for fast and approximate processing. LeDoux says it sponsors fear without awareness. A conscious pathway connected to the cortex is recruited for slower, more precise processing. LeDoux says it sponsors conscious fear.

When a reward can be easily achieved, the subcortical road "coaxes" dopamine out of the nucleus accumbens and an immediate choice is made to pursue the pleasurable stimulus [63]. When a baby glimpses the smiling face of his mother, the subcortical road is activated and he moves toward his mom without thinking about it. When a rat is faced with a simple learning task, such as pressing a button to obtain a low reward (say, two food pellets), the subcortical road is activated [64]. The role of the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in desire is well-established. Amphetamines and cocaine cause fivefold increases in the level of dopamine along the subcortical road [65]. Heroin, nicotine, marijuana, and alcohol all stimulate dopamine production in the area. Since drug addiction is a behavior difficult to overcome, and since the subcortical road is a set of processes not under one's executive control, the mesolimbic path has become a key target for scientists researching new therapies for drug abuse [66–69].

The SEEKING system is also recruited during deliberative prospection which uses a second pathway, the *mesocortical dopamine pathway*. Running parallel to the mesolimbic pathway, it too originates at the VTA but, sidestepping the nucleus accumbens, heads directly for the orbitofrontal cortex [59]. It is activated when the pursuit of an unconscious desire is frustrated and we need more time and planning to achieve the goal. If one must assess one's options, negotiate obstacles, or find alternative means of reaching a goal, this cortical road leaps into action. By connecting the executive systems in the cortex with the subcortical limbic circuits, it is also capable of initiating top-down "stop" signals to extinguish initiatives in the limbic system.

In sum, the mesolimbic and mesocortical pathways handle different tasks and in different ways. When a simple cognitive task has an obvious low-cost solution, the subcortical road suffices and acts quickly. If you lesion the mesolimbic pathway of a rat, the animal gets slower at responding to rewarding stimuli [64]. If the task is more complex and demands cognitive effort and judgment, the mesocortical pathway takes over. If you lesion the mesocortical pathway of a rat, the animal becomes less likely to expend extra effort if it is required to achieve a high reward (say, four food pellets) [64]. These findings are consistent with the idea that when an animal no longer has access to its limbic system, it loses much of its ability to react quickly and grab rewards. And the findings are consistent with the idea that when an animal no longer has access to its cortex, it loses much of its ability to inhibit its impulses, accurately assess longer-term costs and benefits, and make prudent utility calculations.

The two pathways are dissociable [70]. While the subcortical road handles easy learning tasks, the cortical road handles more complex tasks. Put speculatively, if the mesolimbic pathway is recruited for unconscious seeking behavior, it is probably recruited for intuitive prospection. And if the mesocortical pathway is recruited for conscious seeking behavior, it is likely at play during deliberative prospection.

Having reviewed what is known about the neuroanatomy of human desire, what do we know about the cow?

5.10 Neural Correlates of Bovine Desire?

Does the cow recruit brain structures similar to ours when the cow exhibits desires about its future? We know little about the correlates of bovine desire; I am unaware of any fMRI studies of cow brains. The problem, as George M. Strain, Professor of Neuroscience at Louisiana State University, puts it, is that:

Not many people are interested in bovine neuroanatomy or neurophysiology....You won't have any luck finding neural correlates of 'desire' in cattle ... because we don't recognize such as being present in animals, or at least have no way to identify it and measure it (personal correspondence, 19 June 2018).

Given the state of research, we cannot say definitively that cows have a SEEK-ING system similar to humans. However, given what we know about the mesolimbic pathways in humans, rats [54], rhesus monkeys [55], and other mammalian species [56], we can make some informed predictions about the cow brain. While we know that there are differences between the human and bovine brain—including their respective size, the structure of the frontal cortex, encephalization quotients, and number of A10 cells in the VTA [57]—whether such differences make a difference to whether a cow can look forward is still to be determined. However, given our shared evolutionary history, and extensive similarities between all mammalian brains, it is not unreasonable to hypothesize that we may eventually find in cows the bovine equivalents of the human neural SEEKING system. Figure 5.2 illustrates this prediction.

Is a cow's VTA connected to its nucleus accumbens by a subcortical mesolimbic dopamine pathway? If so, we should predict that cows recruit it during unconscious seeking behaviors. Should this hypothesis prove to be correct, we would have empirical support for the claim that cows have intuitive prospection. For, as the Russian biologist Dobzhansky observed, "nothing in biology makes sense except in the light of evolution" [72]. And it would make little evolutionary sense for an animal to expend energy developing and maintaining a complicated set of neural pathways and structures if they did not serve a key function. This is some reason to believe that the physical structures seen in Fig. 5.2 support prospective feelings in cows, if the structures exist in cows, just as similar structures support prospective feelings in us.

Perhaps, however, we are moving too quickly. Critics may point out that not all of an organism's traits are adaptive. For example, vestigial organs are useless historical accidents that continue to get passed from generation to generation (think human tailbones, male nipples, or wisdom teeth). It is possible that a cow's VTA, nucleus accumbens, or dopamine pathways are not adaptations and do not serve the functions in cows that they serve in humans. The evolutionary path leading to humans may have involved exapting the neural structures in question.² If our VTA, nucleus accumbens, and dopamine pathways were originally selected for purposes other

²Thanks to Andrew Fenton for pointing this out.



Fig. 5.2 Prediction: bovine SEEKING system. Figure based on midsagittal view, "The brain of *Bos taurus*, version 3.0" [71], reprinted with permission of Floris Wouterlood, with hypothetical markings and labels superimposed and brain circumference outline removed

than the purposes they serve in humans today, then the fact that cows also have them will not suffice to show that they support the same functions or feelings in cows as they do in humans. A critic might object to my argument by pointing out that individual humans may have been selected over time because they possessed novel adaptive traits that co-opted the VTA and nucleus accumbens and put them to new uses. In that case, and according to this line of objection, then the argument from analogy between cow and human neural architectures fails to show that individuals of both species have similar feelings as well as structures because shared structures may support different functions.

In response to this objection, it is important to note that neural pathways and brain connectomes are not organs like wings, tailbones, or appendices. Unlike a vestigial trait that comes to be used for a function for which it was not originally selected (e.g., feathers originally selected for capacity to regulate temperature, not to fly), a complex network of neural connections must be strengthened through repeated use in order to support the original function for which it is selected. While such connections may be exapted over time and so enlisted for new uses, complex neural structures such as those under consideration are unlikely to be constructed in the first place unless they are being used repeatedly for some complex psychological purpose. Since neural architectures are far more complicated than limbs or organs, it is hard to see why these architectures would have been chosen had they not originally served in our last common ancestor with cows something like the functions the traits now serve in us.

It also seems that the structures in question are old and dedicated. That is, their presence in animals of different species is evolutionarily ancient and their functioning does not appear to require other, widely scattered, brain areas in the way that human language, for example, does [73]. If the VTA and nucleus accumbens are connected in cows, then the bovine pathway may sponsor in cows the tacit anticipatory feelings that the human pathway sponsors in humans. I do not take these claims to refute the objection. However, if my assumptions are correct, the objection is weaker than it initially appears. It is not implausible to conclude that the presence in cows of the human-like neural structures identified above would provide a reason, a powerful albeit defeasible reason, to believe that cows have something very like the mental states supported by these structures in humans.

In addition, we may ask whether cows have a cortical road connecting the VTA to the frontal cortex. If they do, this fact would provide reason to believe that cows can exercise executive control, inhibit urges, and consciously plan strategic interventions to achieve their goals. I admit, however, that this conclusion is far from established. Further research is needed, in any case, to determine whether cows have a mesocortical dopamine pathway.

Having completed a survey of how human and bovine brains may handle desire, what do we know about how they each handle belief? Unlike the SEEKING system, our beliefs appear to be impossible without the cortex. Begin again with the human case.

5.11 Neural Correlates of Human Belief

Which regions of the cortex are recruited to support which beliefs probably depends on the complexity of the belief. We know that more complex beliefs expressed in propositions and narratives take a longer time and a greater area to process than do simpler beliefs expressed in words.

At Uri Hasson's lab at Princeton, undergraduate experimental subjects listened to short stories while researchers mapped their cortical activations using fMRI [74]. As the task went from simple to complex, the time it took the brain to process the ideas took longer and longer and involved more and more regions. When the subjects first heard a short story, they heard gibberish because it was played in reverse. In trying to make sense of incoherent noises, the subjects recruited only a small part of their temporal lobes. Figure 5.3 shows these sections in red, the sections posterior (P) to the lateral sulcus (LS). When the sound played was an intelligible word, however, the yellow areas were also recruited, the posterior (P) regions of the superior temporal sulcus. If an entire sentence was played, the larger green areas were added, areas stretching toward the temporal-parietal junction (TPJ) plus regions anterior to (A) the central sulcus (CS). When subjects heard an entire paragraph, distant expansive blue regions of the brain were activated, including medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and intraparietal sulcus (IPS).



Fig. 5.3 Hierarchical topography of temporal receptive windows in fMRI image. Reprinted with permission of *The Journal of Neuroscience* from [74]. Figure cropped and modified with permission of Uri Hasson

Lerner et al. call the length of time it takes for the brain to make meaning out of sounds a temporal receptive window. Generally speaking, we require at least a half second to process a word, 3 s for a sentence, and 17 s for a paragraph. As we move from comprehending a word to a sentence to a story, our temporal receptive window expands as does the area of the brain in play.

It is not implausible to think that the red, yellow, and green areas activate during deliberative prospection as we form narratives about the who, what, and where of the future. Nor is it a stretch to think that the blue "paragraph" areas must also be recruited when, during autobiographical prospection, we form stories about our future. Going forward, at least, I shall help myself to these assumptions.

5.12 Neural Correlates of Bovine Belief: What Do We Know?

We know almost nothing about how cows process beliefs. However, basing our hypotheses on what we know about humans and other mammalian species, we may again hazard a prediction. We may predict that differences in the complexity of bovine beliefs will be reflected in patterned differences in bovine brain activation. For example, should a cow hear an incoherent noise and try to make sense of it, part of her cortex may be activated, perhaps the red area near the lateral sulcus (LS) indicated in Fig. 5.4.



Fig. 5.4 Prediction: bovine BELIEF system. Figure based on lateral view figure of "The brain of *Bos taurus*, version 3.0" [71], reprinted with permission of Floris Wouterlood, with hypothetical markings and labels superimposed

On the other hand, should the noise turn into a recognizable vocalization of one of the animal's familiars—such as a cow's low frequency call for her calf [75]—larger regions, I now hypothesize, become involved. Call the yellow areas plus the red area, somewhat tendentiously, the cow's WORD system, here proposed to involve areas posterior (P) to the central sulcus (CS). If cows can process even longer and even more complex vocalizations—such as higher frequency extended bellows intended to coordinate social interactions [61]—it may be that the larger green areas are needed. These may include regions, as in humans, anterior to the temporal-parietal junction (TPJ) and the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC). Call this the cow's SEN-TENCE system. I understand beliefs and desires in terms of propositional attitudes. There are many propositions that can be represented in any one of the thousands of human languages spoken through time. Cows do not speak any of these languages, but they may nonetheless think using analogous representational formats. Imagine that cows use, say, images, maps, rhythms and melodies, or gestures to represent objects and ideas to themselves and others [52, 76]. In that case, cows have words, the cognitive tool needed to represent objects even if cows lack narrative, the cognitive tool needed to represent selves.

Few would predict that cows understand, or will come to understand, human assertions, much less narratives. However, I leave open the possibility that cows may have a capacity to process beliefs and desires expressed in bovine terms more complicated than the bovine WORD system can handle. Thus, Fig. 5.4 proposes

green areas. However, since we have no reason to think cows have autobiographical capacity, Fig. 5.4 has no blue areas.

Let us sum up before moving ahead. We have behavioral evidence that cows form intermediate-length intuitive prospections, that is, prospections that look dozens of seconds into the future. We have neuroanatomical hints that their brains may have the structures necessary to support such intuitive, narratively structured, prospections. And we have testable hypotheses to determine whether these structures are recruited when cows ostensibly prospect. But now, again, comes the hard question. Is a cow's prospection *conscious*?

This is an impossible question to answer because it is not well formed. We mean too many different things by "conscious." In fact, the language used in this area quickly becomes confusing, as Panksepp's identification of "anoetic consciousness" and Carruther's category of "nonconscious experience" exemplify. The usual strategy of trying to address the issue is to define the characteristics of what we take consciousness to be in humans and then ask whether this or that animal has those characteristics. This strategy has not proven fruitful. I agree with Carruthers that we should stop asking whether animals are conscious "not because they aren't," but rather "because [there's] no fact of the matter [77]." Instead, we can ask a more tractable question.

5.13 Is a Cow's Prospection Like Ours?

To try to answer this question, we must first ask who we are. I assume "we" includes aphasic nonreporting humans who cannot tell us whether they are conscious prospectors. And I will assume that they are, in fact, conscious prospectors. By an aphasic nonreporting human, I mean an individual who congenitally lacks the autobiographical capacity to understand their life as a story.

5.14 Belief and Desire in Neotenic Complex Syndrome

An adult with neotenic complex syndrome may provide an example. Brooke Greenberg could not construct, follow, or understand her life as having a narrative arc because of profound delays in her mental development. When she died at age 20 she had never spoken, read, written, walked without support, fed herself, controlled her bladder, passed false-belief tests, or lived independently. She was capable of recognizing family members and enjoyed playing with her sisters and rocking in swings. She could "vocalize for attention and occasionally smile/laugh socially" [78]. She had, as one of her doctors put it, the "cognitive development" of "a child less than 1 year old" [78]. An MSNBC production, "A Child Frozen in Time," shows Ms. Greenberg at age 16 in her walker, looking ahead toward the homeroom of her special education school building [79]. She slowly scoots ahead, propelling herself down the hall. When she reaches the spot, she turns right, to the delight of everyone, including her mother, her teacher, and herself.

Let's go back to the first frame. At the beginning of the sequence, she is peering down the hallway preparing to launch herself toward her homeroom. As she begins to push herself forward, she intends to move ahead, her behavior is goal-directed, and she has a representation of where she wants to wind up. But is it correct to say that she travels mentally through time to envision the future moment at which she will have reached her goal? I think this is unlikely given the limits of her cognitive capacities. However, along her way down the hall she inhibits the urge to give up and collapse in her walker. We see an aide pulling her along at one point, but Brooke does not want assistance and she perseveres on her own. We can easily imagine her encountering a janitor's cart that blocks her path and her responding to the challenge by devising a way around it.

Three descriptions of Ms. Greenberg's mental state at the beginning of the hallway sequence are available.

(A) There's my Mom, my teacher, and Grandma in front of my homeroom. When I maneuver my way into the classroom, I hope they don't jump up and down in front of the students like they did yesterday. I know they want to cheer me on, but they embarrass me when they make a show.

(B) BELIEF [if target room is entered, smiles all around]. BELIEF [if target room is not entered, no smiles all around] DESIRE [smiles all around]

(C) [blank]

Notice that in (C) Brooke has no beliefs or desires, no conscious states; she's not feeling anything. Defenders of this option might point out that Brooke lacks language and cannot form beliefs about the future. The first response is autobiographical prospection, the second response is intuitive prospection, and the third answer is stimulus-response. Which is correct? I'll argue for the second.

We have no grounds to adopt (A), the first, autobiographical, interpretation. To attribute such thoughts to Brooke we would have to assume that she is conscious of her own thoughts and body and has a theory about the intentions and thoughts of others, beliefs about what motivates them, ideas about how they perceive her, and a sense of what justice requires. We have no evidence to attribute such thoughts to her, no evidence that she has the capacity for moral agency or the mental facility either to construct narrative plots or attribute moods to characters. Absence of evidence is not evidence of absence, but neither is the promise of forthcoming evidence the bringing forth of evidence (for further discussion, see [80]).

Nor is there any reason to think (C), that her mind is blank. To the contrary, she has a unified perspective on the world which she vocalizes to express pain or happiness, frustration or accomplishment, discouragement or satisfaction. She can recognize friends and foes. She has basic emotions, beliefs and desires, and executive control over them. She can aim at goals, devise hypotheses for achieving them, and choose rationally among those hypotheses. She has a welfare and can be harmed or benefitted, and she can decide on strategies to overcome obstacles in her way.

5.15 Nonreporting Human Intuitive Prospection

A first-order biographical analysis of Brooke's mind would begin at t_1 by attributing three mental states to her:

- (16) BELIEF [if target room is entered, smiles].
- (17) BELIEF [if target room is not entered, no smiles]
- (18) DESIRE [smiles]

(16)–(18) are unconscious states presumably processed by the mesolimbic pathway. They automatically produce leg-moving behavior at t_1 as Brooke propels herself forward without thinking. If (16)–(18) sufficed to move Brooke into her room, then she would not need to recruit the mesocortical pathway and we could do away with the reference to BELIEF because we could explain her behavior in subcortical, stimulus-response terms. In most instances, Brooke's movements in her walker are unreflected upon and unavailable for her to reflect upon. If this were a complete description of the episode, then the "Brooke's mind is blank" interpretation would be validated by the evidence. In that case, and contrary to the facts, her perception of the room would be the rewarding stimulus and her automatic movement into the room would be an unfelt response. We could always go on to interpret her behavior in terms of beliefs but there would be no need and doing so would violate Morgan's canon. In the imagined case, subthreshold neural interactions suffice to explain behavior. End of story.

However, as it happens, Brooke cannot reach the room directly. Interrupted in her attempt to satisfy her desire, she must now turn her attention to what she is doing. Here, at t_2 , she finds herself with a genuine belief, one that surprises her and one that cannot be explained by the stripped-down stimulus-response apparatus:

(19) BELIEF [path is blocked]

(19) introduces a matter that Brooke's automatic systems cannot handle. Additional effort required to reach the goal! How to proceed? She pauses. Perhaps she feels some anxiety and wonders whether she is still committed to (18). I am not suggesting that Brooke is carrying on an internal monologue with herself conducted in the English sentences found here. But I am suggesting that she has some kind of tacit language of thought she uses to represent and interpret the world. If she finds that she still wants smiles, then she must inhibit her current urge to press again, only harder, against the janitor's cart. She needs a novel strategy. She calculates. Is the reward she seeks worth the effort? Yes, she decides. Now, at t_3 , still desiring to make others happy, she thinks:

- (20) BELIEF [if path is blocked, room is not entered]
- (21) BELIEF [if alternate path is found, room is entered]
- (22) DESIRE [enter room]
- (23) BELIEF [alternate path requires left turn]
- (24) DESIRE [turn left].

(25) BELIEF [alternate path requires right turn].(26) DESIRE [turn right].

Calculation begins. Combining (20)–(22) with (23)–(26) and making the relevant utility assessments, the cortex, as it were, determines that the goal is worth the effort. It promptly sends a signal down the mesocortical pathway that is strong enough to stop the mesolimbic system from continuing to urge renewed pushing against the janitor's cart. The prefrontal cortex commands a novel twisting motion and the motor cortex responds, engineering new leg thrusts to the left and then to the right.

At t_3 , a few dozen seconds after t_1 and after clearing the janitor's cart, Brooke has two new beliefs:

(27) BELIEF [push straight ahead, enter room].

(28) BELIEF [do not push straight ahead, do not enter room].

The iterative updating process of narratively connecting mental state sets continues until Brooke, having combined (27) and (28) with (22), completes her plan. At t_4 , she enters her room, to smiles all around.

We have good reason to deny that aphasic nonreporting humans like Brooke Greenberg have moral responsibility. If one does not have representations of oneself over time or a narrative understanding of how one's personal identity in the past is related to one's future, one cannot understand how one's actions are connected to their consequences [81]. Likewise, for individuals with depersonalization disorder or dissociative amnesia, moral accountability may be compromised or nonexistent. In conditions in which one cannot locate one's identity, one cannot be regarded as a morally autonomous agent. Nonetheless, such beings can be moral patients, and moral patients can be harmed. They are not by virtue of their psychological limitations open subjects for exploitation.

We have no reason to deny that aphasic nonreporting humans like Brooke Greenberg intuitively look forward to things in their future. It feels like something to be them looking forward. With a little imagination, the rest of us can come to understand much of how that feels, too.

5.16 Conclusion

Is all cow prospection nonconscious? The behavioral evidence suggests otherwise. Cows aim at goals, suppress urges to act instinctually, turn their attention to what they are doing, and negotiate obstacles in the way of their goals. They can look several dozen seconds, at least, into the future. We can tell stories about how they are dealing with twists and turns in the plots they, unbeknownst to them, are living out. If neuroanatomical research shows what is unlikely—that cows lack a mesocortical pathway—then we may have reason to doubt that cows can take an interest in their future. In the meantime, given the evidence of mesocortical pathways in other mammalian species, we have little justification to think cows lack a cortical road. While I have not definitively shown that cows have intuitive prospection, I have accomplished two preliminary tasks. First, I have described a research program to test for bovine intuitive prospection. And, I have noted that the weight of evidence lies on the side of the assumption that cows seek, anticipate, and look forward.

How to get inside a cow's head? First, think about who *we* are: a varied lot, with a diverse range of cognitive capacities. Second, follow Temple Grandin's gesture that "[a]utism is a kind of way station on the road from animals to humans" [82]. Third, assume, as we must, that *we* includes aphasic nonreporting humans with severe cognitive limitations who look forward to their futures. Assume, further, that some autistic people think in alternative representational formats, such as pictures, and that cows think in these formats, too. If all of these claims are true, as I believe they are, cognition may not require propositional thought at all. Finally, ask: Are there any morally relevant differences between the intuitive prospection of some of us and the intuitive prospection of some cows? I don't see any.

How then should we treat cows? This is a question for another day. Note, however, that if cow neuroanatomy turns out to be as predicted, cows probably can take a morally relevant interest in what is to come. This much does not establish that feeder calves have a right to life that we violate when we slaughter them for beef. However, it makes a nonstarter out of the idea that those calves must lack a right to their future because they lack the capacity to take an interest in it.³

References

- 1. Piotr Krzok. Clever COW [Internet]. 2015. Available from https://www.youtube.com/watch? v=iayIPr1IVe8
- 2. Narveson J. Animal rights. Can J Philos. 1977;7(1):161-78.
- 3. Carruthers P. The animals issue: moral theory in practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1992. 206 p.
- 4. Cohen C, Regan T. The animal rights debate. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield; 2001. 323 p. (Point/counterpoint).
- 5. Leahy MPT. Against liberation: putting animals in perspective. London: Routledge; 1991. 273 p.
- 6. Carruthers P. Brute experience. J Philos. 1989;86(5):258-69.
- 7. Francis LP, Norman R. Some animals are more equal than others. Philosophy. 1978;53:507-27.
- 8. Varner GE. Personhood, ethics, and animal cognition: situating animals in Hare's two-level utilitarianism. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- 9. Singer P. Practical ethics. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1993. 395 p.
- Višak T. The replaceability argument. In: Killing happy animals: explorations in utilitarian ethics [Internet]. London: Palgrave Macmillan; 2013 [cited 2018 Jul 31]. p. 46–70. (The Palgrave Macmillan Animal Ethics Series). Available from http://link.springer.com/chapter/ 10.1007/978-1-137-28627-7_4

³I am grateful for comments from Bill Bauer, Veljko Dubljevic, Robert C. Jones, and Eze Paez. I owe special debts of gratitude to the editors, L. Syd M Johnson and Andrew Fenton, for assistance in clarifying the argument; to Floris Wouterlood for providing the cow brain figures; and to Stevan Harnad for an invitation to discuss the ideas at the 2018 University of Québec at Montréal Summer School in Animal Cognition.

- 11. Raz J. The morality of freedom. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1986.
- 12. Ricœur P. Time and narrative, vol. 3. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 1984.
- 13. Schechtman M. The constitution of selves. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press; 1996. 169 p.
- Dennett D. The self as a narrative center of gravity. In: Kessel F, Cole P, Johnson D, editors. Self and consciousness: multiple perspectives [Internet]. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum; 1992. Available from http://ase.tufts.edu/cogstud/papers/selfctr.htm.
- 15. Suddendorf T. Foresight and evolution of the human mind. Science. 2006;312(5776):1006-7.
- Bischof N. On the phylogeny of human morality. In: Stent G, editor. Morality as a biological phenomenon. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press; 1980. p. 53–74.
- 17. Suddendorf T, Corballis MC. The evolution of foresight: What is mental time travel, and is it unique to humans? Behav Brain Sci. 2007;30(3):299–313.
- 18. Frey RG. Interests and rights: the case against animals. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1980. 176 p.
- Davidson D. Rational animals, Chapter 7. In: Subjective, intersubjective, objective: philosophical essays, vol. 3. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2001.
- 20. Gilbert DT, Wilson TD. Prospection: experiencing the future. Science. 2007;317 (5843):1351-4.
- de Gelder B, Tamietto M, van Boxtel G, Goebel R, Sahraie A, van den Stock J, et al. Intact navigation skills after bilateral loss of striate cortex. Curr Biol. 2008;18(24):R1128–9.
- 22. Suhler CL, Churchland PS. Control: conscious and otherwise. Trends Cogn Sci. 2009;13 (8):341–7.
- 23. Seligman MEP, Railton P, Baumeister RF, Sripada C. Homo prospectus. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2016. 401 p.
- Panksepp J. Affective neuroscience: the foundations of human and animal emotions. 1st ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 1998. 480 p.
- 25. Tulving E. Memory and consciousness. Can Psychol. 1985;26(1):1-12.
- 26. Vandekerckhove M, Panksepp J. The flow of anoetic to noetic and autonoetic consciousness: a vision of unknowing (anoetic) and knowing (noetic) consciousness in the remembrance of things past and imagined futures. Conscious Cogn. 2009;18(4):1018–28.
- 27. Damasio AR. The feeling of what happens: body and emotion in the making of consciousness. 1st ed. New York: Harcourt Brace; 1999. 386 p.
- Vincent JL, Kahn I, Snyder AZ, Raichle ME, Buckner RL. Evidence for a frontoparietal control system revealed by intrinsic functional connectivity. J Neurophysiol. 2008;100(6):3328–42.
- 29. MacIntyre A. After virtue: a study in moral theory. 2nd ed: University of Notre Dame Press; 1984.
- Szpunar KK, Spreng RN, Schacter DL. A taxonomy of prospection: introducing an organizational framework for future-oriented cognition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111 (52):18414–21.
- 31. Wagnon KA. Behaviour of beef cows on a California range. Calif Agric Exp Sta Bull; 1963.
- 32. Kilgour RJ. In pursuit of "normal": a review of the behaviour of cattle at pasture. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2012;138(1):1–11.
- 33. Katz J. The world's smartest cow. Slate [Internet]. 2006 Apr 28 [cited 2018 Jun 15]. Available from http://www.slate.com/articles/news_and_politics/rural_life/2006/04/the_worlds_ smartest_cow.html
- 34. Marino L, Allen K. The psychology of cows. Anim Behav Cogn. 2017;4(4):474-98.
- 35. Logsdon G. Gene Logsdon's practical skills: a revival of forgotten crafts, techniques, and traditions. Emmaus, PA: Rodale Press; 1985. 460 p.
- 36. PremierLonghornsLLC. Trick Trained Texas Longhorn Cow Premier Gallorette.wmv [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2018 Jul 8]. Available from https://www.youtube.com/watch? v=bKJVhLm0MEk
- 37. Hirata M, Tomita C, Yamada K. Use of a maze test to assess spatial learning and memory in cattle: Can cattle traverse a complex maze? Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2016;180:18–25.
- 38. Reddi S. Clever Critters. BBC Studios; 2008. (Wild & Weird; vol. Series 1).
- 39. Robichaud MV, de Passillé AM, Rushen J. Does water or blowing air stimulate cows to defecate? Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2013;144(3):98–101.
- 40. Morgan CL. An introduction to comparative psychology. London: Walter Scott; 1894. 438 p.
- 41. Comstock G, Bauer WA. Getting it together: psychological unity and deflationary accounts of animal metacognition. Acta Analytica [Internet] 2018 [cited 2018 Jan 22]. Available from https://www.readcube.com/articles/10.1007/s12136-018-0340-0
- 42. Comstock G. Concerning cattle: behavioral and neuroscientific evidence for pain, desire, and self-consciousness. In: Barnhill A, Budolfson M, Doggett T, editors. Oxford handbook of food ethics. New York: Oxford University Press; 2017. p. 139–69.
- 43. Comstock G. Far-Persons. In: Woodhall A, Garmendia da Trindade G, editors. Ethical and political approaches to nonhuman animal issues [Internet]. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan; 2017 [cited 2018 Mar 26]. p. 39–72. Available from www.palgrave.com/us/book/9783319545486
- 44. LeDoux J. Rethinking the emotional brain. Neuron. 2012;73(4):653-76.
- 45. Andrews K. The animal mind: an introduction to the philosophy of animal cognition. New York, NY: Routledge; 2015.
- 46. Regan T. The case for animal rights. Berkeley: University of California Press; 1983. 425 p.
- 47. Mink L. Narrative form as a cognitive instrument. In: Canary RH, Kozicki H, editors. The writing of history: literary form and historical understanding. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Press; 1978. p. 129–40.
- Camp E. Wordsworth's prelude, poetic autobiography, and narrative constructions of the self. nonsite.org [Internet]. 2011 Oct 14 [cited 2018 Jul 12];3. Available from https://nonsite.org/ issues/issue-3/wordsworth%e2%80%99s-prelude-poetic-autobiography-and-narrativeconstructions-of-the-self
- 49. Carruthers P. Meta-cognition in animals: a skeptical look. Mind Lang. 2008;23(1):58-89.
- 50. Fletcher L, Carruthers P. Metacognition and reasoning. Philos Trans R Soc B. 2012;367 (1594):1366–78.
- 51. Carruthers P, Ritchie JB. The emergence of metacognition: affect and uncertainty in animals. In: Beran MJ, Brandl J, Perner J, Proust J, editors. Foundations of metacognition [Internet]. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2013. p. 76–93. Available from http://www.oxfordscholarship.com/ view/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199646739.001.0001/acprof-9780199646739-chapter-005.
- 52. Bermudez JL. Thinking without words. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2003. 248 p.
- MacLean PD. The triune brain in evolution: role in paleocerebral functions. New York: Plenum; 1990. p. 672.
- LeDoux JE, Brown R. A higher-order theory of emotional consciousness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(10):E2016–25.
- Merker B. Consciousness without a cerebral cortex: a challenge for neuroscience and medicine. Behav Brain Sci. 2007;30(1):63–81.
- 56. Philippi CL, Feinstein JS, Khalsa SS, Damasio A, Tranel D, Landini G, et al. Preserved selfawareness following extensive bilateral brain damage to the insula, anterior cingulate, and medial prefrontal cortices. PLoS One. 2012;7(8):e38413.
- 57. Alcaro A, Panksepp J. The SEEKING mind: primal neuro-affective substrates for appetitive incentive states and their pathological dynamics in addictions and depression. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2011;35(9):1805–20.
- Corr PJ. Approach and avoidance behaviour: multiple systems and their interactions. Emot Rev. 2013;5(3):285–90.
- Baars BJ, Gage NM. Cognition, brain, and consciousness: introduction to cognitive neuroscience. 2nd ed. Burlington, MA: Academic Press/Elsevier; 2010. 653 p.
- 60. Nolte J, Angevine JB. The human brain in photographs and diagrams. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Mosby/Elsevier; 2007. 251 p.
- 61. Olds J, Milner P. Positive reinforcement produced by electrical stimulation of septal area and other regions of rat brain. J Comp Physiol Psychol. 1954;47(6):419–27.
- 62. LeDoux JE. The emotional brain: the mysterious underpinnings of emotional life. New York: Simon & Schuster; 1996. 384 p.

- Knutson B, Adams CM, Fong GW, Hommer D. Anticipation of increasing monetary reward selectively recruits nucleus accumbens. J Neurosci. 2001;21(16):RC159.
- 64. Walton ME, Groves J, Jennings KA, Croxson PL, Sharp T, Rushworth MFS, et al. Comparing the role of the anterior cingulate cortex and 6-hydroxydopamine nucleus accumbens lesions on operant effort-based decision making. Eur J Neurosci. 2009;29(8):1678–91.
- Hernandez L, Hoebel BG. Food reward and cocaine increase extracellular dopamine in the nucleus accumbens as measured by microdialysis. Life Sci. 1988;42(18):1705–12.
- 66. Pierce RC, Kumaresan V. The mesolimbic dopamine system: the final common pathway for the reinforcing effect of drugs of abuse? Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2006;30(2):215–38.
- 67. Berridge KC, Kringelbach ML. Pleasure systems in the brain. Neuron. 2015;86(3):646-64.
- Panksepp J. The basic emotional circuits of mammalian brains: Do animals have affective lives? Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2011;35(9):1791–804.
- Damasio A, Carvalho GB. The nature of feelings: evolutionary and neurobiological origins. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2013;14(2):143–52.
- Hauser TU, Eldar E, Dolan RJ. Separate mesocortical and mesolimbic pathways encode effort and reward learning signals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(35):E7395–404.
- Wouterlood F, Voom P. The brain of Bos taurus [Internet]. Anatomie Amsterdam. 2010 [cited 2018 Jun 9]. Available from http://www.anatomie-amsterdam.nl/sub_sites/kalfshersenen/start. htm
- 72. Dobzhansky T. Nothing in biology makes sense except in the light of evolution. Am Biol Teach. 1973;35(3):125–9.
- Anderson ML. Neural reuse: a fundamental organizational principle of the brain. Behav Brain Sci. 2010;33(4):245–66.
- Lerner Y, Honey CJ, Silbert LJ, Hasson U. Topographic mapping of a hierarchy of temporal receptive windows using a narrated story. J Neurosci. 2011;31(8):2906–15.
- 75. Padilla de la Torre M, Briefer EF, Reader T, McElligott AG. Acoustic analysis of cattle (Bos taurus) mother–offspring contact calls from a source–filter theory perspective. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2015;163:58–68.
- 76. Grandin T. Thinking in pictures: and other reports from my life with autism. New York: Doubleday; 1995. 222 p.
- Carruthers P. Comparative psychology without consciousness. Conscious Cogn. 2018;63:47–60.
- Walker RF, Pakula LC, Sutcliffe MJ, Kruk PA, Graakjaer J, Shay JW. A case study of "disorganized development" and its possible relevance to genetic determinants of aging. Mech Ageing Dev. 2009;130(5):350–6.
- 79. James S. A child frozen in time [Internet]. msnbc.com. NBC; 2005 [cited 2016 Oct 30]. Available from http://www.nbcnews.com/id/9778227/ns/dateline_nbc/t/child-frozen-time/
- 80. Comstock G. The cattle in the Long Cedar Springs draw. In: Batra N, Wenning M, editors. The human-animal boundary. University of Puerto Rico-Mayaguez; 2015.
- Kennett J, Matthews S. Mental time travel, agency and responsibility. In: Broome M, Bortolotti L, editors. Psychiatry as cognitive neuroscience: philosophical perspectives. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2009.
- Grandin T. Animals in translation: using the mysteries of autism to decode animal behavior. New York: Scribner; 2005. 356 p.



Speciesism and Human Supremacy in Animal Neuroscience

Robert C. Jones

Our anthropocentric way of looking at things must retreat further and further, and the standpoint of the animal must be the only decisive one.

Jacob von Uexküll (quoted in [1], p. 53)

Abstract

Since epistemic access to the mental lives of animals is limited even more than it is in our human conspecifics, caution about cognitive attributions to nonhumans may be prudent. However, too often skepticism regarding animal minds, cognition, and experience (e.g., reluctance to attribute thoughts, beliefs, phenomenal consciousness, and sentience to certain taxa) is justified by reference to physiological heterologies in neural structure/complexity between humans and the other animals. An example is the argument that fish cannot experience pain because they lack the requisite neocortical structures. In this chapter, I contend that these kinds of scientific and philosophical arguments reflect a kind of anthropodenial speciesism and, embedded in specifically. human supremacy and neurotypicalism. I further argue that there is good reason to believe that vertebrates such as fish-and even some invertebrates such as crustaceans and insects/arachnids-are experiencing beings, that there is a what-it's-like to be them, and that these conclusions have ethical implications.

Keywords

Speciesism \cdot Sentience \cdot Human supremacy \cdot Animal cognition \cdot Animal rights \cdot Animal liberation

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. C. Jones (🖂)

California State University, Dominguez Hills, Carson, CA, USA e-mail: rjones@csudh.edu

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_6

6.1 Introduction: Speciesism and Human Supremacy

Much of canonical Western philosophical theory (along with Western scientific and cultural thought) is anthropocentrically speciesist. As with other *isms*, anthropocentric speciesism (hereafter "speciesism") can be interpreted in various ways. Singer sees speciesism as a state of ignorance, a mistaken belief about the moral superiority of all humans over all nonhumans [2]. Sanbonmatsu views speciesism as the central organizing principle of the human project, the basis of a kind of universal, civilizational form of bad faith, wherein speciesism operates as a powerful and pervasive social structure—a mode of self-deception—in which we suppress and deny that speciesism is a way of being that we freely choose and ignore our own conditions of possibility or transcendence [3]. Belcourt argues that speciesism—particularly in North America—is a vestige of the white supremacy manifest in the erasure of Indigenous bodies and the emptying of Indigenous lands for settler colonial expansion [4].

However one conceptualizes it, speciesism assumes that humans occupy a moral sphere separate from and superior to all the other animals by virtue of being human. Seen as a kind of human supremacy, speciesism is committed to the claims that humans are *unique* in their possession of some metaphysical entity (like a soul), divine relation (e.g., uniquely made in God's image), trait (like species membership), or set of capacities within the physiological or cognitive domains and that the possession of such substances, relations, traits, or capacities makes all and only humans morally superior to beings (such as nonhuman animals) who lack such sundry properties (although this view is compatible with other animals having moral interests). Ignoring the metaphysical and religious aspects of it, the first claim is largely empirical, and the second normative [5]. These two claims constitute the two fronts on which those philosophers seeking to expand the moral status of nonhuman animals mount their attacks in an attempt to dismantle the foundations of human supremacy.

6.2 Sentience and Comparative Neuroscience

Central to the strategy employed by those philosophers who seek to undermine human supremacy and reenvision the moral status of animals has been an attack on its empirical aspects by presenting evidence from science, and increasingly neuroscience, that demonstrates the possession by some nonhuman animals of some set of morally relevant physiological or cognitive capacities. When successful, arguments of this kind undermine the first prong of the human exceptionalist thesis. Thus, one strategy for philosophers of animal ethics has been to question the existence of a clear distinction between all humans and all other animals with regard to the possession of what are seen as morally relevant capacities. The candidate capacities—sentience, self-awareness, memory, and theory of mind (also known as mindreading)—are not the only capacities that bear on the moral status of individuals, but often play a central role in debates regarding the moral status of nonhuman animals. Since the claim that humans are unique in their possession of some set of morally relevant cognitive capacities is an empirical one, it is quite useful—and, in some cases, indispensable—to see what neuroscience has to say about which animals possess which capacities, making the empirical data on this question central to the question of the moral status and treatment of nonhuman animals. For example, with regard to sentience, if no clear distinction can be empirically drawn between humans and animals, then the foundations of human supremacy may—at least in theory—be substantially reenvisioned.

It's important at this point to briefly clarify what I mean by *sentience*. Though in its broad sense the term *sentience* can refer to the capacity for *any* kind of conscious experience, the more narrow sense of the term as employed in the animal ethics literature (and throughout this essay) refers specifically to conscious experiences with an attractive or aversive quality. These capacities include experiences such as pain and pleasure, suffering, anxiety, and fear [6]. Though capacities implicating sentience are crucial in determining which beings are the proper objects of moral concern, some caution is in order. Since our epistemic access to the experiential lives of animals is arguably even more limited than access to the experiential lives of our conspecifics, it is prudent to be cautious about attributions based on comparative neuroscience, and selective about the kinds of evidence for such attributions we have at our disposal.

Rogers and Kaplan [7] warn that basing the moral status of animals on comparative cognition and other biological measures can be fraught. Take, for example, the well-known mirror self-recognition (MSR) test [8]. Self-awareness as measured in these kinds of tasks is limited to the visual modality, failing to take into account other modalities of self-representation (e.g., auditory, tactile, and olfactory) as well as certain salient anatomical differences [7]. For example, in a study that translates the MSR study for dogs (a species whose primary sensory modality is olfaction) into an "olfactory mirror" test, Horowitz has shown that dogs can recognize and distinguish an olfactory "image" of themselves [9]. Self-recognition is just one example. When it comes to other physiological and cognitive capacities, including things as basic as sentience, of the almost 6000 extant mammalian species, 10,000 avian species, tens of thousands of reptile and amphibian species, a still greater number of fish species, and millions in both the insect and arachnid classes, only a small fraction have been investigated for such capacities. There is nothing close to certainty when it comes to physiological conclusions drawn from comparative and psychological investigations.

Whatever evidentiary bar we commit to regarding the sentience of a particular animal species, we cannot require anything close to certainty before granting legal protections. A common challenge from skeptics of animal sentience involves questions of the form, "How can one ever really know that species X is sentient?" However, that's a very different sense of "know" from the one used in claims of animal sentience [10]. That's not what scientists who make such claims mean by "know" when they say, for example, that we now *know* that fish are sentient. When one asserts that research now supports the claim that teleosts are sentient [11–13], it's important to reiterate that this claim is provisional (as are all scientific claims),

and justified through an inference to the best explanation, a point that Birch makes, and one worth reiterating [6].

Further and related to this worry is the narrow sense in which claims of folk psychology (and, indeed, folk psychology itself) are characterized. For example, the accepted methodological paradigm in animal cognition research characterizes folk psychology as necessarily involving conspecific belief attribution and seeks only evidence of the kinds of behaviors that confirm and conform to this model of psychology. However, Kristen Andrews argues forcefully that the standard account of folk psychology demands more than is necessary, since it assumes that correct prediction of a conspecific's behavior requires the ability to attribute beliefs, false beliefs, and beliefs differing from one's own. Andrews rejects belief attribution as a necessary condition for conspecific behavior prediction, urging researchers to integrate social psychology research on how normal adult humans actually predict behavior [14].

Despite these challenges, given the fact that investigations into nonhuman animal cognition can rarely rely on full-blown intersubjective communication (e.g., spoken language), comparative neuroanatomical methods remain the most reliable metric in our understanding of the mental lives of animals and those capacities that bear on questions of animal welfare.

The research on animal cognition and sentience has mushroomed in the last 20 years, and there are numerous studies on many aspects of animal cognition and sentience. In the remainder of this chapter I'll look only at the issue of animal *pain*, and the current research into animal sentience, with a particular focus on fish pain. The body of research on animal sentience provides an excellent case study for the debate over attributing phenomenal states to nonhumans.

6.3 Sentience: Pain and Suffering

The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) provides what seems at first blush to be a reasonable definition of pain as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage" [15]. The definition is followed by a footnote informing us that "pain is always subjective" and that the IASP definition intentionally "avoids tying pain to the stimulus." However, this definition of pain is both physiologically and philosophically problematic since it emphasizes subjective experience and self-report while supporting conflicting philosophical interpretations of pain (e.g., subjectivist and objectivist views of pain), and it remains silent on the question of the relationship of the physiological bases of pain to its phenomenal aspects [16].

Given that pain and suffering are likely very old phenomenal states, it would be strange if pain did not provide selective advantage, were not widespread across varied species, or did not serve a similar adaptive function in nonhuman animals as it does in humans. Understanding the basic mechanics of pain is imperative to understanding its role in animal sentience. Pain in humans is at least a two-step process. The first step involves the stimulation of special receptors called *nociceptors* that transmit injury detecting electrical impulses to the spinal cord, triggering an automatic reflex response. At this first stage, there are no conscious aspects of the experience. In the second stage, the signal moves from the spinal cord to the neocortex at which point the phenomenal aspects of pain kick in and we experience the unpleasant sensation associated with tissue damage. Though researchers are clear about the mechanisms involved in the first stage, it is the second stage of the process—which includes the affective aspect of pain—that remains somewhat mysterious.

When it comes to nonhuman animal pain we can ask which animals possess nociceptors (or exhibit a "nociceptive response") and whether and how they respond to noxious stimuli, analgesics, and anesthetics. We can further explore which organisms possess neural organs more complex than simple neural nets (e.g., organs such as ganglia, brain masses, or brains) and, of these, which possess nociceptor-tobrain pathways.

A solid methodological framework for an investigation into whether an animal is sentient includes investigating whether a particular organism possesses or exhibits:

- A central nervous system and other structures and psychoactive chemicals homologous to those known to control pain response in humans, e.g., neuroanatomical (opioid receptors, nociceptors) and neurochemical (opioids).
- Physiological or behavioral responses to noxious (or positive) stimuli, analgesics, and anesthetics. Noxious stimuli used in pain research on nonhumans include *mechanical* (such as pricking or probing), *thermal* (heating or freezing), *chemical* (exposure to acidic irritants), and *electrical* (shocking).

Though at first blush these capacities seem clear and well-founded, a little reflection reveals that things are not as straightforward as they seem.

Pain is a notoriously difficult phenomenon to understand, in humans and especially in nonhuman animals. The first challenge involves the fact that data on the high variability between the physiological mechanisms and the phenomenal aspects of pain are often confounding, raising puzzles about the connection between the two. For example, the very same kind of stimuli can elicit a pain response of widely varying intensity (or none) in different human individuals or even in the same individual at different times, making generalizations challenging—even more so when generalizing from humans to animals. Though we have a good idea of how the nervous system detects and responds to painful events in humans, exactly how the human brain processes the stimuli and generates the phenomenal aspects of pain induced by injury remains far less clear.

A second challenge arises from pain asymbolia, a type of dissociation in which human subjects report recognizing the sensation of pain (i.e., "feeling" the pain) while being not at all bothered by it. These reports suggest that pain has both a sensory and an affective component. Cases like these only complicate the issue of animal pain by widening the gap between identifying the mechanical aspects of pain in other species and inferences about the unpleasantness, and therefore the badness, of pain [17].

Despite these challenges, it is reasonable to take seriously the massive corpus of data on animal sentience [18] and not disregard inferences based on those data as

worthless in the face of such epistemic challenges. To do so would be to place too high an epistemic warrant on just those inferences that fail to resolve the problem of other minds.

6.4 The Evidence for Pain in Nonhuman Animals

In this section, I want to canvass the neuroscience on vertebrate pain. Following this, I will look at the objections to the inferences that researchers have made from these data as excellent case studies concerning charges of anthropomorphism. I will look specifically at an argument against fish pain and elucidate the philosophical, conceptual, and empirical missteps supporting such arguments.

6.4.1 Consider Fishes

Despite a handful of skeptics, most researchers and philosophers writing on the subject believe that most typically developing/developed cephalized vertebrates are sentient. However, with regard to fish—specifically teleost, or ray-finned fish—skepticism about pain has persisted even among those ready to attribute pain sensation to other, "higher" vertebrates. Popular interest in the question of fish pain and welfare has abounded in recent years. The escalation of interest in the issue of fish sentience and welfare can be traced back to the publication of two papers.

The first, by Lynne Sneddon [19], made three important findings, namely, that fish possess nociceptors capable of detecting noxious stimuli, that nociceptor-to-fishbrain pathways process nociception signals in a quite similar way as those of the "higher" vertebrates (including humans), and that fish behavior is adversely affected by the administration of noxious stimuli. After confirming the existence of nociceptors and the electrophysiological pathways requisite for the transmission of pain signals, experimenters injected noxious chemical stimuli (bee venom and vinegar) into the lips of rainbow trout. The results demonstrated that the noxious chemicals affected both the physiology (increased breathing rate) and the behavior (decreased appetite) of the trout, responses consistent with pain reactions and behaviors in other vertebrates.

As a suggestive example of pain-related behavior, Sneddon et al. [20] also observed that noxiously stimulated rainbow trout do not display classic fearresponse behavior when presented with a novel object (Lego blocks). Control trout spent most of their time moving away from the novel object, whereas noxiously stimulated trout spent most of their time in close proximity to the novel object and showed no additional increase in respiration rate to novel object presentation. The researchers concluded that the noxious treatment commanded the majority of the attention capacity in the fish subjects, evidence that the trout were experiencing some level of pain.

A second prominent paper on fish pain by Sneddon [21] found that the administration of morphine to the lips of rainbow trout injected with noxious stimuli significantly reduced pain-related physiological and behavioral responses. Sneddon concluded that if morphine acts as an analgesic in the rainbow trout, then such painrelated behaviors are not simply reflexes but are rather indicators of pain perception in fish. It's crucial to note that the kinds of inferences that Sneddon and others make here-namely, the inference from the fact that opioids can alter an organism's response to noxious stimuli to the conclusion that the organism feels pain-are subject to debate. The fact that opioids can influence *both* the peripheral and central nervous systems, while only the central nervous system appears to play a role in sentience, makes possible a reduction in pain *behaviors* independent of any phenomenal, affective aspects of the experience of pain. Yet, while Sneddon's inference may be debatable, what is true is that had the administration of opioids effected no change in pain behavior, then that observation would have counted as *some* bit of evidence against the hypothesis that the organism feels pain. Therefore, the causal connection between the administration of opioids and an observed decrease in pain behavior counts as *some* evidence to confirm the claim that the organism feels pain. If nothing else, such results are at least *consistent with* the suggestion that these organisms feel pain. Since the publication of those two papers, the research on fish pain has increased dramatically.

Based on research like this demonstrating the presence of pain-related neural structures and behavioral responses, one can infer by analogy that a wide range of vertebrate animals can respond to noxious stimuli with nociception or nociceptive-like responses. The evidence is more sparse for invertebrates. Given the complexity of the phenomenon of pain—that it requires not only nociception but neural complexity, perception, and some level of phenomenal consciousness—at present conclusions regarding non-cephalopod invertebrate pain would be premature. However, as Allen et al. point out, analogical arguments for animal pain that rely on similarities between humans and other nonhuman animals are impoverished in that, for all the physiological and behavioral similarities between humans and nonhuman animals, there are dissimilarities that can be used to deny the inference that nonhumans experience pain [22].

Given these difficulties, we may throw up our hands and conclude that animal pain cannot be studied empirically. Alternatively, we may conclude too quickly and without warrant that scientific investigation has already revealed that many other animal species feel pain. The challenge is to find a framework or program to help us decide when similarity and dissimilarity are relevant when taking on the task of assessing comparisons of anatomy, physiology, and behavior. To that end Allen et al. propose a framework in the form of an empirical research program, one that reasonably assumes a functionalist notion of pain and allows sophisticated comparisons to be drawn between the pain experiences of humans and those of other animals. Although the details of their program are beyond the scope of this essay, the takeaway for our purposes is that inferences from anatomical, physiological, or behavioral evidence to conclusions about animal pain need not be simplistic, overly skeptical, or lacking epistemic warrant.

6.4.2 Reconsidering Fishes

Critics of claims of fish sentience argue that fish lack the requisite brain structures for pain and that conclusions about fish sentience are nothing more than anthropomorphism. The work of Rose [23] and, more recently, Key [24] are emblematic of these kinds of responses. The basic argument denying sentience in teleosts (as well as invertebrates) turns on the claim that *human* neocortical structures are required for pain. These arguments share a similar structure and look like this:

P1. Conscious neural processing (M) requires a unique neural architecture (N).

P2. Thus, N is a necessary condition for M (i.e., no N entails no M).

P3. Species X (e.g., rainbow trout) lacks N.

C. Therefore, species X lacks M.

Looking closely and critically at this argument can be quite instructive, specifically with regard to views denying phenomenal consciousness to teleosts (and invertebrates) and more generally to charges of anthropomorphism.

First, these kinds of arguments are rooted in the "bioengineering principle" that structure determines function. However, this kind of reductive analysis of function is problematic. Although biologists commonly correlate structure with function, it is an error to argue that an understanding of the neuroanatomical structure of an organism reveals that structure's function. For example, the recent discovery of a heretofore unknown structure of the human cornea (e.g., Dua's layer) certainly did not ensure the identification of its function through only structural information. Furthermore, different structures-for example, teeth and gastric acids-often carry out the same function. Arguments like Key's rely on the assumption that pain is a functional result of one set-and only one set-of neuroanatomical structures that humans possess and fish lack. However, this type of structuralfunctional determinism overlooks the quite real possibility that phenomenal states like pain in fish are realizable by multiple, different means. Allen [25] notes, "[t]he possibility of convergent evolution at the behavioral and cognitive levels despite morphological and anatomical differences at the neurological level makes fish an enormously interesting testing ground for ideas about multiple realizability of cognition" [23].

Second, the central premise—that human neocortical structures are required for pain—begs the question. The claim that because neural structure N is required for mental state M in humans, N is a necessary condition for M in fish is problematic both empirically and philosophically. Biologically speaking, convergent evolution may implement similar functions in structures that are or are not homologous. For example, while it's true that the bone structure of the wings of bats is required for bats to fly, it does not follow that organisms lacking such structures, such as bees, cannot fly. Philosophically, to say that certain human structures are required for fish pain again begs the very question. For even if particular neocortical structures that fish lack but that humans possess are required for *human* pain experience, it does not follow that they are required for fish pain experience.

Third, critiques of this kind trade on a kind of *neurotypicalism*. The term emerged from autistic and neurodiversity communities and describes a species both of human supremacy and *ableism*, rooted in the view that characteristics or properties that are species-typical are therefore cognitively normative. Disability theorists like Sunaura Taylor [26] argue that ableism—a bias favoring abled human embodiment and neurotypical human intelligence—is intimately connected with human supremacy, speciesism, and systemic animal oppression. According to Taylor, ableism and, thus, neurotypicalism help "construct the systems that render the lives and experiences of both nonhuman animals and disabled humans as less valuable and as discardable, which leads to a variety of oppressions that manifest differently" (p. 59). Salomon [27] argues that neurotypicalism "privileges a form of cognitive processing characteristic of peoples who have a neurotypical (e.g., non-autistic) brain structure, while at least implicitly finding other forms of cognitive processing to be inferior, such as those natural to autists and nonhuman animals" (p. 47). Taylor argues persuasively that "ableism is intimately entangled with speciesism, and is deeply relevant to thinking through the ways nonhuman animals are judged, categorized, and exploited."

6.5 Domination and Oppression

That the most common and ubiquitous argument used to support the continued domination and oppression of nonhuman animals is that they lack any number of psychophysical or cognitive processes that are species-typical to human beings "shows the extent to which speciesism uses ableist logics to function" [26] (p. 58). Both the claim that a unique neural architecture is required for conscious neural processing in humans and the claim that the same neural architecture is a necessary condition for conscious pain in fish conceal the same neurotypicalist bias that has been used to justify the oppression of both animals and some humans. We need not look to the treatment of nonhuman animals to find the ethical dangers of such an assumption for both animals and humans. For example, in *Buck v. Bell*, [28] the United States Supreme Court approved the forced sterilization of the 18-year-old "feebleminded" Carrie Buck "for the protection and health of the state." In actuality, Carrie Buck was not cognitively disabled, but rather was a victim of pregnancy by rape, and was deemed "promiscuous." Such cases speak to how dangerously easy it is to go from the claim of neuro-atypicalness to a claim of reduced moral status both within and between species.

Domination and oppression are terms usually reserved exclusively for humans. I have written at length elsewhere on this topic [29], but let me just gesture towards what it means to say that animals are oppressed and dominated. *Domination* in the sense that I am using it here refers to a structural or systemic condition that prevents individuals from determining the conditions of their actions. Since humans can determine the conditions of animals' actions, some (or, it may be argued, *all*) nonhuman animals live within structures of domination. *Oppression* in the sense that I am using it here refers to a systematic institutional process that immobilizes or

diminishes a particular group (which can include particular species) through the exercise of systemic violence and exploitation. Applying the concepts of domination and oppression to nonhuman animals may seem confused or even misguided, yet these concerns dissolve once we see animals as agents. Following Steward [30], I see the concept of agency as an outgrowth of the concept of animacy. The concept of animal agency involves the ability of the animal to move the whole or parts of their body, the possession of some form of subjectivity and rudimentary intentional states (e.g., trying, wanting, perceiving), and the animal as the "settler of matters" concerning certain of the movements of its own body. Ultimately, "[v]ariations among species should be embraced and cherished rather than used to justify human dominance" [31] (p. 27).

Though the domination and oppression of animals is manifest in practices such as sport hunting, medical and military experimentation, and industrial fur production, let me focus only of the role of animals in global food production. Worldwide, 300 million cows, 1.5 billion pigs, and 66 billion chickens are slaughtered for food annually [32]. Most of those animals are raised in high-density confinement for the production of meat, eggs, and dairy products. Cattle raised for beef are castrated, dehorned, and branded, all without anesthesia or analgesics. Sows live out most of their lives in cramped, individual gestation crates where they give birth to between four to eight litters. Male piglets have their testicles removed, their tails and ears docked, and their teeth clipped, all without anesthesia or analgesics. Laying hens live out their lives in small, restrictive battery cages. To prevent stress-induced behaviors caused by overcrowding, hens undergo debeaking without anesthesia or analgesics. Laying hens on concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs) are "spent" and unable to produce eggs after just 2 years, at which time they are slaughtered.

The figures on the number of fishes slaughtered for food annually are tougher to pinpoint since industry figures are provided in terms of mass not numbers of individuals. That said, reliable estimates put the numbers at about 0.97 to 2.7 trillion fishes caught from the wild annually [33]. Fishes undergo a number of standard industry procedures that inflict pain, including handling and transport which involves the removal of fishes from the water and air exposure, the causing of abrasions and the removal of scales (which removes a fish's protective mucous coat), and excessive weight loading on fish at the bottom of nets and brailles, as well as excessive crowding of fish by increased stock densities. Fish slaughter techniques include removal from water, asphyxiation in ice, asphyxiation in CO_2 -saturated water, and gill cutting [34]. I trust these cases make clear some of the ways that nonhuman animal agents suffer systemic domination and oppression.

6.6 Anthropomorphisms and Anthropocentrism

Critics like Key [24] exhort us to overcome our "anthropomorphic tendencies that bias interpretations of behavioral observations" (p. 2) and warn against jumping to "unsupported anthropomorphic conclusions" (p. 3) that fish feel pain. Charges like these of anthropomorphism obscure and conflate numerous distinct and important senses of "anthropomorphism." Regarding attributions of mental states, critics charge that generalizations from linguistic humans to nonlinguistic animals are bad science; thus in order to do "good" science, anthropomorphism must be rejected and overcome. However, the role that anthropomorphism plays in science—especially comparative neuroscience-involves not only empirical arguments about specific experimental setups and inferences made from their results, but, more importantly, methodological and theoretical arguments that concern the proper methods of science, the scope of science, and the interpretation of data [35-37]. That is, the use of animal models already accepts and employs anthropomorphism, in that by definition researchers attribute human characteristics or biological homologies to other animals at the ground floor. Research on animal pain is sometimes research on a pain model, the assumption being that studying animal pain can tell us something useful about human pain. It's worth noting here how anthropomorphism is already "baked in the cake" in much of comparative psychology and neuroscience. For example, the reason that hippocampal activity in rats is perceived as evidence that rats deliberate during decision making relies on the fact that hippocampal activity is evident in human brains when humans deliberate [38].

Various senses of "anthropomorphism" can be lost in such debates, but even a cursory understanding of the different connotations can help clarify the fact that those engaged in these debates may sometimes be talking past each other. What critics of fish sentience mean by "anthropomorphism" is what I will call *unnecessary anthropomorphism*. Unnecessary anthropomorphism involves explaining behavior by attributing what are believed to be uniquely human traits and characteristics to beings or objects whose behavior can be better explained without such an attribution. For example, the explanation for my computer not booting up despite my having pressed the power button is not that my computer is angry with me (which would require *unnecessary anthropomorphism*), but rather that there is some malfunction with the powering-up mechanism.

By contrast, a number of alternate notions of anthropomorphism have been proposed, concepts that are useful (some say indispensable) to doing good science. Bekoff [39] argues for what he calls *biocentric anthropomorphism* which involves the indispensable use of human terms to explain animals' phenomenal states. According to Bekoff, "[a]nthropomorphism allows other animals' behavior and emotions to be accessible to us," and we can be "biocentrically anthropomorphic and do rigorous science" (p. 867). Burghardt [1] advocates for what he calls critical anthropomorphism. Critical anthropomorphism involves employing various sources of information when trying to understand the mental and phenomenal states of nonhuman animals, including "natural history, our perceptions, intuitions, feelings, careful behavioral descriptions, identifying with the animal, optimization models, previous studies and so forth in order to generate ideas that may prove useful in gaining understanding and the ability to predict outcomes of planned (experimental) and unplanned interventions" [1, p. 73]. de Waal [40] warns against exaggerating the uniqueness of Homo sapiens, a tendency he terms anthropodenial, a "blindness to the humanlike characteristics of other animals, or the animal-like characteristics of ourselves" (p. 2). Among its other vices of hubris and moral superiority,

anthropodenial ignores the Darwinian notion of continuity across species. Andrews and Huss [41] caution against the bias denying a mental or phenomenal state to an animal who actually possesses that state, a bias they call *anthropectomy*. Arguments denying sentience can also trade on what Sheets-Johnstone calls "reverse anthropocentrism." According to Sheets-Johnstone [42], reverse anthropocentrism occurs when "nonhuman creaturely life is interpreted in a way which exalts the measure of humanness: humans become special creations" (p. 346). Broader than anthropomorphism, reverse anthropocentrism assumes "humans as the center of the animate world such that, for example, any assessment of nonhuman mental powers must take as its standard of measurement a human mind" (p. 350).

As regards fish (and other nonhuman animal) sentience, by employing alternate senses of anthropomorphism, we can attribute pain states to fish based on reasonable interpretations of the overwhelming behavioral and neuroanatomical evidence. Epistemological worries about the mental states of nonhuman animals present unique challenges to claims of knowing their phenomenal states. To address the epistemological puzzle, it's not necessary to solve the mind-body problem or the problem of other minds. What we need is the ability to aggregate and synthesize our best physiological and behavioral data on the question of nonhuman animal pain and, from that, make a reasonable inference regarding the experiences and phenomenal aspects of our fellow earthlings, like fish. Surely, though not uncontroversially, the corpus of such evidence currently weighs in favor of fish sentience.

6.7 The Precautionary Principle: Is It So Much Anthropomorphic Sentimentalism?

There is a growing body of physiological and behavioral evidence of fish sentience. Although the usual epistemological challenges arise whenever we encounter proclamations about the mental states of other beings (especially with creatures like reptiles, amphibians, and teleost fishes), the most sensible approach to issues of vertebrate pain and welfare is the precautionary principle. The precautionary principle states that where there is a reasonable potential for harm (such as causing a sentient creature to experience pain), precautions should be taken to prevent it. Advocates of the precautionary principle advise that given the lack of scientific consensus on the question of fish sentience, it is more prudent to assume that fish are indeed sentient and that this assumption should inform fish welfare policy and practice [6, 43]. Critics like Key [24] warn *against* applying the precautionary principle in questions of fish welfare for fear of "catastrophic effects" including "inappropriate approaches to fish welfare" and negative economic impacts for the fishing industry [32, p. 3]. However, as with any decision informed by the precautionary principle, the proportionality of the risk of harm must be weighed against the cost and feasibility of a proposed action. In the case of fish, the conclusion that we should abandon the principle is premature.

It's important to note that when it comes to the attribution of sentience to nonhuman animals and a warranted application of the precautionary principle, there is a bit of burden shifting going on. Historically, many philosophers and scientists—from the Cartesians to the logical positivists—writing on and investigating nonhuman animal cognition have assumed an equally strong inverse precautionary principle (a kind of *decautionary* principle), advising that in cases where uncertainty exists about the sentience of a particular species, we should treat each member of that species as though they were *not* sentient, unless rigorously demonstrated otherwise. This decautionary principle is captured most pithily by that fundamental precept of parsimony in comparative psychology, Lloyd Morgan's Canon,¹ according to which, with regard to an animal's behavioral states, "in no case is an animal activity to be interpreted as the outcome of the exercise of an higher psychical faculty, if it can be fairly interpreted as the outcome of the exercise of one which stands lower in the psychological scale" [44] (p. 59). But this assumption is implausible and unreasonably strong, in addition to introducing scientific biases that could unduly influence the design of experiments and inhibit discovery and the acquisition of knowledge.

If history is any indication, no matter what evidentiary bar we choose short of full-blown first-person introspective, intersubjective verbal self-reports, skeptics will seek (and sometimes find) counterexamples that maintain human supremacy. To that end, it is important to make explicit the connection between the historical denial of cognitive and affective states (such as pain and suffering) in both animals and humans as reflecting abysmal, anti-scientific, and dangerous uses of science to support and further social and political ideologies. For example, in his study of the use of anesthesia in nineteenth century American hospitals, Pernick [45] found that the amount of anesthesia provided to white women during childbirth was decreased since it was believed that women would not bond with their child unless they felt pain. And black women, even when being used for painful experiments, received no anesthesia at all. Such attitudes are not mere relics, but persist today. A 2016 study by Hoffman et al. [46] found that *half* of a sample of white medical students and residents endorsed false beliefs about biological differences between blacks and whites (e.g., "Black people's skin is thicker than White people's skin"). As Rollin demonstrates, the history of science is rife with instances in which science is used to support a social or political ideology [47]. To claim that science is value-free is to ignore the history of institutional paradigms of scientific racism, ableism, and neurotypicalism as evidenced in practices such as craniology, eugenics, and the use of nonhuman animals in basic research.

¹Interestingly, Morgan—himself a *panpsychist*—would most certainly disagree with such a decautionary principle.

6.8 Conclusion: Ethical Ruminations

As I claimed at the opening of this chapter, canonical Western philosophy has been (and remains) rife with arguments denying reason, thought, and sentience to animals. Although Descartes's is the most notorious and perhaps extreme view in this regard—a view known as the *bête machine* wherein animals are nothing more than reflexive automata—many philosophers, ancient and contemporary, deny mentation [48] or even sentience [49] to animals.

In response to immoderate views like Descartes's, Hume boldly opens Book I, Section 16 of *A Treatise of Human Nature*, "Of the reason of animals," by attacking such views:

Next to the ridicule of denying an evident truth, is that of taking much pains to defend it; and no truth appears to me more evident, than that beasts are endow'd with thought and reason as well as men. The arguments are in this case so obvious that they never escape the most stupid and ignorant [50].

What reasons have philosophers and scientists offered to deny such an "evident" truth? Sneddon et al. suggest that sentience is often denied because "sentience is at the heart of the decision about whether to provide animals with legislative protection" [51, p. 3]. This sentiment suggests that unwelcomed moral, social, and practical implications may motivate claims for sentience denial rather than objective empirical data employed in the pursuit of truth.

"Unacceptable" moral, practical, or economic consequences should not drive answers to empirical questions regarding animal sentience and, specifically in this case, fish sentience. This is bad faith, plain and simple [3].

Although I applaud the work of those researchers dedicated to the empirical demonstration of animal sentience, I think the question of animal sentience is actually a moral canard. Currently approximately 68 billion vertebrate land animals [52]—whom we know, with as close to scientific certainty as is currently possible, are sentient-live lives of abject misery and suffer and die in grisly, ghastly, ghoulish ways, all for human consumption. Our best neuroscientific understanding regarding the cognitive and sensitive properties of these beings makes unnecessary the implementation of a kind of precautionary principle regarding their abilities to experience pain and suffering. Better science, near-certainty regarding sentience, or increased welfare legislation alone will not end the suffering that is visited upon billions of animals under cover of speciesism and human exceptionalism. That task requires transcending our own bad faith by untelling the stories we tell ourselves about the meaning and necessity of animal pain and suffering. As Sanbonmatsu argues, "[b]y telling ourselves that we have no 'choice' but to kill and to consume animals, thereby refusing responsibility for our participation in terror, we undermine our claims to being the kind of being that alone can exercise autonomous judgment" [**3**] (p. 43).

What all this shows is that the question of animal sentience is less about the pursuit of truth and more about supporting a speciesist agenda—a moral conclusion

in search of data, scientific findings, and legitimating arguments. In this sense, it is similar in kind to the eugenics research in vogue in the USA and Europe in the early twentieth century, which was motivated not by a search for truth, but rather to give a scientific imprimatur to classism, white supremacy, and an ableist sociopolitical agenda. Near-certainty regarding animal sentience will not end speciesism nor human supremacy. That enterprise does not require better neuroscience, research methodologies, or conceptual arguments. That enterprise requires transcendence of our moral bad faith and the hubris of unfounded human supremacy.

References

- Burghardt GM. Cognitive ethology and critical anthropomorphism: a snake with two heads and hog-nose snakes that play dead. In: Ristau CA, editors. Cognitive ethology. Psychology Press; 1991. p. 53–90.
- 2. Singer P. Animal liberation. New York: Random House; 1995.
- Sanbonmatsu J. The animal of bad faith: speciesism as an existential project. In: Sorenson J, editor. Critical animal studies: thinking the unthinkable. Toronto: Canadian Scholars Press; 2014. p. 29–45.
- Belcourt B-R. Animal bodies, colonial subjects: (re)locating animality in decolonial thought. Societies. 2015;5:1–11.
- 5. Gruen L. Ethics and animals: an introduction. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2011.
- 6. Birch J. Animal sentience and the precautionary principle. Anim Sentience. 2017;2:1.
- Rogers LJ, Kaplan G. All animals are not equal: the interface between scientific knowledge and legislation for animal rights. In: Sunstein CR, Nussbaum MC, editors. Animal rights: current debates and new directions. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2004. p. 175–201.
- 8. Gallup GG. Chimpanzees: self-recognition. Science. 1970;167:86-7.
- 9. Horowitz A. Smelling themselves: dogs investigate their own odours longer when modified in an "olfactory mirror" test. Behav Process. 2017;143:17–24.
- 10. Jones R. The lobster considered. Dietary choice and foods of animal origin [Internet]; 2014. Available from: https://animalstudiesrepository.org/diecfaori/3
- 11. Brown C. Fish intelligence, sentience and ethics. Anim Cogn. 2015;18:1–17.
- 12. Brown C. Fish pain: an inconvenient truth. Anim Sentience. 2016;1:32.
- 13. Sneddon LU. Pain in aquatic animals. J Exp Biol. 2015;218:967-76.
- Andrews K. Do apes read minds?: Toward a new folk psychology. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2012.
- IASP Terminology IASP [Internet]. [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://www.iasppain.org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698#Pain
- 16. Aydede M. Defending the IASP definition of pain. Monist. 2017;100:439-64.
- 17. Shriver A. The unpleasantness of pain for nonhuman animals [Internet]. The Routledge handbook of philosophy of animal minds; 2017 [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://www.taylorfrancis.com/
- Animal Sentience: An Interdisciplinary Journal on Animal Feeling | Animal Studies Repository [Internet]. [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://animalstudiesrepository.org/animsent/
- Do fishes have nociceptors? Evidence for the evolution of a vertebrate sensory system | Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://royalsocietypublishing.org/ doi/abs/10.1098/rspb.2003.2349
- Sneddon LU, Braithwaite VA, Gentle MJ. Novel object test: examining nociception and fear in the rainbow trout. J Pain. 2003;4:431–40.
- Sneddon LU. The evidence for pain in fish: the use of morphine as an analgesic. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2003;83:153–62.

- 22. Allen C, Fuchs PN, Shriver A, Wilson HD. Deciphering animal pain. In: Aydede M, editor. New essays on its nature and the methodology of its study. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2005. p. 351.
- 23. Rose JD. Anthropomorphism and 'mental welfare' of fishes. Dis Aquat Org. 2007;75:139-54.
- 24. Key B. Why fish do not feel pain. Anim Sentience. 2016;1. Available from: https://animalstudiesrepository.org/animsent/vol1/iss3/1
- 25. Allen C. Fish cognition and consciousness. J Agric Environ Ethics. 2013;26:25-39.
- 26. Taylor S. Beasts of burden: animal and disability liberation. New York: The New Press; 2017.
- 27. Salomon D. From marginal cases to linked oppressions: reframing the conflict between the autistic pride and animal rights movements. J Crit Anim Stud. 2010;8:47–72.
- 28. Buck v. Bell. US. 292AD. p. 200.
- 29. Jones RC. Animal rights is a social justice issue. Contemp Justice Rev. 2015;18:467-82.
- 30. Steward H. A metaphysics for freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- Bekoff M. The animal manifesto: six reasons for expanding our compassion footprint. Novato, CA: New World Library; 2010.
- 32. Global Animal Slaughter Statistics and Charts Faunalytics [Internet]. [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://faunalytics.org/global-animal-slaughter-statistics-and-charts/
- 33. fishcount.org.uk: towards more humane commercial fishing [Internet]. [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: http://fishcount.org.uk/
- 34. Ashley PJ. Fish welfare: current issues in aquaculture. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2007;104:199–235.
- Keeley BL. Anthropomorphism, primatomorphism, mammalomorphism: understanding crossspecies comparisons. Biol Philos. 2004;19:521–40.
- 36. Bekoff M, Allen C. Cognitive ethology: slayers, skeptics, and proponents. In: Mitchell RW, Thompson N, Miles L, editors. Anthropomorphism, anecdotes, and animals: the emperor's new clothes?. Albany, NY: SUNY Press; 1997, p. 313–334 [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: http://cogprints.org/160/
- 37. Andrews K. Animal cognition. In: Zalta EN, editor. The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy. Summer 2016. Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University; 2016 [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/sum2016/entries/cognition-animal/
- 38. Frontiers | The neural substrates of deliberative decision making: contrasting effects of hippocampus lesions on performance and vicarious trial-and-error behavior in a spatial memory task and a visual discrimination task. Front Behav Neurosci. [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh.2012.00070/full
- 39. Bekoff M. Animal emotions: exploring passionate natures: current interdisciplinary research provides compelling evidence that many animals experience such emotions as joy, fear, love, despair, and grief—we are not alone. Bioscience. 2000;50:861–70.
- 40. Waal FD. Are we in anthropodenial? Discover magazine. 1997. https://www.discovermagazine. com/planet-earth/are-we-in-anthropodenial
- 41. Andrews K, Huss B. Anthropomorphism, anthropectomy, and the null hypothesis. Biol Philos. 2014;29:711–29.
- 42. Sheets-Johnstone M. Taking evolution seriously. Am Philos Q. 1992;29:343-52.
- 43. Jones RC. Science, sentience, and animal welfare. Biol Philos. 2013;28:1-30.
- Morgan CL, Conwy L. An introduction to comparative psychology. London, W. Scott, Limited; 1894 [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: http://archive.org/details/anintroductiont00morggoog
- 45. Pernick MS. A calculus of suffering: pain, professionalism, and anesthesia in nineteenthcentury America. New York: Columbia University Press; 1985. [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://repository.library.georgetown.edu/handle/10822/806360
- 46. Racial bias in pain assessment and treatment recommendations, and false beliefs about biological differences between blacks and whites. PNAS. [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://www.pnas.org/content/113/16/4296.short
- 47. Rollin BE. Science and ethics. Cambridge University Press; 2006.

- Davidson. Rational animals. Dialectica; 1982. Wiley Online Library [Internet] [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1746-8361.1982. tb01546.x
- 49. Carruthers P. Brute experience. J Philos; 1989 [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https:// www.pdcnet.org/pdc/bvdb.nsf/purchase?openform&fp=jphil&id=jphil_1989_0086_0005_ 0258_0269
- 50. Hume D. A treatise of human nature: volume 1: Texts. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2006.
- 51. Sneddon L, Lopez-Luna J, Wolfenden D, Leach M, Valentim A, Steenbergen P, et al. Fish sentience denial: muddying the waters. Anim Sentience. 2018;3. Available from: https:// animalstudiesrepository.org/animsent/vol3/iss21/1
- Animal advocacy by numbers. Faunalytics; 2016 [cited 2019 May 13]. Available from: https:// faunalytics.org/animal-advocacy-by-numbers/.

Part II

Neuroethical Issues and Nonhuman Animals



On Mitigating the Cruelty of Natural Selection Through Humane Genome Editing

Rey Edison and Kevin M. Esvelt

Abstract

Natural selection cares nothing for animal suffering. However, it is artificial selection that governs the genetics of billions of domesticated animals and consequently their predisposition to well-being. Even without directed research, future insights into the genetics of mood will almost certainly enable us to substantially improve the lives of trillions of animals, posing a profound neuroethical challenge (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Live animals. FAOSTAT statistical database, 2018). The sheer magnitude of the potential change in animal well-being demands great caution in evaluating whether, when, and how to develop and apply such technologies. A single mistake, whether rhetorically or technologically, could result in a great deal of animal suffering that might otherwise be avoided. Here we outline the moral responsibilities of those who choose to engage with the problem and those who decline. We discuss possible approaches for evaluating the efficacy of genetic methods and the concern that over-optimizing for indirect measures of well-being may reduce the extent to which we can be confident that those phenotypes are still meaningful indicators of what we are trying to measure. Lastly, we consider the extent to which we can expect animals used in agriculture to have been subject to selective pressures that result in their improved well-being in factory environments and the implications for the question of whether we should deliberately employ genetic methods to improve animal well-being.

Keywords

Animal well-being \cdot Genetic methods \cdot Factory farming \cdot Natural selection \cdot Evolution \cdot Action/inaction distinction

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. Edison \cdot K. M. Esvelt (\boxtimes)

Media Lab, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA e-mail: esvelt@mit.edu

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_7

7.1 Introduction

Natural selection improves animal well-being only insofar as those improvements increase the organism's chance of achieving reproductive success. The sum of all positive experiences dating back to the origin of life occurred because they were useful means to an end, not an end in and of themselves [1-3]. The relaxing ambience of a pleasant environment, the pleasure of consuming good food, the satisfaction of social camaraderie, the joy of youthful play, the comfort of parental care, and the ecstasy of mating all are evolutionary incentives to behave in ways that enhance the likelihood of surviving and reproducing [4-10].

The same is true of pain and suffering. Natural selection is no more cruel than it is benevolent; it simply is. It may seem harsh to paint the natural world as shaped entirely by indifferent and amoral forces. But those of us who care about well-being, for any ethical reason, should take heart, because it means that existing organisms are far from optimized for well-being [11–15]. It follows that selective breeding or genetic engineering could theoretically produce future animals with far more positive subjective experiences than their natural counterparts. Because monitoring and breeding can mitigate the effects of drift and selection in domestic populations, these positive traits could in principle be maintained by humans indefinitely [16–18].

Even if no directed research programs specifically examining the genetic bases for well-being are conducted, genotypes that greatly ameliorate suffering in a laboratory setting are still likely to be identified inadvertently during the course of other studies [19, 20]. Given that methods of genetically improving animal wellbeing may be discovered even if no one looks for them, it is important to carefully consider how our probable future understanding may inform decision-making about how animals are bred for human use.

In this chapter, we highlight three areas that could be addressed in a careful dialogue about using genetic methods to ameliorate animal suffering: (1) moral responsibilities for improving animal well-being, (2) how to evaluate the efficacy of genetic methods for improving well-being, and (3) factory farming (selective pressures and environmental context).

7.2 Moral Responsibilities for Improving Animal Well-Being

7.2.1 Countervailing Beliefs

All discussions of human moral responsibility for animal suffering that could have been prevented must acknowledge widespread reverence for a perceived "natural order" [19–21]. This belief, which is shared across many cultures, renders many people disinclined to accept the basic premise that animal well-being can be improved by human intervention—especially genetically. Laying the groundwork for thoughtful, responsive discussions of the legitimate concerns from all sides will be critical to finding an ethical path forward [22–24].



Fig. 7.1 Domesticated livestock mammals outmass all wild terrestrial mammals combined by a factor of 14. Domesticated chickens outmass all wild birds by a factor of 3

7.2.2 The State of the World

Selective breeding has been a primary occupation of our species for tens of thousands of years and has now been extended to a planetary scale. Domesticated livestock now outmass all wild mammals combined by a factor of 14, while domesticated chickens—of which 56 billion are born every year—now outmass all wild birds by a factor of 3 (see Fig. 7.1) [25, 26]. For every five wild birds, there is one chicken. Of creatures thought potentially capable of complex cognition, only fish have not (yet) been substantially reshaped by humanity. If we have sinned, we have done so on a scale almost unimaginable. That is by no means an excuse, only an acknowledgment that we have already intervened in the natural order and will presumably continue to do so. This fact underscores the importance of our central question: what are our moral responsibilities for the well-being of future animals in light of our presumed future ability to apply genetics to improve their lives?

7.2.3 Action Versus Inaction

An illustrative example of the action-inaction distinction is the trolley problem, in which a bystander observes a runaway trolley on course to run over five people on the tracks. The bystander realizes that by pulling a lever, they can redirect the trolley onto another set of tracks, where the trolley will instead kill a single person. Clearly, pulling the lever will save lives, yet surveys show many people disagree on what the ethical choice is in the trolley problem and its many variants. Those who say pulling the lever is wrong may cite a belief that the bystander is more responsible for a death resulting from the action of pulling the lever than for deaths resulting from inaction.

Though the trolley problem is a hypothetical dilemma, similar themes are at play whenever inaction may constitute a missed opportunity to mitigate negative outcomes, and decisions regarding the use of technology are no exception.

Assuming that genetic methods of improving animal well-being are likely to become increasingly available as we learn more about genetics in diverse species, are we morally responsible for the consequences of choosing *not* to use them? It is common to intuitively distinguish between the consequences of an action and those resulting from doing nothing [27]. Philosophically, the justification for the action-inaction (or commission/omission) distinction is much less clear, especially outside the context of simplified dilemmas involving a finite number of choices and perfect information about the consequences of each [28–30]. With respect to most real-world scenarios, it's hard to envision how the brain could possibly evaluate the consequences of every possible inaction because there are so many possible actions that each individual could take [31]. Arguably, that means there is no plausible method by which humans could do anything other than distinguish between action and inaction. Here we prefer to err on the side of caution by assuming that we are to some extent morally responsible for *inaction*.

7.2.4 Individual Versus Collective Action and Inaction

Thinking carefully about the consequences of both action and inaction with respect to animal well-being is important because individual actions may lead to collective inaction. That is, various actions taken by individuals could lead to indefinite delays in the effective use of genetic methods for improving animal well-being. For instance, applying genetic methods at scale without visible caution and discussion, including inviting concerns and criticism, could result in the prolonged and unnecessary suffering of many animals. Additionally, any perception of recklessness could result in a public backlash that delays or prevents widespread use. Backlash could also result in unnecessary suffering as a result of statements that prematurely discredit or hype a proposed method for ameliorating suffering or enhancing wellbeing [32–35]. In these and other ways, our current actions may affect welfare outcomes for future animals even before any specific genetic methods for improving animal well-being are fully developed.

7.2.5 Philosophical Versus Empirical

There may be a strong tendency to dismiss evidence demonstrating improved welfare outcomes based on a lack of confidence in the capacity of scientific methods to address what may be seen as a philosophical rather than an empirical problem [36]. We should remember that many existing policies and practices are predicated on indirect evidence supporting claims about the relative levels of suffering experienced by species with very different behaviors and physiologies [37]. It may be more challenging to design experiments that compare very different species than it is to

design experiments to distinguish levels of suffering experienced by two strains of lab mice that are almost genetically identical and have similar behavior and physiology [15, 38–40]. Before concluding that the epistemological challenges associated with assessing the effects of genetic interventions for animal welfare are too great, it is worth considering the ways in which we as individuals and as scientific communities already make decisions based on indirect evidence when we make choices that affect the suffering and well-being of animals we buy or breed [19, 24, 39, 41]. Great caution is warranted when making decisions that would affect massive numbers of animal lives, and great care should be taken when reviewing evidence regarding the efficacy of interventions meant to improve animal welfare.

7.2.6 Encouraging the Sharing of Mistakes

Regardless of the amount of care taken, there is always a risk that new information will indicate that past decisions caused animals to suffer more than was necessary. We may also realize that we might have made better choices given the information available at the time. The guilt or shame associated could potentially impair the ability to recognize when a mistake has been made [42–46]. Likewise, fear of external criticism or condemnation could lead individuals to keep secrets that might otherwise help prevent further unnecessary animal suffering caused by similar mistakes in the future [47]. Establishing a culture that is accepting of past mistakes is likely to prove critical for minimizing animal suffering in the long run [44, 48–50].

7.3 How to Evaluate the Efficacy of Genetic Methods for Improving Well-Being

We cannot directly measure the subjective mental states of others. To reduce the amount of suffering experienced by a given animal, we need ways of directly assessing animal well-being [51]. Many approaches use behavioral and physiological indicators that change in measurable ways when animals are experiencing circumstances believed to be distressing or unhealthy. From these patterns, we infer that by observing these indicators, we can assess well-being or monitor the suffering of similar animals in different conditions [52, 53]. While it is often accepted that certain disturbances of normal behaviors or baseline physiology indicate stress or discomfort, it can sometimes be less clear that the absence of such disturbances reliably confirms well-being [14, 54–56]. It is also important to remember that most aspects of animal behavior and physiology evolved under selective pressure for fitness in wild environments, not well-being in captivity, and so there is a limit to how much we can expect behavioral and physiological stress responses to reflect an animal's conscious subjective experience [13, 39, 41, 57, 58].

Another approach for evaluating the effects of genetic methods for ameliorating animal suffering could involve neuroscientific tools that monitor brain activity in behaving animals. Though we are unable to read minds, we may be able to visualize signaling in pathways believed relevant to creating positive or negative subjective experiences and to observe how patterns change when animals are in circumstances expected to be positive, negative, or relatively neutral [14, 59]. As more is understood about how different signaling pathways contribute to emotional valence, we may become better able to interpret changes in brain activity in ways that help us infer whether a certain approach reduces the extent of an animal's suffering [60, 61]. When possible, it may be useful to create inducible versions of genetic edits, such that the changes made are only expressed under certain circumstances. For instance, a change could be engineered so that it could be activated or deactivated as necessary by a small molecule drug required for transcription of a specific gene. One benefit of inducible edits is the ability to assess the efficacy of a genetic edit within a single animal, rather than simply between experimental and control groups [62]. It also suggests possible ways of allowing animals to choose whether the edit is expressed, just as one might test whether an animal chooses to spend more time in an enriched habitat versus a sparse one [55].

In addition to what type of experimental tests are used to evaluate a genetic edit's efficacy, it is also worth considering who performs the experiments and when they should be conducted. During the early stages, the developers of a genetic edit will likely both test whether their method is being carried out successfully (i.e., whether the specific changes made to the genome are being expressed as desired) and whether there are signs of improved well-being in the animals to which the method is being applied. Before the edit is used specifically for the purpose of alleviating suffering in unrelated experiments, its efficacy should also be tested and the data evaluated by third parties. As research into genomics and neuroscience provides new insight, we may uncover new ways of assessing animal well-being, and this may suggest new ways to test the efficacy of genetic edits. We are responsible for the outcome of decisions to use or not use genetic methods for mitigating animal suffering, and part of this responsibility involves actively acquiring and considering new evidence without drawing premature conclusions about the effectiveness of the available methods.

If we want to minimize the suffering of animals created for human use, we are compelled to gather evidence to inform our decisions, even though it is impossible to directly quantify the suffering they experience. A risk of testing genetic methods for improved animal well-being is that doing so involves navigating an evolutionary landscape with very high dimensionality with no absolute definition of what is optimal. Though resources limit how quickly different genotypes may be tested while developing genetic methods, we will not run out of combinations and refinements that could be considered because of the large number of potentially relevant genetic loci [63–66]. Furthermore, there is no consensus as to which observable metrics of well-being ought to guide welfare decisions, so one can imagine a temptation to keep combining genetic edits in order to demonstrate improved welfare by as many popular metrics as possible [67–69]. Because there is no clear stopping point, it is important to consider what might be lost as more and more changes are made to the genome to try and optimize indirect measures of well-being.

One risk is that indirect measures of well-being may become less meaningful when taken out of the context of the genetic background produced by natural selection. It is difficult to imagine pursuing genetic methods without starting from some version of the premise that the general function of suffering is largely conserved across animals: that is, the neurological activity corresponding to states of suffering has some intrinsically negative valence meant to guide seeking or avoidance behavior by virtue of being less preferable to neurological activity producing other subjective experiences [38, 70–73]. The more changes are involved in a given genetic method, the less certain we can be that the phenotypes we are measuring still correlate with subjective well-being [15, 40, 74–77]. We get what we select for, not necessarily what we want.

7.4 Intensive Animal Agriculture: Selective Pressures and Environmental Context

Intensive animal agriculture (commonly known as "factory farming") is a system of livestock farming in which animals are kept in confinement at high density. Several aspects of intensive animal agriculture can negatively affect animal well-being, including: crowding and the resulting pollution from concentrated animal waste; the stresses of confinement, including the inability to move freely; the separation of mothers and offspring; and the prevalence of infection, injury, and disease and the resulting use of antibiotics and other drugs. Most animal agriculture, and especially intensive animal agriculture, involves the selective breeding of animals, which raises two key questions. First, to what extent have animals already been selected for improved well-being in intensive animal agriculture environments? Second, if such selection has occurred, does this mean we have no moral responsibility to consider genetic methods for reducing the suffering of farm animals?

Selection occurs when farmers avoid breeding animals that are especially prone to aggression toward other animals or handlers. Likewise, animals who show signs of stress such as anorexia or poor hygiene may also be less likely to be bred due to low body mass or the appearance of poor health [78–80]. Additionally, certain traits may make animals more or less likely to die before their intended productive lifespan, a form of natural selection or at least inadvertent artificial selection [81, 82]. For instance, animals with aggressive tendencies when kept in close quarters may be more likely to be injured in fights, preventing them from breeding. Selection for less aggressive behavior or the appearance of good health could produce a population that shows fewer obvious signs of suffering.

However, we cannot be confident that such selection would produce a population that actually experiences less subjective suffering because selecting for appearance and behavior is not the same as selecting for well-being, and improved reproductive performance does not always correlate with improved health [41, 83–88]. An animal that does not fight may be less distressed by its surroundings, but could just as easily be more prone to learned helplessness. Because either outcome would be favored by selection, we cannot be certain of the cause.

Even supposing past selection has reduced the suffering of animals on factory farms in some cases, it has only improved well-being in ways that happened to correlate with production [82]. Because genetic methods specifically intended to improve well-being could reduce suffering further, the possibility that breeding has made animals less distressed does not preclude a moral responsibility to consider genetic methods for improving animal well-being in factory environments [69, 89, 90].

Should such a genetic method be developed, consumer opinion is a potential barrier to adoption. Even if there is scientifically convincing evidence to show that a genetic method could greatly reduce the suffering of numerous farm animals, widespread use is not feasible if consumers have their own moral objections to the use of such a method [20, 91]. As discussed above, widespread beliefs that what is perceived to be "natural" is necessarily good will presumably conflict with the rationale behind genetic methods of improving well-being [19, 21, 92].

With respect to perceived "naturalness," it is important to distinguish between an aversion to consuming part of an animal one believes to be unnatural in some physical way and an aversion to buying a product whose production necessitated the birth of an animal thought to be unnatural. An aversion to consuming an animal whose suffering was alleviated with genetic methods is similar to objections consumers may have more generally about food produced using genetic engineering. This is a topic beyond neuroethics, so we focus here on the latter aversion: the belief that there is something morally wrong about creating animals that have unnatural neurological attributes.

What might a person mean when they say an animal is unnatural in some aspect of its neurology? This could be interpreted to mean that the brain is unnatural or that the animal experiences an unnatural mental state. Since mental states are the product of electrical and chemical signaling, either interpretation suggests that there would be something unnatural about the anatomy or biochemistry of an animal's brain as the result of a genetic method. However, research on psychiatric conditions like depression and PTSD has shown that extreme distress, especially prolonged distress, can effect long-term or permanent changes in the brain, including changes in connectivity, epigenetic modifications, and size of different regions of the brain, as well as altered neurotransmitter and receptor production [93–99]. While such research is geared toward understanding human psychiatry, it also suggests that brain structure and functioning could be substantially altered by keeping animals in states of prolonged suffering [100, 101]. In short, unnatural environmental conditions, such as barns where animals are densely packed, lead to unnatural neurological states that may result in suffering.

Being kept alive in a factory farm is not a natural situation, so it is not apparent that changes made to animal brains due to the experiences of living in a factory farm are inherently natural [102–106]. While this does not mean that the cause of neurological changes is irrelevant to the moral outcome—because different means will create different functional changes to the brain—it is still worth bearing in mind that the types of neurological consequences of genetic methods are not *unique* to genetic methods [107–110].

The possibility remains that some consumers may have objections to changing a genome, but not to long-term changes in gene expression or epigenetic modifications in the animal brain that occur due to a lifetime of "unnatural" environmental conditions that lead to suffering [111]. Importantly, these objections may not extend to genetic methods such as selective breeding or even genome editing restricted to genes that already exist in the species, though such constraints may limit the extent to which a genetic method can reduce suffering [15, 81, 112, 113]. If the goal is to prevent the most unnecessary animal suffering, the question is whether it would be better to compromise a method's efficacy so it can reach more animals sooner, or to focus on developing the method that best improves well-being in each individual animal in the hopes that consumer attitudes will change. This question is obviously not easily answered.

7.5 Conclusion

Because improved well-being does not always result in increased evolutionary fitness, there is reason to believe the genotypes of existing animals are not locally optimized for well-being. This suggests that present-day animal genotypes and genotypes capable of alleviating suffering in a laboratory setting may be separated by relatively few genetic changes. That is, genotypes correlated with substantially reduced suffering in a laboratory setting may be in the sequence space explored during the course of other research and could be discovered even if no research programs are specifically implemented to look for them.

Discussions about the moral responsibilities of scientists are often limited to how they conduct or present their own research. However, for those who believe that we are at least partially culpable when our own lack of action results in increased suffering, there is also a moral responsibility to consider the implications of technologies that may be just a few steps ahead of our current knowledge and how our current actions may influence the likelihood that such technologies are developed, as well as the ways in which they are used.

This concern, like most others discussed in this chapter, is certainly not unique to genetic methods of reducing animal suffering. Still, this focus is an especially salient example of a largely unexplored potential technology that is very likely to be discovered regardless of whether it is explicitly sought out, if only because natural and artificial selective pressures have favored improved well-being only insofar as it was correlated with improved reproductive success, survival, or enhanced productivity, convenience, or value to humans. Additionally, very little has been done to investigate, let alone to mitigate, the negative effects of natural adaptations that are harmful to the animal's experience in a captive environment.

When it comes to reducing animal suffering, the largest challenge that may need to be overcome is the cognitive dissonance that can be produced by living in societies with industries whose production schemes do not prioritize animal wellbeing. Given that the number of animals impacted is so extraordinarily large and their lives are so different from those we might wish for our own pets, even acknowledging the extent of the present situation may cause many a great deal of distress [114–118]. Rejecting any substantial moral responsibility to reduce animal suffering is one way of reducing this cognitive dissonance [119–123]. Carefully considered genomic approaches to improve animal well-being, if offered as ways for good people to help animals overcome the unthinking cruelty of amoral evolution, could effectively reduce cognitive dissonance over complicity in factory farming [49, 91, 124–126] and promote an expanded circle of empathy.

References

- 1. Gros C. Cognition and emotion: perspectives of a closing gap. Cogn Comput. 2010;2:78-85.
- Esch T, Stefano GB. The neurobiology of pleasure, reward processes, addiction and their health implications. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2004;25:235–51.
- 3. Darwin C, Prodger P. The expression of the emotions in man and animals. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1998.
- 4. Silk JB. The adaptive value of sociality in mammalian groups. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 2007;362:539–59.
- LaFreniere P. Evolutionary functions of social play: life histories, sex differences, and emotion regulation. Am J Play. 2011;3:464–88.
- Griskevicius V, Shiota MN, Neufeld SL. Influence of different positive emotions on persuasion processing: a functional evolutionary approach. Emotion. 2010;10:190–206.
- Kirschner S, Tomasello M. Joint music making promotes prosocial behavior in 4-year-old children. Evol Hum Behav. 2010;31:354–64.
- Janata P, Tomic ST, Haberman JM. Sensorimotor coupling in music and the psychology of the groove. J Exp Psychol Gen. 2012;141:54–75.
- Badyaev AV, Uller T. Parental effects in ecology and evolution: mechanisms, processes and implications. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 2009;364:1169–77.
- Curley JP, Davidson S, Bateson P, Champagne FA. Social enrichment during postnatal development induces transgenerational effects on emotional and reproductive behavior in mice. Front Behav Neurosci. 2009;3:25.
- 11. Sherwin CM, Richards GJ, Nicol CJ. Comparison of the welfare of layer hens in 4 housing systems in the UK. Br Poult Sci. 2010;51:488–99.
- 12. Nesse RM, Ellsworth PC. Evolution, emotions, and emotional disorders. Am Psychol. 2009;64:129–39.
- 13. Nettle D, Bateson M. The evolutionary origins of mood and its disorders. Curr Biol. 2012;22: R712–21.
- Boissy A, Manteuffel G, Jensen MB, Moe RO, Spruijt B, Keeling LJ, et al. Assessment of positive emotions in animals to improve their welfare. Physiol Behav. 2007;92:375–97.
- 15. Janczak AM, Riber AB. Review of rearing-related factors affecting the welfare of laying hens. Poult Sci. 2015;94:1454–69.
- Nesse RM. Natural selection and the elusiveness of happiness. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 2004;359:1333–47.
- Kenrick DT, Krems JA. Well-being, self-actualization, and fundamental motives: an evolutionary perspective. Handbook of well-being. Salt Lake City, UT: DEF Publishers; 2018. doi: nobascholar.com. Available from: https://www.nobascholar.com/chapters/28/download.pdf
- McEwen BS. Neurobiological and systemic effects of chronic stress. Chronic Stress (Thousand Oaks) 2017;1. https://doi.org/10.1177/2470547017692328. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/28856337

- Habib AM, Okorokov AL, Hill MN, Bras JT, Lee M-C, Li S, et al. Microdeletion in a FAAH pseudogene identified in a patient with high anandamide concentrations and pain insensitivity. Br J Anaesth. 2019;123(2):e249–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.02.019.
- Cravatt BF, Demarest K, Patricelli MP, Bracey MH, Giang DK, Martin BR, et al. Supersensitivity to anandamide and enhanced endogenous cannabinoid signaling in mice lacking fatty acid amide hydrolase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98:9371–6.
- 21. Fraser D. Understanding animal welfare. Acta Vet Scand. 2008;50:S1.
- 22. Hobson-West P. The role of "public opinion" in the UK animal research debate. J Med Ethics. 2010;36:46–9.
- 23. Brown N. Xenotransplantation: normalizing disgust. Sci Cult. 1999;8:327-55.
- Brown N, Michael M. Switching between science and culture in transpecies transplantation. Sci Technol Hum Values. 2001;26:3–22.
- 25. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Live animals. FAOSTAT statistical database 2018.
- 26. Burchell K. Empiricist selves and contingent "others": the performative function of the discourse of scientists working in conditions of controversy. Public Underst Sci. 2007;16:145–62.
- Wemelsfelder F. How animals communicate quality of life: the qualitative assessment of behaviour; 2007. Available from: http://animalstudiesrepository.org/acwp_asie/100/
- Bar-On YM, Phillips R, Milo R. The biomass distribution on Earth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018;115:6506–11.
- Baron J, Ritov I. Omission bias, individual differences, and normality. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process. 2004;94:74–85.
- 30. Bennett J. Moral significance. The act itself. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1998.
- 31. Knobe J. Intentional action and side effects in ordinary language. Analysis. 2003;63:190-4.
- Adams F, Steadman A. Intentional action in ordinary language: core concept or pragmatic understanding? Analysis. 2004;64:173–81.
- Woollard F. Most ways I could move: Bennett's act/omission distinction and the behaviour space. Mind. 2011;120:155–82.
- Schulz JB, Cookson MR, Hausmann L. The impact of fraudulent and irreproducible data to the translational research crisis—solutions and implementation. J Neurochem. 2016;139(Suppl 2):253–70.
- 35. Gross LA. Broken trust: lessons from the vaccine-autism wars. PLoS Biol. 2009;7:e1000114.
- 36. Hendler J. Avoiding another AI winter. IEEE Intell Syst. 2008;23:2-4.
- 37. Church K. A pendulum swung too far. Linguist Issues Lang Technol. 2011;6:1-27.
- 38. Fraser D, Preece R. Animal ethics and the scientific study of animals: bridging the "is" and the "ought". Essays Philos. 2004;5:12.
- 39. Hobson-West P. What kind of animal is the "Three Rs"? Altern Lab Anim. 2009;37(Suppl 2):95–9.
- 40. Mason GJ. Species differences in responses to captivity: stress, welfare and the comparative method. Trends Ecol Evol. 2010;25:713–21.
- 41. Dawkins MS. The science of animal suffering. Ethology. 2008;114:937-45.
- 42. Mason GJ, Mendl M. Why is there no simple way of measuring animal welfare? Anim Welf. 1993. Available from: https://atrium.lib.uoguelph.ca/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10214/4673/ Mason & Mendl 1993.pdf?sequence=1
- 43. Duncan IJH, Dawkins MS. The problem of assessing "well-being" and "suffering" in farm animals. In: Smidt D, editor. Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare: a seminar in the CEC programme of coordination of research on animal welfare, organized by Dr D Smidt, and held in Mariensee, 9–10 November 1982. Dordrecht: Springer; 1983. p. 13–24.
- 44. Liang Y, Liu L, Tan X, Huang Z, Dang J, Zheng W. The effect of self-esteem on corrupt intention: the mediating role of materialism. Front Psychol. 2016;7:1063.
- Aronson E, Mettee DR. Dishonest behavior as a function of differential levels of induced selfesteem. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1968;9:121–7.

- Shalvi S, Gino F, Barkan R, Ayal S. Self-serving justifications: doing wrong and feeling moral. Curr Dir Psychol Sci. 2015;24:125–30.
- Mazar N, Amir O, Ariely D. The dishonesty of honest people: a theory of self-concept maintenance. J Mark Res. 2008;45:633–44.
- Jordan J, Leliveld MC, Tenbrunsel AE. The moral self-image scale: measuring and understanding the malleability of the moral self. Front Psychol. 2015;6:1878.
- Berninghaus SK, Haller S, Krüger T, Neumann T, Schosser S, Vogt B. Risk attitude, beliefs, and information in a corruption game—an experimental analysis. J Econ Psychol. 2013;34:46–60.
- 50. Sguera F, Bagozzi RP, Huy QN, Boss RW, Boss DS. The more you care, the worthier I feel, the better I behave: how and when supervisor support influences (un)ethical employee behavior. J Bus Ethics. 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3339-8
- Bazerman MH, Gino F, Shu LL, Tsay C-J. Joint evaluation as a real-world tool for managing emotional assessments of morality. Emot Rev. 2011;3:290–2.
- Bazerman MH, Gino F. Behavioral ethics: toward a deeper understanding of moral judgment and dishonesty. Annual Rev Law Soc Sci. 2012;8:85–104. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevlawsocsci-102811-173815.
- Mendl M, Burman OHP, Parker RMA, Paul ES. Cognitive bias as an indicator of animal emotion and welfare: emerging evidence and underlying mechanisms. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2009;118:161–81.
- 54. Manteca X, Amat M, Salas M, Temple D, et al. Animal-based indicators to assess welfare in zoo animals. CAB Rev. 2016;11:1–10.
- 55. Grandin T. Assessment of stress during handling and transport. J Anim Sci. 1997;75:249-57.
- 56. Mason GJ, Latham N. Can't stop, won't stop: is stereotypy a reliable animal welfare indicator? Anim Welf. 2004. Available from: https://atrium.lib.uoguelph.ca/xmlui/bitstream/handle/ 10214/4716/Mason_%26_Latham_2004.pdf
- 57. Duncan IJH. Science-based assessment of animal welfare: farm animals. Rev Sci Tech. 2005;24:483–92.
- 58. Baxter MR. Ethology in environmental design for animal production. Appl Anim Ethol. 1983;9:207–20.
- Sharpee TO, Calhoun AJ, Chalasani SH. Information theory of adaptation in neurons, behavior, and mood. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2014;25:47–53.
- 60. Cooper JJ, Mason GJ. The identification of abnormal behaviour and behavioural problems in stabled horses and their relationship to horse welfare: a comparative review. Equine Vet J Suppl. 1998;30:5–9.
- 61. Walla P, Mavratzakis A, Bosshar S. Neuroimaging for the affective brain sciences, and its role in advancing consumer neuroscience. In: Fountas K, editor. Novel frontiers of advanced neuroimaging. Rijeka: InTech; 2013.
- 62. Disner SG, Beevers CG, Haigh EAP, Beck AT. Neural mechanisms of the cognitive model of depression. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2011;12:467–77.
- Koehl P, Levitt M. Protein topology and stability define the space of allowed sequences. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:1280–5.
- 64. Meyerguz L, Kempe D, Kleinberg J, Elber R. The evolutionary capacity of protein structures. Proceedings of the eighth annual international conference on resaerch in computational molecular biology. New York, NY: ACM; 2004. p. 290–7.
- 65. England JL, Shakhnovich BE, Shakhnovich EI. Natural selection of more designable folds: a mechanism for thermophilic adaptation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:8727–31.
- 66. Schlichting MC, Andreae U, Thielscher H-H, Smidt D. Application of an integrated system of indicators in animal welfare research. In: Smidt D, editor. Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare: a seminar in the CEC programme of coordination of research on animal welfare, organized by Dr D Smidt, and held in Mariensee, 9–10 November 1982. Dordrecht: Springer; 1983. p. 215–21.

- Perentos N, Nicol AU, Martins AQ, Stewart JE, Taylor P, Morton AJ. Techniques for chronic monitoring of brain activity in freely moving sheep using wireless EEG recording. J Neurosci Methods. 2017;279:87–100.
- Freund J, Brandmaier AM, Lewejohann L, Kirste I, Kritzler M, Krüger A, et al. Emergence of individuality in genetically identical mice. Science. 2013;340:756–9.
- 69. Buchholz PCF, Zeil C, Pleiss J. The scale-free nature of protein sequence space. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0200815.
- 70. Smidt D. Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare: a seminar in the CEC programme of coordination of research on animal welfare, organized by Dr. D. Smidt, and held in Mariensee, 9–10 November 1982. Dordrecht: Springer Science & Business Media; 2012.
- 71. Boissy A, Fisher AD, Bouix J, Hinch GN, Le Neindre P. Genetics of fear in ruminant livestock. Livest Prod Sci. 2005;93:23–32.
- Barnard CJ, Hurst JL. Welfare by design: the natural selection of welfare criteria. Anim Welf. 1996;5:405–34.
- LeBlanc VR, McConnell MM, Monteiro SD. Predictable chaos: a review of the effects of emotions on attention, memory and decision making. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract. 2015;20:265–82.
- 74. Davis DN. Cognitive architectures for affect and motivation. Cogn Comput. 2010;2:199–216.
- 75. Belzung C, Philippot P. Anxiety from a phylogenetic perspective: is there a qualitative difference between human and animal anxiety? Neural Plast. 2007;2007:59676.
- Wood-Gush DGM, Vestergaard K. Exploratory behavior and the welfare of intensively kept animals. J Agric Ethics. 1989;2:161–9.
- 77. Wright D, Nakamichi R, Krause J, Butlin RK. QTL analysis of behavioral and morphological differentiation between wild and laboratory zebrafish (Danio rerio). Behav Genet. 2006;36:271–84.
- Veasey JS, Waran NK, Young RJ. On comparing the behaviour of zoo housed animals with wild conspecifics as a welfare indicator. Anim Welf. 1996;5:13–24.
- 79. Dantzer R, Mormède P, Henry JP. Significance of physiological criteria in assessing animal welfare. In: Smidt D, editor. Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare: a seminar in the CEC programme of coordination of research on animal welfare, organized by Dr D Smidt, and held in Mariensee, 9–10 November 1982. Dordrecht: Springer; 1983. p. 29–37.
- 80. Fraser AF. The behaviour of suffering in animals. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 1984;13:1-6.
- 81. Unshelm J. Applicability of indicators in animal welfare research. In: Smidt D, editor. Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare: a seminar in the CEC programme of coordination of research on animal welfare, organized by Dr D Smidt, and held in Mariensee, 9–-10 November 1982. Dordrecht: Springer; 1983. p. 225–32.
- Harley S, Boyle LA, O'Connell NE, More SJ, Teixeira DL, Hanlon A. Docking the value of pigmeat? Prevalence and financial implications of welfare lesions in Irish slaughter pigs. Anim Welf. 2014;23:275–85.
- Reiner G. Investigations on genetic disease resistance in swine—a contribution to the reduction of pain, suffering and damage in farm animals. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2009;118:217–21.
- 84. Bienfait JM, Nicks B, Van Eenaeme C. Significance of production performance traits as indicators of animal welfare. In: Smidt D, editor. Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare: a seminar in the CEC programme of coordination of research on animal welfare, organized by Dr D Smidt, and held in Mariensee, 9–10 November 1982. Dordrecht: Springer; 1983. p. 167–82.
- von Keyserlingk MAG, Rushen J, de Passillé AM, Weary DM. Invited review: the welfare of dairy cattle—key concepts and the role of science. J Dairy Sci. 2009;92:4101–11.
- Price EO. Behavioral development in animals undergoing domestication. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 1999;65:245–71.
- 87. de Koning R. Results of a methodical approach with regard to external lesions of sows as an indicator of animal well-being. In: Smidt D, editor. Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare: a seminar in the CEC programme of coordination of research on animal welfare, organized by

Dr D Smidt, and held in Mariensee, 9–10 November 1982. Dordrecht: Springer; 1983. p. 155–62.

- 88. Bekaert H. Farrowing accomodation and losses, vitality and daily gain of piglets as indicators of well being. In: Smidt D, editor. Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare: a seminar in the CEC programme of coordination of research on animal welfare, organized by Dr D Smidt, and held in Mariensee, 9–10 November 1982. Dordrecht: Springer; 1983. p. 183–8.
- 89. Morris CA. A review of genetic resistance to disease in Bos taurus cattle. Vet J. 2007;174:481–91.
- 90. Rodriguez-Martinez H, Hultgren J, Båge R, Bergqvist AS, Svensson C, Bergsten C, et al. Reproductive performance in high-producing dairy cows: can we sustain it under current practice. IVIS reviews in veterinary medicine, vol. 1. Ithaca, NY: International Veterinary Information Service; 2008. p. 1–23.
- Koolhaas JM, Van Reenen CG. Animal behavior and well-being symposium: interaction between coping style/personality, stress, and welfare: relevance for domestic farm animals. J Anim Sci. 2016;94:2284–96.
- 92. Boissy A, Bouix J, Orgeur P, Poindron P, Bibé B, Le Neindre P. Genetic analysis of emotional reactivity in sheep: effects of the genotypes of the lambs and of their dams. Genet Sel Evol. 2005;37:381–401.
- 93. Persson K, Shaw D. Empirical methods in animal ethics. J Agric Environ Ethics. 2015;28:853-66.
- Robbins J, Franks B, von Keyserlingk MAG. "More than a feeling": an empirical investigation of hedonistic accounts of animal welfare. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0193864.
- Pavlides C, Nivón LG, McEwen BS. Effects of chronic stress on hippocampal long-term potentiation. Hippocampus. 2002;12:245–57.
- Vyas A, Mitra R, Shankaranarayana Rao BS, Chattarji S. Chronic stress induces contrasting patterns of dendritic remodeling in hippocampal and amygdaloid neurons. J Neurosci. 2002;22:6810–8.
- Meloni M. The social brain meets the reactive genome: neuroscience, epigenetics and the new social biology. Front Hum Neurosci. 2014;8:309.
- Tottenham N, Hare TA, Quinn BT, McCarry TW, Nurse M, Gilhooly T, et al. Prolonged institutional rearing is associated with atypically large amygdala volume and difficulties in emotion regulation. Dev Sci. 2010;13:46–61.
- Lee T, Jarome T, Li S-J, Kim JJ, Helmstetter FJ. Chronic stress selectively reduces hippocampal volume in rats: a longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study. Neuroreport. 2009;20:1554–8.
- 100. Bremner JD. Traumatic stress: effects on the brain. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2006;8:445-61.
- Mahan AL, Ressler KJ. Fear conditioning, synaptic plasticity and the amygdala: implications for posttraumatic stress disorder. Trends Neurosci. 2012;35:24–35.
- Leuner B, Shors TJ. Stress, anxiety, and dendritic spines: what are the connections? Neuroscience. 2013;251:108–19.
- 103. Isgor C, Kabbaj M, Akil H, Watson SJ. Delayed effects of chronic variable stress during peripubertal-juvenile period on hippocampal morphology and on cognitive and stress axis functions in rats. Hippocampus. 2004;14:636–48.
- 104. Sharman DF. Neurochemistry of abnormal behaviour in farm animals. In: Smidt D, editor. Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare: a seminar in the CEC programme of coordination of research on animal welfare, organized by Dr D Smidt, and held in Mariensee, 9–-10 November 1982. Dordrecht: Springer; 1983. p. 61–5.
- 105. Shors TJ, Seib TB, Levine S, Thompson RF. Inescapable versus escapable shock modulates long-term potentiation in the rat hippocampus. Science. 1989;244:224–6.
- 106. Walsh SW, Williams EJ, Evans ACO. A review of the causes of poor fertility in high milk producing dairy cows. Anim Reprod Sci. 2011;123:127–38.
- 107. Singer P. Animal liberation. New York: Random House; 1995.

- 108. Gregory NG, Grandin T. Animal welfare and meat science. Wallingford: CABI Publication; 1998.
- 109. Schoenfeld TJ, Gould E. Stress, stress hormones, and adult neurogenesis. Exp Neurol. 2012;233:12–21.
- 110. Kim EJ, Pellman B, Kim JJ. Stress effects on the hippocampus: a critical review. Learn Mem. 2015;22:411–6.
- 111. Francis D, Diorio J, Liu D, Meaney MJ. Nongenomic transmission across generations of maternal behavior and stress responses in the rat. Science. 1999;286:1155–8.
- 112. Meaney MJ, Szyf M. Environmental programming of stress responses through DNA methylation: life at the interface between a dynamic environment and a fixed genome. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2005;7:103–23.
- 113. Terlouw EMC, Arnould C, Auperin B, Berri C, Le Bihan-Duval E, Deiss V, et al. Pre-slaughter conditions, animal stress and welfare: current status and possible future research. Animal. 2008;2:1501–17.
- 114. Zwald NR, Weigel KA, Chang YM, Welper RD, Clay JS. Genetic selection for health traits using producer-recorded data. I. Incidence rates, heritability estimates, and sire breeding values. J Dairy Sci. 2004;87:4287–94.
- 115. Rupp R, Boichard D. Genetics of resistance to mastitis in dairy cattle. Vet Res. 2003;34:671–88.
- 116. Small DA. Reference-dependent sympathy. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process. 2010;112:151–60.
- 117. Verbeke W, et al. Stakeholder, citizen and consumer interests in farm animal welfare. Anim Welf. 2009;18:325–33.
- 118. Västfjäll D, Slovic P, Mayorga M. Pseudoinefficacy: negative feelings from children who cannot be helped reduce warm glow for children who can be helped. Front Psychol. 2015;6:616.
- 119. Slovic P. Thinking and deciding rationally about catastrophic losses of human lives. Citeseer; 2008. Available from: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.334.7193& rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Shu LL, Gino F, Bazerman MH. Dishonest deed, clear conscience: when cheating leads to moral disengagement and motivated forgetting. Personal Soc Psychol Bull. 2011;37:330–49.
- 121. Slovic P, If I. Look at the mass I will never act: psychic numbing and genocide. In: Roeser S, editor. Emotions and risky technologies. Dordrecht: Springer; 2010. p. 37–59.
- 122. Thomas J. Dishonesty and the self: ironic effects of ego depletion; 2015. Available from: https://shareok.org/handle/11244/15519
- 123. Aronson E. Back to the future: retrospective review of leon festinger's "a theory of cognitive dissonance". Am J Psychol. 1997;110:127–37.
- 124. Bandura A. Moral disengagement in the perpetration of inhumanities. Personal Soc Psychol Rev. 1999;3:193–209.
- 125. Brown RP, Tamborski M, Wang X, Barnes CD, Mumford MD, Connelly S, et al. Moral credentialing and the rationalization of misconduct. Ethics Behav. 2011;21:1–12.
- 126. Amiot CE, Bastian B. Toward a psychology of human—animal relations. Psychol Bull. 2015;141:6.



In Defense of Neural Disenhancement to Promote Animal Welfare

Bob Fischer

Abstract

I argue that animal welfare advocates don't act wrongly if they promote research into ways of neurally disenhancing animals. More precisely, I contend that even if we conclude that it's wrong to disenhance animals because it's the wrong kind of solution to the situation that we've created, the considerations in its favor make it permissible for animal welfare advocates to support its development and use for the time being. This is because total suffering is likely to be substantially worse without such research; because disenhancement is not as bad, morally speaking, as it can initially seem to be; and because it's a promising way of mitigating the risks involved in not disenhancing animals.

Keywords

$$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{split} Disenhancement \cdot Psychological \ disenhancement \cdot Animal \ well-being \cdot Animal \ agriculture \cdot Welfarism \cdot Genetic \ modification \end{split}$$

8.1 Introduction

Nearly 40 years ago, Beilharz and Zeeb [1] wrote this:

If we succeed in showing that animals are suffering under particular conditions of husbandry, what is to be done? There are two approaches. Either (1) we change the animals genetically and adapt them to the environment, or (2) we improve the environment.¹

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

¹For a related observation, see Rollin [2, p. 75–76]: "Clearly, the rise of intensive as opposed to extensive agriculture has changed the agricultural playing field enormously. No longer are we constrained by the animals' evolved nature in our production practices. Industrialized, high

B. Fischer (🖂)

Texas State University, San Marcos, TX, USA e-mail: fischer@txstate.edu

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_8
When animal welfare advocates lobby for welfare improvements, they encourage those in the animal agriculture industry to improve the animal's environment: to expand cages, provide superior bedding, improve sources of stimulation, and so on. But new technologies are making the first option increasingly realistic. This generates an important question for animal welfare advocates (i.e., welfarists). Let's assume that welfarists *shouldn't* be radical abolitionists, who insist that we should only promote the abolition of animal exploitation. These abolitionists contend that advancing welfare reforms is tantamount to arguing for further rights violations. If we reject such a position, then we can instead encourage the industry to improve the environments in which animals live. However, is it permissible to encourage the industry to create animals that are better suited to productivity-maximizing environments? To do so is to promote *disenhancement*: namely, creating animals with more limited capacities. And to promote *psychological* disenhancement, in particular, is to promote creating animals with limited perceptual and/or cognitive capacities.

Of course, this isn't the only way to use the term "disenhancement." Some suggest disenhancement is relative to the capacities an organism "ought" to have, where that notion could be cashed out in different ways (e.g., the "normal" capacities of members of a species). But we might instead think about it as being relative to well-being. In that case, an animal has been disenhanced only if she's been made worse off by an intervention. And depending on how we understand "well-being," these two definitions may lead to different judgments about cases. Suppose we understand well-being hedonistically, solely in terms of the organism's positively and negatively valenced affective states. Then, the two definitions certainly come apart: if the loss of capacities leads to improved well-being, then we'll have disenhancement in one sense and enhancement in the other. But if we understand well-being in a perfectionist sense, where part of well-being is functioning "properly" (where that's relative to the capacities that the organism is, in some sense, "supposed" to have), then the loss of certain capacities is indeed a loss of well-being. Of course, it might still be a net gain: functioning properly might not be all of wellbeing, and a loss of one kind might be offset by another. That is, on a perfectionist theory of well-being, disenhancement is only sometimes bad: it depends on both (a) how disenhancement affects the various dimensions of well-being and (b) the relative value of those dimensions. So even if it's bad for animals to lose certain capacities, they could still be better off on balance.

However, very little turns on how we decide to use "disenhancement," as we can express the central question regardless. The point at issue is whether welfarists may encourage the industry to create animals that are psychologically better suited to productivity-maximizing environments. If we think about disenhancement as

technology agriculture has given us the ability to move beyond our implicit contract with the animal, to move beyond keeping square pegs in square holes. We can now put square pegs in round holes, round pegs in square holes, and still generate successful production and profit. Technological "sanders" help us fit animals into environments which are good for us without necessarily being good for them."

removing capacities that an organism ought to have (in some sense), then we're asking whether we may encourage the industry to disenhance animals in order to improve net well-being. If we understand disenhancement as relative to well-being, and we're hedonists, then we're asking whether we ought to remove certain capacities in hopes of enhancing animal well-being. I'm going to continue to talk in the former way, as I think it's more natural, but I don't think that anything substantive turns on this decision.

In any case, there's a strong case against promoting disenhancement. Some of the concerns are practical. Consider Sandøe et al.'s [3, 4] discussion of breeding blind hens for egg production. The hope [5] was that these animals would be better off overall than sighted chickens, largely due to their being less aggressive toward one another than sighted animals in the same circumstances.² (Blind hens can be produced via normal selective breeding techniques, but CRISPR and other germline genome editing technologies open up other possibilities.) However, it isn't clear that the hope is borne out. Sandøe et al. [4] summarize some later studies that motivate their doubts: it looks like blind chickens are less social, peck less, and have a harder time finding feed; as a result, they may have less rich lives and also have significantly higher 2-week mortality rates. So while a particular disenhancement might seem like a promising way to improve welfare, it may well have unintended side effects that reduce welfare overall.

Moreover, there is an important in-principle challenge. Marcus Schultz-Bergin [9, p. 854] argues that the main issue is that disenhancement represents the wrong response to a historical injustice:

On my *Historical Injustices Approach*, sentient agricultural animals are an historically wronged group. They have been systematically wronged for generations, and we have all benefited from that wrongdoing. The intuition that diminishment is wrong, then, can be grounded not in the wrongness of creating diminished animals per se, but in identifying animal diminishment as the solution to our wrongdoing. Creating diminished animals fails to display remorse for the wrongdoing that we nevertheless recognize.

²In response to the possibility of breeding blinded chickens, Sandøe et al. [3, p. 322] propose "utilitarianism with side-constraints." According to this view, the goal should indeed be to improve animal welfare, but not at the cost of changing their nature in "significant" ways. As Paul Thompson [6] points out, however, none of the standard approaches to animal ethics generate this particular result: Sandøe et al. have to gerrymander a view that accords with their anti-disenhancement intuition. Adam Henschke [7] follows up on a suggestion that Thompson makes at the end of his article, which is that it will be difficult to criticize disenhancement if we focus on action-centric frameworks. If, however, we focus on an agent-centric framework, such as virtue ethics, we may be able to do better. Henschke points out that one of the troubling aspects of disenhancement is the context in which it occurs, where the parties considering disenhancement are already invested in intensive animal agriculture and have as their main motivations "the increase of profits and/or the increase of meat production, whilst minimizing criticism." Since this is an objectionable goal within an objectionable system, we can condemn such attempts to modify animals. Marcus Schultz-Bergin [8] argues that isn't so easy to attribute such motivations to those who might genetically alter animals.

Schultz-Bergin doesn't identify the precise duty that we violate in creating disenhanced animals, but one possibility is that there's a duty of restitution or repair in the wake of an unjust relationship to a group. Rather than bearing the costs of wrongdoing, disenhancement is a strategy for dodging them, enjoying the benefits of animal agriculture without acknowledging the history of wrongdoing.³

Nevertheless, I think welfarists may indeed encourage the industry to do research—and, if the research is promising, breed—disenhanced animals. That is, I maintain that even if disenhancement sometimes fails to improve overall animal welfare, and even if it's the wrong kind of solution to the situation that we've created, the considerations in its favor make it permissible for welfarists to support its development and use for the time being. I'm not claiming that it's morally permissible to do this research, nor that it is permissible to breed disenhanced animals. Instead, I'm arguing that of the various objectionable trajectories for contemporary animal agriculture, the ones that include disenhanced animals are preferable to those that don't. And as long as animal agriculture is so deeply entrenched in contemporary society, that's reason enough to lobby for the creation of such beings.

I proceed as follows. I begin by presenting the main argument in favor of promoting disenhancement, which is based on the limits of current advocacy strategies and the potential promise of genetic interventions. Then, I consider a number of reasons why, though certainly problematic, disenhancement isn't as bad as it may seem to be. I conclude by considering the costs of not pursuing this strategy.

8.2 The Main Argument for Promoting Psychological Disenhancement

Intensive animal agriculture isn't going away. Global incomes are rising, and rising incomes are generally associated with increased demand for animal products [11]. Moreover, global population is still increasing, so there is likely to be more demand from even more people for meat, milk, and eggs. It is true that animal agriculture in its current form is environmentally unsustainable, and it may well dwindle as a result of that problem alone. But if so, that decline is many years away. The industry is responding to the environmental pressures it faces: it's experimenting with feed supplements and genetically modified feeds that reduce methane production; it's looking for ways to reduce waste and maximize productivity per animal; the USDA is promoting anaerobic digesters that convert manure into energy that can be used on the farm, thereby reducing overall carbon footprint.⁴ In

³If this is indeed the right interpretation, then the argument bears some affinity with the line in [10]. ⁴On the first and third points, see https://www.agric.wa.gov.au/climate-change/carbon-farmingreducing-methane-emissions-cattle-using-feed-additives and https://www.americanbiogascouncil. org/pdf/Biogas-Roadmap.pdf.

such circumstances, it would be a mistake to focus exclusively on the question of how to end animal farming. Additionally, we need to consider how animal farming should proceed. That is, when advocates consider the many options open to those who design intensive systems, we should ask which are preferable in terms of animal welfare and then seek to influence the industry in favor of higher welfare possibilities.

Many welfarists agree and so promote various welfare reforms: larger cages for laying hens, slow growth breeds, etc. And some of these changes are implemented: consider the recent passing of Proposition 12 in California, which enacted minimum standards on the conditions in which farmed animals are confined. However, there are significant drawbacks to an exclusive focus on these conventional improvements. For instance, when we pursue such reforms politically, they are only feasible in relatively liberal states. In the USA alone, then, billions of animals don't benefit from them. This problem can be addressed by corporate campaigns, where advocates convince companies to promise to source their animal products from farms that meet certain welfare standards. However, whatever standards these companies want their suppliers to meet, the suppliers don't always come through, as revealed by recent investigations into farms that Whole Foods uses.⁵ What's more, as intensive animal agriculture expands in South America, Asia, and Africa, US- and EU-based legal and corporate campaigns affect a smaller and smaller percentage of farmed animals.

What other strategies are available? The one that seems to be getting the most attention is "cultured meat" (or "clean meat" or "synthetic meat"), motivated by the thought that animal agriculture is most likely to be undone via direct competition.⁶ If it turns out that we can grow meat without animals at massive scales, and the process is both less expensive and better for the environment than the *status quo*, perhaps the industry will end entirely—or, at least, shift in a dramatic way.

There are, however, some reasons to be skeptical. First, even if cultured meat takes off in developed countries, it will be a long time before it becomes standard in developing ones, which are unlikely to adopt high-tech programs of this kind in the short term. Second, we shouldn't underestimate the significant labeling and regulatory battle that is bound to occur in developed countries. There have already been some initial salvos, with industry groups arguing that "meat" should be defined more precisely.⁷

Third, there is absolutely no reason to think that the massive system devoted to animal agriculture is close to being dismantled or that once the process begins, it will be dismantled overnight. It's crucial to remember that the task is not simply to produce cultured animal protein. That's being done, though at great cost and on a small scale. The task is to produce cultured animal protein (a) that cooks and eats like conventional meat and (b) that is no more expensive—and ideally cheaper—than

⁵https://theintercept.com/2017/09/15/whole-foods-free-range-chicken-animal-rights/

⁶See, e.g., the optimism that's obvious in [12].

⁷https://qz.com/1205165/the-us-department-of-agriculture-is-being-asked-to-differentiate-beef-from-clean-meat/

conventional meat. At present, no one knows how to make cultured meat that tastes like sirloin steak; at best, companies can imitate chicken nuggets and chorizo. And we are a very long way from price parity, much less the production of a cheaper product at enormous scales. What's more, after the technology improves, there will still be an extended period of consumer acclimation to a new product category. At the same time, there will be a predictable struggle during which traditional producers do their best to preserve the dominance of their industry, invoking all the legal, economic, and rhetorical tools available to them. (It's easy to imagine advertisements that involve vague appeals to America's heartland, rural values, and the perils of having Silicon Valley take over the food industry. Much of this will be hypocritical, but that won't make it any less persuasive to a large swath of the American public.) Of course, these aren't reasons to think that cultured meat will *never* achieve dominance, but they are reasons to think that such an outcome is at least a generation or two out. In the interim, there are trillions of animal to consider.

Animal welfare advocates might insist that there are all the same reasons to worry about disenhancing animals. But I doubt that this is true. Obviously, there will be consumer resistance to some modifications. However, there won't necessarily be consumer resistance everywhere. US consumers, and even Western consumers generally, shouldn't occupy all our attention. Instead, we should keep in mind Chinese and African consumers, as that's where intensive animal agriculture is growing the fastest [11, 13]. Moreover, blind chickens are sympathy inducing, but other modifications won't raise the same red flags. For instance, it may be possible to moderate corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) levels in pigs via genetic interventions. CRH affects cortisol production and behavioral displays of stress [14], increased CRH receptors are linked to abnormal sow behavior and higher piglet mortality [15], and high levels of CRH are linked to depression in mice and rats [16]. Reducing CRH levels is associated with more moderate stress responses, partially evinced by a willingness to feed again more quickly [17]. However, it's also a form of disenhancement, since reducing those levels reduces activity levels generally. Obviously, there's much more research that needs to be done on this front, but it's possible that this kind of modification may improve both welfare and productivity: the former, by directly reducing stress in pigs and by reducing the aggression caused by stress, and the latter, by increasing weight gain and decreasing premature death (relative, of course, to what's already a premature death). US consumers may not react very strongly to such genetic modifications. And, of course, the industry will deploy its powerful lobbying resources to block labeling requirements, promote images of intensive animal agriculture as humane, and enjoy major price advantages for the foreseeable future.

Admittedly, there are legitimate worries about disenhanced animals being patented. This occurred for the first time for any food animal in 2015, when the FDA granted a patent to AquaBounty Technologies for AquaAdvantage Salmon (US5545808A), a fish that's been genetically engineered to reach slaughter weight in half the time of conventional breeds. Will this limit the scope of disenhanced animals in the industry, since proprietary breeds will be limited to particular companies? That's certainly a possibility. However, given the way that the industry has been consolidated over the last 75 years, there are individual corporations that determine the fates of millions—if not billions—of animals per year. So, even if it's the case that a single corporation decides to use a particular kind of disenhanced animal, the difference in aggregate welfare could be quite significant. Moreover, it's worth remembering that quite a lot of research on new breeds isn't done by private corporations, but by the USDA itself—perhaps most notably at the US Meat Animal Research Center, which aims to develop "new technology to solve high priority problems for the US beef, sheep, and swine industries," with the more specific goal being "to increase efficiency of production while maintaining a lean, high quality, safe product."⁸ Since this research is done with the aim of benefiting the US industry as a whole, some disenhancements will be available to domestic producers generally.

For all I've said so far, we still might doubt that there will be much interest in disenhancing animals and so doubt that this specific research will even happen. But disenhancement fits neatly with a major current trend in the industry: namely, the push toward "sustainable intensification."⁹ There is significant debate about exactly what the phrase means, but the general thought is that, in response to growing population and environmental pressures, the goal should be to increase productivity while avoiding increases in land use, feed, water, and so on. Obviously, sustainable intensification is not about improving animal welfare: instead, it's about increasing efficiency, where the aim is maximizing the outputs relative to the inputs. But that also means that there's an economic incentive to adopt any disenhanced breed that helps achieve this goal.¹⁰ It may not be politically feasible to ban the practices that ought to be banned, corporate promises can be broken, and cultured meat is a long way from market dominance. However, if new breeds are better for the bottom line, then industry support seems more likely.

This matters when we consider the various strategies that advocates have for improving the welfare of animals. The long-term goal, of course, is to prevent animals from being in intensive facilities in the first place. But moral deliberation isn't just about setting long-term goals: it should guide action in the short term as well, making implementability highly relevant to our all-things-considered judgments about what ought to be done. If there is potential interest from the industry, then that matters in assessing what ought to be done.

With all this in mind, consider the following. Suppose we know that, for all practical purposes, there is no way to avoid cages for layers for the foreseeable future. Suppose further that there are two equally productive breeds, one with high levels of cortisol when caged and one with low levels of cortisol when caged. It

⁸See https://www.ars.usda.gov/plains-area/clay-center-ne/marc/. To be clear, I'm not claiming that the current research at USMARC improves animal welfare on net. I'm suggesting that USMARC is probably the kind of place where people would be willing to explore disenhancing animals and that given their aims, breeds with those disenhancements would likely become available to many US producers.

⁹For an overview, see [18].

¹⁰Plainly, economic incentives aren't *generally* aligned with animal welfare, and I'm not suggesting as much. I'm only saying that they *can* be so aligned, and this might be one of those cases.

seems obvious that in such circumstances, we would have a very good reason to encourage producers to raise the low-cortisol breed rather than the high-cortisol breed. This is true even if the low-cortisol chickens would probably never be selected for in the wild, and the resulting chickens will be further from the species-typical ideal as a result. Moreover, it's true even though breeding birds with low cortisol is, in some sense, the wrong response to the problem: producers ought to expand cages, but since they won't, we can encourage them to breed animals that are psychologically better suited to the cages that they're willing to provide.

The point is just this. There may well be ways of disenhancing animals that leave us with essentially this choice, and given that, it's clear what we ought to encourage producers to do. When it's all but certain that producers aren't going to rework chicken sheds and feedlots in ways that serve the interests of livestock, it's permissible to encourage them to find ways to engineer animals to fit agricultural environments, assuming that total welfare is higher as a result.

8.3 Getting Perspective on Disenhancement

The above parallel isn't exact, as no one needs to create the new breed in the original scenario. Moreover, as I said at the outset, I grant that creating disenhanced animals is the wrong way to respond to the harms that are part and parcel of intensive animal agriculture. But it's also easy to overestimate the badness of disenhancement. We can forget the significance of the non-identity problem, we can underestimate the quality of the lives available to disenhanced animals, we can overlook the way that disenhancing animals may result in less wrongdoing overall, and we can underestimate the costs of not having disenhanced animals.

8.3.1 The Non-identity "Problem"

First, Clare Palmer [19] observes that we shouldn't frame the issue as a trade-off between having (what would otherwise be) a valuable capacity, on the one hand, and improving welfare, on the other. Given the non-identity problem, we should frame things in terms of the ethics of bringing certain animals into existence. (So, the parallel in the last section is closer than it first appears to be.)

In short, the non-identity "problem" is that there are certain person-creating actions that are intuitively wrong and yet don't seem to harm anyone. Consider, for instance, a woman who is interested in getting pregnant. She's currently on a medication known to cause nontrivial birth defects. Her doctor tells her that if she switches to an equally good alternative medication and waits a month, the old drug will be gone from her system and she can conceive with no risk to the fetus. A month wouldn't make any difference to her plans, and her partner is willing to do whatever she prefers. But she decides to ignore the doctor's advice, stay on her current medication, and conceive. Many people judge that this is wrong: she should have

waited. But had she waited, she wouldn't have spared the very same fetus from a birth defect, but instead would have conceived an entirely different child. The fetus she *actually* conceived simply wouldn't have existed if she'd waited; the only way for *him* to come into existence is for him to be conceived at a time that involves the relevant risk. If actions are only wrong if they make someone worse off, then she didn't act wrongly, as no one was made worse off.

There are deep disagreements about how to understand such cases. However, there needn't be a puzzle: we can simply accept that some of our intuitive judgments are mistaken, and what seems impermissible is, in fact, morally aboveboard [20]. I'm not recommending this as a general approach to the non-identity problem, but I am suggesting that it's worth considering for nonhuman animals. For instance, perhaps it matters that human beings have concepts like *my first child* and *future generations*, which inform the way that we relate to the beings to whom we apply those notions. These sorts of differences between human and nonhuman animals may explain why there are deontic or virtue-based constraints on how we treat one another that don't apply to our treatment of nonhuman beings.

At this point, of course, this is only speculation: it would take me too far afield to explore this hypothesis in any detail. However, if this is indeed a reasonable way to think about cases involving nonhuman animals, then we can observe that disenhanced animals simply won't exist if we don't create them: it isn't as though there are particular individuals who are going to come into existence either way, and the only question is whether they will have certain capacities or lack them.¹¹ Instead, we are making the choice between creating animals who are more or less well suited to the environment in which they're going to live, where coming into existence as a "disenhanced" animal doesn't actually involve making the animal worse off than she would otherwise be—as there is no other way for her to be.

Of course, we certainly aren't *benefiting* the animals we bring into existence: if it's indeed true that there is no other way for a particular animal to have been, then she isn't better off than she would've been. Moreover, she's likely to suffer at the hands of producers, and that's clearly bad. But I don't need the claim that disenhanced animals are better off than they otherwise would be or the claim that they won't suffer. I only need the claim that they will suffer less than conventional animals. With that claim available, then the difference in total suffering provides the reason to advocate for the creation of disenhanced animals.¹²

¹¹Note that we might be willing to go this route for animals, even if we aren't sure that it's the right story for human beings, for whatever reason.

¹²Now, Schultz-Bergin [9] suggests that the non-identity problem creates no trouble for his grouporiented account either—which, recall, is designed to provide a basis for criticizing disenhancement quite apart from any empirical concerns about its prospects. On his view, the idea is that disenhanced animals are members of a group that has suffered injustices, so it doesn't matter that they weren't individually harmed by various modifications. But notice that thinking in terms of group membership makes a great deal of sense when we are focused on human beings: we care deeply about our identities, and we form them in part by aligning ourselves with temporally extended groups. However, such groups are human artifacts, and it's deeply implausible that farmed

8.3.2 Perfectionism

Second, and relatedly, we might presume that even if total welfare would be higher in a population of disenhanced animals, they would be badly off by some perfectionist standard, as they would lack some capacity that, objectively, it's valuable to have. That alone would provide some reason to worry about advocating for disenhancement. However, even if we grant the relevant version of perfectionism, the worry isn't yet well motivated. Disability in one respect can be a net enhancement, insofar as it enables a form of life that's valuable in its own right and was otherwise unavailable. This is a point that disability rights advocates have been making for years: blindness or deafness needn't be construed as a deprivation, but rather as an enabling condition for other goods. Shriver and McConnachie [22, p. 171] put the point well:

...it seems likely that armchair assumptions that the welfare of genetically engineered animals is "diminished" are likely to be vulnerable to similar mistakes as armchair assessments about the well-being of people under various conditions. Our intuitions in both cases can be seriously biased by our imagining how we would feel immediately after losing one of our own capacities. Just as we should take seriously the testimony of disability advocates that blind humans are capable of living as rich and emotionally rewarding lives as sighted humans, we should also recognize that there is no good reason to assume, prior to empirical evidence, that blind chickens, or dehorned cattle, or short-beaked chickens, will have lower wellbeing than other animals. The point here is not, of course, that genetic modifications that eliminate capacities cannot diminish animals' welfare, but only that we should not assume so in the absence of empirical evidence based on current best practices in the field of animal welfare.

For instance, it's important to recall that to experience the world without visual input can be to experience other aspects of it much more vividly, as other perceptual abilities and cognitive capacities become more prominent in the absence of sight. Likewise, experiencing others without visual input can create new relational

animals care about them, not least because it's doubtful that they can form the relevant concepts. (If we were farming cetaceans or nonhuman primates, the story might be different.) So, it's hard to see why we should think of them as belonging to groups that could ground the conclusion that Schultz-Bergin wants. Someone might object that this will have objectionable results for populations of humans with significant cognitive disabilities: if it turns out that they also don't care about certain temporally extended groups, then we won't be able to appeal to them to ground certain duties of justice. But this seems like exactly the right consequence to me. Our dutieswhether of justice or anything else-are sensitive to the interests of the relevant beings. If you are the kind of being who identifies with an historical group, then you have an interest in the degree to which others respect that identification. If you don't, then you have no such interest. (Of course, others might have that interest on your behalf: there might be some instrumental value to treating humans with significant cognitive disabilities as though they have an interest that they lack. But there are also risks associated with such moves, as they can make us insensitive to the interests of current individuals.) All that said, I think it's also worth noting that we should be very careful about denying that various human individuals have the capacity to identify with certain human groups. For discussion of this point, see Eva Kittay's contribution to [21], as well as the essays in Part IV of that book.

possibilities. Skin color becomes much less interesting than skin texture; facial symmetry might be less interesting than personal fragrance. Of course, chickens and pigs in agricultural contexts don't need to get over racism and unrealistic standards of beauty. But the point isn't that our hang-ups are also theirs. Rather, the point is that being "disenhanced" isn't necessarily a net loss: depending on the capacities that remain, as well as on contextual factors, it can be a net gain. With respect to animals in intensive agricultural environments, to experience the world with less stress probably means having gentler interactions between conspecifics. And in environments where animal sociality is generally undervalued, disenhancement in one respect can be enhancement in another, enabling connections between animals that can be sources of pleasure and comfort.

Of course, disenhancement in one respect can simply be disenhancement in two respects: aggression can be an important part of animal sociality (as, e.g., groups of chickens establish a pecking order or groups of pigs establish relative dominance relations), and eliminating it might relieve the animals of some pain only at the cost of isolating them from one another. This risk is real, but in the context of animal agriculture, it's difficult to assess its severity, as the environment is so hostile to sociality in the first place. So, although it's a genuine concern, I submit that it's one to be addressed by breeding and observing different groups of animals, rather than by trying to predict how their social lives may or may not be affected.

Seen from this perspective, we now face the hard question of whether some particular disenhancement—e.g., knocking pain out of livestock, as Shriver [12] discusses, or reducing CRH levels—would allow them to live lives that are as rich, or even richer on balance, than their unmodified counterparts. By and large, we don't have the empirical information required to answer this question. However, there are two things to keep in mind here.

For starters, and recalling the worries about blind chickens that Sandøe et al. [4] summarize, it's important to note that different disenhancements may require minor modifications to housing conditions. If blind chickens struggle to find feed, then we might conclude that we shouldn't create blind chickens. But that doesn't follow until we've checked to see whether there are minor ways of adjusting feed delivery systems to accommodate hens' limited abilities. If there aren't, then there aren't. However, if there are, and if blind chickens are more productive in these adjusted surroundings than are their sighted counterparts, producers will have reason to adopt the changes. The point isn't that it's easy to address these kinds of welfare problems; it probably won't be. Rather, the point is just that "engineering animals to fit environments" doesn't necessarily preclude making any changes at all to the environments.

Additionally, as Shriver and McConnachie [22, p. 176] observe, research on disenhancement is already happening, though generally not in agricultural contexts. Instead, this research is happening in biomedical contexts:

John Wood at University College London has created a strain of mice that mimic humans who are born without the ability to feel pain... [These] humans and mice have increased endogenous opioids that act as painkillers throughout their lives and for reasons that are not entirely understood they fail to develop a tolerance for the opioids. One problem with using Wood's mice as a model for research... is [that] in the absence of a suffering signal, the animals tend to cause serious self-harm. However, investigations are currently underway to see if gene editing could be used to produce mice that are not pain-free from birth, but who rather can be triggered to be pain free via the introduction of an inert bio-compound. It is thus easy to see how research on using gene editing to improve welfare could progress in the laboratory and later be translated to agricultural settings.

Similar neurological interventions are conceivable. Researchers use pigs as models for studying dementia, Alzheimer's, and other degenerative cognitive disorders. If it turns out that limiting the short-term memories of pigs actually makes them less stressed in conditions that are relevantly similar to those they would experience on a Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation (CAFO), then that is a reason to limit the short-term memories of pigs. To be clear, I am not claiming that this research is morally justified. However, if researchers are going to create animals with these sorts of conditions, then information about their welfare can be gleaned for agricultural purposes.

Plainly, none of this shows that any particular strategy for disenhancing animals will improve welfare. However, the goal is not to establish any such conclusion. Instead, the goal here is to undermine the intuition that it isn't worth advocating for research on disenhancement. The considerations sketched here help to shift the burden.

8.3.3 A Route to Permissible Use

Third, we should note that as long as we aren't opposed to animal use per se, we can view disenhancement as the attempt to create beings that we can use permissibly. Jeff McMahan [23, p. 73–74], for instance, imagines the following case:

Suppose that we could create a breed of animals genetically programmed to die at a comparatively early age, when their meat would taste best. We can then have a practice of benign carnivorism that would involve causing such animals to exist, raising them for a certain period in conditions in which they would be content, and then simply collecting their bodies for human consumption once they died. Such a practice would not be bad for the animals and would arguably be good for them, since they would have lives worth living and would not have existed at all if not for the practice. And the practice would not involve doing anything to them that would be against their interests, such as killing them.

Of course, McMahan doesn't believe that animals have rights, but even those committed to animal rights can accept views of this kind, since not all conceptions of rights preclude all use. Alasdair Cochrane [24], for instance, develops an interest-based account of rights; on his view, although animals have an interest in not being harmed, and have rights protecting that interest, they don't have an intrinsic interest in not being used. As a result, as long as all their other interests are respected, he thinks that we may use animals in ways that benefit us, even to the point of farming them for their corpses—i.e., giving animals excellent lives and then only consuming

their bodies after they die natural deaths. He doesn't explicitly address the possibility of genetically modifying animals for this purpose, he doesn't think that anyone is doing this right now, and he isn't suggesting that such a model would be economically viable. But the point here is just that you can probably develop the framework in a way that's consistent with McMahan's scenario being permissible.

Obviously, though, most disenhanced animals won't actually be used permissibly: there will still be significant conflicts between human and animal interests, and those will generally be resolved in favor of humans. (However, there may be fewer impermissible resolutions if disenhanced animals lack some of the properties in virtue of which conventional animals deserve greater moral consideration. If disenhanced animals are less morally important than their conventional alternatives, then it may be easier to justify their use in various contexts.) But there are plenty of cases where it's obvious, even from an animal-centric perspective, that we should prefer suboptimal-but-better-than-the-status-quo options: consider, for instance, bivalve consumption [25] and eating beef over chicken [26]. If producers are not going to do what they ought to do, then we ought to encourage them to do the next best thing. And in this case, the next best thing is disenhancing animals. That is, in the nonideal circumstances in which we live, how far can we get the industry to go toward respecting the interests or rights of animals while raising them for food? If we think about disenhancement in these terms, then it becomes the attempt to move the industry in the direction of farming species that aren't made worse off by our farming them. Of the aims that producers might have, that's more admirable than many of the realistic alternatives.

8.4 Avoiding Other Costs

Finally, it's important to note that there are very real costs of *not* creating disenhanced animals. Producers are going to continue to look for ways to improve productivity. In 2015, for instance, researchers at Seoul National University produced pigs with approximately double the muscle mass of ordinary pigs.¹³ Their large muscles create complications during birth, less than half survived to 8 months, and of the ones that did, the researchers only considered one of them healthy. Because the researchers haven't published much information about the health and welfare of these animals, we can only guess at their medical issues. However, the mortality rate and health assessment suggests that they are worse off than their unmodified peers. And if it turns out that breeding such animals is ultimately more profitable, due to the amount of meat that each animal offers, it wouldn't be surprising if producers adopt this breed or a similar one.

Cases of this kind are important reminders that genetic modification is bound to be an important part of the industry. From the perspective of agribusiness, the question is not *whether* to modify animals, but *how* to modify them. If the industry

¹³ https://www.nature.com/news/super-muscly-pigs-created-by-small-genetic-tweak-1.17874

can find ways of disenhancing animals that improve welfare while simultaneously increasing productivity, then they may well be willing to adopt them and perhaps more willing if animal welfare advocates get behind those modifications. This doesn't mean, of course, that every successful modification is going to be adopted. Scientists at the University of Guelph created Enviropigs, which excreted waste containing 60% less phosphorus than conventional pigs [27]. However, Enviropigs aren't being bred for food anywhere today, and the University euthanized the last one in 2012. So, researchers may well figure out a way to "improve" animals along some dimension without any significant market response; there are certainly going to be cases where it would be politically unwise for industries to switch to the relevant breed. But this is just a reason for promoting research on genetic modifications that are more palatable to consumers and as a result more attractive to producers—not a reason to avoid doing such research in the first place.

Additionally, we should remember that there is going to be an ongoing tension between increasing the productivity of particular animals (getting more meat, milk, or eggs from an individual) and increasing the productivity of the barn (getting more meat, milk, or eggs overall, accomplished by increasing the number of individuals and tolerating a higher mortality rate). I take it that, from any animal-centric perspective, the goal should be to minimize the number of animals harmed in food production and maximize the welfare of those who are so used. Disenhancement can be a route to this goal. Less stressed animals are less likely to die prematurely (again, relative to their already premature deaths), partially because they are less vulnerable to disease, and any reduction in premature mortality is a productivity improvement at the barn level. They may also be more productive at the individual level, since stress and illness tend to reduce feeding rates.

Indeed, even if we ignore the welfare of farmed animals, we still have an animalcentric reason to hope that producers are indeed able to sustainably intensify animal agriculture—in the sense of increasing productivity while keeping input levels constant. After all, their failure doesn't mean the immediate end of animal farming, but rather increased inputs. And that, of course, simply means more land devoted to both feed production and/or grazing, both of which are bad for wild animals, as well as more greenhouse gas emissions. Those greenhouse gas emissions exacerbate the problem of climate change, of which wild animals are also victims. So although it's bad that so many animals are being harmed in the context of animal agriculture, it would be even worse if all those animals were being harmed and then wild animals were also to face unnecessary suffering.

8.5 Conclusion

It seems to me, therefore, that welfarists may indeed encourage research on disenhancing animals, even if no particular disenhancement is currently promising and even if Schultz-Bergin is right that disenhancement would be the wrong response to an historical injustice. Again, none of the above shows that disenhancing animals is permissible. But when choosing advocacy strategies in nonideal circumstances, questions about permissibility aren't particularly interesting, and we should ignore them. When we know that people won't do what they ought to do, the question is not what they *may* do. Instead, the question is what we can get them to do relative to their willingness to submit to morality. I've been arguing that animal welfare advocates may encourage those involved in animal agriculture to research—and, if successful, ultimately pursue—disenhancement.

In an essay that's generally supportive of animal sanctuaries, Karen Emmerman [28, p. 228] still describes them as "imperfect solutions to horrific problems." I'm not sure that I concur with that assessment of animal sanctuaries, but I appreciate her willingness to stand behind a solution that is, by her own lights, the best of a bad lot. It reflects a willingness to acknowledge that when the world is broken, moral decision-making is tragic. And in that spirit, I say both that it's wrong to create psychologically disenhanced animals and that we may encourage the industry to do it.

Acknowledgment Thanks to the editors for detailed and thoughtful comments on earlier drafts of this chapter.

References

- 1. Beilharz RG, Zeeb K. Applied ethology and animal welfare. Appl Anim Ethol. 1981;7:3–10.
- 2. Rollin B. Animal production and the new social ethic for animals. J Soc Philos. 1994;25:71–83.
- 3. Sandøe P, et al. Staying good while playing god—the ethics of breeding farm animals. Anim Welf. 1999;8:313–28.
- 4. Sandøe P, et al. The blind hens' challenge—does it undermine the view that only welfare matters in out dealings with animals? Environ Values. 2014;23:727–42.
- 5. Ali A, Cheng KM. Early egg production in genetically blind (rc/rc) chickens in comparison with sighted (rc+/rc) controls. Poult Sci Rev. 1985;64:789–94.
- 6. Thompson PB. The opposite of human enhancement: nanotechnology and the blind chicken problem. NanoEthics. 2008;2:305–16.
- 7. Henschke A. Making sense of animal disenhancement. NanoEthics. 2012;6:55-64.
- Schultz-Bergin M. Making better sense of animal disenhancement: a reply to Henschke. NanoEthics. 2014;8:101–9.
- 9. Schultz-Bergin M. The dignity of diminished animals: species norms and engineering to improve welfare. Ethical Theory Moral Pract. 2017;20:843–56.
- Bramble B. Lab-ground meat could let humanity ignore a serious moral failing. The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/lab-grown-meat-could-let-humanity-ignore-a-serious-moralfailing-88909. Accessed 19 Nov 2018.
- 11. Sans P, Combris P. World meat consumption patterns: an overview of the last fifty years (1961–2011). Meat Sci. 2015;109:106–11.
- Shriver A. Knocking out pain in livestock: can technology succeed where morality has stalled? Neuroethics. 2009;2:115–24.
- Desiere S, et al. Assessing current and future meat and fish consumption in Sub-Sahara Africa: learnings from FAO Food Balance Sheets and LSMS household survey data. Glob Food Sec. 2018;16:116–26.
- 14. Holsboer F. The rationale for corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor (CRH-R) antagonists to treat depression and anxiety. J Psychiatr Res. 1999;33:181–214.
- 15. Rutherford KMD, et al. Prenatal stress produces anxiety prone female offspring and impaired maternal behaviour in the domestic pig. Physiol Behav. 2014;129:255–64.

- Johnson RW, et al. Intracerebroventricular injection of corticotropin-releasing hormone in the pig: acute effects on behavior, adrenocorticotropin secretion, and immune suppression. Endocrinology. 1994;135:642–8.
- Choi I, Bates RO, Raney NE, Ernst CW. Association of a corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 2 (CRHR2) polymorphism with carcass merit, meat quality, and stress response traits in pigs. Can J Anim Sci. 2017;97:536–40.
- 18. Pretty J, Bharucha Z. Sustainable intensification of agriculture. London: Routledge; 2018.
- Palmer C. Animal Disenhancement and the non-identity problem: a response to Thompson. NanoEthics. 2011;5:43–8.
- 20. Boonin D. How to solve the non-identity problem. Public Aff Q. 2008;22:129-59.
- 21. Kittay E, Carlson L. Cognitive disability and its challenge to moral philosophy. New York: Blackwell; 2010.
- Shriver A, McConnachie E. Genetically modifying livestock for improved welfare: a path forward. J Agric Environ Ethics. 2018;31:161–80.
- 23. McMahan J. Eating animals the nice way. Daedalus. 2008;137:66-76.
- 24. Cochrane A. Animal rights without liberation. New York: Columbia University Press; 2012.
- 25. Elder M, Jacquet J, Sebo J. Bivalves are better. Solutions. 2017;7:1.
- 26. McAskill W. In effective reducetarianism. In: Katemen B, editor. The reducetarian solution. New York: The Free Press; 2017.
- 27. Golovan SP, et al. Pigs expressing salivary phytase produce low phosphorus manure through complete digestion of dietary phytate. Nat Biotechnol. 2001;19:741–5.
- Emmerman K. Sanctuary, not remedy. In: Gruen L, editor. The ethics of captivity. New York: Oxford University Press; 2014. p. 251–306.



9

The Four Cs of Modern (Neuro)ethology and Neuroethics: Cognition, Complexity, Conation, and Culture

Simon Gadbois

Abstract

Most of the modern arguments for or against the use of animals in research have a tendency to focus on animals' cognitive and metacognitive abilities or seem to make consciousness and self-awareness prerequisites for an argument for the ethical treatment of animals. In the age of animal well-being (as opposed to their mere welfare), a modern neuroethological and post-cognitivist perspective on the animal mind may be fruitful. Unfortunately, the popularization of science (a strong venture in animal behavior and neuroscience) often weakens potentially good arguments and disfigures the science, the data, and the facts, adding only confusion to the issues at hand and creating myths that stall the progress of the ethical matters being discussed. We will discuss four main points: (1) cognitive perspectives in animal behavior emerged in ethology and comparative psychology and may have sidetracked some of the most salient issues relevant to neuroethics; (2) complex behaviors can emerge from simple brains, bridging the "mind gap" between human and nonhuman animals; (3) a conative approach to the behavioral sciences and neurosciences (already historically well established) is relevant to animal well-being and welfare in defining what animals want; (4) social neuroscience, behavioral plasticity, and the emergence of an understanding of animal culture narrow the divide between what we always assumed was uniquely human (species-specific behavioral flexibility and diversity).

S. Gadbois (🖂)

Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada e-mail: Simon.Gadbois@dal.ca

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

This title is inspired by John Fentress' (1989) "Comparative Coordination (A Story of Three Little P'S in Behavior)". The paper discussed Process, Patterns and Phenotype as the fundamental constructs of behavior patterns in animals and influenced the rest of my thinking about animal behavior. [1]

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_9

Keywords

 $Conation \cdot Cognition \cdot Culture \cdot Complexity \cdot Affective neuroscience \cdot Social neuroscience$

9.1 Introduction: A General Historical Commentary and a Critique of Pop-Neuroscience

Neuroscience, the behavioral sciences, and the cognitive sciences share a relatively short yet tumultuous history. There are many books and textbooks covering the history of psychology, for psychologists are remarkably introspective and indulge in the history of their science more than neuroscientists or biologists. This précis of the history of the sciences mentioned above will be brief (and the reader is referred to [2] for more).

In 1879, "Experimental Psychology" began to individuate from philosophy, seeking to become a science in its own right. The first laboratory of Experimental Psychology was founded in Germany. At that time, much of psychology was also about neurophysiology. Indeed, the field of Physiological Psychology was fully integrated into "Experimental Psychology." Those early experimental psychologists were from the school of Structuralism. Soon after, Americans, influenced by William James, started the school of Functionalism (also highly influenced by Darwin). Gestalt psychologists were also influential, including Köhler (1887-1967), with his observations on insight in chimpanzees during problem-solving tasks. The most relevant (and persistent) schools of thought for our discussion are without a doubt Behaviorism and Cognitivism. Inspired by Pavlov's classical conditioning principles, Watson envisioned a science of psychology focused only on behavior or what can be observed directly without hypothetical constructs or intervening variables. Also inspired by Thorndike (a Functionalist), the law of effect, and the principles of trial and error learning, Behaviorism proposed a form of learning, instrumental or operant conditioning, based on reinforcement. The stimulusresponse-consequence (S-R-C) formulation of behavior was proposed by Skinner, Hull, Spence, and others. Behaviorism flourished in the USA, but encountered some resistance in Europe, from Gestaltism, and North America, from Cognitivism.

Ethologists also disagreed with Behaviorists. Although both Behaviorists and ethologists agreed that the focus of their science was behavior, they had remarkably different takes on methodology and the nature of behavior. Animal psychologists of the early twentieth century (all Behaviorists at the time) were very much focused on laboratory studies, the use of the hypothetico-deductive method, a strong focus on nurture or acquired behaviors, and a propensity to support the "blank slate" argument. They were also more likely to be Cartesian dualists. Ethologists, being the early behavioral biologists—preceding by decades the behavioral ecologists that emanated from the sociobiological revolution of the 1960s and 1970s—were proponents of field research or studying animals in their natural environment. They used the inductive method to generalize from observations and had a strong focus on nature, or innate behaviors, developing sophisticated theories of instincts [3]. They were also more likely to be monists.

For decades the debates between ethologists and Behaviorist psychologists were numerous [4] and led to an interesting and fruitful synthesis [5, 6]. Then, according to some, as early as 1956 [7] Cognitivism emerged in the USA, influenced by Cybernetics and Information Theory. Cognitivism embraced a computer metaphor of the mind and adopted Systems Theory to solidify its scientific aspirations. Gestalt psychologists started the Cognitivist wave, as did Piaget (1896–1980) and Vygotsky (1896–1934) who had immense influence on cognitive psychology as a whole. Cognitivism commits a number of sins according to Behaviorists. First and foremost, cognitivists embrace mentalistic concepts and terms to explain behavior; they study, after all, intellectual processes (perception, attention, memory, problem solving, even language). Additionally, they are comfortable evoking mentalistic mechanisms, hypothetical constructs, and intervening variables, such as discussing "motivation" or "attention" and using "performance scores" to infer the existence of the underlying processes.

Cognitivism focuses on mental representations, making them a target of Behaviorists who insist that only observable or overt processes can be studied. Many Cognitivists claim that "covert processes," such as thoughts, are behavior. This has been a fundamental disagreement between the two groups, one that we can be sensed today between behavioral neuroscientists (who are not Behaviorists per se) and cognitive neuroscientists.

Some Behaviorists, in different waves, questioned their position. Tolman (1886–1959) and his "cognitive maps" in rats navigating mazes is one of the best known examples. Krechevsky (1909–1977) developed the concept of "hypotheses" in rats, to account for the fact that rats make complex decisions with quick readjustments when wrong. Although not a Behaviorist, but certainly a comparative psychologist, Yerkes (1876–1956) offered the construct of "ideations" in primates. This led to an explosion of cognitive theorists among animal learning specialists. The late 1960s and early 1970s were particularly remarkable for the adoption of cognitive principles in animal learning. Mackintosh introduced an attentional theory of learning [8], and Honig introduced mnemonic concepts (working memory) from human cognitive psychology into animal learning in two books that signaled the birth of animal cognition from a psychological perspective [9, 10].

Ethology was slower to take up the Cognitivist perspective. Like Behaviorists, they focused on observable behavior, albeit in the natural environment of the animal. But testing hypotheses in field conditions is not easy, and despite the fact that ethology allows for the study of covert processes, it was not until Griffin that there was a "cognitive ethology" worth mentioning. Griffin's perspective was criticized by philosophers and psychologists alike, as much of his writing tends to conflate cognitive processes and consciousness [11–13]. The fields of *cognitive ecology*, *neuroecology* (both within behavioral ecology), *behavioral economics*, *neuroeconomics*, and *zoosemiotics* have since flourished and have helped situate a

cognitive and neurocognitive perspective within behavioral biology. In the remainder of this chapter, any mention of Behaviorism or Cognitivism refers to the perspectives mentioned above, entirely from the psychological perspective for Behaviorism and mostly from psychology for Cognitivism.

Not so long ago, the term "neuroscience" was quite marginal or unusual. It was not until the 1990s that the term was used systematically to define a science. It quickly defined multidisciplinary academic programs interested in the brain and slowly began to refer to a multidisciplinary science of the brain. The prefix "neuro" is already in use for neurobiology, neuroethology, and neurophysiology, and many neurosciences are historically broad in what they consider neuroscience. In psychology, for instance, "biological psychology" refers to a broadly biological take on psychology (from genetics to evolution and all aspects of the physiological underpinnings of behavior), while "physiological psychology" focuses on the neurophysiology, (neuro)endocrinology, metabolic physiology, and neuroimmunology of the brain-behavior system [14, 15]. Important historical distinctions exist, with related fields having their own perspectives on the brain-behavior issue. For example, neuropsychology is usually more clinical in its approach and studies neuropathologies or trauma to the brain. Psychophysiology focuses on the autonomic nervous system, electrophysiological measures (galvanic skin response, heart rate, blood pressure, etc.; essentially, elements of the polygraph or lie detector), and some central nervous system responses (EEG, evoked potentials, etc.) mostly in a noninvasive manner. A multitude of domains looking at sub-systems have flourished over the years, such as psychoneuroimmunology and (neuro)psychopharmacology. The prefixes "neuro" and "psycho" were often used together. Then something peculiar happened. "Neuroscience"-which is really a large number of neurosciences with a converging interest on the brain-became the million dollar word. It was not many sciences of the brain anymore; it was *the* science of the brain. It still includes diverse departments and disciplines, including neurotheology, neurophilosophy, neurosemiotics, neuroeconomics, neuroecology, neurolinguistics, and neuroethics, and more. But in the late 1990s and early 2000s, the term neuroscience became both unifying and, sometimes paradoxically, dividing.

In 1997, at the Society for Neuroscience in New Orleans, a presenter commented that over 50% of the membership was from Psychology departments. Although I have not been able to retrace the source, that number stuck with me, and a quick historical overview of the neurosciences suggests the massive influence of biological/physiological psychology. But the *Zeitgeist* of the 1990s eventually incited academic psychology became "behavioral neuroscience," "cognitive neuroscience," "social neuroscience," "affective neuroscience," etc., depending on the speciality and perspective of the researchers involved. This terminological change had a profound impact on the popular view of psychology and neuroscience. Let me offer an example. Donald Hebb (1904–1985) [16, 17], one of the most cited psychologists and neuroscientists ever owing to his contribution to the understanding of natural neural networks or the "cell assembly" in the 1940s and 1950s [18], is mysteriously labeled as a "mere psychologist" or "just a psychologist" in two

popular bestsellers. In The Mind and the Brain: Neuroplasticity and the Power of *Mental Force* [19], it is said that "Hebb, after all, was a mere psychologist, not a neuroscientist" (p. 107). Train Your Mind, Change Your Brain [20] claims that "It took years for synaptic plasticity to catch-on. Partly because Hebb was 'just' a psychologist and not a neuroscientist, brain researchers were slow to take him seriously." Both quotes demonstrate the lack of understanding of what neuroscience actually is, as well as its origins and history. The same book refers to William James as "only' a psychologist, not a neurologist" (p. 5) and describes psychologist Edward Taub as "an outsider of the elite field of neuroscience, a psychologist..." (p. 39). This vision has hurt neuroscience more than psychology. Neuroscience is a multidisciplinary discipline, or, better, a collection of disciplines, and could have benefited from emphasizing the plurality of the "neurosciences." After all, as far as behavior goes, Shepherd [21] summarizes the purpose and raison d'être of neuroscience: "Nothing in neurobiology makes sense except in the light of behavior" (p. 9). He continues, "... behavior is a product of nervous system organization and is also an agent in moulding that organization." There is no justification, in science or pop-science, for a disconnection between the behavioral sciences and the neurosciences, as they share a common history, thanks to psychology and ethology. Psychology and ethology, as behavioral sciences, are neurosciences. Similarly, the neurosciences should be considered behavioral sciences. Beyond "behavioral neuroscience," cognitive neuroscience, affective neuroscience, social neuroscience, and other areas of the neurosciences were historically and epistemologically associated with psychology or ethology.

9.2 Cognition

9.2.1 An Epistemological Commentary

Modern neuroscience is at a crossroads. Almost 30 years since the beginning of the "decade of the brain"¹ neuroscience is not the new kid on the block anymore. It has made its way deep into our understanding of the human condition, as well as our understanding of other animals, including the interpretation of their behavior in neuroethology and neuroecology. I present here a bottom-up perspective on behavior and the brain meant to highlight the similarities between humans and nonhumans and narrow or mitigate the perceived differences. The dangers of speciesism, both its anthropocentric and non-anthropocentric variety, and the idea of a human cognitive and moral hegemony, impact our use of animal models in neuroscience and the clinical sciences in general, but also our attitudes and beliefs surrounding pressing animal conservation issues all around the world.

Instead of emphasizing the exceptionality of humans, the relativist (nonpolarizing and hopefully nondogmatic) and synthetic/integrative perspective presented here

¹https://www.loc.gov/loc/brain/

points out the failures of a true dialectical synthesis. Despite having all the tools, data, and disciplines in place, we seem to keep on making the same points and emphasizing the same irrational arguments. The *scala naturae* is so ingrained in our perception and understanding of the nonhuman animal world that it is like walking on a moving sidewalk: We seem to quickly go somewhere with little legwork, but the essence of the problem stays the same—the achievement of a science-informed ethics is an illusion. As we make arguments to save the apes or the whales based on some exceptional socio-affective or cognitive feat, we undermine the rest of the animal kingdom. This attitude is institutionalized as well. For instance, in Canada (see the guidelines of the Canadian Council of Animal Care, CCAC²) and the EU [22] animal research ethics recognizes a fundamental qualitative and quantitative difference between vertebrates and invertebrates (with an intriguing exception for cephalopods).

The dialectical operation and epistemological development of the neurosciences (and behavioral sciences) seems to have resulted mostly in historical pendulum swings between false dichotomies (nature-nurture, innatism-behaviorism, behavior-ism-cognitivism, monism-dualism, overt behavior-covert behavior, etc.) that created a relatively sterile landscape with little common ground or synthesis. This chapter will present what some would describe as a *post-Cognitivist* view (since Cognitivism is also seen as anthropocentric and anthropogenic [23]), integrating some not-so-new but emergent perspectives in the behavioral sciences and neurosciences. Although not necessarily mainstream, and not necessarily that new (so I hesitate to use the other common label of "neo-Cognitivism"), post-Cognitivist schools are mostly reactionary to classical Cognitivism and often aggregate elements of sub-movements within mainstream schools.

9.2.2 A Personal Reflection

Many of the reflections presented here are personal and represent my struggle to make sense of the mainstream theories of the past centuries, as well as their updated versions. Having harmonized the approaches from neuroscience, ethology, and experimental and comparative psychology, a clash of ideas was inevitable. My academic trajectory forced me to face the contradictions and paradoxes of the mainstream schools of thought in all three fields. The malaise became more salient in the context of animal ethics and particularly invasive neuroscience.

I vividly remember my first week at the Canadian Centre for Wolf Research (CCWR) in the early 1990s. It was a surreal time for me as I was coming late into a childhood dream of working with wolves. At 11, I read Konrad Lorenz (*Man Meets Dog*, translated from the French *Tous les chiens, tous les chats* [24]) and was immediately taken by ethology and the idea of observing animals in order to understand their behavior. Before I was a doctoral student, I was mostly exposed

²https://www.ccac.ca

to lab rats (in behavioral pharmacology) and pigeons (in comparative cognition), as well as some research on human neurocognition. I had been mostly exposed to cognitive psychology and neuroscience, but also some neo-Behaviorism. I had always tried to integrate equal parts of experimental psychology, behavioral biology, and neuroscience in my interests in animal behavior. But beyond the disciplines, there was also a malaise surrounding the schools of thought that were dominant at the time. In 1992, after 6 years of undergraduate and master's work, as well as Skinner boxes and lab animals, I was up for a real challenge to some of my assumptions.

At the CCWR, I studied social and endocrinological factors in reproductive suppression of nonbreeders in wolf packs. The breeding season in wolves takes place during the winter, and the competition within sexes can be intense at times [25–27]. One morning, in the middle of an observation session, I declared out loud "it is all limbic!" It was a heartfelt epiphany from a former lab researcher hit by the reality of an animal in their natural environment, in their natural social system, doing their natural things, worrying about the basics of their existence and their core and basic motivations. Granted, the CCWR wolves were in an enclosure, but the 10 acres were heavily wooded, and not visited by humans other than the researchers, so they were left to self-regulate as much as possible (except for food we provided). I should not have been that surprised. If I read Lorenz, I ought to have known all the arguments for naturalistic and systematic observation of behavior and the harsh Lorenzian criticism of experimental comparative psychology. Yet, I was floored. For years, I had tried to reconceptualize the contradictions and paradoxes of my former training with the more trendy "cognitive" framework of the time. Behaviorism was never fond of neurophysiological explanations and constructs such as "emotions" and other mentalistic concepts. A wolf in its environment and a pigeon or rat in a Skinner box, stripped of the relevance of its innate behaviors, are two different universes.

9.2.3 The Battle of the Most Influential Theories of the Past Century

Of one thing I was sure, Behaviorism was not going to work for understanding lupine behavior. To this day, I am convinced that Behaviorism is viable as a pragmatic tool in training animals (especially pets) and as a formalist lab-based perspective on animal (and human) learning (e.g., visual discriminations with pigeons in a Skinner box). Beyond that, it (in its original version) falls short on a number of issues: the recognition of crucial hypothetical concepts and intervening variables to the study of behavior and, by extension, the "mind." Behavioral biology and much of comparative psychology have embraced Cognitivism over the years. More recognition that covert processes may be important to the understanding of behavior (emotions, motivations, and cognitions) have emerged, not to mention the rise of the neurosciences. Behaviorism struggled with two movements in the behavioral sciences: the classical ethology perspective of innate behaviors and how instincts can trump training (i.e., learning; see the classic by the Brelands on the



Fig. 9.1 The perspectives of the cognitive sciences, affective neurosciences, and post-Cognitivism in regard to the three components of the mind/brain

interference of fixed action patterns on learning simple tasks [28]) and the Cognitivist perspective, demonstrating intelligent behaviors such as problemsolving abilities in isolation and within social cooperation [29].

It is not *all* limbic, but there is no doubt that social interactions are heavily modulated by the limbic system. Panksepp [30] makes the point that the limbic system is the most consistently conserved or phylogenetically preserved part of the telencephalon and integral to social behavior and self-preservation. He also highlights the fact that emotions, in "lower" organisms (invertebrates and "lower" vertebrates), are clearly the basic mechanism for survival, self-preservation, and conservation. Although Panksepp does not deny the ability of "higher" vertebrates to assess and evaluate basic stimuli, threats, and emotions cognitively, he resists the idea that cognitive processes are supreme or even necessary for basic survival. In other words, limbic processes may supersede cognitive processes. This is not a popular view among Cognitivists, who have no problem suggesting that the study of emotions (or motivation for that matter) is a part of cognitive psychology or neuroscience [31, 32]. Figure 9.1 illustrates the view from modern cognitive science (a), in contrast with the affective neuroscience view (b). The last representation is the post-Cognitivist view (c).

In the late 1990s, affective factors were well recognized in the study of social dynamics and social neuroscience [30, 33]. The consensus among behavioral neuroscientists is that emotions are a fundamental dimension of the mind, as the Ancient Greeks knew very well. Modern psychology and neuroscience are founded on the triad of the mind so dear to the Ancient Greeks [34]: the affective (emotional),

the cognitive (intellectual), and the conative (motivational). Some modern research programs literally define the brain within the framework of those hypothetical constructs and elevate them to systemic entities. For example, Berridge, Robinson, and Aldridge [35] discuss the interaction among the "liking" system (affective component), the "wanting" system (motivational component), and the learning component. In other words, there is empirical, functional, and structural/systemic evidence for this kind of brain organization and these brain processes. Obviously they interact, and together they contribute to complex social behavior and social cognition, self-awareness, and, ultimately, consciousness.

Assuming that the cognitive capabilities of animals are not the only relevant factors in our ethical stance, the next three arguments may help bridge the gap between the current narratives in neuroethics when working with animals, either as animal models or as subjects of research themselves, and considering individuals themselves (including their motivations and wants), particularly in ethology and neuroethology. Cognition aside, and beyond affective factors, a post-cognitivist ethology and neuroethology can bridge the "mind gap" between human and nonhuman animals. Moreover, we underestimate the ability of the brain of any taxa to produce complex behaviors; spawn complex choices, preferences, and decisions; and coordinate complex social and cultural behaviors.

9.3 Complexity: Complex Behaviors Can Emerge from Simple Brains

A few years ago, a video³ went viral on the Internet showing a dog "rescuing" a fish on land. The video showed a fish, still alive, on what appears to be a cement surface. There is a bit of water splashed around, a little puddle of water next to the fish, and a dog pushing water over the struggling animal. The popular reaction to the video was to interpret the action of the dog as empathic. There are two problems with this that I address in this section.

First, if this were a rescue, we would have to accept that dogs understand that fish need water to breathe. I am on the fence on the issue of theory of mind (e.g., allowing for perspective-taking) in canines, but this example would require a dog to understand that another species needs water in order to breathe. Second, the video actually shows a typical natural action sequence (a modern term to describe innate behavior patterns) in wild or domestic canids—covering or concealing a high value food item—triggered during foraging and/or when the canid is satiated and may come back to the item later.

Before I elaborate on the two points mentioned above, let me state first that "complex behaviors can emerge from simple brains." This can apply to the tremendously complex behaviors of many animals, including many with very rudimentary central nervous systems. Arthropods such as bees have been known

³https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LBiAlqygvms

to engage in sharing of directional information for food source (the well-known waggle dance), and many ant species engage in the tandem run, which some [36, 37] think is a form of teaching (at least as defined by Caro and Hauser [38]).

Louise Barrett [39], in a chapter appropriately entitled "Small brains, smart behavior," discusses other cases involving invertebrates and some vertebrates and makes an interesting point: "it becomes very hard to decide where 'perception' ends and 'cognition' starts" (p. 56). Barrett describes the behavior of *Portia*, a genus of jumping spiders that engages in surprisingly complex behaviors (e.g., deceptive and aggressive mimicry).⁴ Barrett's comment about *perception* is key to my central cautionary note: Making arguments about ethics based on the cognitive or metacognitive abilities of animals can backfire, but it can also be conceptually weaponized if we open our minds to the idea that humans and other mammals and birds we tend to cognitively glorify (e.g., corvids, psittacids, social carnivores, primates, cetaceans, etc.) are not so remarkable or exceptional.

The field of animal behavior has a tendency to be framed (in a polarizing way, at least in North America) by the divisive arguments of the Behaviorist vs. Cognitivist perspectives. I see this as a renewed trend in the canine behavior and cognition world in the past decade, and more so in canine pop-science. The missing link seems to be in schools of thought that have been around for quite a while, but rarely seem to surface as mainstream (except perhaps in the context of motor control, sensorimotor integration, and neuroethology). I categorize them as post-Cognitivist or neo-Cognitivist perspectives (although, again, they are often pre- or not so neo-Cognitivist theoretical frameworks). They include the perception-action framework. Gibsonian and neo-Gibsonian theories are part of this niche.⁵ In the Gibsonian and post-Cognitivist perspective, the mechanisms are not stimulus-response, but rather sensorimotor coordination and integration. They are also not overly mentalistic, and in fact, some post-Cognitivist schools are remarkably reductionistic (at least at some level, e.g., Connectionism, Neural Network Theory). Most of these frameworks reject the representationalism⁶ of modern cognitive science and instead focus on a direct realism (direct perception) giving a voice to an interaction between environment and perception in the genesis, regulation, and modulation of behavior. In this realm of theories, there is also a strong rejection of Cartesian dualism and Computationalism⁷ (as it was framed within cognitive psychology and its use of

⁴Even the Wikipedia entry for *Portia* is telling: "*Portia* is a genus of jumping spider that feeds on other spiders. They are remarkable for their intelligent hunting behavior, which suggests that they are capable of learning and problem solving, traits normally attributed to much larger animals." (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Portia_(spider))

⁵The schools of embodied, situated, distributed cognition, as well as enactivism, dynamical systems, etc.

⁶In other words, the use of mental representations of objects, subjects, events, spatial information (mental maps), chronological events (temporal maps), etc.

⁷In other words, the use of the computer metaphor in cognitive science, at both the software (coding, programming) and hardware (serial vs. parallel processing) level (e.g., artificial neural networks).

Information Theory and cybernetics). Tenets of these post-cognitivist theories will often present a version of the following principles:

- 1. As much as perception can influence behavior, behavior can influence perception.
- 2. The reference to *mental* representations is not necessary.
- 3. Hypothetical constructs and their accompanying intervening variables are often not necessary (that would be a rule in behaviorism and Gibsonian psychology),⁸ but are tolerated *if* only used heuristically and supported by data: the concepts of attention, memory, affect/emotion, motivation,⁹ etc.
- 4. When it comes to "information processing," e.g., perception, the "what" (stimulus, environment, context) supersedes the "how" (i.e., sensation or physiological mechanisms).

There is a rejection of the "poverty of the stimulus" standpoint (the idea that the stimulus is secondary in importance to its mental representation and the internal mechanisms at play to process it) from classical cognitive psychology, in favor of a "richness of the stimulus" position (e.g., a position held by semiotics, with a focus on the actual stimulus and the environment) and a focus on context and natural behaviors in natural environments. Basically, this is a classic ethological perspective (often labeled "ecological," as in ecological psychology).

I was mentored by influential scientists in the field of animal learning (Werner Honig, Marvin Krank, Vincent LoLordo, Bruce Moore, Ward O'Neill) and ethology (John Fentress, Fred Harrington, Peter McLeod), but not one of them had the same take on Behaviorism and Cognitivism. They all had their own version of some sort of compromise, if they cared at all about those labels. Long conversations with my PhD supervisor, John Fentress (ethologist and neuroethologist), initially frustrated me in the early years of my degree, especially when I was working on action sequences in canids. Being influenced by a rather strong cognitive mindset, I was puzzled that he did not care at all about any cognitive explanation or search for "cognitive control." As a classically trained zoologist and ethologist, early ethological theories had influenced him, and the idea that innate behaviors are common in animals (and humans) and, by definition, not under cognitive control, was deeply influential. I spent most of my PhD reframing everything from that classical perspective and its modern version. I am not sure of what Fentress would think of my current take on behavior and behavior patterns (he died in 2015), but much of our shared perspective is summarized in a number of articles and chapters [41-50].

Neuroethology and perception-action perspectives in psychology and neuroscience have always minimized the importance of cognitive control and cognitive processes and avoided reference to self-awareness. It may be that a recognition and appreciation of complex behaviors in organisms with small brains or simple

⁸Note that J.J. Gibson was once referred to as the "Skinner of perception" [40].

⁹After all, many Behaviorists could not escape the concept of motivation or drive in their explanation of how reinforcement would work in instrumental conditioning.

nervous systems was the buffering factor, at least in neuroethology [45, 51]. In the next section, I examine two questions directly relevant to animal behavior and animal welfare, respectively: How are complex behaviors in complex situations generated? And how do motivational factors control behavior and what is their relevance to what animals may want?

9.4 Conation: It Is About What Animals Naturally Do (Innate Behavior) and What They Want

The proposal of a conative science encompassing ethology, psychology, and neuroscience would require the merger of two re-emerging trends in modern behavioral neuroscience (including neuroethology):

- 1. Updated theories of instincts, (mostly) innate behaviors, and behavior patterns, from "fixed action patterns" [52] to the modern "natural action sequences" [50]
- 2. Updated theories of motivation (from the drive theories of psychology and ethology), to the modern incentive theories overtaking the neuroscience of motivation [53]

Modern neuroethology recognizes the importance of both innate and learned behaviors. But despite the fact that there is a modern recognition of the full integration of nature (e.g., genes) and nurture (environment) for all behaviors (and other phenotypes), ethology and neuroethology have documented numerous behaviors that are strongly genetically predetermined, from rodent grooming patterns [54–56] to canid caching sequences [50, 57, 58]. Although not "fixed action patterns" (FAPs) per se (because of some degrees of freedom in the sequencing and expression of the behaviors [59]), there are still common patterns, with varying degrees of freedom (within and between sequences). In other words, between a fully deterministic sequence (close to the classic FAP) and full randomness, there are levels of stochasticity (probabilities of variation in time and space). To return to the dog/fish video, it illustrates an innate motor program.¹⁰ Interestingly, it is reported by Lorenz [52] in his classic "The Foundation of Ethology":

If, for example, a researcher is able to observe the way in which a wolf in the wild carries the remains of a kill to a covert place, digs a hole in the earth there, pushes the piece of plunder in with his nose, shovels the excavated earth back—still using his nose - and then levels the site through shoves with the nose, the teleonomic question concerning this behavior sequence is easy to answer, but the question concerning the causal origin of this behavior pattern remains completely unanswered. If, in contrast to this, the observer of captive animals sees the way in which a young wolf or dog carries a bone to behind the dining room drapes, lays it down

¹⁰Other terms are often used in this literature as well. For example, the terms "motor syntax" or "motor grammar" refer to the serial or sequential organization of behavior in various levels of temporal and spatial resolution. The term "syntax" is also found in zoosemiotics [60] to describe the structure of behavior.

there, scrapes violently for a while next to the bone, pushes the bone with his nose to the place where all the scraping was done and then, again with his nose and now squeaking along the surface of the parquetry flooring, shoves the nonexistent earth back into the hole that has not been dug and goes away satisfied, the observer knows quite a lot about the phylogenetic program of the behavior pattern. Lorenz 1982 [52, p. 48–49]

What looks at first glance like a deliberate, thoughtful, planned, and strategic behavior is no more than a motor program triggered by a specific stimulus (food) within a specific context (foraging) and state (satiety). The animal needs to be satiated or the caching does not take place (i.e., the motor sequence is not expressed). Although not a typical FAP (and arguably not a modal action pattern either,¹¹ see [50] for a comprehensive discussion of the terms), the flexibility in the sequencing, rhythm, melody, etc., of the behavior is deceptive. Long and complex sequences can be patterned. The prosody (the musicality of behavior [49]) refers to one dimension of degrees of freedom: The kinetic signature of behavior may change, such as rhythm and melody, but there is a recognizable overall pattern and, more importantly, the behavior is not learned. It is spontaneously produced by young animals and seems quite resistant to developmental modulations and motor fine-tuning. In other words, the behavior sequence is not random.

The relevant psychology, ethology, and neuroscience of such innate complex behaviors are part of what I argue is a *conative* psychology, ethology, and neuroscience. Conation refers to the motivational processes underlying behavior. As Berridge indicated [53], the study of conation has been central to the study of the brain and behavior. Integrated with a perception-action view of behavior, the conative perspective adds the acknowledgment that behavior is modulated by internal and external states. Woodworth, in 1897, thought that psychology could be reconceptualized as "motivology" [2], a science to be concerned with how to know what an organism will do in a given situation. A research program built around that construct defines the aims of the behavioral and brain sciences, but, note, without any assumptions about the cognitive dimension of behavior.

To be clear, I am not suggesting that nonhuman animals do not have cognitive abilities or that they should not be studied. I am not putting forward a Behaviorist manifesto either. But I am also critical of some aspects of the traditional theories of cognitive psychology and neuroscience: the representationalism bias, the poverty of the stimulus (which is not acceptable from a zoosemiotic perspective), and, from laboratory-based cognitive psychology and neuroscience, the "poverty of the environment."¹² The missing contextualism, ecological validity, and inclusion of the role

¹¹MAPs, or modal action patterns, were Barlow's version of FAPs with less rigidity and more flexibility or degrees of freedom. With MAPs the issue of stereotypy in a behavior pattern is for the first time defined in probabilistic terms [60].

¹²As an extension of the "poverty of the stimulus," the "poverty of the environment" as a whole i.e., targeted or processed stimuli and beyond (what cognitive psychologists call the scene)—is crucial to information processing. This goes toward ecological validity.

of affordance(s)¹³ [61, 62] limit the expansion of the neurocognitive sciences by limiting the choices to either a Behaviorist, Cognitivist, or Innatist view of behavior. It pits an anthropogenic/anthropomorphic view against a zoogenic/zoomorphic one. At the very least, the malaise of having to situate the apparent complex (if not "cognitive") behaviors of bees, ants, and spiders in relation to humans is difficult without the synthesis of the Behaviorist, Cognitivist, or Innatist perspectives. That is what some proponents of a post-Cognitivist, Conativist, perception-action view of the neurobehavioral sciences offer.

So how about a corollary conative proposal? As we focus on what animals feel and think, we forget a fundamental question: What do they *want*?

If they cannot tell us easily how they feel or what they think (or even less how they think), they may be able to tell us what they like or dislike. Psychophysiological measures and behavioral endocrinology have allowed us to infer their positive and negative emotions from the fundamental limbic activations of the brain. But perhaps the ultimate goal is to determine what they want. What an organism likes is not always what an organism wants-drug addicts may want their drug, but they may not like their drug. Nonetheless, modern behavioral neuroscience actually recognizes such a "liking" system and a "wanting" system [35]. Affective, conative, and cognitive sciences (ethology, psychology, and neuroscience) may converge elegantly to answer questions about what animals may want. Volitional decisionmaking and studies based on choices and preferences have made their way into animal welfare. Conative (neuro)ethology must not lose sight of the promising work started by Georgia Mason [63, 64] and Marian Stamp Dawkins [65, 66]. Influenced by behavioral ecology, behavioral economics, and neuroeconomics, this approach to conative processes brings strong functional and qualitative models to the assessment of wants, perceived needs, and motivational-behavioral priorities. A more ambitious and intriguing idea is proposed by Fenton [67, 68] in discussing animal dissent, specifically in the case of chimpanzee biomedical research. From the integrative framework presented so far, these ideas are appealing as they do not compel the scientist to address what the animal may be understanding (the cognitive) or feeling (the affective), but rather what the animal wants or does not want. Paradoxically, from this perspective, conative ethology and neuroscience may shed light on affective and cognitive processes. I have a sense that this is what the functionalist Woodworth would have seen as a fitting and worthy "animal motivology."

If complex sequences of behavior can be produced without complex cognitive means of control, and can address the motivational state, wants, and desires of animals, could it be, as I suggested earlier, that complex social behaviors are also exempt from underlying complex systems? Can a simple system produce and modulate complex social interactions and regulations? This is parsimoniously attractive, but is it realistic? What could be the mechanisms? In the next section I

¹³In the Gibsonian ecological psychology, "affordances of the environment" are (in Gibson's own words): "what it offers the animal, what it provides or furnishes, either for good or ill." (p. 127) (1977, 1986).

suggest that the same type of brain processes and dynamic patterns [49, 69] that produce complex sequences of caching in canids, or grooming in rodents, could also be responsible for social behavior.

9.5 Culture: Social Neuroscience, Behavioral Plasticity, and the Emergence of an Understanding of Animal Culture

An emerging literature on animal culture is taking hold, mostly in studies of primates and cetaceans, although it is likely to extend to other species. As we contemplate complex social interactions, it is easy to slide into an unchecked Cognitivism, starting with suggesting that social cognition is essential to the social complexity of social birds and mammals (including humans). Such an approach is not necessary, and a reductionistic perspective can apply to (eu)social insects as well as big-brained birds and mammals, once again narrowing the perceived gap between humans and nonhumans and raising questions about human exceptionalism. I start, once more, with a general historical commentary. I will also discuss how scientific ideas can sometimes experience a negative transformative process during popularization: A critique of canine and lupine pop-ethology will illustrate how pop-science can derail debates about the ethical treatment of animals.

Modern (neuro)ethology has changed much since the idiographic, descriptive, qualitative style of its early protagonists. The modern study of animal behavior has become nomothetic, focusing on generalization and averaging of many cases and trying to understand behavior by looking at graphs or tables of means and standard deviations and inferential statistics. We have excised the narrative out of behavior. I often tell my students that behavior is change in time and space. The idea that we can describe or merely summarize behavior with numbers out of context, as standalone frequencies or durations, is disconcerting. Lorenz allegedly boasted about never publishing a single graph [4].

Some areas of modern ethology and neuroethology found ways to combine the quantitative *Zeitgeist* of the modern behavioral sciences and the narrative elegance of the descriptive ethology of the early ethologists. This can be seen, for example, with the sequential analysis of behavior and the search for (stochastic) patterns, an approach that can be traced back to Chomsky in linguistics [70]¹⁴ as it describes rule-based systems governing patterns of actions. Rule-based systems are not new to behavioral biology and are often evoked to explain the innateness, for example, of some communication systems in animals [75]. I think the human analogy (the reference to Chomsky and human language) is only an analogy. But the idea that rule-based systems are generating and modulating brain systems (neural networks), motor behavior (the Fentress references above), and even social behaviors [76–78] is common. The approach is fundamentally Structuralist in the sense that it recognizes

¹⁴See also MacNeilage [71], or Morris in semiotics [72, 73], and more recently our work [49, 50, 74].

that biological systems are organized in a nonrandom fashion and that, from a behavioral perspective, these rules are inborn [49, 50]. The reason I distance myself from the Chomskyan perspective¹⁵ is that the post-Cognitivist perspective has interpreted much of Chomskyan ideas as "*cognitive* rules," or rules for language and other complex "thought behaviors," or cognitions [80]. Instead, Fentress and I suggest simple rules and grammars (sometimes potentially complex grammars) to explain simple, innate behaviors (historically called instincts) as well as emerging complexity in sophisticated social behaviors. Coppinger [81, 82], for example, applies the principles from Fentress and McLeod initially [48] and Gadbois et al. later [49, 50] to explain the artificial selection of movement patterns in border collies. The border collie essentially uses the same action syntax as the wolf while hunting, except that the end of the sequence is truncated (the bite and the kill). It is suggested that via selective breeding, it was possible to isolate and eliminate the last two components of the hunting sequence to keep only the stalking segments.

Because it seeks to explain language and cognitive processes, the Chomskyan perspective is in some ways top-down, whereas my perspective [49, 50] is bottomup. It follows the idea that basic behaviors (individual behaviors but also social behaviors) are innate, encoded in the genes, and expressed with various levels of degrees of freedom. This does not mean that some practice, fine-tuning, or even observational learning is not useful, especially in big-brained birds and mammals (as social deprivation experiments have shown with primates). In the context of social behavior, this translates into "social grammars" or rules of the what and how of social interactions and conventions [76–78, 83, 84]. The approach is bottom-up, reductionistic, and parsimonious because it suggests that simple systems can produce complex behaviors from those simpler mechanisms and even from simple brains.

But how can complexity emerge from simple systems and grammars? How can the structure (syntax) and meaning (semantics) of communication be expressed and account for the complexity of animal communication and social structure? Part of the answer is in the mathematical/computational underpinnings of life systems. Ian Stewart [85] explains why rules in rule-based systems are so powerful and yet simple. We can identify at least four principles: efficiency, consistency, adaptability, and locality. First, rules are efficient, by the nature of their simplicity. As Stewart points out "Rules are simpler than the behavior they generate" (p. 197). Second, rules are consistent. In other words, rules guarantee a consistent response or action in the appropriate context. Third, rules are adaptable. A rule-based system can evolve, first, by inserting exceptions, then, if necessary, by making the exception the rule. If rules are encoded in the genes, they are subject to natural selection, sexual selection, etc. Fourth, rules are local. Rules apply to the individual, in its immediate

¹⁵Chomsky is often seen as one of the fathers of cognitive science (as a linguist). Yet, his concept of Universal Grammar has inspired both ethologists (e.g., Fentress) and psychologists (e.g., Pinker) in describing a predisposed structure to language. For Fentress, this was linked to innate motor programs (the motor system is known to be hierarchically organized), and, for Pinker [79], it gave an innate blueprint ("language instinct") for the language structure described by Chomsky.

environment and situation, in the here and now. As Stewart puts it, rules "involve only what an individual can reasonably be expected to perceive." Rules can explain behaviors that seem magnificently complex (such as schools of fish [86] or the murmuration of birds [87]) with extraordinary simplicity: e.g., keep your eyes on the individual(s) next to you and avoid contact while in motion. Indeed, complex behaviors can emerge from simple systems, simple rules, simple brains, and also complex ones. In other words, they level the playing field once again between simpler organisms and humans.

This idea can be illustrated with a question about dominance, which has been popularized in the now massive pop-ethology of canines and other canids. In the past 20 years, within the canine behavior world (with dog trainers, breeders, veterinarians, and scientists) there has been a serious debate over the question of dominance in dogs, the usefulness of the concept of dominance in training, and even the relevance of the construct of dominance hierarchies in wolves. I am an advocate of the position that dominance-based training has no place in modern training. Forcefree training is ethical (as in stress-free, fear-free, pain-free) and scientifically sound. But the dominance debate started on the wrong foot and is often mixed with other complex issues, such as the origin of dogs.¹⁶ For example, wolves may not be the direct ancestors of modern dogs. Molecular genetics has challenged this a number of times, and this point is brought forward by Coppinger in order to distance dogs from wolves and to question the necessity of evoking dominance and dominance hierarchies in dogs, including in their training. More problematic, Coppinger has claimed that wolves (and by extension, dogs) may not have the cognitive ability to have dominance hierarchies to start with. That assertion strikes me as singular considering that dominance hierarchies have been identified in invertebrates (crustaceans) and "lower vertebrates" such as fish and reptiles and obviously multiple species of birds and mammals. Advanced cognitive abilities or complex social cognitions are not obligatory at any level of complexity in animal social behavior for the reasons explained above (e.g., murmurations in starlings, schooling in fish). The other assertion from Coppinger (and others) is that dominance hierarchies are simply not present in dogs. This has been challenged and debated quite a few times in recent years [88, 89]. The apex of this debate came when Mech [90] wrote about the wolves of Ellesmere Island. Although at no time does the paper claim that wolves have no dominance hierarchies, the paper describes a specific population and challenges the concept of "alphas" by moving from a rank-based theory to a role-based theory of social organization while using the concept of leadership instead of "alpha."¹⁷

¹⁶There is a lot of background to this story that would take too much space and time, but is covered in blog I wrote for dog trainers and other dog enthusiasts in 2015 (http://doyoubelieveindog. blogspot.com/2015/04/51-shades-of-grey-misuse.html). Other ethologists such as Marc Bekoff and Roger Abrantes also contributed similar discussions to clarify the issue of dominance in wolves. ¹⁷Furthermore, following the 1999 paper, Mech [91] wrote "Leadership in wolf, Canis lupus, packs" and with co-authors a paper entitled "Leadership behavior in relation to dominance and reproductive status in gray wolves, Canis lupus" [92]. The word "alpha" is not used anymore, but the concepts of leader and leadership appear. The term dominance is still used.

It is unclear to me why the debate spilled over to dogs, as it is clear that through selective breeding over thousands of years of domestication, humans have done quite a good job of eliminating in dogs the behaviors associated with dominance, such as aggression. But Mech's paper was immediately hijacked by the force-free community as a flagship study debunking the myth of dominance in wolves and, by extension, in dogs. This illustrates the necessity of caution about the popularization of science. Many nuances are missing, and much seems to be taken out of context, or misunderstood, or simply manipulated to fulfill a specific agenda. Dominance and dominance hierarchies are complex constructs in social mammals. Although pop-ethology tries to depict dominance as an evil, the biological and socioecological reality is that dominance hierarchies are there in order to prevent conflict, not to encourage or generate it. And even if there is a belief that dominance, aggression, and stress are higher in captive wolves than wolves in their natural environment, there is in fact very little evidence for that assertion [25, 42, 93].

But let's start with the basics. Where is the confusion coming from? What are the facts about wolves and dominance? And why bring up this topic here? You will have to be patient for my third point, but it is the one that closes the loop: Wolves are not all the same. Wolf populations vary based on factors that are still unknown.

To start, we need to understand the socioecology of wolves. Much of the information below is summarized from Gadbois, Mech, and Packard [25, 42, 94]. Wolves are monogamous or, at the very least, socially monogamous (in other words, in principle, by convention, only one breeding pair is found in a pack, the alpha male and the alpha female). Wolves are also potential cooperative breeders, meaning that, when the group is based on an extended (multigenerational) family unit, nonbreeders are helpers. Indeed, large packs are hierarchically composed of the parents, alloparents (all the other adults of the pack as, typically, they are all engaged in pup care), and pups. I say "potential" because sometimes the immediate or nuclear family system is adopted (as in coyotes and jackals). In this case, you find the parents and the pups of the year: no aunts, uncles, cousins, or sisters and brothers of a previous litter, etc. This matters for a few reasons. It may determine if a dominance hierarchy needs to be in place. It is important to note that dominance hierarchies are often described as being important for access to resources, mostly food and mates. We have argued [25, 42, 95] that dominance hierarchies in wolves are mostly regulating the privilege to breed. There is indeed evidence that wolves determine the breeders of the pack within their own sex; in other words, females and males, respectively, figure out their own dominance hierarchies. By default, the female and the male that emerge at the top of each hierarchy will breed [25, 42, 93, 96]. But even if that was not the case, and that somehow the negotiations were strictly among males, the principle stays the same: Most of the time, only one female will breed with only one male.

Dominance hierarchies can be a means to establish or maintain reproductive suppression or inhibition in subordinates, a known mechanism in avian and mammalian cooperative breeders [25–27], highlighting that it is about more than competition for food. It also complicates the main point that I am seeking to make here: Dominance hierarchies are not merely about conflict or conflict regulation.

Pop-ethology has lost sight of the primary purpose of dominance hierarchies. In wolves, they are mostly about breeding privileges, and the tensions around food sources (mostly during the breeding season)¹⁸ are only side effects of the hierarchical structure. Contrary to some popular beliefs, dominance hierarchies are meant to *prevent* conflict, not instill it. In fact, they may even procure the structure and mechanisms for conflict resolution [25].

With context about what dominance is for, we can re-examine Mech 1999 [90]. It is worth noting that a dilution of a dominance effect or fuzzy boundaries in a dominance hierarchy are hardly surprising. Pack size is a major factor in the emergence of a dominance hierarchy. The difference between nuclear or immediate family units and extended or multigenerational family units is not insignificant. One more piece of socioecological information surfaces with regard to those two types of family units: It is well documented (references above, also Mech's seminal book, *The Wolf* [97]) that young wolves do not attain sexual maturation until the age of 1-2years old. Consequently, they do not join the dominance hierarchy until they are ready to be a contender to an existing breeding male (i.e., the alpha male). But some ecologies also force the dispersion of yearlings. In other words, a nuclear family unit may never grow into a multigenerational family unit. The limited resources and carrying capacity of the environment force the young to leave the pack to form their own. This means that in some populations, in some environments, and in some ecologies, wolves may never exhibit a dominance hierarchy.

In pop-ethology, the strange attempt to get rid of the concept of dominance hierarchies had a simple goal: Among the so-called ethical or force-free dog trainers, it was to eliminate any reference to "dominance-based training." While a noble idea, it could have been achieved by recognizing that several thousand years of deliberate, planned selection (or selective breeding) was enough to prune out undesirable behaviors in early dogs such that the dominance hierarchy concept had simply become irrelevant. It seems that we threw the baby out with the bathwater. Dominance hierarchies, after all, are about reducing conflict, not creating conflicts, and their ultimate purpose (as with other cooperative breeders) is to establish breeding privileges. Domesticated dogs are outside of any ecologies that could justify that social system.

But there is more to all of this: Not all wolf packs seem to have the same social ethogram or sociogram. Now we are faced with another reality: lupine cultures. Mech and Boitani [94] and Packard [93] describe the complexities of the lupine socioecology and population biology. The topics of behavioral plasticity, acculturation, or boldly, "culture" in mammals is an emerging area of inquiry in ethology. It started in the field of primatology [78, 98, 99] and spread to cetology (whales, dolphins [100–102]), but has not yet reached social carnivores. Because canids have

¹⁸January to mid-March in North America.

some of the most sophisticated social structures and dynamics of social carnivores,¹⁹ it is surprising that the concept has not been found in the considerable literature on wolves. Wolves are also sophisticated communicators [105] with vocalizations possessing enough structural complexity to be suggestive of dialectal differences [106], not to mention individual signatures [107]. It is surprising that studies like the ones undertaken with cetaceans have not emerged in the lupine literature. Vocalizations aside, the importance and significance of pack or group-level and population-level profiles and idiosyncrasies is hard to overestimate.²⁰

It is strange that, in a fundamentally cognitive science of animal behavior (cognitive ethology, cognitive ecology, cognitive comparative psychology, etc.), the concept of animal culture has not been more pervasive. Social neuroscience, for one, could expand on its strong foundations [33, 108, 109] and its emergent interest in epigenetics to tackle the fundamental bases of culture. This neuroecological bottom-up approach would be a great complement to the top-down approach of the ecological anthropologists [110, 111] and human behavioral ecologists [112]. Perhaps in the future, young graduate students will sit excitedly in the snow with binoculars in hand and exclaim after a few hours of careful, systematic observations "It is all cultural!" Because, after all, cultures are not all the same. Perhaps the neurocultural movement is just around the corner.

9.6 Conclusions for the Neurosciences and Neuroethics

I am not anti-Cognitivist, and I am certainly not refuting affective factors, as I studied them in wolves (i.e., stress). Affective processes are fundamental to social behavior. But neither am I a classical Cognitivist or Behaviorist. I would not obviously discuss brain processes, affective processes, or any mentalistic constructs if I were. Although I do see the value and parsimony of innate mechanisms, I acknowledge the relevance of cognitive control, regulation, and processing in complex brains, at the very least in social reptiles [113], birds, and mammals. But they are not a prerequisite for the ethical treatment of animals ("do no harm"), their well-being, or welfare and tend to derail the issues into an anthropomorphic *scala naturae* of intellectual prowess. Clearly emotional regulation, at least as self-preservation, is relevant to welfare, but again, the issues surrounding the sophistication of emotions and the tendency to link them to self-awareness and even cognitive capacities obscure the importance of the *conative* dimension of animal minds.

¹⁹Especially wolves, African wild dogs (*Lycaon pictus*), likely bush dogs (*Speothos venaticus*), and even more so dholes or Indian wild dogs (*Cuon alpinus*) as they form clans of packs, a structural layer seen only in primates [25, 103, 104].

²⁰Discussing wolves, captive or wild, with colleagues from around the world has made me sorely regret not taking detailed notes. It is fascinating how our discussions about behaviors are (or were, at least initially) about "you are wrong, we are right" and not "you saw that, we see this," where the latter embraces the possibility of diversity and variability in the behavioral phenotype of social carnivores.

Natural behaviors and natural motivations may be all we need to address ethical and welfare issues in animals. Environments that allow for a free expression of natural behavior patterns and experimental constraints and housing conditions that take into consideration what animals *want* (i.e., what they can or would choose) are important to ensure animal well-being, welfare, and good science. There is no need to infer what animals *think* and *feel*: We don't know, and we may never know. But we can establish what they *want* if we let them tell us. Finally, in continuity with my post-cognitive take on animal behavior, I do not believe that social cognition holds the key to the understanding of social behavior. Socio-affective and socio-conative processes with a rule-based framework can invoke cognitive control when necessary, but nature had to situate social behaviors in much simpler organisms than whales or primates, including eusocial insects.

In an integrative mindset, here is how I summarize behavior:

$$B(f) = M E I A$$

where B = behavior, M = motivations, E = emotions, I = information, and A = affordances. This formula acknowledges the importance of what one could define as the affective, conative, and cognitive dimensions of behavior while adding affordances. Although I do not have the space to expand on the interactions between all the components, the term "information" is used in a classical Gibsonian and ethological sense: Animals are seekers of information (olfactory, visual, auditory, etc.) and that information defines their behavior. Modern perception-action theories would amend and consider how those behaviors may modulate the information (or its perception, at the very least).

The information sought is environmental, from the internal or external environment, in nature. Gibson was clear that perception is based on *information*, not on *sensation*. Affordances can be perceptual (in the true Gibsonian sense), affective, conative, and social. They also define the niche of the situated organism, as Gibson notes: "a niche refers more to how an animal lives than to where it lives. I suggest that a niche is a set of affordances" and "The niche implies a kind of animal, and the animal implies a kind of niche" (p. 128 in [62]). An ethical neuroscience, animal welfare science, and neuroethics will let captive animals build their niche, as they naturally do in their natural environment, or allow them to choose between the most suitable artificial niches. Motivation (M) and affordance (A) meet, and what is between, how they feel (E) and how they think (I), follows, not the other way around. As Freeman [114] stated, *meaning* is what matters to the brain: Information (I) and affordance (A) define what is meaningful, as information alone is nothing to the brain if not meaningful, and that meaningfulness is often in relation to the motivational state of the animal.

The remarkable diversity, variability, and flexibility of animal social systems are nothing less than humbling. We now must wake up to the fact that the *one mold fits all* model does not work. Lack of convergence in observational data of social behavior is easily explained by, once again, its tremendous degrees of freedom.
Maybe, one day, neuroethics in animal research and animal husbandry can be more about animals' own degrees of freedom.

References

- 1. Fentress JC. Comparative coordination (a story of three little P'S in behavior). Adv Psychol. 1989;61:185–219.
- Schultz DP, Schultz SE. A history of modern psychology. Boston, MA: Cengage Learning; 2016.
- Grassé PP. L'instinct dans le comportement des animaux et de l'homme. Paris: Masson & Cie; 1956.
- 4. Burkhardt RW. Patterns of behavior: Konrad Lorenz, Niko Tinbergen, and the founding of ethology. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2005.
- Hinde RA. Animal behavior; a synthesis of ethology and comparative psychology. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1970.
- 6. Hinde RA. Ethology: its nature and relation with other sciences. New York: Oxford University Press; 1982.
- 7. Gardner H. The mind's new science: a history of the cognitive revolution. New York: Basic Books; 1985.
- 8. Mackintosh NJ. The psychology of animal learning. New York: Academic Press; 1974.
- 9. Honig WK, James PHR. Animal memory. New York: Academic Press; 1971.
- Hulse SH, Fowler H, Honig WK. Cognitive processes in animal behavior. London: Routledge; 1978.
- 11. Griffin DR. The question of animal awareness. New York: Rockefeller University Press; 1976.
- 12. Griffin DR. Animal thinking. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1984.
- 13. Griffin DR. Animal minds. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 1992.
- 14. Breedlove SM, Watson NV, Rosenzweig MR. Biological psychology. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer; 2010.
- 15. Kandel E, Schwartz J, Jessell T, Siegelbaum S, Hudspeth AJ. Principles of neural science. 5th ed. New York: McGraw Hill Professional; 2012.
- 16. Hebb DO. The organization of behavior. New York: Wiley; 1949.
- 17. Hebb DO. Essays on mind. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum Associates; 1980.
- Haggbloom SJ, Warnick R, Warnick JE, et al. The 100 most eminent psychologists of the 20th century. Rev Gen Psychol. 2002;6:139–52.
- Schwartz JM, Begley S. The mind and the brain: neuroplasticity and the power of mental force. New York: Harper Collins; 2002.
- 20. Begley S. Train your mind, change your brain: how a science reveals our extraordinary potential to transform ourselves. New York: Ballantine Books; 2008.
- 21. Shepherd GM. Neurobiology. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1994. p. xiv, 760.
- 22. Fiorito G, Affuso A, Basil J, et al. Guidelines for the care and welfare of cephalopods in research—a consensus based on an initiative by CephRes, FELASA and the Boyd Group. Lab Anim. 2015;49:1–90.
- 23. Lyon P, Keijzer F. The human stain: why cognitivism can't tell us what cognition is and what it does. In: Wallace B, Ross A, Davies J, Anderson T, editors. The mind, the body and the world: psychology after cognitivism? Exeter: Imprint Academic; 2007. p. 132–65.
- 24. Lorenz K. Tous les chiens, tous les chats. Paris: Flammarion; 1970. p. 264.
- 25. Gadbois S. The socioendocrinology of aggression-mediated stress in timber wolves (Canis lupus) (dissertation); 2002.
- 26. McLeod PJ, Moger WH, Ryon J, Gadbois S, Fentress JC. The relation between urinary cortisol levels and social behavior in captive timber wolves. Can J Zool. 1996;74:209–16.

- Moger WH, Ferns LE, Wright JR, Gadbois S, McLeod PJ. Elevated urinary cortisol in a timber wolf (Canis lupus): a result of social behavior or adrenal pathology? Can J Zool. 1998;76:1957–9.
- 28. Breland K, Breland M. The misbehavior of organisms. Am Psychol. 1961;16:681-4.
- 29. Pettit M. The problem of raccoon intelligence in behaviorist America. Br J Hist Sci. 2010;43:391–421.
- Panksepp J. Affective neuroscience: the foundations of human and animal emotions. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1998.
- 31. Gazzaniga MS. The cognitive neurosciences. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2009.
- Gazzaniga M, Ivry R. Cognitive neuroscience: the biology of the mind. New York: W.W. Norton; 2013.
- Cacioppo JT, Berntson GG, Taylor SE, Schacter DL. Foundations in social neuroscience (social neuroscience). A Bradford Book. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2002.
- Collins T, Andler D, Tallon-Baudry C. La cognition: Du neurone à la société. Paris: Editions Gallimard; 2018.
- Berridge KC, Robinson TE, Aldridge JW. Dissecting components of reward: 'liking', 'wanting', and learning. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2009;9:65–73.
- 36. Franks NR, Richardson T. Teaching in tandem-running ants. Nature. 2006;439:153.
- Leadbeater E, Raine NE, Chittka L. Social learning: ants and the meaning of teaching. Curr Biol. 2006;16:R323–5.
- 38. Caro TM, Hauser MD. Is there teaching in nonhuman animals. Q Rev Biol. 1992;67:151-74.
- Barrett L. Beyond the brain: how body and environment shape animal and human minds. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 2011.
- 40. Turvey MT, Shaw RE, Reed ES, Mace WM. Ecological laws of perceiving and acting: In reply to Fodor and Pylyshyn (1981). Cognition. 1981;9:237–304.
- Fentress JC. A view of ontogeny. In: Eisenberg JF, Kleiman DG, editors. Advances in the study of mammalian behavior. Shippenburg: American Society of Mammalogists; 1983. p. 24–59.
- 42. Fentress JC, Ryon J, McLeod PJ, Havkin GZ. A multidimensional approach to agonistic behavior in wolves. In: Frank H, editor. Man and wolf: Advances, issues, and problems in captive wolf research. Hingham, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 1987.
- 43. Fentress JC. Compartments and cohesions in adaptive behavior. J Comp Psychol. 1987;101:254.
- 44. Fentress JC. Organizational patterns in action: local and global issues in action pattern formation. In: Edelman GM, Gall WE, Cowan WM, editors. Signal and sense: local and global order in perceptual maps. New York: Wiley-Liss; 1990. p. 357–82.
- 45. Fentress JC. Analytical ethology and synthetic neuroscience. In: Bateson P, editor. The development and integration of behavior. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1991. p. 77–120.
- Fentress JC. Emergence of pattern in the development of mammalian movement sequences. J Neurobiol. 1992;23:1529–56.
- 47. Fentress JC. Ethological models of hierarchy and patterning of species-specific behavior. In: Satinoff E, Teitelbaum PT, editors. Handbook of behavioral biology. New York: Plenum Publishing Corporation; 1993. p. 185–234.
- Fentress JC, McLeod PJ. Motor patterns in development. In: Blass EM, editor. Handbooks of behavioral neurobiology, volume 8: developmental psychobiology, and developmental neurobiology. New York: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 1986. p. 39–57.
- 49. Fentress JC, Gadbois S. The development of action sequences. In: Blass EM, editor. Handbooks of behavioral neurobiology, volume 13: developmental psychobiology, developmental neurobiology and behavioral ecology: mechanisms and early principles. New York: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 2001. p. 393–431.
- 50. Gadbois S, Sievert O, Reeve C, Harrington FH, Fentress JC. Revisiting the concept of behavior patterns in animal behavior with an example from food-caching sequences in Wolves

(Canis lupus), Coyotes (Canis latrans), and Red Foxes (Vulpes vulpes). Behav Process. 2015;110:3-14.

- 51. Fentress JC. Simpler networks and behavior. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates; 1976.
- 52. Lorenz K. The foundations of ethology. New York: Touchstone/Simon & Schuster; 1982.
- 53. Berridge KC. Motivation concepts in behavioral neuroscience. Physiol Behav. 2004;81:179–209.
- 54. Berridge KC. The development of action patterns. In: Hogan J, Bolhuis J, editors. The development of behavioral causation. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1994. p. 147–80.
- 55. Fentress JC. Development and patterning of movement sequences in inbred mice. In: Kiger JA, editor. The biology of behavior. Eugene: Oregon University Press; 1972. p. 83–132.
- 56. Fentress JC, Stilwell FP. Grammar of a movement sequence in inbred mice. Nature. 1973;244:52.
- 57. Phillips DP, Danilchuk W, Ryon J, Fentress JC. Food-caching in timber wolves, and the question of rules of action syntax. Behav Brain Res. 1990;38:1–6.
- Phillips DP, Ryon J, Danilchuk W, Fentress JC. Food caching in captive coyotes: stereotypy of action sequence and spatial distribution of cache sites. Can J Psychol. 1991;45:83.
- 59. Barlow GW. Modal action patterns. In: Sebeok TA, editor. How animals communicate. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press; 1977. p. 98–134.
- 60. Gadbois S. La symbiose humain-chien dans une perspective psychoéthologique, des origines à aujourd'hui. In: Arenstein G-H, editor. Communication authentique ente êtres humains et animaux. Montréal: Broquet; 2013. p. 99–130.
- Gibson JJ. The theory of affordances. In: Shaw R, Bransford J, editors. Perceiving, acting and knowing: toward an ecological psychology. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum; 1977. p. 67–82.
- 62. Gibson JJ. The ecological approach to visual perception. New York: Taylor & Francis Group, Psychology Press; 1986.
- 63. Mason GJ, Cooper J, Clarebrough C. The use of techniques from human economics to measure what animals value, illustrated by experimental work on the American mink, Mustela vison. Proceedings of the 4th International Conferences on Environmental Enrichment, Edinburgh Zoo, Edinburgh, Scotland; 1999. p. 111–117.
- 64. Cooper JJ, Mason GJ. The use of operant technology to measure behavioral priorities in captive animals. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput. 2001;33:427–34.
- 65. Dawkins MS. Behavior as a tool in the assessment of animal welfare. Zoology. 2003;106:383-7.
- 66. Dawkins MS. From an animal's point of view: motivation, fitness, and animal welfare. Behav Brain Sci. 1990;13:1–9.
- 67. Fenton A. Can a chimp say "no"? re-envisioning chimpanzee dissent in harmful research. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2014;23:130–9.
- Fenton A. Decisional authority and animal research subjects. In: The Routledge handbook of philosophy of animal minds. New York: Routledge; 2018. p. 475–84.
- 69. Fentress JC. Dynamic boundaries of patterned behavior: interaction and self-organization. In: Bateson PPG, Hinde RA, editors. Growing points in ethology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1976. p. 135–69.
- 70. Chomsky N. Syntactic structures. The Hague: Mouton; 1957.
- MacNeilage PF. Lashley's serial order problem and the acquisition/evolution of speech. Cognitive Critique. 2011;3:49–83.
- 72. Morris CW. Foundations of the theory of signs. Chicago: Chicago University Press; 1938. p. 1.
- 73. Morris CW. Signs, language, and behavior. New Jersey: Prentice Hall; 1946.
- 74. Gadbois S, Reeve C. Canine olfaction: scent, sign, and situation. In: Horowitz A, editor. Domestic dog cognition and behavior. Berlin: Springer; 2014. p. 3–29.
- 75. Bradbury JW, Vehrencamp SL. Principles of animal communication. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates; 2011.
- 76. Jackendoff R. Patterns in the mind. New York: Basic Books; 1994.

- 77. de Waal FBM. Good natured: the origins of right and wrong in humans and other animals. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1996.
- de Waal FBM, Tyack PL. Animal social complexity: intelligence, culture and individualized societies. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 2009.
- 79. Pinker S. The language instinct. New York: Morrow & Company; 1994.
- Wallace B. Introduction. In: Wallace B, Ross A, Davies J, Anderson T, editors. The mind, the body and the world: psychology after cognitivism? Exeter: Imprint Academic; 2007. p. 1–29.
- Coppinger R, Coppinger L. Dogs: a startling new understanding of canine origin, behavior & evolution. New York: Scribner; 2001.
- 82. Coppinger R, Feinstein M. How dogs work. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2015.
- 83. Andersson M. Sexual selection. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 1994.
- Geary DC, Huffman KJ. Brain and cognitive evolution: forms of modularity and functions of mind. Psychol Bull. 2002;128:667.
- Stewart I. Life's other secret: the new mathematics of the living world. New York: Willey; 1998.
- Herbert-Read JE, Pernab A, Mann RP, Schaerfa TM, Sumpter DJT, Ward AJW. Inferring the rules of interaction of shoaling fish. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:18726–31.
- 87. Procaccini A, Orlandi A, Cavagna A, Giardina I, Zorattoe F, Santuccie D, Chiarottie F, Hemelrijk CK, Allevae E, Parisi G, Carereb C. Propagating waves in starling, Sturnus vulgaris, flocks under predation. Anim Behav. 2011;82:759–65.
- Bradshaw JWS, Blackwell EJ, Casey RA. Dominance in domestic dogs—useful construct or bad habit. J Vet Behav. 2009;4:135–44.
- Cafazzo S, Valsecchi P, Bonanni R, Natoli E. Dominance in relation to age, sex, and competitive contexts in a group of free-ranging domestic dogs. Behav Ecol. 2010;21:443–55.
- 90. Mech LD. Alpha status, dominance, and division of labor in wolf packs. Can J Zool. 1999;77:1196–203.
- 91. Mech LD. Leadership in wolf, Canis lupus, packs. Can Field Nat. 2000;114:259-63.
- 92. Peterson RO, Jacobs AK, Drummer TD, Mech LD, Smith DW. Leadership behavior in relation to dominance and reproductive status in gray wolves, Canis lupus. Can J Zool. 2002;80:1405–12.
- Packard J. Wolf behavior: reproductive, social, and intelligent. In: Mech LD, Boitani L, editors. Wolves: behavior, ecology, and conservation. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2003.
- Mech LD, Boitani L. Wolf social ecology. In: Mech LD, Boitani L, editors. Wolves: behavior, ecology, and conservation. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2003. p. 1–34.
- McLeod PJ, Fentress JC, Ryon J. Patterns of aggression within a captive timber wolf pack. Aggress Behav. 1991;17:84–95.
- 96. Derix R, Hooff JV, Vries HD, Wensing J. Male and female mating competition in wolves: female suppression vs. male intervention. Behavior. 1993;127:141–74.
- 97. Mech LD. The wolf. New York: Doubleday; 1970.
- Tomasello M. The question of chimpanzee culture. In: Wrangham RW, McGrew WC, de Waal FBM, Heltne PG, editors. Chimpanzee cultures. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1994. p. 301-317.
- 99. de Waal F. The ape and the sushi master. New York: Basic Books; 2008.
- 100. Rendell L, Whitehead H. Culture in whales and dolphins. Behav Brain Sci. 2001;24:309-24.
- Whitehead H, Rendell L. Movements, habitat use and feeding success of cultural clans of South Pacific sperm whales. J Anim Ecol. 2004;73:190–6.
- Whitehead H, Rendell L. The cultural lives of whales and dolphins. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2014.
- Sheldon JW. Wild dogs: the natural history of the nondomestic canidae. San Diego: Academic Press; 1992.
- 104. Fox MW. Evolution of social behavior in canids. In: Fox MW, editor. The wild canids. New York: van Nostrand Reinhold; 1975.

- 105. Harrington FH, Asa CS. Wolf communication. In: Mech LD, Boitani L, editors. Wolves: behavior, ecology, and conservation. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2003. p. 66–103.
- 106. Palacios V, Font E, Márquez R. Iberian wolf howls: acoustic structure, individual variation, and a comparison with North American populations. J Mammal. 2007;88:606–13.
- 107. Root-Gutteridge H, Bencsik M, Chebli M, et al. Identifying individual wild Eastern grey wolves (Canis lupus lycaon) using fundamental frequency and amplitude of howls. Bioacoustics. 2014;23:55–66.
- 108. Decety J, Cacioppo JT. The Oxford handbook of social neuroscience. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2015.
- 109. Carter CS, Lederhendler II, Kirkpatrick B. The integrative neurobiology of affiliation. A Bradford Book. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 1999.
- 110. Kottak CP. The new ecological anthropology. Am Anthropol. 1999;101:23-35.
- 111. Orlove BS. Ecological anthropology. Annu Rev Anthropol. 1980;9:235-73.
- 112. Cronk L. Human behavioral ecology. Annu Rev Anthropol. 1991;20:25-53.
- 113. Cabanac M. Emotion and phylogeny. J Consciousness Stud. 1999;6:176-90.
- 114. Freeman WJ. Societies of brains: a study in the neuroscience of love and hate. New York: Psychology Press; 1995.



Large Brains in Small Tanks: Intelligence and Social Complexity as an Ethical Issue for Captive Dolphins and Whales

Lori Marino

Abstract

Dolphins and whales are highly complex, large-brained social mammals. To date, thousands are kept in concrete tanks in marine parks and aquariums around the world. In these environments, they endure lack of control, lack of stimulation, and loss of the ability to engage in activities necessary for them to thrive. The fact that they are such complex, self-aware, intelligent beings makes it more difficult for them to cope in artificial environments, not less, as might be expected. This is because their needs cannot be met outside of their natural habitat. The only ethical response to this situation is to phase out the keeping of dolphins and whales for entertainment and to move those in commercial facilities to sanctuaries that prioritize their needs.

Keywords

 $Cetacean \cdot Captivity \cdot Well-being \cdot Health \cdot Stress \cdot Sanctuary$

10.1 Introduction

An impressive body of scientific evidence shows that dolphin and whale brains are highly complex and elaborated and that, consistent with these neuroscientific findings, they are extremely intelligent, self-aware, and socially sophisticated beings who are adapted to an equally complex natural environment. Concrete tanks in marine parks and aquariums are an anathema to their well-being, and, despite all efforts, they cannot thrive in these artificial conditions. Thus, they suffer from psychological abnormalities which reflect the fact that their brains did not evolve to handle the stresses of confinement and loss of autonomy. Their intelligence and

L. Marino (🖂)

The Whale Sanctuary Project, Kimmela Center for Animal Advocacy, Kanab, UT, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_10

their behavioral flexibility do not, as some would suggest, provide a buffer against the deprivations of living in display tanks. Instead, the opposite is true. Their complex intelligence exacerbates their vulnerability to the stresses of living artificially. The only ethical response to this situation, if release to the open ocean is out of the question, is to move them to sanctuaries, which provide them with an environment as close as possible to their natural, free-ranging environment and where their well-being is a priority.

10.2 Who Are Dolphins and Whales?

A species' evolutionary and adaptive history shapes its modern nature, that is, those characteristics that need to be expressed in order for members of that species to flourish or thrive. Evolutionary adaptation to a set of specific selective pressures, modified over tens of millions of years, has made dolphins and whales who they are today—streamlined predators with large complex brains who inhabit a diversity of aquatic environments from the coasts to open ocean to rivers. Their diets are equally varied and range from preying upon other marine mammals to specializing on specific species of fish and even certain body parts of their prey. They are travelers and divers living in a three-dimensional spatial world. And they are long-lived (members of some species can live to 50 or 60 and, in the case of orcas, can live over 90 years) with prolonged juvenile periods spanning many years. In these ways, their life history is very similar to that of humans and other great apes. They also have strong family bonds and live in complex social networks with cultural traditions underwritten by learning, communication, and a formidable mind [1].

10.2.1 Evolution

The cetacean order of mammals contains two modern suborders: Mysticeti (baleen whales) and Odontoceti (toothed whales, dolphins and porpoises); the latter will be the focus of this chapter. There are six families within Odontoceti comprising about 78 species. The families include the delphinids (the large family of "true" dolphins, including orcas), the monodontids (belugas and narwhals), the phocoenids (porpoises), platanistids (river and freshwater dolphins), physeterids (sperm whales), and the lesser-known family of ziphids (beaked whales, etc.) [2].

Modern cetaceans evolved from the Archaeoceti, terrestrial ancestors of eventoed ungulates, 50–55 million years ago [3, 4]. Between 30 and 35 million years ago, the archaeocetes were replaced by early forms of modern dolphins and whales, known as Neoceti ("new whales") [5]. And with the Neoceti, came the earliest detectable changes in odontocete brain size and structure [6, 7].

Archaeocetes possessed brains of average to below average size relative to their bodies [6, 7]. That is, their brain mass was predictable (average) or less than predicted (below average) relative to their body mass compared with other mammals. But 30–35 million years ago, in response to shifts in ocean temperatures

and prey availability, early odontocete bodies became much smaller and their brains became much larger, increasing their encephalization (a measure of relative brain size) to unprecedented levels [6, 7]. These changes were accompanied by major shifts in social ecology (i.e., how these early dolphins used their environment to eat, travel, and defend against dangers). Around this same time, there were changes in the inner ear bones of odontocetes that eventually led to the capacity for echolocation, which gradually became an integral part of their psychology [2]. With these changes, the cetacean brain was modified considerably, representing, arguably, the most dramatic example of neurological evolutionary change. Today, modern odontocetes have above-average Encephalization Quotients (EQ; a measure of relative brain size) ranging up to 5.0, that is, brains five times the expected size (compared with a value of 7.0 for modern humans) and a complex, highly convoluted neocortex with characteristics that underlie complex cognition [6–9].

10.2.2 Brain Size and Structure

Modern odontocetes have achieved EQ levels second only to modern humans; along with an increase in mass, their brains underwent significant changes in organization and structure at many levels [6]. These structural adaptations inform our understanding of what parts of the mind are especially well developed in dolphins and whales.

The neocortex is a sheetlike structure in the mammalian forebrain which serves as the substrate for some of the most complex cognitive capacities, such as self-awareness, communication skills, sensory–perceptual integration, problem-solving, and innovation. Expansion of the neocortex occurs through folds on the surface (known as convolutions) and, thus, is indexed by surface area. The modern cetacean neocortex is among the most highly convoluted of all mammals [10, 11]. Orcas have the most convoluted neocortex on the planet, surpassing modern humans in terms of neocortical surface area and, potentially, processing units [10–12]. Therefore, dolphin and whale brains have a highly elaborated neocortex, a part of the brain intimately connected with cognitive capacities most closely associated with the term "intelligence."

In addition to neocortical surface area, there are a number of other aspects of dolphin and whale brains that serve as strong evidence for complex cognitive, emotional, and social abilities. The anterior cingulate and insular cortices, the temporal operculum, and paralimbic regions (all situated deeper within the forebrain) are extremely well developed [12], and the expansion of these areas is related to high-level sociocognitive functions such as attention, prediction, social awareness, and empathy [12]. Moreover, recent studies show that the anterior cingulate and insular cortices in larger cetaceans contains a type of projection neuron, known as a spindle cell or von Economo neuron [13, 14], considered by some to be involved in social cognition, at least in larger brains [13]. Increasingly, these specialized neurons are found in primates with smaller brains, and they may be more ubiquitous in smaller brains across a range of taxa [15].

In summary, dolphin and whale brains are massive and complex and evince several features known to form the basis of complex psychology. To put it succinctly, the present evidence for complexity and large size in cetacean brains is entirely consistent with the evidence for behavioral and social complexity in cetaceans [9].

10.2.3 Behavioral Ecology

Cetaceans (with few exceptions) are adapted to traveling long distances and diving to deep depths. Importantly, they live in all three spatial dimensions of their environment. Traveling and diving are an integral part of their ability to catch prey, socialize, and simply explore their world. Bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) off southeast Florida, for example, often dive to the ocean bottom where they reach depths of 7-13 m and engage in "crater feeding" (i.e., burrowing into the sediment to catch fish hiding there) [16]. Many bottlenose dolphin groups utilize the full water column when foraging, typically feeding at depths of 20–30 m (but sometimes more) and often diving from the surface to the sea bed and back again [17]. Many of the foraging habits of dolphin groups, such as sponge-carrying (a learned behavior, passed down from one generation to the next, in which some individuals carry conical marine sponges on their rostrum), in Shark Bay, Australia, have become enriching cultural behaviors for them [18] and provide a way to exercise behavioral and social choice. Belugas in open water can cover thousands of kilometers over a few months and can swim at a rate of up to 6 km/h and to depths of 600–1000 m [19, 20]. Orcas often swim in a consistent direction at a rapid pace when they are not foraging or hunting and often engage in synchronized dives [18], suggesting an important social purpose for traveling independent of procuring food. Resident orcas have been measured traveling at a rate of over 20 km/h [21] and off New Zealand dive to the ocean bottom (~ 12 m) to feed on stingrays [22]. There is, obviously, a wide range of ways different species, populations, and groups of cetaceans utilize their three-dimensional environment. However, it is evident from all of the literature on free-ranging cetacean foraging, traveling, socializing, and cultural behaviors that they engage their environment in a way not physically possible in captivity.

10.2.4 Cognitive Abilities

Cetaceans are among the most cognitively sophisticated animals on the planet, demonstrating prodigious problem-solving, communication, inferential capacities, and a high degree of self-awareness. Most of the evidence for these abilities comes from a handful of species frequently kept in captivity (e.g., bottlenose dolphins, orcas, beluga whales, and a few other smaller species). Thus, for the remainder of this chapter, I will focus on bottlenose dolphins, beluga whales, and orcas. However, it is important to keep in mind that other dolphin and whale species, including Mysticetes, have shown sophisticated cognitive and behavioral capabilities of their own.

Captive bottlenose dolphins have demonstrated a wide range of complex capacities. These include mirror self-recognition [23], the comprehension of gestures as symbolic referents to their own body parts [24], metacognition (i.e., the ability to report on one's certainty about the proper response to a task) [25], foreplanning [26], vocal imitation [27, 28] as well as imitation of arbitrary behaviors [29], and behavioral innovation [30]. They understand human pointing [31], are sensitive to human visual gaze and attentional stance [32, 33], and employ referential pointing themselves using their body position and rostrum [34]. Bottlenose dolphins are also well known for their prodigious comprehension of an artificial symbolic language with syntax [35].

Beluga whales show exceptional communicative and mental representational abilities. They are able to comprehend and produce symbolic lexigrams and sounds (modulated computer-generated whistles), demonstrating an understanding of the bidirectional relationship between symbols and the objects they represent [36]. They also can imitate other beluga whales [37]. And, a captive beluga whale named NOC demonstrated spontaneous imitation of human speech (i.e., voicing and creation of comprehensible words [38]), adding to the body of evidence for sound mimicry in belugas [38, 39].

Orcas in captivity have also demonstrated the sophisticated ability to imitate the novel actions of conspecifics [40], and, like many other cetaceans, orcas are vocal learners [41]. In studies of their responses to mirrors, orcas show contingency checking behavior—a correlate of self-directed responses exhibited by most individuals who demonstrate mirror self-recognition, and one orca showed behavior highly suggestive of self-recognition [42].

This nonexhaustive and brief review of the extraordinary cognitive abilities evinced by bottlenose dolphins, belugas, and orcas in captivity should be taken in the context of the fact that they are demonstrated in highly artificial and restrictive settings. These capacities are reflections of a complex psychology that evolved over tens of millions of years in the open ocean. And one of the ways to understand why dolphins and whales are so intelligent is to observe how these cognitive capacities may be manifested in the social complexity of free-ranging cetaceans.

10.2.5 Dolphin and Whale Cultures

The most critical factor in understanding who dolphins and whales are is their level of sociality. Although not all cetaceans are highly social, those species kept in captivity, ironically, tend to be among the most socially complex. Bottlenose dolphins, beluga whales, and orcas develop slowly, with very long juvenile periods in which they learn the social and material skills needed in adulthood, underwriting the capacity for learned cultural traditions [43]. These cultural traditions, in turn, are based on strong emotional ties within the group and often involve mothers teaching

their young about specific hunting techniques or learning dialects that dictate group identity [44].

Bottlenose dolphins live in fission–fusion societies with strong mother–child bonds in which they learn foraging strategies and social rules [45]. Social network analysis demonstrates that groups of dolphins form a social infrastructure with different social roles which vary in importance to the integrity of the group [46]. Arguably, the most complex nonhuman social relationships described to date are among bottlenose dolphins in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Males in this population form two and possibly three levels of nested alliances within a social network numbering in the hundreds. Males cooperate in groups of 2–3 to form consortships and also hold membership in larger groups of 4–14 individuals who cooperate in competition with other groups over estrus females [47, 48]. Such "alliances of alliances" are rare outside of our own species, even among great apes [49]. There is also evidence that individual role-taking has emerged in dolphin societies to facilitate cooperative relationships [50] and decision-making processes [51].

There are numerous reports of bottlenose dolphins engaging in epimeletic (helping) behavior toward injured or sick members of their social group by providing physical support as well as food sharing and defense of juveniles [52–55]. Additionally, there are accounts of grieving behavior manifested by carrying dead infants for a prolonged period [53] and alloparenting ("babysitting") and adoption in this species [56].

Beluga whales live in small groups that join, from time to time, with larger aggregations of hundreds or thousands of individuals. Adult females are strongly bonded with their newborns as well as an older child. These triads stay together and join with others to form large nursery groups. Generally, group composition is fluid and underwritten by complex vocalizations, facial expressions, and a variety of other characteristics [57]. Recently, robust learned cultural traditions have been identified in beluga whales in the North Pacific as they pass on information about migration routes from one generation to the other [58]. Allonursing and epimeletic behavior as well as grieving behavior have been reported for belugas [59–61].

Free-ranging orcas live in highly complex societies with long juvenile periods and differentiated relationships embedded in complex social networks relying heavily upon learning and memory [62, 63]. Orca social networks are weakened by the loss of key individuals, as in the common practice of transferring individuals from one captive facility to the next [63]. Orcas are a cosmopolitan species possessing some of the most varied and complex social traditions known. Resident orcas in the North American Pacific Northwest live in matrilineal social units, which are themselves parts of pods, which, in turn, are members of clans, with one to three clans forming a community [64]. These nested levels of social units are distinguished by dialects and other behavioral traditions formed by social learning. In some orca communities, adult males stay with their mothers their entire lives, and their survival is jeopardized if their mother dies. Moreover, epimeletic behavior and pronounced grieving are well known among orcas [65]. In one well-publicized recent case, J-35 Talequah, a young orca mother off the coast of Washington State carried her dead calf for 17 days (until the body decomposed) while her family took turns carrying the calf and sharing food with her [66]. These cases speak to the depth of emotions of which dolphins and whales are capable.

10.3 Large Brains in Small Tanks: The Unworkable Formula

This brief review of who cetaceans are provides an answer to the question: "What do cetaceans need in order to flourish?" Cetaceans need to move. They need to travel and to experience variety in their physical environment. As highly intelligent beings, they need to be challenged by their physical and social environment. Cetaceans are autonomous beings. That is, they have desires, intentions, and a sense of self [67, 68]. And, as autonomous beings, cetaceans need to exercise control over their lives (i.e., they have an inherent right to bodily liberty and bodily integrity) [67, 68]. They need to be able to raise their children through a very long childhood and navigate a complex social environment that involves social roles and alliances. Cetaceans need social opportunities to bond, to relate, to interact, to reproduce, and to learn from each other. They also need a social infrastructure, that is, an intact social network, family ties, and even social competition. And, far from their sheltered life in captivity, they need to be challenged and expend effort solving problems and escaping dangers.

The public labors under the misconception that intelligence provides a buffer for dolphins and whales and that they are able to learn to adapt to life in small tanks. Yet the opposite is true. Intelligence and social complexity are actually a risk factor for psychological trauma and ill health in cetaceans kept in concrete tanks. Their lives in tanks are, in many ways, analogous to solitary confinement for human prisoners. The reality is that cetaceans are so complex that life in the barren tanks is just too far a cry from anything that could come close to meeting their needs. The more complex the needs of any animal, the more difficult it is to accommodate them in tanks and cages. It is unworkable.

The captivity industry, which includes aquaria and commercial marine parks like SeaWorld, claims that it protects cetaceans from the rigors of the natural environment and, because of this, they lead a better life in tanks than in the ocean [69]. If this were the case, then we should see evidence of health and well-being in captive dolphins and whales. But instead there is an abundance of evidence for shorter lifespans (particularly in orcas and belugas), higher mortality rates, rampant illness, and behavioral abnormalities—all related to chronic stress. Chronic stress leads to immunosuppression and susceptibility to physical diseases that impacts mortality rates [70–72]. The United States Marine Mammal Inventory Report published by the National Marine Fisheries Service lists numerous stress-related disorders, such as ulcerative gastritis, perforating ulcer, cardiogenic shock, and psychogenic shock as causes of death along with immunodeficiency-based infections such as pneumonia [73]. Orcas, belugas, and bottlenose dolphins live shorter lives in concrete tanks than in the wild [74–76]. In addition, captive dolphins and whales display a variety of behavioral abnormalities that are common indicators of chronic stress, such as

excessive chewing on parts of the tank [77] and repetitive swimming patterns [78]. Some of these behavioral abnormalities also contribute to systemic disease and death.

10.3.1 Chronic Stress, Abnormal Behavior, Infection, and Mortality: The Vicious Cycle

One of the more common behavioral abnormalities found in captive animals is stereotypy. These highly repetitive behaviors with no clear function are often self-stimulatory. There have been numerous reports of oral stereotypies in captive orcas, including biting, chewing, and jaw-popping on hard tank surfaces and the steel gates used to separate the whales [77]. These behaviors are more than manifestations of psychological stress, as they lead to extensive and chronic dental pathologies [77, 79, 80]. Poor dental health is a known cause of systemic illness [81] because the openings in the damaged teeth provide a pathway for pathogens to enter the bloodstream and impact organs.

While dental wear is found in free-ranging orcas, it is typically isolated to those populations who have very specific feeding habits that wear on the teeth (e.g., certain prey items with abrasive skin that require mechanical manipulation before consumption) [77]. Extensive tooth deterioration is rare in general [77]. In marine parks, however, orcas are fed exclusively a diet of dead fish and squid, and gelatin (to minimize dehydration), all placed at the back of the oral cavity and swallowed, requiring little to no contact with the teeth. Yet, the majority of captive orcas have tooth wear and dental pathology. Over 60% of captive orcas in the United States have fractures of their mandibular teeth, and 24% exhibit "major" to "extreme" mandibular coronal tooth wear down to the gumline [77]. In order to treat abscesses and drain debris and pus, the majority of captive orcas undergo a modified pulpotomy procedure that involves drilling into the tooth pulp and requires daily flushing [77, 79]. These efforts are only partially successful in stemming the development of chronic systemic bacteria which are treated, in turn, by long-term antibiotic dosing that contributes to antibiotic resistance [77, 79]. Therefore, oral stereotypies by captive orcas (and other cetaceans) result in a vicious cycle of ongoing dental damage and pathology with serious health consequences that extend well beyond problems with their teeth [77, 81]. These systemic problems are directly linked to the fact that an intelligent, socially complex being cannot thrive in the barren concrete tanks of marine parks and are, therefore, vulnerable to a deadly cycle of health events that are caused by putting large-brained animals in small tanks.

Cetaceans evolved to cope with the rigors of the wild and, therefore, flourish with the challenges of living a natural life. They have no such adaptive history with captivity. What humans may think is a "stress-free" life in marine parks is actually the most stressful experience a dolphin and whale can have. Thus, the claim that captivity is better for cetaceans than the rigors of the wild is contradicted by the poor welfare record of captive dolphins and whales. As Rose, Parsons, and Farinoto (2009) point out: To use the rigors of the wild as a justification for the conditions of captivity is misleading and disingenuous. This argument implies that the natural state is an evil to be avoided and that the captive environment is the preferred state. The suggestion is that animals must be protected from the very surroundings that sustain them. This misrepresentation of the natural environment as threatening to the health of these animals will certainly not encourage people to protect, respect, or understand the animals' natural habitat. [82, p. 19]

The quote above takes aim at the anthropocentric and hubristic view that humans know the best way for other animals to live. But the overwhelming evidence for poor health and psychological damage are not data which can be ignored. And they call for an ethical response to the worldwide keeping of dolphins and whales in concrete tanks.

10.4 Sanctuary: The Ethical Solution to the Tanks

As demonstrated above, there is a fundamental incompatibility between who dolphins and whales are and the life they are forced to lead in concrete tanks. An ethical response to this situation has no practical solution within the walls of entertainment parks and research facilities—places that objectify and commoditize these animals for profit of one kind or another. The solution, in order to be effective, has to come in the form of a paradigm shift: concrete actions that represent a permanent and pervasive change in the way we relate to cetaceans and other animals.

The fundamental core of this paradigm shift is recognition of what our species has done to undermine the inherent rights of captive cetaceans to bodily liberty and integrity and to restore to them what was taken from them. In other words, we must enact reparation. As commonly understood, reparation is the return of something stolen to its rightful owner, recompense for injury or loss, and restoration to a natural state. The concept of restitution is one that is often used in relation to human affairs but is arguably just as germane to human–nonhuman relations.

In the case of keeping cetaceans in tanks for our gain, the paradigm shift comes in a form of restitution already established for many other species—sanctuary. A sanctuary is typically thought of as a place of refuge and protection, and indeed it is. But in the case of sanctuaries for other animals, there is also the need to restore the individual to an appropriate environment akin to their natural one, that can provide the right kinds of habitat, physical and intellectual activities, and social opportunities. As the Performing Animal Welfare Society defines it:

A wildlife sanctuary is a place of refuge where abused, injured and abandoned captive wildlife may live in peace and dignity for the remainder of their lives. True wildlife sanctuaries do not breed or exploit for commercial purposes. A true sanctuary respects the integrity of individual animals, providing safe, healthy and secure refuge in enclosures specifically designed for the unique animal which it supports. [83]

Sanctuaries are still captivity and do not allow for a complete restoration of a natural life (e.g., no breeding), but the signature characteristics of an authentic

sanctuary are as follows: (a) the individuality of each animal is respected and promoted, (b) there is no exploitation, and (c) the goal is to provide a life that is as close as possible to one in which the individual can thrive. Successful, authentic sanctuaries are places where traumatized individuals can heal and enjoy their lives and, for captive-born animals, perhaps for the first time. Cetaceans should never be placed in captivity in the first place, but for those in captivity now, their best alternative for a flourishing life is to be placed in a sanctuary. Seaside sanctuaries are the way forward into a more ethical future relationship with the other large-brained complex beings on our planet—the cetaceans.

References

- 1. Mann J, Connor RC, Tyack PL, Whitehead H, editors. Cetacean societies: field studies of dolphins and whales. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2000.
- 2. Miller DL, editor. Reproductive biology and phylogeny of Cetacea: whales, porpoises and dolphins. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2016.
- Fordyce RE. Cetacean fossil record. In: Perrin WF, Würsig TJGM, editors. Encyclopedia of marine mammals. 2nd ed. San Diego: Academic Press; 2009. p. 207–15.
- Gingerich PD, Uhen MD. Likelihood estimation of the time of origin of cetacean and the time of divergence of cetacean and Artiodactyla. Paleo-electronica. 1998;2:1–47.
- Geisler JH, McGowen MR, Yang G, Gatesy J. A supermatrix analysis of genomic, morphological, and paleontological data from crown Cetacea. BMC Evol Biol. 2011;1:1–33.
- Marino L, McShea D, Uhen MD. The origin and evolution of large brains in toothed whales. Anat Rec. 2004;281A:1247–55.
- Montgomery SH, McGowen MR, Fox C, Marino L, Gatesy J. The evolutionary history of cetacean brain and body size. Evolution. 2013;67(11):3339–53.
- 8. Hof PR, Chanis R, Marino L. Cortical complexity in cetacean brains. Anat Rec. 2005;287A:1142–52.
- Marino L. Brain structure and intelligence in cetaceans. In: Brakes P, Simmonds MP, editors. Whales and dolphins: culture, cognition and conservation. London: Earthscan; 2011. p. 115–28.
- Ridgway SH, Brownson RH. Relative brain sizes and cortical surface areas of odontocetes. Acta Zool Fenn. 1984;172:149–52.
- Ridgway SH, Carlin KP, Van Alstyne KR, Hanson AC, Tarpley RJ. Comparison of dolphins' body and brain measurements with four other groups of cetaceans reveals great diversity. Brain Behav Evol. 2016;88(3–4):235–57.
- 12. Marino L, Sherwood CC, Tang CY, Delman BN, Naidich TP, Johnson JI, Hof PR. Neuroanatomy of the killer whale (*Orcinus orca*) from magnetic resonance imaging. Anat Rec. 2004;281A:1256–63.
- Allman JM, Watson KK, Tetrault NA, Hakeen AY. Intuition and autism: a possible role for Von Economo neurons. Trends Cogn Sci. 2005;9:367–73.
- Butti C, Sherwood CC, Hakeem AY, Allman JM, Hof PR. Total number and volume of Von Economo neurons in the cerebral cortex of cetaceans. J Comp Neurol. 2009;515(2):243–59.
- Evrard HC, Forro T, Logothetis NK. Von Economo neurons in the anterior insula of the macaque monkey. Neuron. 2012;74(3):482–9.
- Stewart BS. Diving behavior. In: Perrin WF, Würsig B, Thewissen JGM, editors. Encyclopedia of marine mammals. 2nd ed. San Diego: Academic Press; 2009. p. 321–6.
- 17. Hastie GD, Wilson B, Thompson PM. Diving deep in a foraging hotspot: acoustic insights into bottlenose dolphin dive depths and feeding behaviour. Mar Biol. 2006;148:1181–8.
- Krützen M, Mann J, Heithaus MR, Connor RC, Bejder L, Sherwin WB. Cultural transmission of tool use in bottlenose dolphins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(25):8939–43.

- Lydersen C, Martin AR, Kovacs KM, Gjertz I. Summer and autumn movements of white whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) in Svalbard, Norway. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 2001;219:265–74.
- 20. Richard PR, Heide-Jorgensen MP, Orr JR, Dietz R, Smith TG. Summer and autumn movements and habitat use by belugas in the Canadian High Arctic and adjacent areas. Arctic. 2001;54:207–22.
- Ford JKB. Killer whale (*Orcinus orca*). In: Perrin WF, Würsig B, Thewissen JGM, editors. Encyclopedia of marine mammals. 2nd ed. San Diego: Academic Press; 2009. p. 650–6.
- Visser IN. Benthic foraging on stingrays by killer whales (Orcinus orca) in New Zealand waters. Mar Mammal Sci. 1999;15:220–7.
- Reiss D, Marino L. Self-recognition in the bottlenose dolphin: a case of cognitive convergence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98:5937–42.
- Herman LM, Matus DS, Herman EYK, Ivancic M, Pack A. The bottlenosed dolphin's (*Tursiops truncatus*) understanding of gestures as symbolic representations of its body parts. Anim Learn Behav. 2001;29:250–64.
- Smith JD, Schull J, Strote J, McGee K, Rojan E, Erb L. The uncertain response in the bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Exp Psychol Gen. 1995;124:391–408.
- McCowan B, Marino L, Vance E, Walke L, Reiss D. Bubble ring play of bottlenose dolphins: implications for cognition. J Comp Psychol. 2001;114:98–106.
- 27. Reiss D, McCowan B. Spontaneous vocal mimicry and production by bottlenosed dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*): evidence for vocal learning. J Comp Psychol. 1993;107:301–12.
- Hooper SL, Reiss DR, Carter M, McCowan B. Importance of contextual saliency on vocal imitation by bottlenose dolphins. Int J Comp Psychol. 2006;19:116–28.
- 29. Richards DG, Wolz JP, Herman LM. Vocal mimicry of computer-generated sounds and vocal labeling of objects by a bottlenosed dolphin, *Tursiops truncatus*. J Comp Psychol. 1984;98 (1):10–28.
- Herman LM. Vocal, social, and self-imitation by bottlenosed dolphins. In: Dautenhahn K, Nehaniv CL, editors. Imitation in animals and artifacts. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2002. p. 63–108.
- 31. Pack A, Herman LM. The dolphin's (*Tursiops truncatus*) understanding of human gaze and pointing: knowing what and where. J Comp Psychol. 2007;121:34–45.
- 32. Xitco MJ, Gory J, Kuczaj SA II. Dolphin pointing is linked to the attentional behavior of a receiver. Anim Cogn. 2004;7:231–8.
- Xitco MJ, Gory J, Kuczaj SA II. Spontaneous pointing by bottlenosed dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). Anim Cogn. 2001;4:115–23.
- 34. Herman LM. Cognition and language competencies of bottlenosed dolphins. In: Schusterman J, Thomas J, Wood FG, editors. Dolphin cognition and behavior: a comparative approach. Hillsdale: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1986. p. 221–51.
- Murayama T, Fuji Y, Hashimoto T, Shimoda A, Ijima S, Hayasaka K, Shiroma N, Koshikawa M, Katsumata H, Soichi M, Arai K. Preliminary study of object labeling using sound production in a beluga. Int J Comp Psychol. 2012;25:195–207.
- 36. Abramson JZ, Hernández-Lloreda MV, Esteban JA, Colmenares F, Aboitiz F, Call J. Contextual imitation of intransitive body actions in a beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*): a "do as other does" study. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0178906.
- Ridgway S, Carder D, Jeffries M, Todd M. Spontaneous human speech mimicry by a cetacean. Curr Biol. 2012;22(20):R860–1.
- 38. Fish MP, Mowbray WH. Production of underwater sound by the white whale or beluga, *Delphinapterus leucas (pallus)*. J Mar Res. 1962;20:149–61.
- Schevill WE, Lawrence B. Underwater listening to the white porpoise (*Delphinapterus leucas*). Science. 1949;109:143–4.
- 40. Abramson JZ, Hernandez-Lloreda V, Call J, Colmenares F. Experimental evidence for action imitation in killer whales (*Orcinus orca*). Anim Cogn. 2013;16(1):11–22.
- Foote AD, Griffin RM, Howitt D, Larrson L, Miller PJO, Hoelzel AR. Killer whales are capable of vocal learning. Biol Lett. 2006;2(4):509–12.

- 42. Delfour F, Marten K. Mirror image processing in three marine mammal species: killer whales (Orcinus orca), false Killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*), and California sea lions (Zalophus californianus). Behav Process. 2001;53:181–90.
- 43. Whitehead H. The culture of whales and dolphins. In: Brakes P, Simmonds MP, editors. Whales and dolphins: culture, cognition and conservation. London: Earthscan; 2011. p. 149–65.
- Mann J, Sargeant BL, Minor M. Calf inspection of fish catches: opportunities for oblique social learning. Mar Mammal Sci. 2007;24:749–73.
- 45. Sergeant BL, Mann J. Developmental evidence for foraging traditions in wild bottlenose dolphins. Anim Behav. 2009;78:715–21.
- 46. Lusseau D. Evidence for social role in a dolphin social network. Evol Ecol. 2007;21:357-66.
- 47. Connor RC, Smolker RA, Richards AF. Two levels of alliance formation among male bottlenosed dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89:987–90.
- Connor RC, Richards AF, Smolker RA, Mann J. Patterns of female attractiveness in Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins. Behaviour. 1996;133:37–69.
- 49. Connor RC, Heithaus MR, Barre LM. Superalliance of bottlenose dolphins. Nature. 1999;397:571–2.
- Gazda SK, Connor RC, Edgar RK, Cox F. A division of labor with role specialization in grouphunting bottlenosed dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) off Cedar Key, Florida. Proc R Soc Lond Ser B. 2005;272:135–40.
- Lusseau D, Conradt L. The emergence of unshared consensus decisions in bottlenose dolphins. Behav Ecol Sociobiol. 2009;63:1067–77.
- 52. Cockcroft VG, Sauer W. Observed and inferred epimeletic (nurturant) behaviour in bottlenose dolphins. Aquat Mamm. 1990;16(1):31–2.
- 53. Mann J, Barnett H. Lethal tiger shark (*Galeocerdo cuvier*) attack on bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops sp.*) calf: defense and reactions by the mother. Mar Mammal Sci. 1999;15:568–75.
- Warren-Smith ÁB, Dunn WL. Epimeletic behaviour toward a seriously injured juvenile bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops sp.*) in Port Phillip, Victoria, Australia. Aquat Mamm. 2006;32 (3):357–62.
- 55. Fertl D, Schiro A. Carrying of dead calves by free-ranging Texas bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). Aquat Mamm. 1994;20:53–6.
- 56. Howells EM, Reif JS, Bechdel SE, Murdoch ME, Bossart GD, McCulloch SD, Mazzoil MS. A novel case of non-offspring adoption in a free-ranging Atlantic bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) inhabiting the Indian River lagoon, Florida. Aquat Mamm. 2009;35(1):43–7.
- O'Corry-Crowe GM. Beluga whale. In: Perrin WF, Würsig TJGM, editors. Encyclopedia of marine mammals. San Diego: Academic Press; 2009. p. 108–12.
- 58. O'Corry-Crowe G, Suydam R, Quakenbush L, Potgieter B, Harwood L, Litovka D, Ferrer T, Citta J, Burkanov V, Frost K, Mahoney B. Migratory culture, population structure and stock identity in North Pacific beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*). PLoS One. 2018;13(3): e0194201.
- Krasnova VV, Chernetsky AD, Zheludkova AI, Bel'kovich VM. Parental behavior of the beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*) in natural environment. Biol Bull. 2014;41:349–56.
- Leung ES, Vergara V, Barrett-Lennard LG. Allonursing in captive belugas (*Delphinapterus leucas*). Zoo Biol. 2010;29(5):633–7.
- 61. Smith TG, Sleno GA. Do white whales, *Delphinapterus leucas*, carry surrogates in response to early loss of their young? Can J Zool. 1986;64(7):1581–2.
- 62. Baird R. The killer whale: foraging specializations and group hunting. In: Mann J, Connor RC, Tyack P, Whitehead H, editors. Cetacean societies: field studies of whales and dolphins. Chicago: University of Chicago; 2000. p. 127–53.
- Williams R, Lusseau D. A killer whale social network is vulnerable to targeted removals. Biol Lett. 2006;2:497–500.
- 64. Bigg MA, Olesiuk PE, Ellis GM, Ford JK, Balcomb KC. Social organization and genealogy of resident killer whales (Orcinus orca) in the coastal waters of British Columbia and Washington State. Rep Int Whaling Comm. 1990;12(Special issue):383–405.

- 65. Reggente MA, Alves F, Nicolau C, Freitas L, Cagnazzi D, Baird RW, Galli P. Nurturant behavior toward dead conspecifics in free-ranging mammals: new records for odontocetes and a general review. J Mammal. 2016;97(5):1428–34.
- Updates on the "J" pod orcas. Whale Sanctuary Project. https://whalesanctuaryproject.org/ updates-on-the-j-pod-orcas/. Accessed 12 Aug 2018.
- 67. Beauchamp TL, Wobber V. Autonomy in chimpanzees. Theor Med Bioeth. 2014;35 (2):117–32.
- 68. Wise S. Entitling non-human animals to fundamental legal rights on the basis of practical autonomy. In: Turner J, D'Silva J, editors. Animals, ethics, and trade: the challenge of animal sentience. Sterling: Earthscan; 2005. p. 87–100.
- 69. Schelling A. SeaWorld gives the most absurd reason for not freeing its orcas. The Dodo. 2016. https://www.thedodo.com/seaworld-orcas-sea-sanctuaries-pens-1700373682.html
- St. Aubin D, Geraci J. Capture and handling stress suppresses circulating levels of thyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3) in beluga whales *Delphinapterus leucas*. Physiol Zool. 1988;61 (2):170–5.
- Noda K, Akiyoshi H, Aoki M, Shimada T, Ohashi F. Relationship between transportation stress and polymorphonuclear cell functions of bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops truncatus*. J Vet Med Sci. 2007;69(4):379–83.
- 72. Spoon TR, Romano TA. Neuroimmunological response of beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) to translocation and a novel social environment. Brain Behav Immun. 2011;26 (1):122–31.
- United States Marine Mammal Inventory Report. National Marine Fisheries Service, Office of Protected Resources. 2010.
- 74. Jett J, Ventre J. Captive killer whale (*Orcinus orca*) survival. Mar Mammal Sci. 2015;31 (4):1362–77.
- Small RJ, DeMaster DP. Survival of five species of captive marine mammals. Mar Mammal Sci. 1995;11(2):209–26.
- 76. Woodley TH, Hannah JL, Lavigne DM. A comparison of survival rates for captive and freeranging bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*), killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) and beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*). International Marine Mammal Association Technical Report 97-02. 1997.
- Jett J, Visser IN, Ventre J, Waltz J, Loch C. Tooth damage in captive orcas (*Orcinus orca*). Arch Oral Biol. 2017;84:151–60.
- Marino L, Frohoff T. Towards a new paradigm of non-captive research on cetacean cognition. PLoS One. 2011;6(9):1–9.
- 79. Graham MS, Dow PR. Dental care for a captive killer whale, *Orcinus orca*. Zoo Biol. 1990;9 (4):325–30.
- Ventre J, Jett J. Killer whales, theme parks, and controversy: an exploration of the evidence. In: Markwell K, editor. Animals and tourism. Understanding diverse relationships. Bristol: Channel View Publications; 2015. p. 128–45.
- Li X, Kolltveit KM, Tronstad L, Olsen I. Systemic diseases caused by oral infection. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2000;13:547–58.
- 82. Rose NA, Parsons ECM, Farinato R. The case against marine mammals in captivity. Washington, DC: Humane Society of the United States; 2009.
- The Performing Animals Welfare Society. http://www.pawsweb.org/what_is_a_wildlife_sanc tuary.html. Accessed 12 Aug 2018.



Animal Rights and Captivity in a Non-Ideal **11** World

Robert Garner

Abstract

This chapter explores what animal ethics has to say about the issue of captivity. The best-known version of animal rights morally prohibits all use of animals, including confinement. One obvious response is to reject animal rights in favor of a traditional animal welfare ethic. It is argued in this chapter, however, that there are two ways it is possible to justify animal captivity from an animal rights perspective. The first involves the adoption of a more nuanced, interest-based, rights theory. This allows us to claim that animals do not have a strong enough interest in liberty to be accorded a right not to be kept in captivity. The second involves the adoption of a non-ideal theory of animal rights. This allows us to bracket liberty, and therefore the issue of captivity, as a component of an ideal theory and therefore not of immediate ethical concern.

Keywords

Animal rights · Captivity · Confinement · Cognitive capacities · Animal welfare

11.1 Introduction

This chapter explores what ethics has to say about the issue of animal captivity and confinement. As a preliminary exercise, the role that cognitive capacities have played in the animal ethics debate is outlined. It is shown, in particular, that the best-known version of animal rights, associated, above all, with Tom Regan [1], adopts a particular approach to rights discourse and is dependent upon the claim that at least some animals have considerable cognitive capacities. Of particular importance, for this chapter at least, is the point that, for the conventional animal rights

R. Garner (🖂)

University of Leicester, Leicester, UK e-mail: rwg2@leicester.ac.uk

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_11

position, all human uses of animals are morally prohibited, irrespective of what is being done to them whilst they are being used. In other words, all things being equal, keeping animals confined and captive is inherently wrong and does not, for instance, depend on the degree to which they suffer as a consequence.

Accepting an animal rights ethic, as described above, would seem, then, to be very exacting. It means that a whole variety of established, and possibly even benign, practices involving the confinement of animals become illegitimate. Circuses and zoos are obvious examples, but so is the ownership of pets or companion animals which usually involves confinement. It would mean, too, that the confinement of animals in the laboratory becomes morally illegitimate, even if the animals do not suffer and are not killed. Similarly, even if a way was found to raise animals for, say, the production of wool and milk, which did not cause suffering (which, it should be pointed out, is a long way from the current reality), this would be morally objectionable from the conventional animal rights perspective. To avoid the conclusion—that it is inherently wrong to confine animals—one obvious alternative position to adopt is an animal welfare ethic. Here, confining animals does not, by itself, raise any ethical issues, and, even when such confinement obviously causes the animal to suffer and results in death, it can still be justified if that suffering is deemed to be necessary.

It is argued in this chapter, however, that there are two ways it is possible to justify animal captivity from an animal rights perspective. The first involves the adoption of a more nuanced, interest-based, rights theory. This allows us to claim that animals do not have a strong enough interest in liberty to be accorded a right not to be kept in captivity, but do, at the very least, have an interest, and therefore a right, not to have suffering inflicted on them by humans. The second involves the adoption of a non-ideal theory of animal rights. This allows us to bracket liberty, and therefore the issue of captivity, as a component of an ideal theory and therefore not of immediate ethical concern.

11.2 Does Ethics Need to Be Based on Cognitive Capacities?

Central to the bulk of the work in animal ethics has been an evaluation of the moral significance of the cognitive capacities of nonhuman animals (hereinafter animals) and, indeed, humans too. In this *capacity-oriented* approach [2], moral worth is granted on the basis of the possession of some capacity or other, whether it be mere sentience or greater cognitive capability. Not all ethical theories, to be sure, are based on a capacity-oriented approach, and two alternatives, which have appeared recently in the animal ethics literature, should be noted at this point. These are based, respectively, on relations and virtue.

In the relational ethic, in its pure sense at least, the moral worth of an individual is based not upon her capacities or interests but upon the relationships she has with others. The relational approach has its roots in the feminist care ethic tradition which suggests that we should value emotion and sentiment over reason. One version of this tradition holds that our moral obligations should derive from the (positive) relationships we develop and not as a result of impartial rules. Applied to animals, then, our duties to them are based not on the grounds of impartial and abstract principles but from our duty to care about those animals we forge (positive) relationships with (see [3]).

This relational ethic has also been utilised by some animal ethicists to account for the intuitively popular assumption that we should treat domesticated animals differently from wild animals [2]. That is, it is commonly thought that it is permissible to leave wild animals to their fate, whereas we have positive duties to the domesticated animals we are responsible for. Note that the cognitive capacities possessed by these groups of animals are irrelevant morally. Donaldson and Kymlicka [4] utilise the relational approach in their application of citizenship theory to animals. Domesticated animals, those who are part of our societies, are equivalent to co-citizens and have certain particular rights because of their relational status with humans. By contrast, genuinely wild animals are equivalent to separate sovereign communities which ought to be regulated by norms of international justice.

One major problem with the relational position, or at least a "pure" version, is that if we adopt a theory which grounds moral duties in the (positive) relationships we forge, it is difficult to see how these duties can be applied to those with whom we do not forge such a relationship. For example, if we have no positive relationships with wild animals, then, strictly speaking, the relational ethic accords no moral worth to them and justifies exploiting them rather than a prescription of non-interference. As a result, it would seem morally arbitrary to deny moral entitlements to animals (and indeed humans) with whom we do not have a relationship, irrespective of their cognitive capacities. To avoid this conclusion, Donaldson and Kymlicka's account [4] combines relational and capacity-oriented strands. Indeed, their starting point is the acceptance, as a baseline, of an animal rights agenda based on a capacity-oriented ethic. That is, they accept that all animals (domesticated and wild) have a right to life and liberty which prohibits humans from killing or confining them.

The second approach which denies the moral importance of cognitive capacities is virtue ethics. This long-standing approach, dating back to Aristotle, which has had something of a revival in the last three decades or so, links morally right actions in terms of, not capacities and rules, but the character of the actor. According to the virtue ethics approach, then, what is wrong, say, with killing is "not so much that it is unjust. . .but that it is callous and contrary to the virtue of charity" (p. 6 in [5]). A virtue, then, is a "good, or admirable, or praiseworthy character trait" (p. 147 in [6]). Insofar as virtuous behavior is to be commended because it benefits the human behaving in such a way, as part of a flourishing human life (this was Aristotle's original intention), it has the advantage of providing a reason (enlightened self-interest) for treating animals well [7].

However, there are a number of problems with virtue ethics which raise doubts as to its claim to be a viable alternative to a capacity-oriented position in animal ethics. In general terms, there is the long-standing debate over whether it is beneficial to the agent to behave morally or virtuously and, if so, in what ways [8, 9]. Applied specifically to animals, it is also the case that virtue ethics, like care ethics, does not always provide a clear guide to action or moral judgement [10]. This is

particularly the case where virtues conflict. An illustration of this is the debate between Hursthouse [6] and Roger Scruton [11] on blood sports. Both invoke virtue ethics in the case of blood sports, the former arguing that it is illegitimate because those engaging in it are behaving callously, the latter arguing that those participating in it are behaving courageously. Here we have, then, a conflict between the vice of callousness and the virtue of courage. If we choose to hunt, are we behaving courageously, in which case our lives flourish, or are we behaving callously, in which case they do not? Similarly, take the virtue of mercy. Imagine a situation often presented by those defending scientific research on animals—whereby we are faced with a choice between being merciful towards the animals that are assigned to be used in scientific research and being merciful towards the sick children who might benefit from such research.

Of course, it might be contended that a rights-based ethic also suffers from potential conflicts. Virtue ethics, though, can also be subjected to a further criticism. This is that to attach labels such as charity, kindness, compassion and so on to our treatment of animals assumes, if it is to make any sense, that animals have some capacities which it is regarded as important to protect. That is, to describe our treatment of animals as cruel assumes that they are sentient beings who can be hurt. We would not, by contrast, seek to claim that it is possible to behave compassionately towards, say, a work of art or a historical monument. Virtuous behavior as regards animals, therefore, is predicated on the duties we owe to them directly as a result of their capacity to be harmed [12]. It seems to be the case, therefore, that "a conception of moral virtues can never provide a complete account of morality, since it presupposes further normative standards that cannot be reduced to virtues" [13].

11.3 Cognitive Capacities and Animal Ethics

The relational and virtue ethics approaches have remained on the periphery of animal ethics. By contrast, the centrality of cognitive capacities to the way in which animals have been discussed in moral theory has been marked. Thus, prior to the late eighteenth century, it was common, in theory and practice, to accord animals no moral standing (in the sense that, like inanimate objects, they have no moral worth whatsoever) on the grounds either that they were deemed not to be sentient or that sentience was not deemed to be sufficient for moral standing. The nineteenth century, by contrast, was marked by a growing recognition that animals are sentient, having the capacity to experience pain and pleasure, and that sentience was important morally. This recognition was reflected in the popularity of the Utilitarian position developed above all by Jeremy Bentham. For Bentham, sentience was the benchmark of moral standing. As he wrote, *the* question of moral status is not "Can they reason? Nor, Can they talk? But, Can they suffer?" (p. 311 in [14]).

The Utilitarian position, that sentience provides the benchmark for moral standing, has had a considerable influence on debates about the moral worth of animals leading to the acceptability, in theory and practice, of the dominant animal welfare ethic (see below). In addition, a contemporary Utilitarian, Peter Singer, invokes the sentience criteria to go beyond the animal welfare ethic [15, 16]. Animals' lack of moral agency (and, in general terms, their lack of a collection of capacities usually described in shorthand as personhood) is still, for Singer, philosophically important. However, he denies that all species of nonhuman animals lack the capacities of personhood and further maintains that even those species that do not possess the capacities of personhood are still morally considerable. In short, there is now a consensus that the sentience of animals means that we have some moral obligations to them.

What is most notable about the debate in animal ethics since the 1970s has been the emergence of an animal rights position which goes beyond both the animal welfare ethic and the utilitarian approach associated with Singer. The key advocate of animal rights was the American moral philosopher Tom Regan [1]. In many ways, his starting point was a rejection of Utilitarianism. This was very much in line with much moral and political philosophy at the time. A similar rejection of Utilitarianism, for instance, was a central part of John Rawls' landmark account of justice in *A Theory of Justice*, first published, in book form, in the early 1970s [17]. In terms of the animal ethics debate, Regan's target was Singer. While agreeing with the latter's objectives—an end to the use of animals for food and as experimental subjects— Regan argued that a Utilitarian ethic, dependent upon an aggregative counting of consequences, simply could not justify such absolute moral conclusions (their debate can be found in [18, 19]).

Regan's preference, therefore, is for a rights-based ethic. In his earlier writings, Regan [20] sought to justify this ethic merely on the grounds that animals are sentient, as does Gary Francione, a well-known contemporary animal rights scholar [21]. By the time of his book-length study, however, Regan had developed a more complex theory. Regan seeks to show that at least some animals are what he calls "subjects-of-a-life", possessing enough mental complexity to be morally considerable. Because at least some animals have these capabilities, Regan argues that they have a welfare which is capable of being harmed by not only inflictions of pain and deprivation but also death, since it forecloses all possibilities of finding satisfaction in life. The key point, then, is that rights are not granted to animals by virtue of their sentience but because they are "subjects-of-a-life", beings with considerable cognitive capabilities including having beliefs and desires, emotions, memories, and a psychophysical identity over time.

I describe Regan's position as a species-egalitarian version of animal rights, on the grounds that, to all intents and purposes, it advocates moral equality between humans and at least some animals. That is, humans and at least some animals share an equal right to life and liberty. A corollary of this is that—for most animal rights philosophers, animal rights activists and, indeed, their opponents too—animal rights and abolitionism are synonymous. Abolitionism seeks, on the grounds that animals have a right to life and liberty, a prohibition on the use of animals by humans *irrespective of the ways in which they are treated*. Thus, for Regan, the animal rights movement "is abolitionist in its aspirations. It seeks not to reform how animals are exploited...but to abolish their exploitation. To end it. Completely" (p. 127 in [22]).

11.4 Animal Welfare and the Personhood Position

Accepting the conventional animal rights position, as exemplified by Regan's work, requires the rejection of all uses of animals, including their confinement (where confinement is not specifically in their interests) irrespective of what is done to them while they are being confined. To some extent, the effects of this can be exaggerated in the sense that not all animals, according to Regan [1], are "subjects-of-a-life". At the very least, though, in Regan's view, it applies to all mature mammals, and, given that many of the animals that fall into this category are used by humans for a variety of purposes, accepting an animal rights position does significantly constrain what humans are morally entitled to do.

It might be thought that such an abolitionist conclusion is unacceptable morally since it significantly overstates the moral status that animals possess. The obvious response is to reject an animal rights position in favor of an animal welfare position that might be regarded as the moral orthodoxy. The central feature of the dominant animal welfare ethic is an insistence that humans are morally superior to animals, but that—since animals are sentient—they have some moral worth. As a result, we are not entitled to inflict suffering on them if the human benefit thereby resulting is not necessary. The principle of *unnecessary suffering*, therefore, can be invoked if the level of suffering inflicted on an animal outweighs the benefits likely to be gained by humans. The political philosopher Robert Nozick (p. 35–42 in [23]) provides a concise but admirably effective definition of animal welfare when he writes that it constitutes "utilitarianism for animals, Kantianism for people". Sacrificing the interests of animals for the aggregative welfare, then, is permissible providing that the benefit is significant enough, but treating humans in the same way is prohibited whatever the benefits that might accrue from so doing.

The animal welfare ethic still remains the dominant ideology behind state approaches to the treatment of animals, of course, and would allow for the confinement of animals *and*, if necessary, inflicting suffering and even killing them. Of course, what is deemed to be *necessary* suffering is vague enough to allow the capture of changes in public opinion over time. Now, for instance, many practices involving animals—the wearing of fur, the toxicity testing of cosmetics, and the worst excesses of factory farming, to name but a few—are no longer regarded as *necessary* in the way that they once were.

The problem with the animal welfare ethic, however, is that it is, ethically, not on very firm ground. The case for human moral superiority is reliant upon being able to show convincingly that we have morally significant characteristics not possessed by nonhuman animals. As Bonnie Steinbock, in one of the surprisingly few published philosophical retorts to philosophers such as Singer and Regan, states: "We do not subject animals to different moral treatment simply because they have fur and feathers, but because they are in fact different from human beings in ways that could be morally relevant" (p. 247 in [24]). Humans, it is typically said, are rational, self-conscious, autonomous persons, able to communicate in a sophisticated way and to act as moral agents. This is often converted into a shorthand claim that humans are persons whilst animals are not (i.e. the personhood position). From

empirical evidence, it is argued, can be derived a justification for regarding humans as morally superior to nonhumans, and therefore providing a defence of the moral orthodoxy (see also Cohen's contribution in [22, 25, 26]).

At one level, the defenders of human cognitive superiority surely have a point. It is true that Regan and others are correct to claim that at least some animals do possess more than mere sentience. They can have desires and preferences and have the ability to act so as to satisfy them. However, it is still difficult to establish that the cognitive characteristics possessed by most animals are anything remotely approaching those possessed by most humans. Humans, as Frey [27] points out, have a much higher quality of life involving a rational assessment of desires and a willingness to shed or moderate some, particularly first-order, desires—eating and drinking for example—if they are not consistent with an individual's conception of the good life. At most, then, animals are only capable of dealing with a very basic set of first-order desires.

So, whilst it may be accepted that animals do have an interest in continued life they are not merely beings that live entirely in the present without psychological connections with the past and the future [28]—it is transparently the case that the value of human lives is higher than that of animal lives. What is more, most animal ethicists, even those who reject some of the components of the moral orthodoxy, would accept this. Thus, the argument that the duty not to kill animals is as strong as the duty not to kill humans is, in David DeGrazia's words, "very hard to believe" (p. 233 in [29]). Similarly, it might also be argued that keeping animals in captivity does not present the same problems for animals as it does for humans. Of course, if that confinement causes suffering—a lack of space, insufficient food, and so on—it can be deemed a moral problem. But confinement in itself would not seem to be a problem for animals in the same way it is for humans, who are thereby prevented from pursuing their life plans.

So, given these defences of the personhood position, why ought we to have some concerns about it? Three main points can be made here. In the first place, it is clear that some animals—the Great Apes being a primary example—are, or are close to being, persons. In other words, the distinction between human personhood and animal non-personhood does not always hold. However, important though it may be to acknowledge that more needs to be done to protect the interests of the "higher" nonhuman animals, all this recognition does is to create a new moral boundary, above which are most humans and those nonhuman species who possess at least some of the characteristics of personhood and below which are the vast majority of other nonhuman animals. It does not, in other words, provide a justification for the kind of broad application of rights to animals that is usually regarded as the aim of animal rights advocacy.

The second challenge to the personhood position is the claim that not all humans are persons. That is, some humans—infants, anencephalic babies (a condition where a baby's brain is seriously underdeveloped), the permanently comatose, the severely cognitively disabled, those who have suffered severe mental impairment through strokes, those with advanced dementia and so on—cannot be accurately described as persons, at least in the way we have defined it here. In the so-called "argument from marginal cases," it is argued that if we persist in treating these "marginal humans" as though they are full persons (so that we regard it as morally objectionable, say, to eat them or experiment on them), then consistency demands that animals, with similar cognitive capacities, are treated in the same way [30].

The use of the argument from marginal cases is ubiquitous in the animal ethics literature. It would be wrong to suggest that it has not been, sometimes quite effectively, challenged (see [25, 28, 31]), although it is, in my judgement, difficult to argue against its logical consistency. What I would suggest, though, is that it is not the most effective critique of the personhood position. For this, we have to consider, again, the claims being made by the personhood position which are played out in the conclusions of the animal welfare ethic.

What the personhood position wants to claim is that the identification of some characteristic that humans possess and animals do not—rationality, autonomy, language, and so forth—is sufficient for the claim that *all* human interests are morally superior to *all* animal interests. This is the basis for saying that, because humans are persons and animals are not, we are entitled to sacrifice the most fundamental interests of animals if, by so doing, a significant human benefit accrues. But surely this blanket inegalitarianism cannot hold. That is, we can accept that animals do not possess as great an interest in liberty and continued life as humans, but this does not mean that animals do not possess a considerable interest in other things. In particular, if humans and animals are capable of suffering (in the sense of experiencing pain and other negative states) in an equivalent manner (and, all things being equal, there is no reason to think many cannot), then why is this capacity of animals downgraded on the grounds that humans also possess the characteristics of personhood? In other words, what has personhood got to do with suffering?

What I am arguing here, then, is that accepting it as fact that humans are persons and animals are not cannot justify the whole range of differences between our treatment of humans and animals that the personhood position wants it to do. To put it simply, torturing an animal is wrong because it hurts. Here, the fact that the animal does not have the characteristics of personhood would seem to be irrelevant. As Rachels (p. 167 in [32]) points out: "Autonomy and self-consciousness are not ethical superqualities that entitle the bearer to every possible kind of favorable treatment".

11.5 Captivity and an Interest-Based Theory of Animal Rights

If the personhood position is flawed, as I suggest it is, is there an opportunity to rescue animal rights as a preferable ethic? I would suggest that this is possible but only if we dispense with, or adapt, the conventional animal rights position as exemplified by Regan. There are, I would argue, two ways in which this can be done. The first, covered in this section, involves the adoption of a different version of animal rights, one based on interests. The second, dealt with in the next section, focuses on non-ideal theory.

First, here, we need to pay more attention to what, intuitively, seems to be the problem with the conventional animal rights position as exemplified by Regan. In this conventional version, animal rights is synonymous with the abolition of all uses of animals, and this abolitionist assumption derives from Regan's claim that to use animals, irrespective of how they are treated whilst being used, is to infringe their right to respect which, in turn, derives from what Regan sees as their inherent value. It is a species-egalitarian version of animal rights centered on the granting of equal rights based on equal moral value. The implication of this is that to use animals, irrespective of what is done to them whilst they are being used, is illegitimate. Thus, just as slavery is unjust for humans because it infringes their right to liberty, the confinement of animals, whether or not such confinement causes them suffering, is unjust because it fails to treat animals with the respect they deserve. It is for this reason that animal rights advocates often draw a "dreaded comparison" between human slavery and the use of animals [33].

I suggested above that the personhood position is flawed morally because it does not take into account the fact that, like humans, animals have important interests (such as avoiding suffering) that are not dependent upon possessing the characteristics (rationality, autonomy, language and so forth) of personhood. Likewise, the species-egalitarian version of animal rights is similarly guilty, but rather than failing to take into account the importance of non-personhood interests, it fails to take into account the moral significance of those interests associated with persons. In other words, the species-egalitarian strand of animal rights is flawed because it is difficult to argue against the claim that the differences between "typical" adult humans and adult animals *are* substantial and *are* morally significant. In short, the level of complexity of an individual affects what can be a harm for it. In particular, the fact that most animals lack the characteristics of personhood challenges the claim that they have levels of interest in life and liberty equivalent to "typical" humans.

Before we dispense with animal rights, though, it should be noted that there is an alternative theory of animal rights which does address the problems inherent in the conventional version. The conventional account depends upon the employment of a particular Kantian approach to rights which holds that the function of rights is to establish arenas within which individuals can exercise choices [34, 35]. There is, however, an alternative theory of rights based on interests. The interest theory of rights holds that the function of rights is to uphold individual well-being. The possession of an interest therefore leads to a duty on others to ensure that the right, the existence of which follows directly from the existence of an interest, is upheld. Advocates of an interest-based theory of rights are not suggesting that all interests can be translated into rights, only that rights derive from interests. It may be that we decide that some, relatively trivial, interests are not strong enough to be translated into rights whereas others clearly are, or that some interests ought not to be promoted because they harm others.

Adopting an interest-based theory allows for a much more nuanced, and arguably more convincing, theory of animal rights, and indeed rights in general. This alternative theory of rights has been present for a long time in the animal ethics literature, in the work, for example, of philosophers such as James Rachels [36] and Joel Feinberg

[37], but it has been overshadowed by the dominance of the Regan position. The first theorist to put forward a comprehensive interest-based theory of animal rights is Alasdair Cochrane [38]. His central argument, in line with defenders of the moral orthodoxy, is that animals do not possess an intrinsic interest in liberty, because, unlike humans, they are not autonomous agents.

At this point, one could invoke the argument from marginal cases and suggest that, because we would not want to deprive non-autonomous humans of a right to liberty, consistency demands that we ought not to deprive nonhuman animals of such a right either. Interestingly, though, Cochrane rejects this position on the grounds that, in practice, marginal humans are treated as if they do not have the same interest in liberty as non-marginal humans. This commits Cochrane to the position that it is justified to deprive marginal humans of their liberty not only when it is in their interest to do so (where it may often be the case) but also when it is not. Thus, he writes that "humans such as babies and the severely mentally disabled have no interest in not being used in experimentation that is painless and which does not result in death" (p. 316 in [39]). This latter claim is, of course, controversial and does not meet with accepted practice. In his defence, Cochrane [39] then suggests that the use of marginal humans in experiments is rarely morally permissible, either because it causes suffering or because such a move will be unacceptable to carers or parents.

According to Cochrane, then, because nonhuman animals do not possess an *intrinsic* interest in liberty, they do not have an automatic right to liberty. Adopting an interest-based theory of animal rights, however, means that Cochrane does not have to conclude that animals possess no rights because of their lack of autonomy. For example, animals, for him, *do* have an interest in avoiding suffering (and therefore a *right* not to have suffering inflicted on them) and so in cases where the use of animals does infringe this right, it ought to be prohibited. The effect of this analysis, then, is to "decouple animal rights from animal liberation" (p. 19 in [38]). An interest-based theory of animal rights, then, would allow us to say that, whilst most nonhuman animals may not possess an interest in liberty and continued life—or at least have less of an interest than humans—this does not mean that animals do not possess a considerable interest in other things and, not least, an interest in avoiding suffering. If this interest translates into a right, it clearly places limits on what might be done to animals in pursuit of human benefits and certainly does not justify the blanket exploitation of animals allowed by the moral orthodoxy.

11.6 Captivity and Nonideal Theory

What if I am wrong to deny the claims of the conventional animal rights position? I could be. Are animal rights advocates then always committed to the position that the confinement of animals is always wrong? I would argue that this conclusion does not necessarily follow if we invoke non-ideal theory. Theorising about the distinction between ideal and non-ideal theory has become increasingly popular within political philosophy. This can be accounted for by the increasing frustration felt by many at the discrepancy perceived between the abstract normative work of political

philosophers, in which ideal political and moral principles are advocated, and the difficulty of applying such principles in the non-ideal real world.

Non-ideal theory recognises that an ideal theory may not be achievable, at least in the short term. For some philosophers, many instances of ideal theory are so far removed from reality that ideal theories of justice ought to be given a much-reduced status, if not dispensed with entirely. Farrelly, for instance, argues that taking into account the political, social and economic realities within which ideal theory has to operate, "will mean that there is less room for armchair theorizing and that the primary focus will not be on winning a philosophical debate among first-order theories of justice" (p. 860 in [40]) (see also [41]). Those who advocate this strong version of non-ideal theory are not then claiming simply that political pragmatism should prevail over normative political philosophy, but rather that any political or moral philosophy which does not take account of the non-ideal world it is attempting to influence and address is *normatively* deficient [41–45].

Clearly, the species-egalitarian version of animal rights falls into the category of a barely realistic ideal theory. Thus, even if the ethical principles are sound, in the sense that they prescribe accurately what morality demands of it, there is a case for rejecting abolitionism because it demands too much of human beings. As Nagel notes: "An ideal, however attractive it may be to contemplate, is utopian if real individuals cannot be motivated to live by it" (p. 904 in [46]). Abolitionism is confronted by some hard facts about the world. No country in the world has prohibited the use of animals as sources of food or has introduced a blanket ban on the use of animals as experimental subjects on the grounds that it is unacceptable morally to do so. Countries differ significantly in the degree to which the use of animals is regulated, but nowhere have these fundamental uses of animals been abolished or challenged to any great extent. It is true that, in some political jurisdictions, the use of some species, such as the Great Apes, in scientific procedures has been prohibited. However, this has come about not because the dominant personhood position has been rejected but because it is increasingly recognised that some species of nonhuman animals exhibit cognitive characteristics that are equated with personhood.

Even more importantly, in the context of this chapter, the species-egalitarian strand of animal rights might also be regarded as counterintuitive because it eschews the idea of beneficial relationships between humans and animals which involve the latter's confinement. That is, there is a tendency within animal rights abolitionism to regard animals and humans as operating in different realms so that it is our moral obligation to leave them alone. This leads to the expectation that once the exploitation of domesticated animals is abolished, the very notion of domesticating animals—of, in other words, humans having close relationships with animals—ends too.

A non-ideal theory of animal rights, then, must seek to bracket some of the more unrealistic elements of the conventional animal rights model. There is insufficient space here to outline this non-ideal account in detail, but I will briefly sketch out a model, the "sentience position", which I have developed elsewhere (see [47]). The sentience position seeks to bracket the notion that animals have a right to life and liberty. It morally prohibits the infliction of suffering on animals for human benefits, but at the same time accepts that humans can still, under certain circumstances, use them and, by extension, confine them.

The sentience position is far from being a defence of the *status quo*. Indeed, it is very demanding on human beings, because, as a rights-based ethic, it rules out the infliction of suffering on animals for our benefit. A contrast with the animal welfare ethic is instructive here. According to that position, it is permissible morally to inflict suffering on an animal provided that the benefits to be gained from so doing are perceived to be sufficiently large. The sentience position, on the other hand, rules out such a cost–benefit approach. *Whatever* the benefit that might accrue to humans, or other animals for that matter, practices that inflict suffering on animals are prohibited.

On the other hand, the sentience position is more realistic than the speciesegalitarian version of animal rights which seeks to deny the ethical validity of using animals as, for example, sources of food and as experimental subjects irrespective of what is done to them whilst they are being used. It is possible to conceive of instances where animals are confined for some human purpose, but where the animal does not, or could be made not to, suffer. From this perspective, keeping some species in zoos, for example, does not raise ethical objections from the perspective of the sentience position, and neither does the use of animals for experimental procedures providing, again, that they do not suffer in the process.

Of course, determining the ethical permissibility of confining animals depends on how we define suffering. It is beyond the scope of this chapter to go into much detail about this. What can be said is that sentience, defined as the capacity to experience pleasure and pain, is narrower than suffering if the latter is defined to include a variety of negative states including pain, anxiety, boredom, frustration and so on. DeGrazia, for instance, describes suffering as "a highly unpleasant emotional state associated with more than minimal pain or distress" (p. 262 in [29]). One can therefore experience pain—in the sense of momentary pain for my own good without suffering, and one can suffer without experiencing pain. It is credible to claim that all mammals are capable of suffering as so defined (see the evidence in p. 15–18 in [2]). Having said this, it is credible to claim that some forms of suffering—such as disgust, embarrassment, grief, and shame—can only be experienced by self-conscious beings, which probably excludes most animals.

Clearly, if we define suffering in a wide sense, as suggested, the confinement of animals becomes much harder to justify. For instance, although some common factory farming practices may not cause physical pain, there is significant evidence from animal welfare scientists that animals suffer as a result, and the same applies to some practices involved in the confinement of animals in zoos. What constitutes suffering will, of course, vary according to the nature of the circumstances accompanying confinement and the particular species involved. The key point here, though, is that, if the confinement of animals is to be prohibited in any particular case, it is justified, according to the sentience position, by its propensity to cause suffering and not just because of confinement itself.

11.7 Conclusion

This chapter has emphasised that, with one or two notable exceptions, much of the debate in animal ethics has focused on drawing ethical conclusions from the existence of cognitive capacities. Of course, both the normative and empirical elements are disputed. From the perspective of the conventional animal rights position, associated with Regan, at least some animals are rights holders as a result of their considerable cognitive capacities. As a result, it is illegitimate morally to use animals, and certainly to confine them, irrespective of what is done to them whilst being used and confined.

This chapter considers whether, if one thinks that the prohibition on confining animals is ethically mistaken—because it is too exacting—then we must dispense with an animal rights ethic. The obvious alternative is to adopt an animal welfare ethic. The grounds for thinking this is a sound move are based on the probably correct conclusion that the personhood position does account for some differences between at least most humans and animals that are morally significant. The rest of the chapter argues that the rejection of an animal rights ethic, and the adoption of an animal welfare alternative, should be resisted. This conclusion is based partly on the blanket inegalitarianism of the latter, which is obviously mistaken. More importantly, it is argued that animal rights can be rescued if a more nuanced, interest-based version is adopted and/or if we take account of the need to distinguish between ideal and nonideal theory.

References

- 1. Regan T. The case for animal rights. London: Routledge; 1984.
- 2. Palmer C. Animal ethics in context. New York: Columbia University Press; 2010.
- Donovan J, Adams C, editors. The feminist care tradition in animal ethics. New York: Columbia University Press; 2007.
- 4. Donaldson S, Kymlicka W. Zoopolis: a political theory of animal rights. New York: Oxford University Press; 2011.
- 5. Hursthouse R. On virtue ethics. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1999.
- 6. Hursthouse R. Ethics, humans and other animals. London: Routledge; 2000.
- Cooper D. Other species and moral reason. In: Cooper D, Palmer J, editors. Just environments: intergenerational, international and interspecies issues. London: Routledge; 1995. p. 137–48.
- Prichard H. Does moral philosophy rest on a mistake? In: Prichard H, editor. Moral obligation. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1949. p. 1–17.
- 9. Foot P. Virtues and vices and other essays in moral philosophy. Oxford: Basil Blackwell; 1978.
- Walker R, Ivanhoe P, editors. Working virtue: virtue ethics and contemporary moral problems. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 2007.
- 11. Scruton R. Animal rights and wrongs. London: Demos; 2006.
- 12. Hursthouse R. Environmental virtue ethics. In: Walker R, Ivanhoe P, editors. Working virtue: virtue ethics and contemporary moral problems. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 2007. p. 155–71.
- 13. Koller P. Law, morality and virtue. In: Walker R, Ivanhoe P, editors. Working virtue: virtue ethics and contemporary moral problems. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 2007. p. 191–205.
- Bentham J. An introduction to the principles of morals and legislation. New York: Hafner Press; 1948.

- 15. Singer P. All animals are equal. In: Regan T, Singer P, editors. Animal rights and human obligations. 2nd ed. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall; 1989. p. 73–86.
- 16. Singer P. Animal liberation. 2nd ed. London: Cape; 1990.
- 17. Rawls J. A theory of justice. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1972.
- 18. Regan T. Utilitarianism, vegetarianism and animal rights. Philos Public Aff. 1980;9(4):305-24.
- 19. Singer P. Utilitarianism and vegetarianism. Philos Public Aff. 1980;9(4):325-37.
- 20. Regan T. Exploring the idea of animal rights. In: Paterson D, Ryder R, editors. Animal rights: a symposium. Fontwell: Centaur Press; 1979. p. 73–86.
- 21. Francione G. Animals as persons. New York: Columbia University Press; 2008.
- 22. Cohen C, Regan T. The animal rights debate. New York: Rowman & Littlefield; 2001.
- 23. Nozick R. Anarchy, state and utopia. Oxford: Basil Blackwell; 1974.
- 24. Steinbock B. Speciesism and the idea of equality. Philosophy. 1978;53:247-56.
- 25. Cohen C. The case for the use of animals in biomedical research. N Engl J Med. 1986;315:865–70.
- 26. McCloskey H. The moral case for experimentation on animals. Monist. 1987;70(1):64-82.
- 27. Frey R. Autonomy and the value of animal life. Monist. 1987;70:50-63.
- 28. McMahan J. The ethics of killing: problems at the margins of life. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- 29. DeGrazia D. Taking animals seriously: mental life and moral status. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1996.
- Dombrowski D. Babies and beasts: the argument from marginal cases. Chicago: University of Illinois Press; 1997.
- 31. Kittay EF. At the margins of moral personhood. Ethics. 2005;116(1):100-31.
- 32. Rachels J. The basic argument for vegetarianism. In: Sapontzis S, editor. Food for thought: the debate over eating meat. New York: Prometheus Books; 2004. p. 70–80.
- 33. Spiegel M. The dreaded comparison: humans and animal slavery. New York: Mirror Books; 1988.
- 34. Hart HLA. Are there any natural rights? In: Quinton A, editor. Political philosophy. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1967. p. 53–66.
- Steiner H. Working rights. In: Kramer M, Simmonds N, Steiner H, editors. A debate over rights: philosophical enquires. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1998. p. 233–301.
- 36. Rachels J. Created from animals: the moral implications of Darwinism. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1990.
- 37. Feinberg J. The rights of animals and unborn generations. In: Feinberg J, editor. Rights, justice and the bounds of liberty: essays in social philosophy. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 1980. p. 159–84.
- 38. Cochrane A. Animal rights without liberation. New York: Columbia University Press; 2012.
- Cochrane A. Animal rights and animal experiments: an interest-based approach. Res Publica. 2007;13:293–318.
- 40. Farrelly C. Justice in ideal theory: a refutation. Polit Stud. 2007;55:844-64.
- 41. Sen A. The idea of justice. London: Allen Lane; 2009.
- Dunn J. Reconceiving the content and character of modern political community. In: Dunn J, editor. Interpreting political responsibility. Cambridge: Polity Press; 1990. p. 193–215.
- 43. Carens J. Culture, citizenship and community: a contextual exploration of justice and evenhandedness. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2000.
- 44. Farrelly C. Justice, democracy and reasonable agreement. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan; 2007.
- 45. Sher G. Approximate justice: studies in non-ideal theory. Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield; 1997.
- 46. Nagel T. What makes a political theory utopian? Soc Res. 1989;56(4):903-15.
- 47. Garner R. A theory of justice for animals: animal rights in a nonideal world. New York: Oxford University Press; 2013.



Nonhuman, All Too Human: Toward Developing Policies for Ethical Chimera Research

12

G. K. D. Crozier, Andrew Fenton, Letitia Meynell, and David M. Peña-Guzmán

Abstract

In this chapter, we address the ethical challenges raised by chimera research policy, using as a case study the National Institutes of Health (NIH) 2016 proposal to change its policy governing the funding of human-nonhuman animal chimera research. In this case, we find a troubling shift from a focus on nonhuman animal welfare to poorly thought-out concerns with humanization. Despite the restrictions on modifying early-stage nonhuman primates, the proposed changes make it possible to modify animals in ways that may significantly impact neurological functions and behavioral capacities with serious implications for the welfare of research subjects. The NIH's restrictions target the development of humanized brains-particularly in nonhuman primates-reflecting, we suspect, a concern to avoid creating chimeras that are in some sense "too human." While we endorse robust restrictions on chimera research, particularly in the face of a growing globalization of research in varied and inconsistent regulatory environments, we maintain that policies should not be based on beliefs about inherent human uniqueness but should (minimally) instead conform to the widely accepted 3Rs framework for research involving nonhuman animals, and our best welfare science.

e-mail: gcrozier@laurentian.ca

A. Fenton (🖂) · L. Meynell

D. M. Peña-Guzmán San Francisco State University, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: davidmpena@sfsu.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. K. D. Crozier

Canada Research Chair in Environment, Culture and Values, Laurentian University, Sudbury, ON, Canada

Department of Philosophy, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada e-mail: atf@dal.ca; Letitia.Meynell@dal.ca

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_12

Keywords

3Rs framework \cdot Animal ethics \cdot Animal welfare \cdot Chimeras \cdot Humanization \cdot NIH

12.1 Introduction

Concerns about chimeras are not new. Fear about the ethical horrors of scientists creating tormented chimeric beings is a well-worn trope in science fiction, dating back at least to Mary Shelley's *Frankenstein* [1]. In the public imagination, reports of pigs (e.g., [2]) or monkeys (e.g., [3]) genetically modified to grow human cells or organs conjure up images of monstrous births, reminiscent of Sigourney Weaver's Ripley walking through a laboratory populated by her alien chimeric sisters in various states of suffering [4]. Although fictional depictions of such creatures are motivated by real-world concerns about the ethics of scientific research, they are often also motivated by a kind of hyperbolic alarm and anxiety that forms a poor basis for sound research regulation.¹ Policies addressing human–nonhuman animal chimeras require careful engagement with the best current science and close analysis of accepted ethical principles governing the use of nonhuman animals in research.

In recent years, attention to chimera research has increased in response to technical innovations that make possible increasingly precise genetic and embryonic manipulations (such as CRISPR-Cas9). Although some national regulatory agencies have made efforts to develop policies restricting research for ethical reasons (e.g., in the USA), other nations appear to be taking a significantly more permissive approach. In China, for instance, researchers are developing human-nonhuman primate chimeras to study various psychiatric conditions [6] and Japan's Brain/ MINDS (Brain Mapping by Integrated Neurotechnologies for Disease Studies) is developing human-marmoset chimeras as a model for both basic and translational research [7]. Shi et al.'s recent study of macaques modified with the human MCPH1 gene in an effort to provide insights into human evolution exemplifies the kind of controversial research that can be pursued in this permissive environment. While researchers in the USA are also engaged in the production of certain types of humannonhuman chimeras—such as the genetic modification of pigs [2] and sheep [8] to grow human organs—the regulations of the US National Institutes of Health (NIH) on chimera research restrict what can be done.

The US policy, however, is by no means fixed, and, in observing its growing pains, one can see how various values, norms, and concerns shape the ethical

¹That chimeras represent some kind of violation of nature might be compelling for some, but it is by no means a universal sentiment. Other cultural representations of chimeras that do not reflect fears of animal–animal or human–animal admixtures include the seraphim from the Hebrew scriptures (the *Tanakh*), the beings surrounding the throne in the Christian *New Testament* book of *Revelation*, as well as Garuda and Lord Ganesha in what we now know as Hinduism. In these contexts, chimeras are associated with the Holy. For a brief overview of mythological and contemporary representations of chimeras, see [5].

discourse more generally. For example, in August 2016, the NIH released a proposal to amend its funding eligibility guidelines concerning biomedical research involving the use of human–nonhuman animal chimeras, thereby promising to overturn a moratorium they had instituted the year before [9]. While presented to the public as an effort to "increase restrictions" on chimera research [10], the proposed changes actually tighten some restrictions (e.g., on modifying early stage nonhuman primates) while loosening others (e.g., on modifying other early-stage animals or any, primates included, post-gastrulation). In fact, relative to the *status quo*, the recommended policy changes promised to increase the number of eligible research projects involving chimeras.

In this chapter, we interrogate the proposed changes from the NIH. We believe this offers a fascinating case study that provides general lessons about some of the motivations behind policy interventions, as well as the basic ethical considerations that should constrain this research. We argue that in these suggested policy changes, the NIH appears to be concerned to avoid creating chimeras that are "substantively humanized."² The concern is not with humanization *simpliciter*, since the NIH and the research community have long embraced various humanized rodent models [12]. However, a chimeric organism becomes "substantively humanized" when the addition and functional integration of human cells renders it in some sense "too human." Though other jurisdictions have introduced rules to restrict the development of chimeras with humanized faces and hands [13], the NIH's restrictions target the development of human is principal brains, particularly in nonhuman primates.³

The next section of this chapter outlines our case study. The following sections situate this research relative to the dominant framework for addressing the ethics of research on nonhuman animals—William Russell and Rex Burch's 3Rs [15]—and identify the importance of looking beyond concerns about humanization to attend to more substantive concerns about welfare. Finally, we question the cogency of the NIH's apparent concern about creating substantively humanized chimeras, which generalizes to all policies grounded on this concern. We argue that any scruples about the possibility of endowing chimeras with human capacities that confer

²The term "humanization" is used ubiquitously in debates about human–nonhuman chimera research in the sciences. There is, however, a broader political context in which the language of humanization and, more frequently, its opposite, dehumanization is employed. Critical discourse addressing inequality on the basis of gender, ability status, race, class, etc., often identifies dehumanizing attitudes and practices as a central feature of discrimination. At first glance, it appears that these meanings are quite distinct because in political contexts these concepts are moral ones, whereas in scientific context, humanization marks a purely biological description. However, because there are often folk biological beliefs underlying discriminatory attitudes against particular groups of humans, we wonder if a strict distinction can ultimately be maintained. The situation is yet more fraught when biological humanization threatens to influence moral status. Taking a page from Claire Kim's work [11], we acknowledge the difficulty of negotiating this space, though we do not have a solution to these difficulties. It is a happy result of our view that we discourage evaluations of moral status on the basis of measurements against some human ideal, thus moving away from the kinds of hierarchical thinking that often grounds discriminatory attitudes.

³This focus is present in the ISSCR Guidelines concerning hESC research [14].

human-like moral status must first seriously contemplate the possibility that members of the parent species already possess these capacities.

12.2 Case Study

In September 2015, the NIH released a statement on its website announcing a funding moratorium on stem cell research specifically involving human–nonhuman animal chimeras. "The National Institutes of Health (NIH)," the announcement read:

is informing the research community that it will not fund research in which human pluripotent cells are introduced into non-human vertebrate animal pre-gastrulation stage embryos while the Agency considers a possible policy revision in this area. [16]

The language of the moratorium identifies three matters requiring evaluation before making chimera research of this sort eligible for NIH funding: "the state of the science in this area, the ethical issues that should be considered, and the relevant animal welfare concerns associated with these types of studies" [16]. Less than 2 months after the institution of the moratorium, the NIH convened a workshop to discuss them. The consensus at this workshop was that stem cell research involving the creation of chimeric beings is scientifically valuable, that the preponderance of the evidence speaks in favor of lifting the moratorium, and that funding should be reintroduced to support stem cell chimera research once more [17]. The August 2016 proposal marked the next step in this process (the completion of which remains unclear, though this is not relevant to our analysis).

There are two substantive changes in the NIH's proposal. Although the proposed changes are relatively difficult to interpret, the NIH aims to expand the scope of stem cell research eligible for NIH funding so as to include the following: (1) research in which "human pluripotent cells are introduced into non-human [non-primate] vertebrate embryos, up through the end of the gastrulation stage" and (2) research in which "human cells are introduced into post-gastrulation non-human mammals [...], such that there could be either a substantial contribution or a substantial functional modification to the animal brain by the human cells" [17]. While the language of the proposed changes suggests expanding existing restrictions on stem cell research using nonhuman primates, the ultimate aim of the proposal is more research involving nonhuman animals, not less. The material effect of this change would be to curtail pre-gastrulation human stem cell research in nonhuman primate embryos. Section IV-B of the proposed guidelines preserves the ineligibility of research "involving the breeding of animals where the introduction of human cells may contribute to the germ line" (though "human cells" replaces "hESCs" and "human induced pluripotent stem cells" in the 2009 Guidelines [18]). Importantly, the proposed changes do not provide much specificity about this restriction. On a charitable reading, this means that the NIH could fund research projects that produce chimeric animals that carry human gametes (such as a pig with human sperm) as long as the animals are not intentionally bred by researchers. The language of
Sections IV-C and IV-D does not significantly alter the existing 2009 Guidelines, leaving intact the ineligibility of research projects that contravene the Dickey–Wicker Amendment or use hESCs derived from "somatic cell nuclear transfer, parthenogenesis, and/or IVF embryos created for research purposes."⁴

In the next three sections, we explore three concerns about chimera research that are exemplified by the NIH's 2016 proposed changes.⁵ We worry that they evince a fundamental shift in how questions concerning the ethical conduct of human stem cell research involving animal chimeras are framed and interpreted. Nowhere is this shift more evident than in the evolution of the NIH's own discourse between 2015 and 2016. When the NIH first instituted the funding moratorium in 2015, they did so on the grounds that animal welfare concerns need to be taken seriously by researchers and funding agencies. This worry, however, seems to fall into the background of the NIH's discourse by 2016 when the changes to the 2009 Guidelines and the revocation of the moratorium are proposed. There, what seems to motivate the NIH is not so much a concern for the welfare of chimeric beings but a worry that some kinds of research may violate the human/animal divide by humanizing animals to a morally intolerable degree. This shift is problematic for three reasons: first, it threatens to undermine a substantive commitment to the 3Rs; second, the proposed changes do not sufficiently engage the welfare sciences and thus cannot ensure that chimeric beings are treated, managed, or cared for in ways that meet minimal ethical standards; and third, the concept of "substantive humanization" that appears to inform the changes is incoherent and an outgrowth of Great Chain of Being ideology.

12.3 The 3Rs Framework

Concerns for the welfare of animals used in research are most readily associated with the 3Rs framework of Replacement, Reduction, and Refinement, which is widely recognized as an international standard for ethical research using nonhuman animals. Put simply, Replacement concerns the use of "less sentient" or non-sentient models where it is methodologically permissible to do so. Reduction concerns using the minimal number of animals needed to reach a reliable scientific conclusion in any given experiment or study. Refinement concerns minimizing scientifically unnecessary distress, pain, or suffering. The use of in vitro models, computer simulations, some fish, or even arthropods instead of, say, mice or rats exemplifies Replacement [22], which takes pride of place as the first and arguably most important of the Rs.

⁴The Dickey–Wicker amendment prohibits the use of appropriated funds "for: (1) the creation of a human embryo or embryos for research purposes; or (2) research in which a human embryo or embryos are destroyed, discarded, or knowingly subjected to risk of injury or death greater than that allowed for research under applicable Federal regulations" [19].

⁵For two defenses of the NIH's proposed changes, see [20, 21].

Drawn from Russell and Burch's influential 1959 text, *The Principles of Humane Experimental Technique*, the 3Rs are often presented as capturing the ethical aspirations of every conscientious animal researcher [23]. They direct the researcher's gaze to the costs of research in terms of animal distress or pain and introduce, as an ethical duty, the minimization of these costs wherever it is scientifically and methodologically possible. This, proponents argue, achieves a balance between the benefits of advancing science and the morally acceptable costs to research subjects [24]. The spirit of the 3Rs framework, evident when considering the principles of Replacement and Reduction together, is the eventual elimination of harmful research on nonhuman animals [25].

It is reasonably straightforward to motivate this framework. Where you can achieve your morally acceptable ends⁶ through means that cause differing degrees of distress, pain, or suffering (reasonably understood as differing degrees of harm), you should choose those that cause the least harm. Of course, if one of your options will result in no harm to the relevant research subjects, then you should choose that one. This commitment to doing the least harm is pervasive in moral thought [26].

Two implications of using this framework to constrain animal research are immediately noteworthy in this context. First, there is a tacit acknowledgement that causing distress or pain to animals matters morally. Second, a substantive commitment to implementing the 3Rs permits judging certain scientific studies as unethical without having to take a definitive stance on the pressing, but difficult, question of animal moral equality. Under the 3Rs framework, research that could have used "less sentient" animals, non-sentient animals, tissue cultures, or simulations, *or* that uses more animals than is required to secure reliable findings, *or* that causes more stress and distress than is necessary is ethically unacceptable [27]. This holds true even if we *deny* that other animals enjoy similar moral status to our own and even if the research is epistemically sound or scientifically and socially significant. In other words, from these ethically conservative starting points, we can motivate ethical constraints on research that offset appeals to human benefits or moral judgments that challenge the permissibility of some harmful animal research.

The 3Rs also permit increasingly significant constraints on the continued use of animals in science. Replicating studies is an important self-correcting mechanism in the sciences, and this, we can concede for the sake of this point, is no less true of harmful animal research. Duplicating studies, including harmful animal studies, however, does not *advance* science. Such harmful animal studies do not provide benefits that offset costs to the animals used. They are not, then, the sort of morally acceptable end that motivates the use of the 3Rs to balance the costs and benefits of research. Once harmful research on animals has demonstrated something to be true, it is ethically unconscionable to re-demonstrate it on more sentient animals.⁷ We

⁶We assume, but only for the sake of this argument, that the use of animals in harmful research that is not in their interests can be morally acceptable.

⁷Using animals in teaching, particularly where they are harmed, complicates this claim. Though teaching prepares the next generation of scientists, and so indirectly contributes to the advancement

should not, say, allow scientists to conduct experiments that re-demonstrate the effects of maternal separation in nonhuman primates evident in the work of Harry Harlow (e.g., [29]).⁸

We can go further. The use of animals in research contexts where alternatives such as "less sentient" animals or non-sentient models—are available should stop. We have seen this constraint emerge in recent discussions of the use of chimpanzees in government-funded research in the USA. An influential 2011 Institute of Medicine (IOM) report entitled "Chimpanzees in Biomedical and Behavioral Research: Assessing the Necessity," concluded that most research using chimpanzees in NIH-funded studies was unnecessary [31]. This generated a NIH Council of Councils Report that accepted most of the recommendations of the IOM report, and the NIH moved to end most NIH-funded chimpanzee research. The US Fish and Wildlife Service then reclassified captive chimpanzees as endangered, effectively limiting future use of chimpanzees to research that benefits wild populations or the species as a whole. As a result of these changes, the NIH quickly declared its intention to retire the agency's research chimpanzees to sanctuary [32].

12.3.1 Some Implications of the 3Rs for Human–Nonhuman Chimera Research

Several concerns arising out of our discussion of the 3Rs, especially the importance of animal welfare, apply to human–animal chimera research. Refinement considerations should remain sensitive to modifications that cause differing degrees of pain, distress, or suffering. Chimeric experiments with the brains of mice have already yielded subjects that perform better than controls in memory and learning tests [33]. However, changes that increase an animal's associative capacities and memory of past events may also increase their distress when presented with certain stressors in laboratories. Should this happen, it could in turn increase the traumatic effects of certain laboratory procedures or create such effects under circumstances where unmodified conspecifics had not previously experienced them.

Where the benefits of research can be secured with modified animals that experience less pain, distress, or suffering, then research should favor those animals. Shriver [34] has suggested that there are already knockout rodent strains that exhibit an awareness of pain but may not experience its unpleasantness (reflecting two prominent components of pain experience). An imperative to favor "less sentient" modified animals takes on particular force when the psychological capacities of animal research subjects are not relevant to their use as models (e.g., in some toxicity

of science, it is recognized that this use of animals sits uneasily with a 3Rs commitment [28]. At best, the harmful use of nonhuman animals requires that this training is limited to those individuals who are likely to enter the relevant fields (e.g., graduate students rather than undergraduate or high school students).

⁸A personal and comprehensive assessment of the moral problems with this type of research can be found in a recent memoir by John Gluck [30].

testing). There could even be psychological studies that also do not require a fully sentient research subject. Presumably, invasive neuroscientific studies of visual or auditory capacities qualify as examples [34]. Creating "less sentient" research subjects out of concern for their welfare arguably falls out of a genuine commitment to the 3Rs, but is absent in the documents posted by the NIH regarding the changing funding guidelines.

If unmodified animals remain adequate models when compared with humananimal chimeras that experience more distress, pain, or suffering, then the unmodified animals should be favored over pursuing the creation of the relevant humananimal chimeras. This, again, falls out of a genuine commitment to the 3Rs. Inverting this last point, if human-animal chimeras are better models when compared with unmodified animals, a 3Rs commitment will favor the modified animals. In such circumstances, to continue to use unmodified animals as models would be morally unacceptable.

12.4 Lack of Attention to Animal Behavioral Sciences

Although concerns about animal welfare motivated the NIH's original moratorium, welfare does not appear to garner much attention in their proposed revisions. A shift away from welfare concerns is especially troubling given that the animal welfare challenges posed by chimera research are likely to be particularly acute.

We have already noted issues with chimera research that intersect with a general concern for animal welfare. The 3Rs framework rests on the premise that nonhuman animal welfare matters morally and that scientific necessity constrains their use in harmful research. Indeed, arguably the 3Rs are aspirationally abolitionist because the best possible world would be one in which all research not in the interests of the animal research subjects but harmful to them would be done without using any sentient nonhuman animals. We have also noted that the question of how to weigh nonhuman animal interests becomes more troubled if we consider those animals with whom humans share morally relevant capacities. As with welfare issues in general, these are not questions that can be answered by first principles but require careful, species-specific assessment of the best current research in the behavioral sciences and a serious engagement with ethical theory.

Of course, scientific evidence should ground all ethical assessments of research protocols and practices—after all, one can hardly hope to assess welfare, let alone determine ethically acceptable refinements, without a comprehensive understanding of the relevant animals' species-typical needs, capacities, and behaviors. However, chimera research promises to make such assessments particularly challenging precisely because chimeras are what Palacios-Gonzalez [35] calls "patchworks" of cells from different species. As individual chimeras or chimera models increasingly diverge from their nonhuman parent species type, the insights gained from the behavioral and welfare research appropriate for their parent species may become more difficult to apply. The most obvious cases are those where a trait or capacity that is directly relevant to the welfare of the animal is the target of the research; for

instance, standard enrichment protocols for pigs might be inadequate for cognitively modified pig-human chimeras [36].

More troubling, however, are the challenges raised by the possibility of off-target effects. Organisms—especially complex, multicellular animals—are highly integrated systems, and while some organs and developmental processes are quite modular and self-contained, others are not. Anticipating the welfare needs of chimeras, particularly when chimera models are still under development, will often be challenging given the inevitability of some off-target effects [36].

Moreover, as social behaviors are increasingly recognized as crucial aspects of the welfare of social animals, attention cannot be limited to gross morphological, physiological, or behavioral traits or capacities at the level of the individual. Bayne and Würbel have noted:

The evidence is clear across the multitude of species used in research that single housing can have a negative effect on social species and that social housing, managed properly, has numerous positive effects on the animals. Primary among these is the reduction or elimination of abnormal behaviour and the opportunity to express species-typical social behaviours. [37, p. 274]

Genetic or developmental interventions that affect the social capacities of chimeras by subverting their ability to appropriately interact with others in their social milieu must also be assessed. Consider, for instance, a social behavior that is prompted or mediated by scent and a chimerized organism who no longer produces the appropriate odor or is incapable of smelling the scent of others. When these social bonds, particularly between parent and offspring, are disrupted, the long-term welfare effects may be severe.

Finally, it is worth remembering that welfare issues are not simply of ethical concern, but they are also often crucial to scientific validity, depending on the research project in question [38]. Clearly, research that fails to meet basic standards of scientific validity can never outweigh the costs to animal research subjects. The animal welfare and behavioral sciences are also quickly developing fields, and any efforts to seriously address the thorny ethical issues arising from human–nonhuman chimera research must also monitor them.

12.5 "Substantive Humanization" Is an Incoherent Concept

To return to our case study, in their proposal, the NIH is particularly concerned that in some chimeric research, especially primate research, "human cells might contribute to the central nervous system and affect the cognition of the animal" [17]. It is difficult to discern what exactly the target is here, but we suggest it reflects a general anxiety about what we call "substantive humanization."⁹ The concern seems to be that introducing human cells or the relevant genes into the central nervous system of another animal will produce "humanized brains," which, given the relation of brains and minds, could lead in some organisms to "humanized minds."¹⁰ The new restrictions appear to be concerned not to cross a line beyond which humanized minds might be considered "too human" and thus deserving of an ethical status typically reserved for humans—an ethical status that the conditions of their existence may already have violated.

This concern motivates a number of critics of human–nonhuman chimera research [39, 40]. It, and indeed the entire ethical landscape that grounds it, is not only confused but also premised on a series of problematic theoretical assumptions about the Animal Kingdom. In particular, this line of reasoning seems to presuppose a kind of moral–biological hierarchy reminiscent of the Great Chain of Being [41]. On this view, humans stand at the top of the Animal Kingdom because they have been endowed with a specific set of morphological, neurological, and physiological (and, ultimately, genetic) traits that confer full moral status. The rest of the animals are scattered below human beings, possessing the latter's morally relevant traits only in a derivative or diminished form—or not at all. Every nonhuman animal, on this view, is a morally imperfect or underdeveloped creature, a mere shadow of the ape at the apex.

The NIH fails to explain why they focus on this specific kind of humanization, why they worry about it relative to only some animals but not others, and where the line between acceptable and unacceptable levels of humanization should be drawn. If the integration of human brain cells in another animal's central nervous system tracks potentially morally significant modifications, it is imperative that we clarify exactly what kinds of modifications are likely to trigger this effect and why. Certainly, many scientists and philosophers view the central nervous system as the basis of the cognitive, affective, and social capacities that justify the moral status accorded humans. But not all of the cognitive, affective, and social capacities human beings possess are morally relevant, which is to say, relevant for the determination of moral status. Consider, for example, our ability to see blue light, our ability to feel disgust upon smelling food that has previously nauseated us, or our capacity to live in large social groups. A number of species other than human beings have these capacities. Others do not. Yet, these capacities do not seem to be relevant to deciding whether the interests of animals should be given consideration by human beings or

⁹Hyun's [20] concept of "moral humanization" is similar to our concept of "substantive humanization." Ours, however, has the advantage of permitting distinct discussions of humanized minds and modified animals deserving higher moral status than their unmodified kin.

¹⁰There are ongoing debates in fields ranging from neuroscience and cognitive psychology to the philosophy of mind about the relationship between brains and minds. Most scholars hold that brain states and mental states are intimately related, but no one holds that all brain states have a related mental state. Since our objective here is merely to highlight one of the concerns motivating the NIH's proposed changes (which has to do with the humanization of nonhuman beings), we do not enter into these more technical debates.

whether the interest of some animals should enjoy greater weight than others [42, 43]. Our point here is that unless one properly distinguishes between these forms of humanization—that is to say, between those that matter from a moral standpoint and those that do not—policies aiming to curb problematic humanization of chimeras will remain abstruse, if not outright incoherent.

These matters are further complicated by a proper appreciation of the diversity within our own species as well as the similarities across taxa. Human brains can be remarkably diverse morphologically and functionally, as are nervous systems more generally, owing to biological evolution. Of course, the same is true of humans' cognitive, affective, and behavioral capacities. There is no singular human kind or type. There are only variations on a theme [44].¹¹

Moreover, this entire discussion about the ethical implications of humanizing nonhuman animals presupposes that animals are not already sufficiently similar to human beings in ways that matter morally. One can concede that some genetic or cellular modifications might culminate in "substantive humanization" of nonhuman animals if the modifications give the animals in question certain morally relevant capacities (whatever those may be). Even so, it could be that the concerns about humanization remain misguided and misplaced. They appear to assume that the capacities that are morally relevant are currently uniquely human, in spite of the fact that humans are both diverse and share many genetic, neurological, developmental, and physiological traits with other animals.

Attempts to identify capacities that are morally relevant tend to single out those that, upon reflection, turn out to be primate (or even mammalian), rather than solely human. The growing evidence from the animal welfare and behavioral sciences of the shared cognitive, affective, and social capacities of both human and nonhuman primates, varied though they may be, is just what an evolutionary framework predicts. In light of these considerations, *any* assumption that human moral status surpasses all other animals looks ill-conceived.¹² Indeed, it seems to reflect a kind of ideological anthropocentrism that smacks more of theology than rationally based policy or careful scientific study.

The previous considerations place invasive research on nonhuman primate– human chimeras in particular in an extremely troubling light. If the cognitive, affective, and social traits that are typical of humans make it unethical to perform this research on us, then there is a strong *prima facie* reason to believe that these same traits in nonhuman primates also make it unethical to perform the said research on them. This is the kind of experimentalist's dilemma highlighted by philosophers such as Bernard Rollin [50]. Indeed, some of the latest insights from the life sciences suggest that it is not only primates that may share cognitive, affective, and social capacities that should confer significant moral status. Other animals—including

¹¹Species essentialism and talk of "human nature" have long been critiqued by philosophers of biology. For some useful critiques, see [45–47].

¹²For some differences in neural structures and sociality among cetaceans that might challenge this assumption, see [48, 49].

some avians [51], cetaceans [52], and pachyderms [53]—have remarkable capacities that problematize the notion that there is a clear, single-line marking moral status, with all humans on one side and all other animals on the other. The question of which animals share morally relevant capacities is an open question that must be settled empirically. Yet, the best available evidence suggests that they are not uniquely human.

12.6 Conclusion

In sum, the ethical challenges posed by human–nonhuman chimera research are profound. In order to develop ethically adequate and scientifically robust policies, policy-makers must start by articulating their basic commitments. Welfare considerations must be given a central role. Concerns about "substantively humanizing" chimeras distract from the more pressing task of determining whether some chimeras or chimera parent species already possess morally relevant capacities that render their use in research problematic. This is especially urgent given the broad range of possible harms likely to befall chimeras, which will be difficult to predict and might be particularly severe. Furthermore, those developing the policies governing chimera research need to clarify how their policy incorporates the best evidence from the animal welfare sciences and meets the requirements of the 3Rs framework.

Given the promise of chimera research to modify model species in ways that may significantly diminish their suffering and the requirement to use the most reliable models available, there is a potential for a radical shift in research. If policy-makers are distracted by focusing on monitoring the boundary between the nonhuman and the all-too-human, they will fail to appreciate the ethical costs of chimera research.

Acknowledgement The authors thank Sona Ghosh, Andrew Lopez, MacGregor Malloy, and Caroline Vardigans for their assistance, as well as an audience at the 2016 meeting of the Animal Bioethics Affinity Group of the American Society for Bioethics and Humanities. We also acknowledge the support of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council and the Canada Research Chairs Program.

References

- 1. Shelley M. Frankenstein or the modem Prometheus. 1818. New York, NY: Bantam; 2003.
- 2. Wu J, Platero-Luengo A, Sakurai M, Sugawara A, Gil MA, Yamauchi T, Suzuki K, et al. Interspecies chimerism with mammalian pluripotent stem cells. Cell. 2017;168(3):473–86.
- Shi L, Luo X, Jiang J, Chen Y, Liu C, Hu T, Li M, et al. Transgenic rhesus monkeys carrying the human MCPH1 gene copies show human-like neoteny of brain development. Natl Sci Rev. 2019;6(3):480–93.
- 4. Whedon J. Alien: resurrection. Beverly Hills, CA: 20th Century Fox; 1997.
- 5. Vajda JM. Human-nonhuman chimeras, ontology, and dignity: a constructivist approach to the ethics of conducting research on cross-species hybrids. Hilltop Rev. 2017;9(1):6.

- Poo MM, Du JL, Ip NY, Xiong ZQ, Xu B, Tan T. China brain project: basic neuroscience, brain diseases, and brain-inspired computing. Neuron. 2016;92(3):591–6.
- Okano H, Sasaki E, Yamamori T, Iriki A, Shimogori T, Yamaguchi Y, Kasai K, Miyawaki A. Brain/MINDS: a Japanese national brain project for marmoset neuroscience. Neuron. 2016;92(3):582–90.
- Greshko M. Sheep-human hybrids made in lab—get the facts [Internet]. Natl Geogr. 2018. https://news.nationalgeographic.com/2018/02/sheep-human-hybrids-chimeras-crispr-organtransplant-health-science. Accessed 4 June 2019.
- 9. Dolgin E. Core concept: chimeras keep courting controversy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(43):11984–5.
- Stein R. NIH plans to lift ban on research funds for part-human, part-animal embryos [Internet]. NPR 2016. https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2016/08/04/488387729/nih-plans-to-liftban-on-research-funds-for-part-human-part-animal-embryos. Accessed 15 May 2019.
- Kim CJ. Dangerous crossings: race, species, and nature in a multicultural age. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2015.
- 12. Shultz LD, Brehm MA, Bavari S, Greiner DL. Humanized mice as a preclinical tool for infectious disease and biomedical research. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2011;1245(1):50–4.
- Reardon S. US agency to lift ban on funding human-animal hybrids. Nature. 2016;536 (7615):135.
- International Society for Stem Cell Research (ISSCR). Guidelines for the conduct of human embryonic stem cell research; 2006. Available from: http://www.isscr.org/docs/default-source/ hesc-guidelines/isscrhescguidelines2006.pdf. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- Russell WM, Burch RL, Hume CW. The principles of humane experimental technique. London: Methuen; 1959.
- 16. National Institutes of Health Office of Extramural Research (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). NIH research involving introduction of human pluripotent cells into non-human vertebrate animal pre-gastrulation embryos (Notice: NOT-OD-15-158); 2015. http://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-15-158.html. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- 17. National Institutes of Health Office of Extramural Research (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). Request for public comment on the proposed changes to the NIH guidelines for human stem cell research and the proposed scope of an NIH steering committee's consideration of certain human-animal chimera research (Notice: NOT-OD-16-128); 2016. https:// grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-16-128.html. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- National Institutes of Health Guidelines on Stem Cell Research (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). National Institutes of Health Stem Cell Information Home Page; 2016. http:// stemcells.nih.gov/policy/pages/2009guidelines.aspx. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- 19. Justice Act of 1996. H.R. 2880 §128 (1996).
- 20. Hyun I. What's wrong with human/nonhuman chimera research? PLoS Biol. 2016;14(8): e1002535.
- Mascetti VL, Pedersen RA. Contributions of mammalian chimeras to pluripotent stem cell research. Cell Stem Cell. 2016;19(2):163–75.
- 22. National Centre for the Replacement Refinement and Reduction of Animals in Research. The 3Rs. https://www.nc3rs.org.uk/the-3rs. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- 23. Canadian Council on Animal Care. About the Three Rs. http://3rs.ccac.ca/en/about/. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- 24. Graham ML, Prescott MJ. The multifactorial role of the 3Rs in shifting the harm-benefit analysis in animal models of disease. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015;759:19–29.
- 25. Porter DG. Ethical scores for animal experiments. Nature. 1992;356(6365):101-2.
- Gert B, Gert J. The definition of morality. In: Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy; 2016. https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/morality-definition/. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- Fenwick N, Griffin G, Gauthier C. The welfare of animals used in science: how the "Three Rs" ethic guides improvements. Can Vet J. 2009;50(5):523.

- Canadian Council on Animal Care. Teaching and training. http://3rs.ccac.ca/en/teaching-andtraining/tt-teaching/. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- 29. Harlow HF, Gluck JP, Suomi SJ. Generalization of behavioral data between nonhuman and human animals. Am Psychol. 1972;27(8):709.
- 30. Gluck JP. Voracious science and vulnerable animals: a primate scientist's ethical journey. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2016.
- Institute of Medicine. Chimpanzees in biomedical and behavioral research: assessing the necessity. The National Academies collection: reports funded by National Institute of Health; 2011.
- Collins FS. NIH Director's blog: NIH will no longer support biomedical research on chimpanzees; 2015. Available at: https://www.nih.gov/about-nih/who-we-are/nih-director/ statements/nih-will-no-longer-support-biomedical-research-chimpanzees. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- 33. Windrem MS, Schanz SJ, Morrow C, Munir J, Chandler-Militello D, Wang S, Goldman SA. A competitive advantage by neonatally engrafted human glial progenitors yields mice whose brains are chimeric for human glia. J Neurosci. 2014;34(48):16153–61.
- 34. Shriver A. Would the elimination of the capacity to suffer solve ethical dilemmas in experimental animal research? In: Lee G, Illes J, Ohl F, editors. Ethical issues in behavioral neuroscience, Current topics in behavioral neurosciences, vol. 19. Berlin: Springer; 2014. p. 117–32.
- 35. Palacios-González C. Human dignity and the creation of human–nonhuman chimeras. Med Health Care Philos. 2015;18(4):487–99.
- 36. Hyun I, Taylor P, Testa G, Dickens B, Jung KW, McNab A, Robertson J, et al. Ethical standards for human-to-animal chimera experiments in stem cell research. Cell Stem Cell. 2007;1 (2):159–63.
- 37. Bayne K, Würbel H. The impact of environmental enrichment on the outcome variability and scientific validity of laboratory animal studies. Rev Sci Tech. 2014;33(1):273–80.
- Baumans V, Van Loo PL. How to improve housing conditions of laboratory animals: the possibilities of environmental refinement. Vet J. 2013;195(1):24–32.
- Greene M, Schill K, Takahashi S, Bateman-House A, Beauchamp T, Bok H, Cheney D, et al. Moral issues of human-non-human primate neural grafting. Science. 2005;309(5733):385–6.
- 40. Harvey A, Salter B. Governing future science: human/animal chimeras and bioethical ambition. London: Global Biopolitics Research Group; 2010. https://www.kcl.ac.uk/sspp/departments/ politicaleconomy/research/biopolitics/publications/workingpapers/wp32.pdf. Accessed 12 May 2017.
- 41. Lovejoy AO. The great chain of being. 1936. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1964.
- 42. Allen C. Ethics and the science of animal minds. Theor Med Bioeth. 2006;27(4):375-94.
- 43. Savulescu J. Human-animal transgenesis and chimeras might be an expression of our humanity. Am J Bioeth. 2003;3(3):3–5.
- 44. Andrews K, Comstock G, Crozier GKD, Donaldson S, Fenton A, John TM, Johnson LSM, Jones R, Kymlicka W, Meynell L, Nobis N, Peña-Guzmán D, Sebo J. Chimpanzee rights: the philosophers' brief. New York, NY: Routledge; 2019.
- Hull DL. The effect of essentialism on taxonomy—two thousand years of stasis (I). Br J Philos Sci. 1965;15(60):314–26.
- 46. Wilson RA. Realism, essence, and kind: resuscitating species essentialism. In: Wilson RA, editor. Species: new interdisciplinary essays. Cambridge, MA: Bradford Books; 1999. p. 187–207.
- 47. Badura-Lotter G, Fangerau H. Human–animal chimeras: not only cell origin matters. Am J Bioeth. 2014;14(2):21–2.
- Foer J. It's time for a conversation. Breaking the communication barrier between dolphins and humans. Natl Geogr. 2015:30–55. http://ngm.nationalgeographic.com/2015/05/dolphin-intelli gence/foer-text. Accessed 12 May 2017.

- 49. Marino L, Connor RC, Fordyce RE, Herman LM, Hof PR, Lefebvre L, Lusseau D, et al. Cetaceans have complex brains for complex cognition. PLoS Biol. 2007;5(5):e139.
- 50. Rollin BE. The moral status of invasive animal research. Hast Cent Rep. 2012;42(s1):S4-6.
- 51. Emery N. Bird brain: an exploration of avian intelligence. Princeton University Press: Princeton; 2016.
- 52. Whitehead H, Rendell L. The cultural lives of whales and dolphins. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2014.
- 53. Bradshaw GA. Elephants on the edge: what animals teach us about humanity. New Haven: Yale University Press; 2009.



13

The Role of Neuroscience in Precise, Precautionary, and Probabilistic Accounts of Sentience

Adam J. Shriver

Abstract

Given that there is currently no consensus as to exactly which animals are sentient, how should we make moral decisions when we are uncertain as to which of the animals influenced by that decision are sentient? And how relevant is evidence from the neurosciences for making these decisions? In this chapter, I outline three different approaches toward incorporating uncertainty about sentience into moral decision-making: what I call precise, precautionary, and probabilistic approaches to sentience. I suggest that neuroscientific evidence has different relevance for each of these accounts. Precautionary approaches should be adopted to provide basic protections for animals even when we are uncertain about their sentience, but probabilistic accounts are more relevant for decisions where we need to carefully weigh positive and negative consequences of different possible decisions. Precise accounts can be useful for providing guidance but are not directly relevant for making decisions or guiding policy.

Keywords

Sentience · Consciousness · Arguments by analogy · Precautionary principle

The Fire: You have a choice. A fire has ignited at one of the local university's agricultural research facilities. The humans have all been evacuated but some of the animals remain behind for what is, without intervention, certain death. You are leading a team of volunteer firefighters driving a truck to the affected area and only have limited time. You can either save a barn full of ten cows, another barn full of fifteen chickens, two aquariums full of fifty fish, or a terrarium that contains seventy ants. All of the animals would, if saved, live exactly two more months of a relatively comfortable, though mostly bland, existence. Those who are left behind will die via asphyxiation (even the fish). As luck would have it, one of your colleagues

A. J. Shriver (🖂)

University of Oxford, Oxford, UK e-mail: adam.shriver@philosophy.ox.ac.uk

brought along the most recent edition of *Principles of Neural Science* and suggested that you quickly scan the pages to see what can be found out about the comparative neuroanatomy of the different species. What should you do? And should the info from the book, assuming that you'll have time to read it on the way, be relevant to how you make your decision?

This scenario offers a stark choice that seems at first glance to depend on how we value the lives of different types of animals. Though it clearly is not a very realistic scenario, it resembles other types of value judgments made daily that have consequences in the real world. For example, in invasive animal research, researchers often interpret the "replace" principle in the 3Rs guidelines (replace, reduce, refine) as suggesting that it is better to run an experiment on larger numbers of mice than it is to run a similar experiment on equal or even smaller numbers of monkeys. In food ethics, some have argued that we should shift to a diet of insects to avoid the welfare problems associated with modern industrial farming of birds and mammals [1]. Others have argued that animal activists should focus on improvements to fish welfare compared with that of large mammals and even chickens due to the huge numbers of fish killed every year [2]. Each of these recommendations would seem to depend upon some method for comparing the lives and welfare of different species.

But though it might seem as though these different perspectives all require different evaluations of what types of capacities ground moral standing in animals, this need not be the case. All of the above positions can be reached from a starting point that assumes that all conscious experiences of positive and negative feelings are morally significant. Though two welfare promoters may agree that sentience matters for moral standing, they may nevertheless disagree about how to weigh potential evidence for sentience. Specifically, they may attach different significance to the extent to which different species have neural similarities with humans or other species they take to be clearly conscious, which in turn may determine at least in part how the potential interests of different species are weighed against one another.

In what follows, I examine the question of how we should treat neurological similarity under three different ways of thinking about sentience: what I call precise, precautionary, and probabilistic accounts of sentience. I argue that evidence from the neurosciences has very different importance for these three different types of accounts, to the point that evidence may not be required at all with regards to certain policy decisions. I suggest that each of the different accounts of sentience is appropriate for some contexts but not others. But prior to getting to these three accounts, I first need to say more about why assessing sentience and other mental capacities is such a challenge.

13.1 The Problem of Other Minds

In his *Meditations on First Philosophy*, Rene Descartes employed what some have called the Method of Doubt [3] in an attempt to find indubitable truths. He found that, when putting himself in a skeptical frame of mind, he could question almost everything he had previously taken for granted, including his knowledge of the existence an external world. However, due to his direct acquaintance with his own experience, he

believed there was one thing he could not seriously doubt, which led to the famous *cogito*: "I think, therefore I am." Some have later questioned whether one could truly infer the existence of a continuing "self" that perseveres throughout our experiences [4], but nevertheless Descartes' observation that there is something special about our direct acquaintance with our own mental experiences, and his attempts to build upon that observation, has remained a powerful example of philosophical thought.

Unfortunately, however, this methodology does not reveal much about the minds of others (or, arguably, even our own). We do not have direct, immediate access to anyone else's mind. When trying to assess whether other humans are also conscious, the best we can do is to make inferences based either on how similar they are to us or other observations we suspect would be associated with conscious experience. This leads to the so-called Problem of Other Minds [5] or the problem of knowing that other humans are conscious.

This "problem" has been discussed extensively in the philosophical literature, but even philosophers who discuss it in great detail do not act in everyday life as if other people are insentient. And the very discussion can be enough to make some people roll their eyes at a certain style of philosophical methodology . . . surely no one could really take such concerns seriously! Similarly, many think that we should have an equally dismissive attitude to this type of skepticism when it is aimed at sentience in certain nonhuman animals. Can we really seriously doubt that companion cats and dogs are sentient even as they routinely exhibit clever ways of communicating their beliefs and desires? And if we think this about cats and dogs, it is hard to coherently think otherwise about many other kinds of animals with very similar behavior and neuroanatomy.

The problem, however, is that for some animals, the differences both in behavior and brain function are too dramatic to ignore. What should we think about animals that do not have anything resembling a brain or central nervous system and that do not respond to noxious stimulation or threats in the way we would expect? Many people draw the line once a certain limit is reached with respect to differences from humans, whether the line is drawn at fish, insects, or some other taxa or species. However, even when a line is drawn, given the extensive variation observed among biological organisms, can we come up with a principled explanation for justifying the differential treatment between those species on either side of the line?

Some have tried to sidestep this challenge by endorsing panpsychism, the view that phenomenal consciousness is a property that exists in all physical matter. However, the move from this position to specific moral recommendations is often unjustified. Even if we think that consciousness is ubiquitous, we know from our own experiences that not all conscious experience is morally significant. Some experiences are neutral and do not seem to have any positive or negative valence [6]. In fact, in rare circumstances, there appear to even be cases of pain that lack the unpleasantness that typically accompanies them [7]. So even if we were told definitively that, say, a hydrogen molecule has the property of consciousness to some degree, we would have no way of assessing whether that conscious experience was positive, negative, or entirely neutral. So, endorsing panpsychism just changes the challenging question from "how do we know which entities are conscious?" to "how

do we know which entities have morally significant consciousness?" Endorsing panpsychism takes us no closer to knowing which animals should be taken into consideration in our moral judgments.

So, we are left to confront a situation where, although there are various theories of consciousness, any honest assessment would have to conclude that we do not yet know what physical processes are most central to the experience of morally relevant feelings (or other psychological states). And it is not just that we do not know what physical processes are relevant; we do not even know what exactly it would look like to have sufficient evidence to know that certain physical processes are central.

But we do not have the luxury of throwing up our hands and embracing agnosticism. Humans have impacted and continue to impact potentially sentient organisms at a scale that is almost impossible to exaggerate. In fact, we have the capacity to end all sentient life on earth, but sadly the jury is still out as to whether we have the ability to organize and guide societies in a manner that would ensure that this does not happen. Meanwhile, everyday activities such as modern industrial agriculture are likely causing suffering to tens of billions of animals every year [8]. The stakes are high. We need some principled methodology for assessing sentience that can be of use in attempting to formulate ethical and legal restrictions on our treatment of nonhuman animals. I now turn to several different strategies that have been used to do this, and in particular will examine the relevance of neuroscience for making final decisions on these frameworks.

13.2 Precise Accounts of Sentience

Until recently, most philosophical attempts at using sentience to guide policy attempted to set fairly clear lines that could be of use for ethical guidelines. That is, criteria were provided that could be used to say, for any given species, whether that species should be treated as sentient or not. There was, and currently is, no consensus on the exact criteria, so the designation "precise" should not be thought of as indicating the *success* of the endeavors so much as the fact that they, in contrast to the other two groups of theories I will be considering, *aspire* to provide precise criteria that can be used to make the relevant determinations. For these theories, we can say that, *if* they are true, then they set decision criteria that can be used to determine which beings are sentient.

Gary Varner [9, 10] has suggested that most standard arguments about sentience in animals can be usefully interpreted as arguments by analogy. An exchange between Varner and Colin Allen about such arguments nevertheless nicely illustrates some general challenges facing precise accounts of sentience.

To begin, we can follow Varner in suggesting the following general format for an argument by analogy for animal sentience:

- P1. Things like X are known to have qualities a, b, c, ... and m as well as n.
- P2. Things like Y are known to have qualities a, b, c, ... and m.
- C. So, things like Y probably also have quality n. [9, p. 108]

Though most authors Varner is discussing do not explicitly formulate their arguments in these terms, they nevertheless can easily be represented in this way. Varner himself initially summarized four different meta-reviews of animal sentience to come up with a list of evidentiary conditions that may indicate sentience. This list includes both neural and nonneural criteria. The former include the presence of nociceptors, the presence of brains, the fact that nociceptors are connected to brains, and the fact that the organism has endogenous opioids. Among the latter criteria are behavioral responses to pain that resemble those of humans and behavioral responses to known analgesics. Taxa that ticked all of the boxes were regarded as good candidates for sentience. Based on these criteria, Varner initially concluded that most vertebrates were likely to be sentient, and invertebrates (with the exception of cephalopods) likely insentient.

However, as Allen [11] has pointed out, there are two serious weaknesses with using these arguments to make determinations about sentience. First, such assessments have to be based on the most current research, and the general trend has moved in the direction of discovering that in certain species capacities are present that were previously assumed not to exist. For example, in the 2 years between the time of Varner's initial argument and Allen's critique, nociceptors were discovered in several new species.

This concern can perhaps be addressed with what Varner describes as "going to war with the army you've got" [10, p. 115]. Surely all can agree that in the absence of conclusive evidence, we nevertheless have to make decisions based on what evidence we do have. However, as we will see, the type of line-drawing recommended by Varner can be problematic in ways that do not apply to other approaches I will consider.

Allen's second criticism reveals a deeper challenge. As he notes, just as there will be some biological similarities between humans and other animals, there will also always be some biological differences and in particular some neurological differences related to the capacity to feel pain and/or pleasure and/or other valenced states. So, sentience skeptics can point to these dissimilarities to argue against the claim that any given nonhuman animal is sentient. How, then, can we sort through the various similarities and dissimilarities to come up with the right criteria for comparison? Allen argues that we need a *guiding theory* that explains *why* we should expect certain features to be required for conscious experience that can guide the comparisons to firmer footing.

It is hard to argue against the suggestion that having such a theory would be ideal for any proposed account, and many authors have attempted to provide one, including Varner [10] in his response to Allen. Guiding theories for precise accounts of sentience might rely heavily on neuroscientific details or may eschew them entirely. But all guiding theories, as suggested by Allen, need to tell some story about why particular features give rise to conscious experience.

The problem, of course, is that there is intense disagreement about which theories should be preferred, and there is nothing coming close to compelling evidence to suggest that any particular theory is the right one. Meeting Allen's challenge with not just *a* guiding theory but rather *the correct* guiding theory requires nothing less

than discovering the neural correlates of sentience. In the absence of such a theory, we could be skeptical that humans are sentient, too. But, as stated above, there are many ethical and political decisions to be made, and waiting (perhaps indefinitely) for the correct guiding theory to make these decisions is likely to result in the suffering of numerous sentient beings.

So, it seems that we are left with Varner's "going to war with the army we have" concession. But if we adopt this approach, despite tenuous knowledge and disagreement about what the relevant traits truly are, what happens if we draw the line at the wrong place? If a precise account of sentience tells us we should draw the line at vertebrates, and our regulations are correspondingly formulated such that only vertebrates are protected (as is currently the case in the USA), what are the ethically significant consequences if we are mistaken? Consider, for example, invertebrate species such as lobsters that are routinely boiled alive for human food. If they are in fact capable of feeling pain, then treating them otherwise would be causing vast amounts of morally relevant suffering. As such, using a firm line to determine our ethical obligations seems likely to result in seriously bad consequences. But other approaches for dealing with evidence for sentience have been developed that can avoid this problem.

13.3 Precautionary Accounts of Sentience

Whereas precise accounts of sentience can be thought of as drawing lines based on what could be characterized as the *best* account of the relevant evidence for sentience, a precautionary approach to sentience might be loosely described as drawing lines, in certain conditions, based on a *sufficiently reasonable* account of relevant evidence for sentience. The precautionary principle, which in its original form stated "where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental degradation" [12, p. 3], was developed specifically to prevent serious harms from occurring in circumstances where scientific certainty is lacking. In particular, as Steele [13] notes, such a principle is needed to ensure that policy is not "susceptible to paralysis by scientific uncertainty" (p. 213). The principle is relevant for many challenges at the intersection of science and public policy, and perhaps most urgently with regard to climate change, where a number of interesting scientific questions remain despite it having been known for many years that action is warranted and, in fact, urgently needed.

The precautionary principle has been applied to nonhuman animals in the past, and a recent paper by Birch [14] provides a valuably detailed framework for applying it to policies that affect nonhuman animals. Birch begins by adapting the original policy-related precautionary principle so that it can be formulated to apply to nonhuman animals. The original precautionary principle references environmental degradation as the relevant harm, but if we think that other types of harms can be treated similarly, we can accept Birch's formulation of the Animal Sentience Precautionary Principle as: "Where there are threats of serious, negative animal welfare outcomes, lack of full scientific certainty as to the sentience of the animals in question shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent those outcomes" (p. 3).

Birch, following Stephen John, bisects the precautionary principle into two components: what he calls an epistemic rule and a decision rule. The epistemic rule can be formulated as follows:

For the purposes of formulating animal protection legislation, there is sufficient evidence that animals of a particular order are sentient if there is statistically significant evidence, obtained by experiments that meet normal scientific standards, of the presence of at least one credible indicator of sentience in at least one species of that order. (p. 5)

The decision rule is formulated as follows:

We should aim to include within the scope of animal protection legislation all animals for which the evidence of sentience is sufficient, according to the standard of sufficiency outlined in [the epistemic rule]. (p. 5)

Birch provides a great deal of argumentation and clarification to motivate his position, but this outline is clear enough to make some general remarks about the value and unique attributes of the approach. First, as should be obvious, the precautionary approach avoids the most serious pitfalls of precise accounts of sentience since line-drawing occurs not at the point at which we think we have the *best* evidence, but rather at a point where we have *sufficiently reasonable* evidence. So, for example, Birch cites the research program by Robert Elwood that provides evidence that decapod crustaceans engage in motivational tradeoffs involving noxious stimulation. Thus, according to the decision rule provided, "decapods should therefore be brought within the scope of animal protection legislation" (p. 8). Presumably, this would mean, at a minimum, that restrictions be placed on how decapods are killed for food, and methods such as boiling lobsters alive would be prohibited.

The precautionary approach to sentience still has some risk of leaving out sentient animals, in cases where current credible methods for assessing sentience for some reason fail to detect it. But this risk is clearly far lower than that of precise accounts. As such, the chances of causing large amounts of suffering based on a mistaken assessment of sentience are greatly reduced when using precautionary approaches toward policy-making directed at animal protection laws and regulations, as well as determining morally permissible behavior. On the other hand, the risk of mistakenly treating some animals as sentient when they are not increases. Some particular industries, such as fishing, could claim that these economic harms are also serious. But in general, the asymmetry of harms—the potential harm in treating sentient animals as insentient versus the harm of treating insentient animals as sentient—is such that the first type of error carries far more moral risk.

Evidence from the neurosciences has an interesting role to play in precautionary approaches to sentience. It certainly seems conceptually possible that some comparative neuroanatomy evidence, against a background of other scientific knowledge, could count as "statistically significant evidence ... of the presence of at least one credible indicator of sentience" [14, p. 5]. As such, neuroscience evidence, in conjunction with behavioral evidence, could likely be sufficient to meet the epistemic condition. But purely neuroscientific evidence by itself probably would not tell us much, since without some understanding of how neural processing leads to behavior, it is difficult to connect this type of evidence to those mental states constitutive of sentience. However, it also seems clear that in some cases the epistemic condition for the precautionary principle could be met without any reference whatsoever to evidence from the neurosciences. Take the "motivational tradeoffs" criteria referenced above in relation to decapods. As it happens, Elwood also has neurological evidence regarding behavior, but one could certainly imagine a set of behaviors sophisticated enough that, even in the absence of any comparative neuroscience, it is sufficient to meet the epistemic criteria. An organism such as a lobster, for example, that typically withdraws from noxious stimulation, but is willing to undergo such stimulation in exchange for particular rewards, and whose tradeoff behavior is altered in the expected ways by the administration of analgesics, would seem to be a good candidate. Thus, though neuroscience evidence can be relevant for precautionary approaches to sentience, it is not strictly speaking required.

Though I think the above suggests that the precautionary principle has an important role to play in determining policy and ethics guidelines, it is also clearly limited in its application to certain types of decisions. For example, in the scenario described at the beginning of the article, we might imagine that the precautionary principle determines that the ants, fish, chickens, and cows all meet our epistemic criteria for sentience. Would it then follow that we should save the ants, even if the evidence for sentience was far stronger in the case of the other animals? It would be unfair to say the precautionary approach as stated above gets the wrong answer in such a case; more accurately, the decision rule above is simply not designed to answer this type of question. The principle is relevant for specific knowledge asymmetries where erring in one direction involves the risk of serious harms. It is not, however, useful for making decisions in situations that require carefully balancing harms and benefits between different options, such as the example at the beginning of this chapter. For that, I turn to a third type of approach to sentience: probabilistic accounts.

13.4 Probabilistic Approaches to Sentience

Returning to the original scenario, the earlier accounts of sentience do not provide plausible guides for decision-making. Relying on a version of a precise account, let us say one's preferred "guiding theory" of consciousness suggested that a certain type of corticothalamic feedback loop was required for consciousness, thus implying that cows and chickens meet the criteria, but fish and ants do not. This account presumably would suggest that we ought to save the chickens (assuming that cows do not suffer more or enjoy more, though this is not necessarily entailed by the fact that both are sentient). But this approach carries the risk of allowing 35 additional animals to die who could have been saved if your guiding theory was mistaken in

excluding fish. If you think that this is an acceptable risk, what if the choice were between 500 fish and 15 chickens, or between 5000 fish and 15 chickens? Presumably at some point most of us would think the numbers should matter in our decision, but precise accounts that say policy should be determined solely by line-drawing based on the preferred theories would not be sensitive to such concerns.

Similarly, let us say we adapted the precautionary principle such that it suggests that once the epistemic criteria are met, our new decision rule specifies that "all should count for one, and none for more than one" and thus that all sentient lives should be treated equally. But imagine that there were 10 different, plausible evidentiary criteria for sentience and that mammals like cows met all 10, while the chickens only met one. Would we still have an overriding reason to save the 15 chickens over the 10 cows? Again, we can play with the numbers to generate more clearly uncomfortable results. If the choice was between 99 cows and 100 chickens, and we had *dramatically more evidence* that cows are sentient, surely the evidence should be enough to tip the scales at this point. So while the precise accounts are insensitive to numbers of animals, the modified precautionary account is insensitive to strength of evidence, once that evidence has crossed a certain threshold.

As such, we need a different approach. Imagine that we had good reason to think that there is a 95% chance that cows are sentient, an 80% chance that chickens are sentient, a 60% chance that fish are sentient, and a 10% chance that ants are sentient. On one relatively straightforward approach of multiplying the purported value of a particular outcome by the probability of it occurring, we can use those probabilities to assign weightings to different possible choices. Assuming for simplicity that there is no relevant differences in intensity or duration of possible experiences between the animals, and our goal is to maximize the number of sentient lives saved, we could multiply 0.95 by 10 to get an expected difference in the case of cows to 9.5, and multiply the 0.10 by 70 to get an expected difference of 7 for saving the ants. Thus, this approach would favor saving the cows over the ants. However, 15 times 0.8 would get an expected difference of 12 for saving the chickens, and 0.6 multiplied by 50 would get an expected difference of 30 for saving the fish. Thus, this account would recommend saving the fish (on this highly artificial setup) as the approach most likely to save the highest number of sentient animals. Of course, a full ethical accounting would need to take into consideration many other variables, such as how long the animals would live, whether there might be different intensities in emotions, etc., but hopefully the idea of how uncertainty about mental states could theoretically be built into the assessment is clear.

The probabilistic approach to sentience is prominent in certain animal advocacy communities and particularly in what is called the Effective Altruism community. This community is dedicated to doing the *most good*, and as such using probabilities to weight-expected outcomes is a straightforward way of maximizing the expected value of particular actions or policies. Starting from this perspective, it has been argued that it would be better to focus on improving the welfare of chickens over the welfare of cows, since 7 billion broiler chickens are slaughtered for food every year in the USA as opposed to 34 million cows. Though most of these advocates would agree that it is probably slightly more likely that cows are sentient, this slight difference is not enough to make up for the fact that 205 times more chickens are killed. Similar arguments have

been put forward to argue in favor of prioritizing the welfare of fish over chickens and mammals, since their numbers (especially when bycatch is included) dwarf even those of chickens. And, perhaps even more surprisingly, similar numbers-based arguments have been used to suggest that insects should be prioritized over vertebrates even if we think there is a relatively low likelihood of them being sentient.

Of course, such accounts are only as plausible as the idea that we can reliably assign probabilities to the different possibilities. Since we do not truly have access to objective probabilities, the term "credence" is often used to quantify the subjective estimates of probability assigned to particular outcomes. If a new study comes out that says that, say, termites have nociceptors, this presumably should increase the credence we assign to the likelihood that termites are sentient. *How much* it should do so is of course a question that can be answered only in the vaguest terms. Though it is hard to have much confidence in the precise amounts of credence people assign to various bits of evidence, there are presumably some cases, say comparing the welfare of one cow to that of 10,000 chickens, where the differences in numbers are so large as to dwarf the differences that would come from subjective assessments of the likelihood of sentience.

Probabilistic accounts have an important role to play in ethical decision-making. In conjunction with the precautionary accounts, some version of the probabilistic accounts should guide our ethical decision-making in most cases. However, at least as practiced, the application of this framework also has flaws. In particular, it arguably assigns weight to *too many things*. The accounts are sensitive to evidence from any account of sentience that has not been definitively ruled out, which of course includes many mutually exclusive accounts, and thus it stands to reason that some ultimately irrelevant evidence will be playing a role in guiding decisions. Moreover, the approach in practice can (though need not) lead us to adopt an uncritical stance toward different evidence. It can be easy to simply say "person X says fish are insentient therefore I will adjust my credence appropriately" rather than thoroughly and skeptically evaluating the evidence, and it may turn out that faulty reasoning is missed as a result.

13.5 Guiding Ethics and Policy

In light of the above considerations, how ought we go about formulating our ethical and political commitments in light of evidence for sentience in different species? And how relevant are findings from the neurosciences?

In my view, the precautionary and probabilistic accounts are useful for directly guiding these decisions in certain situations, whereas precise accounts are never directly relevant for decision-making, but nevertheless provide important back-ground considerations and guidance. For the sake of ensuring basic protections across nonhuman taxa, precautionary accounts of sentience are needed to prevent the risk of serious harms occurring. Thus, many laws and policies should be formulated that treat animals as sentient provided that there is statistically significant evidence, obtained by experiments that meet normal scientific standards, of the

presence of at least one credible indicator of sentience in at least one species of that order. And the precautionary principle is similarly useful in situations where there is great risk of harm from treating sentient animals as insentient, and relatively little risk of harm from treating insentient animals as sentient.

However, other types of situations involve trade-offs between harms that are more proportionately aligned. In these cases, probabilistic accounts that take into account some rough estimate of the likelihood of sentience, the numbers of animals involved, and an assessment of the magnitude of harms and benefits are more relevant for decision-making. These may not be the only relevant moral criteria in such cases, since concerns about rights, autonomy, and such might be relevant, but it should at least be included as a component in the decision-making process.

However, as noted above, precise accounts must also play an important though indirect role. In particular, without an ongoing search for precise accounts of sentience, we will almost certainly be making incorrect judgments about sentience, and these mistakes have real costs (particularly in cases where we are relying on probabilistic accounts), costs that can include the suffering of sentient organisms and the misappropriation of scare resources. In searching for precise accounts of sentience, we will often discover that some criteria for sentience are flawed, and this in turn will have implications for how precautionary and probabilistic theories are applied. For example, one commonly suggested criterion for sentience is that an opioid has some effect on behavior in response to a noxious stimulus, with the implication being that if an animal changes their behavior as a result of a painkiller being administered, the original behavior must have been the result of a pain experience. However, we know from neuroscience that there are receptors sensitive to opioids in the peripheral nervous system, and thus reflexive responses to noxious stimulation can be influenced without any changes taking place in the brain. As such, just any behavioral response to opioid analgesics should not, by itself, be regarded as sufficient evidence for sentience, even on a precautionary account. Of course, the principle could possibly be modified such that it does necessarily involve opioids influencing brain systems, and perhaps this modified principle could be used instead. But the upshot is nevertheless that the earlier, more simple rule cannot be justified.

13.6 Conclusion

It is important that the search for precise accounts of sentience continues, and this will certainly involve neuroscience research for the foreseeable future. As connections are made between behavior, self-report, and neural function, criteria for sentience will continue to be refined. This in turn will help to improve precautionary and probabilistic accounts of sentience that are needed to guide policy. Though I think the precautionary principle should help guide the formulation of basic protections, and that evidence from the neurosciences is not *required* in some

cases to conclude that particular species deserve protections, an ongoing search for the neural correlates of sentience must be pursued in order to avoid harms that occur from mistaken accounts.¹

Acknowledgement Thanks to the Alternatives Research Development Foundation (ARDF) and the University of Pennsylvania School of Arts and Sciences for funding the "Animal Research Neuroethics" workshop, which has helped shape my views on these topics, as well as my contribution to the book project more generally. A grant from the Centre for Effective Altruism UK also contributed to the development of the ideas here. The writing of this chapter was supported by Wellcome Trust grant (203132/Z/16/Z). Thanks to the Oxford Uehrio Centre for Practical Ethics, and the Wellcome Centre for Ethics and Humanities for supporting my current work.

References

- King B. The joys and ethics of insect eating. In: National public radio: cosmos and culture. 2014, April 3. https://www.npr.org/sections/13.7/2014/04/03/297853835/the-joys-and-ethicsof-insect-eating. Accessed 2 June 2019.
- Animal Charity Evaluators. Farmed fish welfare report. 2019. https://animalcharityevaluators. org/research/other-topics/farmed-fish-welfare-report/. Accessed 2 June 2019.
- 3. Broughton J. Descartes's method of doubt. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 2003.
- 4. Metzinger T. Being no one: the self-model theory of subjectivity. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2004.
- 5. Avramides A. Other minds. London: Routledge; 2000.
- 6. Degrazia D. Sentience and consciousness as bases for attributing interests and moral status: considering the evidence—and speculating slightly beyond. In: Johnson LS, Fenton A, Shriver AJ, editors. Neuroethics and nonhuman animals. Cham: Springer; 2019.
- 7. Shriver A. Minding mammals. Philos Psychol. 2006;19(4):433-42.
- 8. Sethu H. How many animals does a vegetarian save? Counting Animals. Accessed at http:// countinganimals.com/how-many-animals-does-a-vegetarian-save/
- 9. Varner GE. In nature's interests? Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- 10. Varner GE. Personhood, ethics, and animal cognition: situating animals in Hare's two level utilitarianism. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- 11. Allen C. Animal pain. Noûs. 2004;38(4):617-43.
- 12. United Nations. Rio Declaration on Environment and Development. Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, Rio de Janeiro, June 3–14. New York: United Nations. 1992.
- Steel D. Philosophy and the precautionary principle. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2015.
- 14. Birch J. Animal sentience and the precautionary principle. Anim Sent. 2017;2(16):1.
- 15. Sebo J. The Moral Problem of Other Minds. Harv Rev Philos. 2018;25:51-70.

¹While this paper was in production, I came across a similar article comparing the precautionary principle and the expected utility function by Jeff Sebo. Though the papers have different methodologies and different aims, I highly recommend also taking a look at his insightful paper [15].

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Part III

Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animal Research Ethics



A Threshold Standard for Regulating Invasive Nonhuman Primate Research in the Age of the Major Brain Projects

Tom Buller

Abstract

On account of their phylogenetic similarity to humans, nonhuman primates (NHPs) play an indispensable role in both basic and translational neuroscience research. The recent establishment of a number of brain projects to map the brain and to discover new therapies for brain disease and disorders has focused attention on the use of NHPs, particularly since some of these projects have led to an increase in the use of NHPs in research (Australian Brain Alliance, Blue Brain Project (Switzerland), BRAIN Initiative (USA), Brain/MINDS (Japan) Canada Brain Research Fund, China Brain Project, Cuban Human Brain Mapping Project, Israel Brain Technologies, Korean Brain Initiative, Latin American Brain Mapping Network). At present, there is considerable variety in the national and international regulations governing NHP use. In order for the projects to gain broad public support and to provide adequate protection for NHPs, it is important that the regulations are harmonized.

The goal of regulations and guidelines governing NHP research is to set an appropriate balance between providing adequate protection to the animals and encouraging scientific investigation and progress. At present, the regulations governing NHP research in the USA, the EU, and China permit highly invasive research, and, consequently, it has been argued that the regulations are inadequate. This chapter provides an overview of the regulations governing NHP research in the USA, the EU, and China, considers a number of different approaches to tightening the regulations, and argues that the most satisfactory approach is to adopt a threshold standard of invasiveness.

T. Buller (🖂)

Illinois State University, Normal, IL, USA e-mail: tgbulle@ilstu.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_14

Keywords

Nonhuman primate research \cdot Neuroscience \cdot International research guidelines \cdot Animal welfare

14.1 Introduction

One of the questions that the American and Soviet space programs needed to answer before sending a human into space was whether a living creature could make this journey and return alive and unharmed. To answer this question, both programs sent animals, including nonhuman primates, into space to test the survivability of a prolonged period of weightlessness. In 1961, the first chimpanzee in space, Ham, successfully completed a mission in which he reached an altitude of 157 miles, a speed of 5587 mph, and experienced 6.6 min of weightlessness [1]. The success of Ham's mission enabled Alan Shephard Jr. to be the first human astronaut the same year. Eight years later, the first humans landed on the moon—the "giant leap" for humankind.

In 2013, American President Obama announced the launch of the Brain Research through Advancing Innovative Neurotechnologies (BRAIN) Initiative, a multibillion-dollar program to map the human brain and to discover new therapies for brain diseases and disorders. The challenge to map the brain has been compared to the Apollo space program in terms of its potential contribution to human knowledge and the significance of its achievement. It has been described as a "great journey into the unknown"—a journey to map the brain's functions and structures, to discover "the interior of thinking, feeling, perceiving, learning, deciding and action to achieve our goals…" (p. 9 in [2]). Over the past few years, nearly a dozen other major national and international brain projects have been launched to advance our understanding of the brain and its disorders. The concurrent establishment of these projects reflects their international and integrated nature, as well as the shared perception of the importance of the goals.

A number of the brain projects that have recently been established involve a significant degree of NHP research. The use of NHPs is usually justified in terms of the overall balance of benefits and harms, the higher moral status of humans, and because the phylogenetic similarity between humans and NHPs makes their inclusion uniquely important. In opposition to this position, however, it can be argued that the similarity between humans and NHPs in terms of cognitive ability, intelligence, and social behavior should accord NHPs a similar moral status to that of humans, or that their difference in moral status is not sufficient to conclude that the interests of humans should always take precedence. Furthermore, it can be objected that the contribution of NHPs to neuroscience research is not as significant as claimed [3]. Few would contest that it would be a remarkable achievement if we succeeded in "mapping the brain," nor challenge the value of the discovery of new therapies for brain diseases and disorders. But questions remain as to whether NHP research

contributes to these goals, and if it does, whether the existing regulations and practices provide adequate protections for NHPs.

The goal of this chapter is to attempt to answer the latter question. The first half of the chapter provides a brief overview of three of the brain projects, the US BRAIN Initiative, the EU Human Brain Project, and the China Brain Project, and compares their current regulations governing NHP research. The second half of the chapter discusses two proposals whose stated aims are to significantly reduce the scope of permissible NHP research and presents a number of objections to these proposals. An alternative proposal is presented, one that attempts to balance the value of scientific research with the welfare of NHPs by imposing a threshold standard on the level of permissible invasiveness.

14.2 The Major Brain Projects and Nonhuman Primate Research

In broad terms, the use of animals in scientific research is defended on the grounds that it leads to significant benefit and progress. In the *International Guiding Principles for Biomedical Research Involving Animals*, the Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS) puts the matter the following way:

The use of animals in research, education and testing is an essential component of the advancement of our understanding about human and animal function. This knowledge is important for advancing human and animal health and welfare through disease prevention and cures, new treatments, and drug and device development. The scientific community, understanding that using animals is a privilege entrusted by society, remains committed to ensuring the health and welfare of animals as an integral consideration when animals are used for these purposes. [4, pr. 2]

A similar sentiment is expressed in a joint statement by a number of scientific organizations:

Research with nonhuman primates (NHPs)—monkeys for the most part—has led to critical health advances that have saved or improved millions of human lives. While **NHPs account for just one-half of one percent** of animals in current medical research, it is no exaggeration to say they are essential to our ability to find cures for **cancer**, **AIDS**, **Alzheimer's**, **Parkinson's**, **obesity/diabetes** and dozens of other diseases that cause human suffering and death. (p. 354 in [5])

The essential contribution that NHP research has made in relation to spinal cord injury, neurodegenerative diseases, NeuroAIDS, and other mental disorders has been described in a number of publications [6-10].

The moral sentiment that is evoked by the use of the term "privilege" in the CIOMS statement recognizes our fundamental responsibility to care for the welfare of the animals used in research. This responsibility is described more fully by the 3Rs principles that seek to minimize the welfare costs to animals [11]. The principles promote the *replacement* of sentient animals with other models, the *reduction* in the number of sentient animals used or experiments performed, and the *refinement* of

procedures so as to minimize pain and suffering. These principles have been adopted by many organizations engaged in animal research, as well as national and international regulations and legislation [12]. It has been argued, however, that adherence to the 3Rs principles—particularly in the case of NHP research—is not sufficient. In particular, the contribution of NHPs to the diseases and disorders mentioned above (and neuroscientific research more broadly) is not as significant as is claimed [3] and that successful animal studies often fail to translate to clinical practice [13]. Furthermore, it has been claimed that the moral status of NHPs should accord them greater protection than the current regulations allow [14–18].

In very broad terms, "basic" (or "fundamental") neuroscience research can be distinguished from "applied" neuroscience research in that the former seeks to understand the brain's structure and functions, rather than to apply this understanding to the potential treatment of diseases and disorders. As the quotations above suggest, neuroscience research involving NHPs has been justified on the grounds that it can lead to "critical health advances." Since, by definition, basic neuroscience does not seek such advances, it is difficult to justify this type of research in these terms. This is not to question the value of basic neuroscience nor to challenge the claim that it has provided "decisive insights" into a number of areas in cognitive neuroscience, including perception and perceptual organization, decision-making, and motor control [6]. Rather, the problem is that although many would see the increased understanding of brain function to be very valuable, the lack of specific and direct benefit means that it is difficult to weigh that benefit against the hardship caused to the animals [19].

Although a variety of animals are used in neuroscience research, the inclusion of NHPs is thought to be necessary because of their phylogenetic similarity to humans [20].

We expect the BRAIN Initiative to include nonhuman primates such as rhesus macaques, because they are evolutionarily the closest animal model for humans, and this will be reflected in their behavioral and cognitive abilities, genetics, anatomy, and physiology. (p. 50 in [2])

In comparison to other (nonhuman) animals, the NHP brain most closely resembles the human brain in terms of encephalization, the number and density of cortical neurons, and the large prefrontal cortex [21]. Furthermore, on account of their phylogenetic similarity to humans, NHPs can learn to perform specific and complex cognitive and behavioral tasks, for example, the control of a robotic limb through a brain–machine interface [22].

According to the most recent data, in 2016 there were 71,188 NHPs held in research facilities in the USA [23]. A considerable proportion of this number are held in the seven national primate research centers. Experiments on NHPs represented 0.28% of all laboratory animals used in research [21]. In 2014, 8898 procedures were performed on NHPs in the EU. Approximately 6000 NHPs were used in experiments in 2011 (0.05% of animal experiments) compared to 10,000 in 2008 [20]. In comparison to the USA and the EU, in China there are 290,000 NHPs held in

research facilities and 40 breeding colonies [24, 25]. China supplies more than 70% of the research NHPs to US laboratories [26]. As evidence of China's investment in NHP research, the Chinese Institute for Brain Research has recently been established, new research facilities are being built at a number of institutions, and a National Primate Resource Center is being developed. The center will be the largest NHP research facility in China [25]. It is proposed that the China Brain Project, Brain/MINDS (Japan), and the Korean Brain Initiative will form a consortium, the "Asia Brain Initiative," to help foster collaboration among the three projects [27].

As the following descriptions attest, the various national and international brain projects have common goals.

The Brain Research through Advancing Innovative Neurotechnologies (BRAIN) Initiative is aimed at revolutionizing our understanding of the human brain. By accelerating the development and application of innovative technologies, researchers will be able to produce a revolutionary new dynamic picture of the brain that, for the first time, shows how individual cells and complex neural circuits interact in both time and space. Long desired by researchers seeking new ways to treat, cure, and even prevent brain disorders, this picture will fill major gaps in our current knowledge and provide unprecedented opportunities for exploring exactly how the brain enables the human body to record, process, utilize, store, and retrieve vast quantities of information, all at the speed of thought. [28]

The Human Brain Project aims to put in place a cutting-edge research infrastructure that will allow scientific and industrial researchers to advance our knowledge in the fields of neuroscience, computing, and brain-related medicine. [29]

The China Brain Project covers both basic research on neural mechanisms underlying cognition and translational research for the diagnosis and intervention of brain diseases as well as for brain-inspired intelligence technology. [25]

Studying the neural networks controlling higher brain functions in the common marmoset, to gain new insights into information processing and diseases of the human brain (sic). [30]

The concurrent establishment of a number of individual projects reflects the shared perception of the importance of the goal of mapping the brain and that the pursuit of this goal is a collaborative project in which resources, data, and technologies will be shared. The perceived importance of these projects is reflected in the significant funding that they have received. For example (in US dollars): BRAIN Initiative, 4.5–6 billion; Human Brain Project, 1.4 billion; Brain/MINDS Japan, \$350 million. The China Brain Project is also expected to receive significant funding. China's brain research funding is currently 2.1% of GDP, and the goal is to increase this to 2.5%, or the equivalent of \$110 billion.

Although a number of the brain projects include NHP research, the China Brain Project and Brain/MINDS have a particular emphasis on this type of research.

In our opinion, given the rich resources of NHPs in China, the China Brain Project should include a substantial NHP component on the mesoscopic circuit analysis of the macaque brain, in parallel with other programs that focus on non-primate animal models... In line with the main focus of Japan's Brain/MIND project on marmosets, the China Brain Project could make a significant contribution in studying cognition in macaque monkeys. (p. 592 in [25])

The planned expansion of NHP research in Asia and the development of an "Asia Brain Initiative" is in contrast to the declining amount of NHP research in the USA and EU. This decline is due, in part, to the tightening of regulations governing NHP research in the USA and EU.

14.3 Regulations Concerning Animal Welfare and the Use of NHPs

At the federal level, animal research in the USA is regulated by the Animal Welfare Act, known as the "Blue Book" [31], and the Public Health Safety (PHS) Act [32]. The AWA sets "general standards for the humane care and treatment" of animals that are bought and sold, transported, exhibited, or used in research. The AWA requires that a research facility that has an animal program appoint an Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) to assess the animal program and its facilities, procedures, and personnel training [31]. In regard to what qualifies as appropriate care and treatment, the AWA requires the following: research activities do not duplicate prior studies and are scientifically valid; procedures will avoid or minimize pain, distress, and discomfort to the animals and... less painful measures are not available; appropriate sedatives and analgesics will be used unless their withholding is justified for scientific reasons; a veterinarian will be involved in the activities planning; animals that experience severe chronic pain or distress that cannot be relieved will be painlessly euthanized; the living conditions will be appropriate for their species; and that the housing, feeding, and nonmedical care of the animals will be directed by personnel trained and experienced in the proper care and handling of the species being studied [31]. In addition, paragraph 3.81 of Subpart D requires that

Dealers, exhibitors, and research facilities must develop, document, and follow an appropriate plan for environment enhancement adequate to promote the psychological well-being of nonhuman primates. (p. 175 in [31])

In 2016, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) convened a workshop on "Ensuring the Continued Oversight of Research with Nonhuman Primates." The stated goal of the workshop was to determine whether the NIH "continues to have robust policies and practices for supporting both cutting edge science and the highest ethical standards of animal care and use" [9, p. 2]. The workshop's summary conclusion stated that, "The NIH remains confident that the oversight framework for the use of nonhuman primates in research is robust and has provided sufficient protections to date" [9, p. 4]. The NIH has effectively retired the remaining chimpanzees they had maintained for biomedical research. This decision followed a recommendation by an expert panel convened by the Institute of Medicine that concluded that "most current use of chimpanzees for biomedical research is unnecessary" (pp. 66–67 in [33]).

Animal research in the EU is governed by the directive "On the Protection of Animals Used for Scientific Purposes" [34]. In regard to NHPs, the directive states

[T]he use of nonhuman primates should be permitted only in those biomedical areas essential for the benefit of human beings, for which no other alternative replacement methods are yet available. Their use should be permitted only for basic research, the preservation of the respective nonhuman primate species or when the work, including xenotransplantation, is carried out in relation to potentially life-threatening conditions in humans or in relation to cases having a substantial impact on a person's day-to-day functioning, i.e. debilitating conditions. (par. 17 in [34])

The use of great apes is further restricted by the directive to research aimed at the preservation of those species or related to life-threatening conditions affecting humans and where no alternative method or animal is available (par. 18 in [34]). According to the latest data, there are currently no great apes used in biomedical research in the EU (p. 31 in [20]). Directive 2010/63/EU also requires EU member states to have regulations and policies regarding the housing and care of animals, research facilities, and the training of personnel.

In China, animal research is governed by a number of regulations at national and local levels. At the national level, the most important regulations are the *Regulations* for Administration of Affairs Concerning Experimental Animals [35] and the Guidelines on the Humane Treatment of Laboratory Animals [36]. The Guidelines promote the 3Rs principles and require each institution to establish a committee to oversee animal care and use [37]. In addition, two upcoming pieces of legislation, the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals Law and Animal Protection Law, have been drafted [38], and the first set of national guidelines on laboratory animal welfare in China is currently in its final draft.

The National Standard will regulate the welfare and ethical review and administration, with respect to the production, transportation as well as the utilization of the laboratory animals, including the technical requirements for the ethics review body, the principles of ethical review, personnel qualification, facilities, responsibilities of the veterinarians, resources, technical procedures, animal care and use, occupational health and safety, transportation, recommended ethical review processes and criteria, and records and documentation. (p. 304 in [37])

Chapter IV, Section IV Article 30 of the draft version of the *Prevention of Cruelty* to Animals Law applies to "Animal Experimentation and the Replacement of Laboratory Animals." The State shall adopt measures to ensure that every unit engaged in experimentation shares international and domestic experimental data, in order to gradually promote replacement [alternative] methods and to reduce the number of unnecessary animal experiments.

In carrying out scientific or other research, different experimental methods should be prepared and preferential selection should be made of the experimental method which uses the smallest number of animals and which causes animals minimal pain, suffering, distress or lasting harm, but which may still provide a valid result. [39]

China's goal to bring its guidelines and regulations in line with international standards has meant, to some degree, a revision in current ethical thinking. The concepts of animal welfare, the 3Rs principles, animal rights, and anti-cruelty are relatively new in China [38], and the debate about welfare and animal rights is a new phenomenon [26]. In their article, Lu and colleagues recommend that, in addition to new policies and guidelines, education on animal welfare should be provided to the general public and that there should be greater participation among those engaged in research in animal welfare science.

As the new regulations and guidelines being developed in China come into effect, it is hoped that there will be consistency such that there is a specific and uniform set of guidelines and regulations that clearly describe the conditions according to which NHP research can be ethically justified. In the absence of such uniformity, there is concern that NHP research may increasingly occur in those countries whose regulations are less strict.

It is recognised that tightening of the existing strict EU regulations for NHP use may lead NHP research to transfer to other countries to the detriment of animal welfare. This can be avoided by international cooperation that engages as many stakeholders and organisations as possible to promote the international development of high standards for research and animal welfare and animal use. (p. 7 in [20])

A core component of the notion of "responsible research" is that social values as well as the perspectives of a variety of stakeholders should be addressed at all stages of a research program [40]. Furthermore, scientists who are involved in animal research have a "duty to engage" with the public and policy makers, "to explain their research and its importance and by addressing moral concerns and objections" (p. 653 in [41]). In one sense, the "internationalization" of NHP research makes this obligation more difficult for it is likely that there will be a more diverse range of social values and stakeholder perspectives. However, it is of paramount importance for the success of the brain projects that not only do scientists fulfill their "duty to engage" but also convince the public that animal research oversight is sufficiently rigorous (p. 950 in [42]).

14.4 The Justification of Nonhuman Primate Research

Although invasive chimpanzee research in the USA has largely been discontinued, the use of other NHPs in research continues. Furthermore, although the EU has considered a total ban on NHP research, the SCHEER report concluded that NHP research was justified and should continue "in those biomedical areas essential for the benefit of human beings for which no other alternative replacement methods are available" (p. 7 in [20]). As mentioned previously, a broad distinction can be drawn between "basic" (or "fundamental") research that seeks to understand the brain's structure and functions and "applied" research that is directed toward the potential treatment of diseases and disorders. If we apply the conclusion from the SCHEER report stated above, in order to justify basic neuroscience research with NHPs, we would need to defend the view that this type of research is "essential for the benefit of human beings."

According to a broadly accepted moral framework, research that causes harm to a research subject (human or animal) is justified only if the harm is outweighed by the potential benefit. This condition applies across the spectrum encompassing both minimal risk and greater than minimal risk research. It is important to note, however, that the benefit can be an increase in knowledge and understanding, rather than any direct or indirect welfare benefit. For example, consider the US regulations governing research with children [43]. These regulations state that research with children involving greater than minimal risk may be justified only if it presents the prospect of direct benefit to the subjects. Research with no prospect of direct benefit for the subject must involve no more than a minor increase over minimal risk (§46.406) and must be likely to yield generalizable knowledge about the subject's condition. Research that does not meet these conditions may still sometimes be approved if it presents an opportunity to understand, prevent, or alleviate a serious problem affecting the health and welfare of children (p. 407 in [43]). Accordingly, a research study involving greater than minimal risk that sought (merely) to understand the causes of childhood leukemia, but provided no direct benefit to the subjects or other children suffering from the disease, would be justified (other things being equal) if it provided generalizable knowledge about the subjects' condition or increased our understanding of leukemia.

If the above analysis is correct, then this suggests that non-beneficial, greater than minimal risk research can be justified if it leads to increased knowledge and understanding about the subjects' condition or their health and welfare more generally. This justification has two elements: first, the research must "relate" to the subject class, and second, the research must pertain to health and welfare. Accordingly, a study that proposed to conduct research on children for a condition that only affected adults would be judged to be morally unacceptable, as would a greater than minimal risk study on children that investigated their music preferences. The first of these elements is relevant to the validity of the research, for to say that the research must relate to the subject group is to say that the subject group may be included in a study only if their use is required by the nature of the research and the hypothesis to be tested. The second of these elements limits the focus of the research to a serious health matter affecting members of the subject class.

According to the SCHEER conclusion above, NHP research is justified if "no other alternative replacement methods are available." In one sense, the availability of alternative methods is the very point of contention between supporters and opponents of NHP research. For example, consider the use of NHPs in the development of brain-computer interface (BCI) technology. If one grants that (a) the similarities between human and NHP brain function and anatomy make NHPs appropriate subjects, (b) the cognitive capacities of NHPs and their ability to learn complex tasks make them uniquely qualified to be research subjects (apart from human subjects), and (c) it is unethical to use human subjects, then we are faced with the choice of either substantially revising or not conducting the research, or using NHPs as subjects. If one holds the view, broadly speaking, that NHP research is unethical, then the only choice available is not to conduct the research. In contrast, if one supports NHP research, then, given no available alternative, using NHPs is permissible.

For the sake of argument, let us grant that NHPs are scientifically appropriate subjects for BCI research due to the similarities between human and NHP brain anatomy and function. In other words, the research appropriately relates to the subject class—the first of the two elements mentioned above. The second of these elements limits the research to a serious health condition affecting members of the subject class. According to a prior conclusion, a research study involving greater than minimal risk that sought to understand the causes of childhood leukemia would be justified if it provided generalizable knowledge, even if the study provided no direct benefit to children. The argument is that the research is justified because it is *scientifically valid* and the benefits, although indirect, outweigh the harms. If this is correct, then we should draw a similar conclusion in the BCI case: in both cases, we have invasive research that offers the subjects no direct benefit but is justified on the grounds that it provides generalizable knowledge about a serious health condition.

It might be objected that there is an important difference between the cases, for whereas in the BCI case, NHPs are appropriate research subjects only because it is unethical to use human subjects, no such parallel constraint exists in the leukemia case. To put the point differently, we might say that whereas the involvement of children appeals to the notion of scientific necessity, the involvement of NHPs appeals, at least in part, to the notion of moral necessity. Since the very point of dispute is whether NHP research is morally necessary, this notion cannot be taken for granted. We must ask, then, whether it would be ethical to conduct invasive research involving NHPs if this research appropriately relates to NHPs and provides generalizable knowledge regarding a serious health condition that affects both NHPs and humans. On the basis of the above, we can answer that the research is morally defensible if it is scientifically valid and benefits the class to which the subjects belong—the same conclusion that we drew in the leukemia case. If this is correct, then it is not the case that we can justify NHP research only by appealing to the notion of moral necessity. The above conclusion prompts important questions, of course, regarding the comparative moral status of NHPs and humans and, in particular, whether greater justification is required for research involving one rather than the other. As the SCHEER statement and other international regulations attest, NHPs are thought to be appropriate research subjects precisely because of their purported inferior *moral* status to humans. That is to say, implicit in these regulations is the appeal to moral necessity. The conclusion drawn in this paragraph is that within this framework, classifying NHPs as vulnerable subjects does not mean that invasive research is impermissible.

On the basis of the above, non-beneficial research with NHPs that involves greater than minimal risk would be justified if the research is valid and increases knowledge and understanding about a serious health condition that affects both NHPs and humans. On this basis, research involving NHPs that increases knowledge and understanding about a serious health condition affecting *only* humans would be impermissible, for in this context, it can be argued that the research does not relate to the subject class. It is also important to point out that if the research produced an intervention that could benefit the subject class, then all members of the class should, in principle, be beneficiaries.

An important question to ask is whether basic neuroscience research would meet these conditions. The answer to this question would be a matter of considerable discussion and debate as to how we should interpret the notions of "about" and "generalizable knowledge." If we take the view that research should offer direct benefit to subjects, then it would seem clear that basic neuroscience research would be impermissible; if the leukemia case above is an appropriate example, however, then we have reason to claim that current regulations adopt a more permissive line that requires direct or indirect benefit. If it can plausibly be claimed that an increased understanding of brain function is likely to provide greater understanding and generalizable knowledge about a condition that affects both humans and NHPs, then such research involving NHPs would be morally permissible, even if the research was invasive.

The argument has been made that the conditions for ethically justifiable NHP research should parallel the regulations governing research involving children [14, 44, 45]. A core component of this argument is the claim that, like children, NHPs should be regarded as "vulnerable" research subjects and hence accorded special protections. This claim is based on the strong neurological and behavioral evidence that NHPs are intelligent and social animals, that they can experience physical pain, and that restrictive confinement and isolation causes significant distress. Moreover, a conservative (i.e., stricter set of conditions) is recommended on account of the fact that the harm is intentionally caused, the difficulties in balancing harms and benefits, and the uncertainty regarding the moral status of NHPs. This conservative position endorses the view that all research that is greater than minimal risk should be prohibited [14].

As the regulations above reveal, research with children that involves greater than minimal risk is justified under certain conditions. If we adopt a policy according to which invasive research with NHPs is never morally permissible, the policy pertaining to NHPs is, therefore, stricter than the policy pertaining to invasive research with children (assuming that some types of research that involve greater
than minimal risk are invasive). It could be objected that research with children has to relate to a serious condition affecting the health and welfare of children, and so the research has to have the prospect of benefiting children; however, as we see above, although the research must relate to a serious health condition and be valid, the benefit can be understood in terms of increased knowledge and understanding. Accordingly, if policies regarding children and NHPs are to be consistent, invasive research with NHPs is sometimes justified.

One argument that could be presented for adopting different policies regarding NHPs and children pertains to proxy consent. In the case of research with children, decisions can be made on the children's behalf and in their best interests by a competent adult serving as a proxy decision-maker. Challenges in determining the preferences and interests of NHPs make this strategy more problematic in regard to NHPs [14]. However, it has been argued that these challenges can be overcome and that we should adopt a similar policy with NHPs [46]. In any case, unless we believe that it would never be justified for a proxy to consent to research involving children that is greater than minimal risk, the presence (or absence) of a proxy is not determinative of the level of invasiveness permitted (even if we grant the value of the proxy's gate-keeping role). Hence, the absence of a proxy in the case of NHP research does not adequately explain why the conservative position should be adopted.

A somewhat more moderate position has been recently defended that proposes "several necessary conditions for morally responsible—that is, morally justified or permissible—animal research" (p. 420 in [17]). The three conditions proposed are as follows: the assertion (or expectation) of sufficient net benefit, the worthwhile-life condition, and the no-unnecessary-harm condition [17]. The first of these conditions requires that there be good evidence from previous studies and potential future research to suggest that the present study will provide important net benefit to humans. The second condition asserts that the lives of animals used in research must be "worth living." In order for a life to be worth living, the harms imposed "are never so great as to reduce their quality of life to a point at which it would be a kindness to kill them humanely; if it would be a kindness to kill them humanely at any point, that would entail that the lives were at that point not worth continuing" (p. 423 in [17]). The third condition requires that any harm that is caused to an animal must be necessary, that is to say, is strictly required to carry out the study in a scientifically valid way [17].

The authors claim that if the conditions are accepted as necessary, there will be surprising implications for animal research. For it is claimed that the conditions are "demanding" and impose a higher standard of justification than is currently required. In particular, the conditions require that researchers should not deprive animals of their "basic needs"—food, water and shelter, competent veterinary care, access to conspecifics, and freedom from conditions that cause serious harm, avoidable harm, and premature death [17].

Unfortunately, it is not clear that the proposed conditions do impose a stricter set of conditions than currently exist. For example, consider a hypothetical memory study in which lesions are made to the macaque hippocampus. Furthermore, for the sake of argument, let us suppose that the regulations in place require that there be evidence that the research will provide important net benefits, that any harms caused must be necessary (as determined by scientific validity), and that the care and welfare of the animal is appropriately protected. The supposed demandingness of the proposed conditions is based on the requirement that researchers should ensure that the animals are provided with food, water and shelter, competent veterinary care, access to conspecifics, and freedom from conditions that cause serious harm, avoidable harm, and premature death [17]. However, the researchers grant that "we can easily imagine cases in which certain harms, including the deprivation of basic needs, *are* essential to the scientific rationale of the experiment—and therefore are necessary in the relevant sense" [17, p. 426]. The problem here is that if the necessity of harm is defined in terms of scientific validity, and there may be scientifically valid reasons to deprive the animal of basic needs, then it is not clear that the proposed necessary conditions impose greater restrictions on NHP research than are currently required.

In order to resolve this problem and provide more demanding protections to NHPs, we need to move away from justifying harms in terms of scientific validity. Current regulations permit substantial hardship to be imposed on an animal if it is required by the nature of the research, and there are no alternative models, and appropriate steps have been taken to minimize the hardship. The challenge we face is that research which by its nature and design is highly invasive, and which cannot be undertaken using an alternative model due to the particular aspect of brain function being studied, will meet the relevant conditions as long as the appropriate steps to minimize harm are taken. The hypothetical memory study in which lesions are made to the macaque hippocampus mentioned above would, in principle, be ethically justified, therefore, if it meets the conditions of scientific validity. If our goal is to protect the welfare of NHPs to a significant degree, defining "necessary harm" in terms of scientific validity will likely fail to achieve this goal, for it may be necessary by the nature and design of the experiment to cause significant hardship to the animal and to deprive it of its basic needs.

14.5 A Threshold Standard for NHP Research

We have previously considered the view that NHPs should be viewed as vulnerable subjects and accorded special protections, and, therefore, only research that is equal to or less than minimal risk is permissible. This view was criticized on the grounds that it would accord greater protection to NHPs than to children. A variation of this position is to view NHPs as vulnerable subjects and to apply the same conditions as are applied to research involving children: invasive research on NHPs is justified if it relates to a serious health condition that affects both NHPs and humans.

For the sake of argument, let us grant that basic NHP neuroscience research meets the above condition in some cases. If we return to the current US regulations pertaining to research with children, these regulations do not specifically describe the "maximal" degree of risk that is permitted; nevertheless, it is clear that an upper threshold implicitly applies. We can assume, for example, that a well-designed study that sought to prevent a serious health condition affecting children, but which imposed a substantial risk of permanent and severe harm to subjects, would not be approved. This suggests that there is a limit to the degree of invasiveness permitted, no matter how potentially beneficial or valid the research. If we adopted a similar approach with NHP research, this would mean that research that involves greater than minimal risk and is invasive is justified only if (a) the level of harm and deprivation that the NHP endures as a direct result of participation in the study does not exceed a certain threshold and (b) the other conditions for the responsible conduct of research are met.

This conclusion obviously prompts the question as to where to set the threshold. If the threshold is set at the level of severe and permanent harm, then it seems likely that the adoption of a threshold standard would have a significant impact on NHP research and the brain projects. For example, if the threshold is set at a level that prohibits severe and permanent harm, then lesion studies, or studies that have euthanasia as the endpoint, would be prohibited. Alternatively, if a lower standard is adopted that permits invasive research only if the interventions are temporary, appropriate measures have been taken to reduce pain and suffering, and the longer-term welfare of the animal is a matter of primary concern, then BCI research which implanted temporary devices into NHP brains could be justified.

There are a number of merits to the threshold approach. First, this approach is more consistent with the approach adopted toward children. In this regard, NHPs can be regarded as vulnerable subjects and accorded special protections. This means that invasive research is permitted only if the research relates to the subject class, concerns a serious health matter, and produces direct or indirect benefit. Second, and perhaps most importantly, a core component of the sentiment and argument against the use of NHPs-and other animals-in research is that the research is frequently harmful to the animal. On a broadly held moral view, pain and suffering are intrinsically harmful, and we are morally obliged, as best we can, to avoid causing harm. Unlike the more traditional harm-benefit viewpoint, a threshold approach makes harm the most important factor in determining whether research is morally justified. In simple terms, a threshold approach prohibits research above the threshold, regardless of its potential benefit. Third, this approach does not differentiate between basic and applied research. Basic neuroscience research with NHPs would be justified if it is valid, it meets the other conditions for ethical research, and any harm and distress caused to the NHP falls below the threshold. Fourth, this approach encourages the development of research interventions that are less invasive while also supporting the goals of the brain projects.

There are also a number of objections. First, it can be objected on epistemic grounds that we do not have a good way of determining the nature and quality of another's experiences, particularly when this "other" is a different type of animal. Accordingly, we do not have a clear idea of the degree of pain and distress that is being caused to the animal. In response, it can be argued that there is reliable neurological and behavioral evidence for us to conclude that NHPs experience pain in similar ways to humans [47–49]. This is not to deny that there are important

epistemic challenges in determining the psychological states of NHPs, but from this, it does not follow that such states are necessarily opaque.

Second, it can be objected that the threshold approach is essentially no different from the view of DeGrazia and Sebo discussed previously which proposed a set of three necessary conditions. To recall, one of these conditions is that the "basic needs" of the animal should be respected. If the "basic needs" are understood in terms of freedom from severe and permanent harm, then in respecting the basic needs of the animal, we would thereby be meeting the threshold standard. However, although both views could, in principle, end up dividing permissible and impermissible research along the same lines, there is an important difference between the two approaches. One of the conditions in the earlier view is that any harm caused must be *necessary*, and a sufficient condition for a harm being necessary is that it is required for reasons of scientific validity. The threshold approach rejects this sufficiency condition: research that imposes upon the animal hardship greater than the threshold is impermissible, even if the harm is required and thereby justified for reasons of scientific validity.

14.6 Conclusion

This chapter has proposed a threshold standard as a way to balance the need to protect animal welfare while encouraging scientific research. On a very simple analysis, we protect an individual (animal or human) from harm if we limit the amount of harm to which the individual can be subjected. If our goal is to protect the welfare of NHPs while also encouraging the goals of the major brain projects, then a threshold standard may be the most straightforward approach to take.

The establishment of the major brain projects with their substantial funding heralds an exciting period for neuroscience research. By the end of the projects' lifetimes, we may have a much clearer idea of the neural processes that underlie cognition and consciousness, and we may have discovered effective therapies for Alzheimer's disease and spinal cord injury, for example. It is plausible to claim that the use of sentient animals in scientific research is one of the most controversial aspects of scientific practice, even if we believe that this practice is both justified and necessary. As described above, a number of the major brain projects include a significant amount of NHP research, in particular, the China Brain Project and Brain/MINDS Japan. In order for the projects to gain broad public and international support and to succeed as part of a "global brain initiative," it is important that national and international regulations provide a common level of protection for the NHPs used in research and a level of protection for NHPs that adequately protects their welfare.

References

- 1. Gray T. A brief history of animals in space. National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 1998. https://history.nasa.gov/animals.html. Accessed 17 Aug 2018.
- BRAIN 2025: a scientific vision. National Institutes of Health. 2014. https://braininitiative.nih. gov/sites/default/files/pdfs/brain2025_508c.pdf
- Bailey J, Taylor K. Nonhuman primates in neuroscience research: the case against its scientific necessity. ATLA. 2016;44:43–69.
- International guiding principles for biomedical research involving animals. Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences. 2012. https://grants.nih.gov/grants/olaw/Guiding_ Principles_2012.pdf. Accessed 17 Aug 2018.
- Friedman H, Ator N, Haigwood N, Newsome W, Allen J, Golos T, Kordower J, et al. The critical role of nonhuman primates in medical research. Pathog Immun. 2017;2(3):352–65.
- 6. Roelfsema PR, Treue S. Basic neuroscience research with nonhuman primates: a small but indispensable component of biomedical research. Neuron. 2014;82:1200–4.
- 7. Capitanio JP, Emborg ME. Contributions of nonhuman primates to neuroscience research. Lancet. 2008;371:1126–35.
- Letter concerning the "Environmental protection and biodiversity conservation amendments to the Prohibition of live imports of primates for research bill 2015". The Expert Group for Nonhuman Primate Neuroscience Research in the UK. 2016.
- 9. NIH workshop on ensuring the continued responsible oversight of research with nonhuman primates. National Institutes of Health. 2016. https://osp.od.nih.gov/wp-content/uploads/NHP_NIH_Workshop_Report_01_18_2017.pdf
- Swiss Primate Competence Center for Research (SPCCR). The importance of nonhuman primate research in neuroscience. 2015. http://www.unifr.ch/spccr/assets/files/spccrpdf/spccrebook-web-adjacent-government-2015.pdf. Accessed 17 Aug 2018.
- 11. Russell WM, Burch RL, Hume CW. The principles of humane experimental technique. London: Methuen; 1959.
- 12. National Centre for the Replacement, Refinement and Reduction of Animals in Research. https://nc3rs.org.uk/. Accessed 17 Aug 2018.
- Institute of Medicine (US) Forum on Neuroscience and Nervous System Disorders. Improving the utility and translation of animal models for nervous system disorders: workshop summary. National Academies Press (US). 2013.
- 14. Ferdowsian H, Fuentes A. Harms and deprivation of benefits for nonhuman primates in research. Theor Med Bioeth. 2014;35:143–56.
- Barnhill A, Joffe S, Miller FG. The ethics of infection challenges in primates. Hast Cent Rep. 2016;46(4):20–6.
- 16. Rollin BE. The moral status of invasive animal research. Hastings Cent Rep. 2012;42(S1):S4-6.
- 17. DeGrazia D, Sebo J. Necessary conditions for morally responsible animal research. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2015;24:420–30.
- Andrews K, Comstock G, Crozier GKD, Donaldson S, Fenton A, John TM, Johnson LSM, et al. Proposed brief by amici curiae philosophers in support of the petitioner-appellant. In Re: Nonhuman Rights Project, On Behalf of Tommy. Court of Appeals State of New York. 2018.
- 19. Arnason G, Clausen J. On balance: weighing harms and benefits in fundamental neurological research using nonhuman primates. Med Health Care Philos. 2016;19:229–37.
- 20. SCHEER (Scientific Committee on Health, Environmental and Emerging Risks). Final opinion on 'The need for non-human primates in biomedical research, production and testing of products and devices (update 2017)'. European Commission. 2017.
- Phillips KA, Bales KL, Capitanio JP, Conley A, Czoty PW, 't Hart BA, Hopkins WD, et al. Why primate models matter. Am J Primatol. 2014;76(9):801–27.
- 22. Carmena JM, Lebedev MA, Crist RE, O'Doherty JE, Santucci DM, Dimitrov DF, Patil PG, et al. Learning to control a brain–machine interface for reaching and grasping by primates. PLoS Biol. 2003;1(2):e42.

- 23. Annual Report Animal Usage. USDA (United States Department of Agriculture). 2016.
- 24. Zhang XL, Wei PA, Xin-Tian HU, Jia-Li LI, Yong-Gang YA, Zheng YT. Experimental primates and non-human primate (NHP) models of human diseases in China: current status and progress. Zool Res. 2014;35(6):447.
- Poo MM, Du JL, Ip NY, Xiong ZQ, Xu B, Tan T. China brain project: basic neuroscience, brain diseases, and brain-inspired computing. Neuron. 2016;92(3):591–6.
- 26. Lu J, Bayne K, Wang J. Current status of animal welfare and animal rights in China. Altern Lab Anim. 2013;41(5):351–7.
- 27. Jeong SJ, Lee H, Hur EM, Choe Y, Koo JW, Rah JC, Lee KJ, et al. Korea brain initiative: integration and control of brain functions. Neuron. 2016;92(3):607–11.
- 28. National Institutes of Health: the BRAIN Initiative. https://braininitiative.nih.gov/
- 29. Human Brain Project. https://www.humanbrainproject.eu/en/
- 30. Brain/MINDS Project. https://brainminds.jp/en/
- 31. Animal Welfare Act. 7 U.S.C. §2131 (2017).
- 32. Health Research Extension Act of 1985 (Public Law 99-158). 42 U.S.C. §289d (1985).
- 33. Institute of Medicine and National Research Council. Chimpanzees in biomedical and behavioral research: assessing the necessity. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2011.
- 34. Directive 2010/63/EU on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes. European Parliament and the Council of the European Union. 2010.
- 35. Regulations for the administration of affairs concerning experimental animals. Ministry of Science and Technology. 1988.
- Guidelines on the human treatment of laboratory animals. Ministry of Science and Technology. 2006.
- 37. Ogden BE, Pang W, Agui T, Lee BH. Laboratory animal laws, regulations, guidelines and standards in China mainland, Japan, and Korea. ILAR J. 2017;57(3):301–11.
- Wei S. China animal welfare legislation: current situation and trends. The animal law conference, Lewis and Clark Law School. 2015.
- Prevention of cruelty to animals law of the People's Republic of China (2010). Experts' draft proposal. 2010.
- 40. Garden H, Bowman DM, Haesler S, Winickoff DE. Neurotechnology and society: strengthening responsible innovation in brain science. Neuron. 2016;92(3):642–6.
- Bennett AJ, Ringach DL. Animal research in neuroscience: a duty to engage. Neuron. 2016;92 (3):653–7.
- 42. Blakemore C, Clark JM, Nevalainen T, Oberdorfer M, Sussman A. Implementing the 3Rs in neuroscience research: a reasoned approach. Neuron. 2012;75(6):948–50.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. Protection of human subjects. 45 CFR § 46. Subparts AD. 2012.
- 44. Wendler D. Should protections for research with humans who cannot consent apply to research with nonhuman primates? Theor Med Bioeth. 2014;35(2):157–73.
- Johnson J, Barnard ND. Chimpanzees as vulnerable subjects in research. Theor Med Bioeth. 2014;35(2):133–41.
- 46. Fenton A. Can a chimp say "no"? Reenvisioning chimpanzee dissent in harmful research. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2014;23(2):130–9.
- 47. Dawkins MS. The scientific basis for assessing suffering in animals. In: Singer P, editor. In defense of animals: the second wave. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing; 2006. p. 26–40.
- 48. National Research Council. Recognition and alleviation of pain in laboratory animals. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2009.
- 49. Shriver A. Minding mammals. Philos Psychol. 2006;19(4):433-42.



15

The Right to Bodily Sovereignty and Its Importance to Mental and Physical Well-Being

Hope Ferdowsian

Abstract

Within the field of human research, respect for bodily liberty and integrity (summarily, bodily sovereignty) has arguably driven the creation and enforcement of relevant rules and regulations. These concepts are reflected in documents such as the Belmont Report, which emphasizes respect for autonomy and specific protections for individuals with compromised autonomous decision-making capacities. However, little to no attention is given to respect for the bodily sovereignty of nonhuman animals in research or other areas of society, despite its importance in determining health and well-being.

Today, scientific advancements support a nuanced view of autonomy and vulnerability in human and nonhuman animals. Both groups contain individuals with varying gradations of independent decision-making skills. However, regardless of the kind and degree of intelligence, neurological and other studies show that freedom from bodily trespasses and freedom of choice are critical to health and well-being in people and other animals. Rules and regulations governing the protection of nonhuman animals should be updated to reflect these scientific developments.

Keywords

Animal research · Autonomy · Vulnerability · Bodily liberty · Bodily integrity · Sovereignty

H. Ferdowsian (🖂)

University of New Mexico School of Medicine, Albuquerque, NM, USA

Phoenix Zones Initiative, Albuquerque, NM, USA e-mail: hferdowsian@salud.unm.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_15

15.1 Introduction

The treatment of nonhuman animals in society is morally problematic. Ethical problems with the use of animals in research, food and clothing production, entertainment, and other areas of society have been well described in ancient and modern texts.¹ As some philosophers, ethicists, advocates, and practitioners have argued, since human research is guided by clear ethical principles, comparing animal experimentation with human research offers a particular opportunity to explore the ethics of how humans treat other animals [6-8]. Ethical principles that guide human research revolve around key concepts including respect for autonomy and special protections for vulnerable populations, as underscored in the Belmont Report (1978), Declaration of Helsinki (1964), and the Nuremberg Code (1947) [9-11]. Underlying these concepts and their applications are two related principles that are also reflected throughout human rights law: respect for bodily liberty and respect for bodily integrity (summarily, respect for bodily sovereignty). Though it is rarely articulated as such, respect for bodily sovereignty has influenced the creation and enforcement of principles such as respect for autonomy, special protections for those with diminished autonomy, and related rules and regulations within human research.

Here, I describe a broad conceptual understanding of bodily sovereignty and some of its philosophical, legal, and practical applications within society. Then, I discuss how human research guidelines and corresponding policies reflect respect for bodily sovereignty, whereas animal research guidelines are inattentive to bodily sovereignty. Finally, I conclude with a discussion of why respect for bodily sovereignty should guide decisions about the treatment of animals, whether those decisions relate to research or other areas of society.

15.2 Bodily Sovereignty as a Philosophical, Legal, and Practical Construct

The meaning of sovereignty has varied little throughout history. Fundamentally, it indicates *supreme* and *absolute* authority within a territory [12].² As a political and practical construct, sovereignty has frequently been understood through the development of sovereign nation states. In relatively recent history, international legal doctrines have also incorporated the notion of sovereignty to protect and promote human rights [13].

Just as a nation state is demarcated spatially, so is the body. And just as a state must be shielded from invasion, so should the body. According to international law,

¹See, for example, [1–4], among many others. For a brief overview of ancient arguments related to the use of animals in experimentation, see [5].

²Authority indicates the right to command and be obeyed, not necessarily power. See, for example, [12].

one has an inviolable right to be protected from harmful contact on one's body without consent or adequate justification [13].

There are ethical and legal tensions between concepts such as national sovereignty³ and bodily sovereignty, and they are not morally or legally equivalent concepts. Even when there are risks to the sovereignty of the state, the body is typically protected from violations such as torture [14]. As with national sovereignty, bodily sovereignty also generally implies that one is free to do with their body as they wish, without infringing on another's bodily sovereignty. Sovereignty over one's own body therefore comprises two main ideas: the right to bodily integrity and the right to bodily liberty. Together, these concepts indicate selfownership and the right to be the sole controller of one's body or life. Bodily integrity represents the integration of the body; that is, the right to keep one's body whole and intact without interference, manipulation, or touching, absent consent. Bodily liberty signifies freedom of movement and the freedom to make choices about one's body, in accordance with one's capacities, if one's choices also generally respect the sovereignty of others. Of these two ideas, bodily integrity is perhaps the most guarded. Even when infringements on bodily liberty are justified through the legal system (e.g., in cases of legal incarceration), rarely is unwanted touch (e.g., medical or surgical intervention or a similar incursion) permitted within societies that uphold principles such as basic liberties. Though sometimes referred to as bodily autonomy, the right to bodily sovereignty depends less on mental characteristics, compared with traditional notions of autonomy. Bodily sovereignty implies that the brain, or mind,⁴ is an integral part of the body's territory, rather than distinct from, or superior to, the remainder of the body.

As a civil principle, bodily sovereignty has been conceptualized in terms of negative and positive rights [15, 16]. Among activists, bodily sovereignty is often invoked as a "negative right" against sexual violence, unlawful imprisonment, cruel or degrading punishment, or torture, or in promotion of reproductive rights. More recently, activists and scholars have employed the "positive right" to bodily sovereignty to promote universal access to healthcare, safe housing, clean air and water, and other social determinants of health [17, 18].

Within the law, bodily sovereignty is encompassed by the legal concept habeas corpus, from the Latin meaning "you shall have the body." Historically, it has been used as a way to test the lawfulness of imprisonment and to end the legality of exploitations such as human slavery and child abuse [19, 20].⁵ More recently, lawyers, activists, and philosophers have argued that some nonhuman animals

³National sovereignty typically includes safety from invasion or attack.

⁴The brain and mind are related concepts. Distinctions between the brain and mind are perhaps less important in discussions about bodily sovereignty, compared with discussions about autonomy. Nonetheless, both are self-limited concepts related to the liberty and integrity of the body.

⁵For example, in *Somerset v. Stewart* (1772), the Lord Chief Justice of England and Wales granted the writ of habeas corpus to an enslaved human [20]. In 1874, Elbridge Gerry successfully argued that a child named Mary Ellen had a right to habeas corpus and protection from confinement and abuse [19].

should also be granted a writ of habeas corpus, according to common law [21].⁶ Internationally, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which was ratified by the United Nations in 1948 following the Nuremberg Trial and the Tokyo War Crimes Trials, also upholds the right to bodily sovereignty [13]. The ideas encompassed in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights have since been codified and incorporated into international and national laws in many countries, and they now form the basis of human rights policies across nations. Additionally, other global frameworks such as the International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights and The Convention on the Rights of the Child⁷ expand upon the importance of "positive rights" related to bodily sovereignty, such as access to social determinants of health, in addition to "negative rights," such as protections from torture, enslavement, and confinement [22].

The right to bodily sovereignty is revered in different parts of the globe. For example, the concept is reflected in so-called "Western" literature [12], "Eastern" literature [23], and writings by authors who identify as Indigenous persons [24–26].⁸ However, unlike mainstream modern European and American contexts, "Eastern" and Indigenous frameworks for bodily sovereignty are less likely to stress total independence or separation from others. Within "non-Western" contexts, connection, unity, harmony, and the notion of the cohesive individual influence bodily sovereignty. Subjective experiences are generally viewed as integrative proficiencies that influence the health, well-being, and nature of the whole [23–26]. Nonetheless, within these frameworks, interconnectedness does not equate with disrespect for bodily sovereignty. In other words, bodily sovereignty and integration with the objective world can coexist.

Arguably, respect for bodily sovereignty is a timeless, ubiquitous notion distinguishable from community-specific norms or cultural or religious ideas—likely because it represents a biological imperative that is critical to health and wellbeing. When viewed as a biological need, it is perhaps unsurprising that respect for bodily sovereignty has influenced the creation of guidelines governing the treatment of human beings in society, including in disciplines such as research.

⁶Currently, legal arguments toward granting a writ of habeas corpus to nonhuman animals are focused on the members of species for whom there is robust scientific evidence of self-awareness and autonomy, though these qualities may not be necessary for granting a writ of habeas corpus. See, for example, [21].

⁷Notably, neither of these conventions has yet been ratified by the United States.

⁸Within Indigenous communities, the notion of sovereignty has emerged as a critical concept during decolonization. Nonetheless, it was initially difficult for Indigenous peoples to assert this right because of their communities' legal designations until perhaps the United Nations Declaration on Indigenous Peoples came into force [24–26].

15.3 Respect for Bodily Sovereignty as Reflected in Human Research Guidelines

Today, respect for bodily liberty and integrity is reflected throughout the US federal and international frameworks governing human research. These ideas are evident in documents like the Belmont Report.

Soon after the middle of the twentieth century, concerns about human research practices in the United States led to significant developments, including the Belmont Report, authored by the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1978) [9]. These guidelines and subsequent regulations were chiefly formed in response to efforts to deceive, manipulate, or force human beings to participate in research that threatened or violated their bodily sovereignty, health, and well-being [9, 27, 28]. Prior to the 1970s, there was a relatively weak basis for a commitment to principles in the practice of biomedical ethics, but, soon after, established principles such as respect for autonomy, nonmaleficence, beneficence, and justice began to appear in biomedical ethics applications [9, 29]. These principles now serve as a basis for applications such as informed consent and distinct considerations for those who cannot provide informed consent.

Together, principles like respect for autonomy and duties to nonmaleficence, as well as protections for vulnerable individuals and populations, reflect a sincere reverence for bodily sovereignty. Respect for autonomy acknowledges the importance of choice or bodily liberty. Similarly, obligations to nonmaleficence, as well as specific protections for those who may not be able to protect themselves from bodily harm, emphasize the fundamental right to bodily integrity. Nevertheless, in the practice of human research, respect for bodily sovereignty has been diminished. A weakened respect for bodily sovereignty is particularly notable in the practical codification and applications of principles like respect for autonomy.

It is generally acknowledged that respect for autonomy is one of the most essential principles in medical ethics [30]. The modern notion of autonomy stems from various conceptions of rationalism and empiricism.⁹ Like bodily sovereignty, autonomy implies self-rule. Autonomy can refer to the capacity to govern oneself, the actual condition of self-government, an *"ideal of character* derived from that conception," or the sovereign and absolute authority to govern oneself [34, p. 447].

The idea of autonomy is also tied to ideas about personhood, in that, with autonomy, one should have the opportunity to realize one's potential, or one's *telos* [30].¹⁰ In order to exercise autonomy, one must be truly free of external influences, though what may constitute an external influence remains a matter of

⁹Many different accounts of autonomy have been offered. Notably, these include accounts based on rationalism (e.g., Immanuel Kant's arguments) and empiricism (e.g., John Stuart Mill's arguments). Also see [31–33].

¹⁰In the case of a human or animal being, the word *telos* is typically defined as their purpose, goal, or final end. One's *telos* can only be fulfilled if they have access to the needs required not only to survive but also to thrive or flourish. See, for example, [35-37].

dispute [30]. Who qualifies as an autonomous individual has also been subject to debate. Such determinations often depend on the known presence of qualitative capacities such as rationality as well as somewhat arbitrary quantitative thresholds such as age. Discomfort with the notion of autonomy could explain why the Belmont Report lists *respect for persons* as a key tenet, alongside special protections for those who are deemed vulnerable to manipulation.¹¹ Arguably, given the many problems with notions of autonomy and personhood,¹² respect for bodily sovereignty, which encompasses a respect for choice as well as the intactness of the body, might have been a more appropriate principle to articulate the intent of the National Commission.

Within human research, the ambiguous nature of autonomy plays out in questions about who can or cannot provide informed consent, assent, or dissent [33, 41–44]. Regulatory answers to these questions remain problematic. US federal and international human research guidelines attempt to prevent severe violations of bodily sovereignty through designated protections for vulnerable populations, the Common Rule,¹³ and other regulatory hurdles. However, these guidelines continue to reflect a paternalistic view that can in some instances be harmful to the individual [46]. For example, some adults can make decisions for children or other adults with compromised decision-making capacities in ways that violate their bodily liberty and integrity in the "negative"¹⁴ and "positive"¹⁵ sense.

15.4 Disregard for Bodily Sovereignty Within Animal Research Guidelines

Although the human research environment has its flaws, human participants are nonetheless generally protected from significant violations of bodily sovereignty. That is, an authorized person must make an informed choice before a medical or surgical procedure, or even a behavioral intervention, is undertaken. Requirements for risk-benefit analyses and higher risk thresholds for research involving vulnerable populations also guard against egregious violations of bodily integrity. In contrast, there is little to no regard for bodily sovereignty within the current enterprise of animal experimentation. Consistent with how they are treated in other areas of

¹¹Tom Beauchamp, who drafted the Belmont Report for the National Commission, has speculated that the Commission selected "respect for persons" as its first principle to indicate a level of moral status associated with personhood [38].

¹²There is still no agreed upon list of capacities for personhood favored by modern philosophers. See [39, 40] for further discussion.

¹³Many US federal agencies and private and public institutions have adopted a uniform set of regulations known as the "Common Rule," which offers specific protections for children, incarcerated individuals, and pregnant women and their fetuses. See [45].

¹⁴For example, invasive medical procedures.

¹⁵For example, prohibition from participation in research that might benefit the child or less autonomous adult in one way or another.

society, animals are commonly treated as instrumental objects within the field of research.

In the United States, the Laboratory Animal Welfare Act of 1966 (P.L. 89-544) and its subsequent amendments and the Health Research Extension Act of 1985 (P.L. 99-158) are the principal laws that regulate the use of animals in laboratory research and testing [47].¹⁶ Although the Animal Welfare Act only applies to some species of animals, it is often supplemented by the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, which covers all nonhuman vertebrates [48].

Like the Animal Welfare Act and the Guide, policies published by the United States Public Health Service and other federal and international institutions provide relevant regulatory guidance but have generally avoided the establishment of principles recognized within biomedical ethics.¹⁷ The majority of international and national standards operate on conjecture that animal research should proceed based on possible, perceived benefits to humans [50, 51]. For example, International Guiding Principles for Biomedical Research Involving Animals, first published in 1985 and updated in 2012 by the Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences and the International Council for Laboratory Animal Science, assert that animals play a "vital," though involuntary, "role" in scientific activities which could lead to developments in knowledge that affect the health of some humans and animals [52].¹⁸ Like other guidelines, the International Guiding Principles emphasize the "Three Rs." These standards, initially published in The Principles of Humane Experimental Technique by William Russell and Rex Burch in 1959, ask researchers and oversight bodies to replace the use of some animals with non-animal alternatives or animals from a species considered less sentient, quantitatively reduce the number of animals used in experiments, and attempt to refine experiments to limit the pain and distress to which animals will be exposed [54].¹⁹ While the "Three Rs" may reduce some suffering and the number of animals used in research,²⁰ this framework does not address fundamental moral issues, including respect for bodily

¹⁶Since 2002, the Animal Welfare Act has firmly excluded birds, rats, and mice used in research, as well as farmed animals [47].

¹⁷Perhaps the closest attempt to generate an ethical foundation for animal research is the Sundowner Report, which delineates principles to guide the use of animals by the National Aeronautics and Space Administration [49]. This brief report outlines three principles: respect for life, societal benefit, and nonmaleficence. While the report captures noteworthy ethical principles, it focuses primarily on stewardship and perceived advancements within the scientific community and human society. Like other guidelines, the report does not address the interests of individual animals, including their bodily liberty or integrity.

¹⁸Many scholars have questioned the merits of animal research for predicting human health outcomes. See, for example, [53]. Typically, the animal involved in the research does not benefit from the research protocol.

¹⁹The designation of one species as necessarily more or less sentient than another is a seemingly impossible task that depends on assumptions within and across species, independent of the individual and their capacities.

²⁰Though the "Three Rs" represent clear goals, they do not necessarily result in reductions in suffering or the numbers of animals used in research. See, for example, [55–57].

liberty and integrity or justifications for violating bodily sovereignty—whether during the course of research or before or after research is conducted. On the contrary, it presumes animals will be used as tools to forward science. As a result, animals are regularly forced to breed and reproduce in ways that are unnatural to them, taken away from their parents and peers, confined, manipulated for research protocols, and, most commonly, killed at the end of experiments. Additionally, many animals are bred and immediately killed when their bodily characteristics do not fit the established criteria for a test or experiment.

Within existing animal research guidelines, there is some attention to concepts related to bodily sovereignty, such as welfare and care. However, in practice, "welfare" and "care" are commonly interpreted to comprise the technical aspects of research procedures and husbandry exercises. These practices include the use of tranquilizers, analgesics, anesthetics, paralytics, and euthanasia, presurgical and postsurgical veterinary medical and nursing care, and engineering standards for cages and other methods of restraint or confinement—violations of bodily sovereignty.²¹

Recently, there have been some notable changes in animal research policy. In the United States, these developments include an Institute of Medicine (IOM) Committee Report on the Use of Chimpanzees in Biomedical and Behavioral Research and subsequent Working Group reports created to interpret the original report's findings into practical recommendations [58–60]. The National Institutes of Health (NIH) commissioned these reports. In the original IOM report, the Committee determined that any assessment of the necessity of chimpanzee research should include ethical considerations, even raising issues such as whether chimpanzees could acquiesce to research [58, 61]. However, the report does not explicitly address matters such as autonomy or bodily sovereignty. Although the IOM Committee concluded that chimpanzees are largely unnecessary for biomedical research,²² the report and the NIH mandate that preceded it continually refer to chimpanzees in terms of their utility rather than their right to protect their bodies or to make free choices about their bodies.

Recently, some scholars have suggested that human research principles such as respect for autonomy and special protections for vulnerable populations be extended to decisions about the use of animals in research [6, 7, 62]. Today, scientific advancements support a nuanced view of autonomy and vulnerability in human and nonhuman animals. Humans and nonhumans display varying gradations of independent decision-making skills, suggesting that some humans may not qualify as autonomous subjects, whereas some animals may.²³ Additionally, like some

²¹As bodily sovereignty is articulated here, these practices violate bodily sovereignty. A separate issue is whether these or other violations of bodily sovereignty can be justified when weighed with other interests, including other determinants of health and well-being.

²²The Committee also recommended a set of restrictive guiding principles and criteria for the assessment of current and future uses of chimpanzees in biomedical and behavioral research.

²³There are many open questions about the degree to which humans and other animals display autonomy or autonomous action. In humans and animals, the capacity for self-determination can

human individuals and populations, some nonhuman animals may qualify as vulnerable subjects and require greater protections within research.²⁴ Though these arguments approximate attention to bodily sovereignty, as with human research, they could fall short of guaranteeing bodily liberty and integrity. Furthermore, regardless of kind and degree of intelligence, neurological and other studies show that bodily sovereignty itself, as a key vulnerability, is critical to health and wellbeing in humans *and* many other animals.

15.5 The Right to Bodily Sovereignty and Its Connection with Health and Well-Being

In recent years, attention has increasingly focused on the connections between health, rights, welfare, and well-being. Within medicine, there is an established relationship between health and human rights [69, 70]. For example, the concepts elucidated in human rights frameworks are viewed as rights rather than privileges precisely because they reflect many of the biological needs necessary to promote health and well-being. Similarly, philosophers, healthcare providers, and advocates have highlighted the connections between the rights, welfare, and well-being of nonhuman animals [71–73]. From a health perspective, these concepts are fundamentally inseparable.

Bodily sovereignty reflects a most basic need—that is, the need to protect one's body from physical, psychological, or other forms of harm.²⁵ As a principle, respect for bodily sovereignty extends beyond respect for autonomy or unique protections for those deemed especially vulnerable to harm or exploitation. Bodily sovereignty cannot be reduced to the principle of autonomy,²⁶ since the right to bodily integrity is not lost when autonomy is lost [74]. Similarly, respect for bodily sovereignty does not require that one be part of a designated class to qualify for protections from harms associated with violations of bodily liberty or integrity. Sovereignty of the body is not nearly as ambiguous a concept as autonomy or even some concepts of vulnerability. The body has clear borders that are easily understood and recognized, even if its dimensions change over the course of a lifetime. No subjective or qualitative determination is necessary. States of well-being, nociception, pain,

change acutely or chronically over the course of a lifetime as a result of neurological, psychological, and emotional maturation or degeneration, or other changes in aptitude. For more on the subject of autonomy (self-determination) in humans and nonhumans, see, for example, [29, 33, 63–66].

²⁴Animals are both intrinsically and extrinsically vulnerable. Currently, there is negligible attention on how nonhuman animals' vulnerabilities could influence decisions about their use in research. Though animals lack the capacity to provide informed consent, as it is currently understood in research settings, and they are at increased risk for coercion, exploitation, and harm, they are commonly used despite their vulnerabilities. For a fuller account of how animals may be considered vulnerable subjects, see, for example, [62, 67, 68].

²⁵Harm is defined here as a setback of interests. It is in the interest of each body to remain intact, physically and psychologically healthy, and well, and to live up to their *telos*.

²⁶See [74] for a more extended discussion of this issue.

pleasure, flourishing, and integration occur within the body itself [74]. Regardless of decision-making capacities, one's body is the "site, location, or focal point of their subjectivity (however understood and constituted)" [74, p., 580]. Everything the body does or receives becomes part of it in one way or another, as lived experiences and often as conscious or unconscious memories. The body often interprets these experiences as physical or mental effects that inhibit or foster growth—in other words, one's ability to live up to their *telos*. The power to control what happens to one's self also influences the subjective interpretation of various experiences.²⁷

Violations of bodily sovereignty can lead to compromises in health and wellbeing and can often result in physical or mental illness, in both people and animals. No longer are animals seen as mere machines free of thought, consciousness, or significant feeling, as René Descartes suggested in the seventeenth century. For example, in 2012, a prominent international group of cognitive neuroscientists, neuropharmacologists, neurophysiologists, neuroanatomists, and computational neuroscientists gathered at The University of Cambridge to reassess the neurobiological substrates of conscious experience and related behaviors in human and nonhuman animals. They determined that "convergent evidence indicates that non-human animals have the neuroanatomical, neurochemical, and neurophysiological substrates of conscious states along with the capacity to exhibit intentional behaviors," and that "humans are not unique in possessing the neurological substrates that generate consciousness" (see [75]). Studies from multiple disciplines provide objective evidence of nonhuman animals' abilities to experience pain and distress, although expressions of their experiences are often unrecognized by humans [73, 76]. Many animals can experience acute or chronic pain, such as the pain of inflammation, visceral pain, or neuropathic pain. Like humans, other animals can also experience "sickness behavior" as a result of disease, which can result in lethargy, depression, anorexia, sleep disturbances, or enhanced sensitivity to pain [77]. Although the nociceptive pathways of pain are fairly well described, the molecular mechanisms involved in pain perception and the neurological responses to tissue and neuronal injury are not as well understood in humans or other animals [78, 79]. Nonetheless, these changes occur in the body in response to the objective world; they are part and parcel to the body's lived experiences. There is also evidence that animals (vertebrates and at least some invertebrates) remember adverse events like pain, learn avoidance patterns, and subsequently avoid painful or other aversive stimuli [73, 76, 80-83].

Many nonhuman animals can also experience fearful, avoidant, and hypervigilant psychological behaviors similar to those expressed by humans. In anxiety and depressive disorders, stressors can overwhelm normal physiological responses and cause structural and mechanistic changes in the body, including in neurological structures. For example, many vertebrates share a large number of brain regions

²⁷Interactions, touches, and exchanges gain positive value and meaning when they are chosen and preferred by the individual, compared with when they are not chosen. See, for example, [74] for a more extended discussion of this issue.

associated with emotional affect, including the amygdala, hippocampus, and hypothalamus, among other areas [73, 76, 81]. As a result, there are homologies among species in attachment disorders, depression, complex anxiety disorders, posttraumatic disorders, and other persistent disorders of social behavior [84–87].

The relationship between bodily liberty, which can take the form of freedom of choice, and health and well-being is well established. Experimental psychologists first studied the health influence of choice in dogs [88, 89]. When the dogs used in these experiments discovered they could not control electric shocks that violated their bodily integrity, they developed a series of behaviors described as learned helplessness. Soon, other scientists replicated these experiments in other animals, and some of the animals in these experiments also became physically ill and died. Similar behavioral patterns and physical and psychological illnesses are also seen in humans in whom bodily sovereignty has been violated.²⁸ Causality has also been established through other observational and experimental studies that show learned helplessness and associated physical and psychological illnesses, such as depression and posttraumatic stress disorder, can be reversed through the restoration of respect for bodily sovereignty. Neurotransmitters in the brain involved in learned helplessness and related mental disorders are not static. A sense of control may actually change the amount and strength of nerve connections in the brain and foster neuroplasticity.29

These findings illustrate that though it is important to acknowledge specific capacities like autonomy, and their relationship to health and well-being, bodily liberty and integrity are also critically important to physical and mental health—in people and animals of varying types and levels of intelligence.³⁰

15.6 Conclusions

As a basic interest, bodily sovereignty must be weighed with other interests, including protections from harms unrelated to violations of bodily sovereignty. Nonetheless, bodily sovereignty should be counted as an independent interest in questions about the treatment of other people and animals. Other principles such as respect for autonomy and special protections for those with diminished autonomy

²⁸For example, in 2002, findings from Seligman and Maier's experiments with dogs were used to craft enhanced interrogation techniques like waterboarding. Two psychologists contracted by the CIA drew upon the foundational experiments to inform the architecture of its torture program and induce learned helplessness in human prisoners [90, 91]. Learned helplessness has also been widely described in victims of intimate partner violence and child abuse.

²⁹See, for example, [92–94].

³⁰Different forms and degrees of intelligence represent capacities and needs. When the ability to exercise one's intelligence is limited by external factors, one's needs may not be met and one can suffer as a result. However, when individuals lack neurological flexibility and have more limited coping mechanisms, they can also suffer more than they would otherwise when their specific needs are not met. See, for example, [72] or [95] for a fuller discussion of this subject.

will undoubtedly figure into these equations. However, these principles alone, lacking objective respect for bodily sovereignty, do not sufficiently address the needs of individual beings. Similarly, they do not account for the cumulative or synergistic effects of violations of bodily sovereignty that may occur over the course of a lifetime. Increasingly, health constructs such as trauma-informed care recognize the complex nature of various forms of repeated trauma, including violations of bodily sovereignty, and their complex impact on well-being [73, 96].

The right to bodily sovereignty is reflected throughout legal and regulatory frameworks that recognize the rights and biological needs of human beings, including in research settings. Respect for bodily sovereignty is not however generally extended to nonhuman animals, despite its established connection to the health, welfare, and well-being of many animals. Welfare is a concept that is articulated throughout documents governing the treatment of animals in research and other areas of society [47, 48, 52]. It is also a notion that is indistinguishable from the rights and needs of animals and our obligations to them [71, 72]. Any endeavor toward internal consistency requires that needs and principles such as bodily sovereignty be reliably respected, except perhaps in cases where there are clear justifications to the contrary [97]. Currently, there is no strong, broad moral justification for treating the liberty and integrity of one body, independent of capacities such as rationality, differently than another. Differences in treatment require specific justifications.

References

- 1. Singer P. Animal liberation: the definitive classic of the animal movement. Reissue ed. New York: HarperCollins Publishers; 2009.
- 2. Regan T. The case for animal rights. Updated 1st ed. Oakland: University of California Press; 2004.
- 3. Beauchamp TL, Frey RG. The Oxford handbook of animal ethics. New York: Oxford University Press; 2011.
- Sunstein CR, Nussbaum M. Animal rights: current debates and new directions. New York: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- Ferdowsian HR, Beauchamp TL. Animal experimentation. In: LaFollette H, editor. International encyclopedia of ethics. Hoboken: Wiley-Blackwell; 2013.
- Beauchamp TL, Ferdowsian HR, Gluck JP. Rethinking the ethics of research involving nonhuman animals. Theor Med Bioeth. 2014;35:91–6.
- Ferdowsian HR, Choe CU. Extending human research protections to nonhuman animals. In: Corbey R, Lanjouw A, editors. The politics of species: reshaping our relationships with other animals. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2013.
- 8. Ferdowsian HR, Gluck JP. The ethical challenges of animal research: honoring Henry Beecher's approach to moral problems. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2015;24:391–406.
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. The Belmont report. Washington, DC: US Department of Health, and Human Services. 1979. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/index.html. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- 10. World Medical Association. Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. Seoul: WMA General Assembly; 2008.

- 11. Shuster E. Fifty years later: the significance of the Nuremberg code. N Engl J Med. 1997;337:1436–40.
- 12. Philpott D. Sovereignty. In: Klosko G, editor. The Oxford handbook of the history of political philosophy. New York: Oxford University Press; 2011.
- Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Geneva: United Nations; 1948. https://www.ohchr. org/EN/UDHR/Documents/UDHR_Translations/eng.pdf. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment. Geneva: United Nations; 1984. https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cat.aspx. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- Patosalmi M. Bodily integrity and conceptions of subjectivity. Hypatia. 2009. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1527-2001.2009.01035.x. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- Waldron J. Dignity, rank, and rights. Tanner Lect Hum Values. 2009. https://tannerlectures. utah.edu/_documents/a-to-z/w/Waldron_09.pdf. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- Perry DM. My body, my choice: why the principle of bodily autonomy can unite the left. The Nation 13. 2017. https://www.thenation.com/article/my-body-my-choice-why-the-principle-ofbodily-autonomy-can-unite-the-left/. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- Moyn S. How the human rights movement failed. New York Times. 2018;23. https://www. nytimes.com/2018/04/23/opinion/human-rights-movement-failed.html. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- 19. Shelman EA, Lazoritz S. The Mary Ellen Wilson child abuse case and the beginning of children's rights in 19th century America. Jefferson: McFarland & Company; 2005.
- 20. Wise SM. Though the heavens may fall: the landmark trial that led to the end of human slavery. Boston: Da Capo Press; 2005.
- Wise SM. Nonhuman rights to personhood. Pace Environ Law Rev 2013;30:1278–1290. http:// digitalcommons.pace.edu/pelr/vol30/iss3/10. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- 22. Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. The core international human rights treaties. New York: United Nations; 2006. https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ Publications/CoreTreatiesen.pdf. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- Brindley E. Individualism in classical Chinese thought. Internet encyclopedia of philosophy. https://www.iep.utm.edu/ind-chin/. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- 24. Binder C, Binder C. A capability perspective on indigenous autonomy. Oxf Dev Stud. 2016;44:297–314.
- 25. Deer S. Sovereignty of the soul: exploring the intersection of rape law reform and federal Indian law. Suffolk Univ Law Rev. 2005;38:455–66.
- 26. Arola A. Native American philosophy. In: Edelglass W, Garfield JL, editors. Oxford handbook of world philosophy. New York: Oxford University Press; 2011.
- 27. Lafleur WR, Bohme G, Shimazono S. Dark medicine: rationalizing unethical medical research. Bloomington: Indiana University Press; 2008.
- 28. Lederer SE. Subjected to science. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press; 1995.
- 29. Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Principles of biomedical ethics. 6th ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2009.
- Takala T. Concepts of "person" and "liberty," and their implications for our fading notions of autonomy. J Med Ethics. 2007;33:225–8.
- 31. Faden RR, Beauchamp TL. A history and theory of informed consent. New York: Oxford University Press; 1986.
- 32. Korsgaard C. Interacting with animals: a Kantian account. In: Beauchamp TL, Frey RG, editors. The Oxford handbook of animal ethics. New York: Oxford University Press; 2011.
- 33. Beauchamp TL, Wobber V. Autonomy in chimpanzees. Theor Med Bioeth. 2014;35:117–32.
- 34. Feinberg J. Autonomy, sovereignty, and privacy: moral ideals in the constitution. Notre Dame Law Rev. 1983;58:445–92.
- 35. Fox MW. Transgenic animals: ethical and animal welfare concerns. In: Wheale P, McNally R, editors. The bio-revolution. Cornucopia or Pandora's box? London: Pluto Press; 1990. p. 38.
- 36. Aristotle. Metaphysics. In: McKeon RM, editor. The basic works of Aristotle. New York: Random House; 1941.

- Rollin BE. A new basis for animal ethics: Telos and common sense. Columbia: University of Missouri Press; 2016.
- Public Responsibility in Medicine and Research. People & perspectives: Tom Beauchamp, PhD – (Excerpt) Reflections on "Respect for Persons" 17 Nov 2014. https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=v2hrMWEmQLw. Accessed 30 Nov 2017.
- 39. Andrews K. The animal mind: an introduction to the philosophy of animal cognition. New York: Routledge; 2015.
- 40. DeGrazia D. Human-animal chimeras: human dignity, moral status, and species prejudice. Metaphilosophy. 2007;38:309–29.
- 41. Fenton A. Can a chimp say "no"? Reenvisioning chimpanzee dissent in harmful research. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2014;23:130–9.
- 42. Fenton A. Decisional authority and animal research subjects. In: Andrews K, Beck J, editors. The Routledge handbook of philosophy of animal minds. New York, NY: Routledge; 2018. p. 475–84.
- 43. Kantin H, Wendler D. Is there a role for assent or dissent in animal research? Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2015;24:459–72.
- 44. Wendler D. Should protections for research with humans who cannot consent apply to research with nonhuman primates? Theor Med Bioeth. 2014;35:157–73.
- 45. 45 C.F.R. § 46.111(3).
- 46. Childress JF, Meslin EM, Shapiro HT. Belmont revisited: ethical principles for research with human subjects. Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press; 2005.
- 47. 7 U.S.C. §§ 2131-2159 (1966), as amended.
- 48. National Research Council Committee for the Update of the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals. 8th ed. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2011.
- National Aeronautics and Space Administration. Principles for the ethical care and use of animals–Sundowner Report. 1996. http://www.iacuc.ucsf.edu/Links/awSundwnr.asp. Accessed 30 Nov 2017.
- 50. Choe-Smith C. Confronting ethical permissibility in animal research: rejecting a common assumption and extending a principle of justice. Theor Med Bioeth. 2014;35:175–85.
- 51. DeGrazia DD. The ethics of animal research: what are the prospects for agreement? Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 1999;8:23–34.
- 52. Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences, International Council for Laboratory Animal Sciences. International Guiding Principles for Biomedical Research Involving Animals. 2012. https://olaw.nih.gov/sites/default/files/Guiding_Principles_2012.pdf. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- 53. Akhtar A. The flaws and human harms of animal experimentation. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2015;24(4):407–19.
- Russell WMS, Burch RL. The principles of humane experimental technique. London: Methuen & Co. Ltd; 1959.
- 55. Balcombe J, Ferdowsian HR, Durham D. Self-harm in laboratory-housed primates: has the animal welfare act helped? J Appl Anim Welf Sci. 2011;14:361–70.
- 56. Balcombe J, Ferdowsian H, Briese L. Prolonged pain research in mice: trends in reference to the 3 Rs. J Appl Anim Welf Sci. 2013;16:77–95.
- 57. Ibrahim DM. Reduce, refine, replace: the failure of the three R's and the future of animal experimentation. Univ Chic Leg Forum, 2006; Arizona Legal Studies Discussion Paper No. 06-17. http://ssrn.com/abstract=888206. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- National Research Council. Chimpanzees in biomedical and behavioral research: assessing the necessity. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2011.
- Council of Councils Working Group on the Use of Chimpanzees in NIH-Supported Research. Report. 2012. https://dpcpsi.nih.gov/council/chimpanzee_research. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.

- 60. Council of Councils Working Group on Assessing the Safety of Relocating At-Risk Chimpanzees. Report 2018. https://dpcpsi.nih.gov/council/working_group_relocation. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- 61. Beauchamp TL, Ferdowsian HR, Gluck J. Where are we in the justification of research involving chimpanzees? Kennedy Inst Ethics J. 2012;22:211–42.
- Johnson J. Vulnerable subjects? The case of nonhuman animals in experimentation. J Bioeth Ing. 2013;10:497–504.
- Pierce J. Animals and autonomy. Psychol Today 2013;10. https://www.psychologytoday.com/ blog/all-dogs-go-heaven/201303/animals-and-autonomy. Accessed 30 Nov 2017.
- 64. de FBM W. In: Tyack PL, editor. Animal social complexity: intelligence, culture, and individualized societies. Cambridge: Harvard University Press; 2003.
- 65. Safina C. Beyond words: what animals think and reel. New York: Henry Holt and Co; 2015.
- 66. Emery N. Bird brain: an exploration of avian intelligence. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 2016.
- Martin A. Animals as vulnerable research subjects. Presentation at Queen's University 27 Nov 2015.
- Satz A. Animals as vulnerable subjects: beyond interest-convergence, hierarchy, and property. Anim Law. 2009;16:1–50.
- 69. Cohen J. Human rights in patient care: a theoretical and practical framework. Health Hum Rights. 2013;15:7–19.
- 70. London L. What is a human-rights based approach to health and does it matter? Health Hum Rights J. 2008;10:65–80.
- 71. Beauchamp TL. Rights theory and animal rights. In: Beauchamp TL, Frey RG, editors. The Oxford handbook of animal ethics. New York: Oxford University Press; 2011.
- Ferdowsian H. Phoenix zones: where strength is born and resilience lives. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2018.
- McMillan FD, editor. Mental health and Well-being in animals. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Professional; 2005.
- Herring J, Wall J. The nature and significance of the right to bodily integrity. Camb Law J. 2017;76:566–88.
- 75. Panksepp J, Reiss D, Edelman D, Van Swinderen B, Low P, Koch C, eds. The Cambridge Declaration on Consciousness. 2012. http://fcmconference.org/img/ CambridgeDeclarationOnConsciousness.pdf. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- 76. Gregory NG. Physiology and behavior of animal suffering. Oxford: Blackwell Science; 2004.
- Dantzer R, Kelley KW. Twenty years of research on cytokine-induced sickness behavior. Brain Behav Immun. 2007;21:153–60.
- 78. National Research Council (US) Committee on Recognition and Alleviation of Pain in Laboratory Animals. Recognition and alleviation of pain in laboratory animals. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (US); 2009. 1, Pain in research animals: General principles and considerations. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK32655/. Accessed 14 Jan 2013.
- National Research Council (US) Committee on Recognition and Alleviation of Pain in Laboratory Animals. Recognition and alleviation of pain in laboratory animals. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (US); 2009. 2, Mechanisms of pain. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK32659/. Accessed 14 Jan 2013.
- Nixon M, Young JZ. The brains and lives of cephalopods. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2003.
- Panksepp J. Affective neuroscience: the foundations of human and animal emotions. New York: Oxford University Press; 2004.
- Posner LP. Introduction: pain and distress in fish: a review of the evidence. Inst Lab Anim Res J. 2009;50:327–8.
- Sneddon LU. Pain perception in fish: indicators and endpoints. Inst Lab Anim Res J. 2009;50:338–42.
- 84. Bradshaw GA, Finlay BL. Natural symmetry. Nature. 2005;435:149.

- 85. Brune M. Textbook of evolutionary psychiatry: the origins of psychopathology. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2008.
- Fabrega H. Psychiatric conditions in an evolutionary context. Psychopathology. 2004;37:290–8.
- Stevens A, Price J. Evolutionary psychiatry: a new beginning. 2nd ed. London: Biddles Ltd; 2000.
- 88. Seligman ME, Maier SF. Failure to escape traumatic shock. J Exp Psychol. 1967;74:1-9.
- 89. Seligman ME. Learned helplessness. Annu Rev Med. 1972;23:407-12.
- 90. Konnikova M. Trying to cure depression, but inspiring torture. New Yorker 2015;14. http:// www.newyorker.com/science/maria-konnikova/theory-psychology-justified-torture. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- 91. McCoy T. Learned helplessness: the chilling psychological concept behind the CIA's interrogation methods. Washington Post 11 Dec 2014. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/morning-mix/wp/2014/12/11/the-chilling-psychological-principle-behind-the-cias-interrogation-methods/?utm_term=.bae74879947b. Accessed 6 Aug 2018.
- Levone BR, Cryan JF, O'Leary OF. Role of adult hippocampal neurogenesis in stress resilience. Neurobiol Stress. 2015;1:147–55.
- Kim JJ, Song EY, Kosten TA. Stress effects in the hippocampus: synaptic plasticity and memory. Stress. 2006;9:1–11.
- Duman RS. Neural plasticity: consequences of stress and actions of antidepressant treatment. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2004;6:157–69.
- 95. Ferdowsian HR, Merskin D. Parallels in trauma, pain, distress, and suffering in humans and nonhuman animals. J Trauma Dissociation. 2012;13:448–69.
- 96. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). https:// www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/acestudy/index.html. Accessed 14 Dec 2017.
- 97. Kemmerer L. Search of consistency: ethics and animals. Boston: Brill Academic; 2006.



The Trouble with Animal Models in Brain Research

L. Syd M Johnson

Abstract

This chapter focuses on two problems, or "troubles," with animal models used in neuroscientific research: the failure of many animal models to yield useful and beneficial information and the ethical dilemma built into claims about the similarity-based usefulness of an animal model, which is especially acute in the context of brain-related research. There are well-documented problems with validity and reproducibility, resulting in the failure of animal research to translate to humans. This chapter will focus in particular on the well-known and well-studied failure of animal models in stroke research. The essentially Utilitarian cost/benefit claim that human benefits justify harms to animals in research is threatened if those benefits consistently fail to materialize and, indeed, if there is the potential for significant harm to humans, including opportunity costs, wasted resources, and risks to human research subjects. An honest reckoning of the costs, harms, and benefits of animal research is unlikely to support the *status quo* because very little research will be useful or needed, and thus very little will be ethically justifiable.

Keywords

Animal models · Animal research · Research ethics · Neuroscience · Stroke · Dogs

L. S. M. Johnson (🖂)

Center for Bioethics and Humanities, SUNY Upstate Medical University, Syracuse, NY, USA

Humanities Department, Michigan Technological University, Houghton, MI, USA e-mail: johnsols@upstate.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_16

16.1 Introduction

This chapter will focus on two interlaced problems, or "troubles," with animal models used in brain research: (a) the failure of many animal models to predict results in humans, that is, to yield useful and beneficial information, and (b) the ethical dilemma built into scientific claims about the similarity-based usefulness of an animal model, which is especially acute in the context of brain-related research. Together, these weaken the typical ethical justifications for animal research.

Regarding (a), there are well-documented problems with validity and reproducibility, resulting in the failure of animal research to translate to humans. The essentially Utilitarian cost/benefit claim that human benefits justify harms to nonhuman animals (henceforth "animals") in research is threatened if those benefits consistently fail to materialize and, moreover, if those failures result in significant harms to humans. There are a number of explanations for the failure of animal models, as will be discussed below. But if the scientific need to use animals is questionable, then so is the moral calculus. An honest reckoning of the costs, harms, and benefits of animal research is unlikely to support the *status quo* because very little research will be useful or needed, and thus very little will be ethically justifiable. Indeed, the failure of 90% of *all drugs* brought to clinical trials is sufficiently high to call into question the value of much preclinical research using animal models, and the claims of scientific need and human benefit that are the foundational ethical justification for harmful biomedical research with animals break down.¹

Regarding (b), the ethical problem faced by brain research is that scientifically justifying the use of an animal model ideally requires demonstrating and emphasizing similarities between the animal and humans, but the more similar the animals are in terms of human-like sentience, cognition, mental states, behaviors, and capabilities, the harder it is to morally justify the use of those animals. This results in what Ferdowsian and Gluck have called a "justificatory dilemma" [1]. This dilemma is especially acute in brain-related research, including neuroscientific and psychological research, where many of the relevant similarities implicate features commonly thought to confer special moral status on humans. These include consciousness, rationality, sociality, emotionality, and intelligence, among others. If all or most of these features are present in animals, they would seemingly mean those animals matter morally. If we are to treat like cases as *scientifically* alike, consistency demands that we treat like cases as *morally* alike as well. Thus, emphasizing the similarities between nonhuman animals and humans cuts both ways: it undergirds

¹Consider an analogy. Five-day weather forecasts are accurate 90% of the time (https://scijinks.gov/ forecast-reliability/). But imagine the opposite were true, and they were wrong 90% of the time. That would give us good reason to distrust the reliability of weather forecasts, and it would give the field of meteorology good scientific reasons to reconsider or justify its methodologies. Most of the time, inaccurate weather forecasts do not endanger lives. The 90% failure of animal research to translate to humans does endanger human life and safety and results in nonbeneficial harms to animals, both of which threaten the scientific and ethical justification for continuing to use animal models.

the scientific justification for an animal model, but undermines the ethical justification.

The scientific evidence *against* using animal models is compelling enough that the burden of proof must be on those who claim scientific need, and the benefits of animal research, as its justification. Is the comparatively small success rate—which might still mean thousands or millions of human lives saved or improved—adequate justification? Perhaps, instead, the accumulation of knowledge about the brain in research that does not bear fruit has other positive effects and furthers other research agenda. Many of the most significant developments in medicine have *involved* animal experiments, although the fact that this is true does not mean that the inferential value of those experiments was significant or that those discoveries *depended* on the use of animals [2]. As Matthews points out, the oft-repeated statement defending animal experimentation—"Virtually every medical achievement of the last century has depended directly or indirectly on research animals" (p. 95 in [2])—seemingly has no source, has never been formally validated, and appears to rest on little more than anecdotal examples.

16.2 What Is an Animal Model, and How Is It Predictive?

An animal model of a disease X exists when a nonhuman animal instantiates disease X or, in some cases, mimics symptoms of disease X. For example, Ebola virus is transmitted by bats, but they are not sickened by it and are not a model. Mice are used in large numbers for Ebola research, but the preferred models are macaques, because of their similarities with humans in disease pathogenesis, clinical presentation, laboratory findings, and causes of fatality.

Animal models do not exist for all known diseases, pathogens, and conditions. In some cases, animals are genetically modified to mimic symptoms or disease processes. Knockout and knockin mice are examples of animals genetically engineered in large numbers to mimic a variety of human diseases and conditions that do not naturally occur in that species. Genetically modified rhesus macaques have been created that exhibit symptoms and stereotypical behaviors that mimic those seen in autistic individuals [3]. Macaques are a nonhuman primate (NHP) commonly used in biomedical research, and the modified macaques are a putative model for autism, bridging mouse models and humans [4].

An animal model can also be a species that recapitulates human biological processes. For example, nonhuman mammals (along with animals from other taxa) have a cardiovascular system similar to that found in humans and can serve as phenotypic surrogates or models for the human cardiovascular system. The brains of some animals are structurally and anatomically similar to human brains. But even in animals with structurally/anatomically dissimilar brains, relevantly similar behaviors and capacities can be found.

A mistaken assumption about animal models is that they are themselves *predictive* of human responses. That is, if administering Y to rats relieves symptoms of disease X, it will do the same in humans with disease X. Shanks, Greek, and Greek identify this notion of the reliable predictability of animal models as the "overarching hypothesis" in the animal model research community. They claim it mistakenly treats animals as surrogate humans [5] and treats Y relieves symptoms of X as if it is affirmed by animal studies, rather than as a hypothesis that must be tested and confirmed in humans. If and only if the prediction is verified, that is, Y relieves symptoms of X in humans, can it be said that the animal model was predictive. There are numerous reasons why animal models are *not* predictive. In animals with similar phenotypes and genotypes, differences in complex biological processes can thwart prediction. Differences in metabolism, the bioavailability or ability to absorb compounds, and the toxicity of compounds are just a few examples of roadblocks in the translation of animal model research to human patients. There is variability both between and within species, including variability based on the age or sex of animals. The predictive failure of animal models is one reason for the high rate of *attrition*, or the failure, in human clinical trials of seemingly promising treatments that appeared safe and efficacious in animal models. Attrition occurs with some 90% of all drugs that make it to clinical trials [6].

Several explanations for the translational failure of animal models have been discussed in the scientific literature, including problems with methodological quality and statistical analysis; publication bias; the selection of models and the lack of congruence between humans and other animals; the effects of confounds like captivity, housing, and stress, and inattention to animal welfare; failure to replicate in humans the experimental conditions under which a treatment worked in animals; and a lack of standardized "best practices" in animal research (see, e.g., [2, 6-19]). The scientific community recognizes that there is a significant failure of animal research to yield expected benefits for humans. Even allowing for the inherent uncertainty of scientific experiments, where expected benefits for humans justifies the use of animal models, the sustained failure to produce benefits must call into question whether the experiments are in fact adequately justified by scientific need.

16.3 Brain Research with Animals: Trials and Errors

Animal models are used in brain research on many types of human disorders, including pain [20], traumatic brain injuries [21], seizure disorders, neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative disorders [22], addiction [17, 22–24], and psychiatric and behavioral disorders [6, 25]. Numerous animal models have been developed for brain and central nervous system research, including dogs, cats, ferrets, mice, rats, rabbits, gerbils, pigs, sheep, birds, fish, and several NHP species. As is typical in biomedical research, transgenic mice make up the majority of the animals used. Across these different areas of research, it is recognized that "No perfect animal model exists for any aspect of any [central nervous system] disorder," (p. 75 in [18]) and that the value of animal models is open to question as they frequently fail to produce results that can be translated to humans. There have been numerous empirical studies aimed at discerning the reasons for the high rate of failure, and a vast scientific literature exists on the challenges faced by animal model brain science, the attrition crisis, and how the problems might be solved. One fundamental question concerns the inherent limitations of animal models and whether it is possible to replicate "disorders that often seem uniquely human" [25], like psychiatric disorders and addiction. In modeling neuropsychiatric disorders in animals, for example, Nestler and Hyman note that "Many of the symptoms used to establish psychiatric diagnoses in humans (for example, hallucinations, delusions, sadness and guilt) cannot be convincingly ascertained in animals. When there are reasonable correlates in animals (for example, abnormal social behavior, motivation, working memory, emotion and executive function), the correspondence may only be approximate" (p. 1161 in [25]). As a result, "animal models are unlikely to mirror the full extent of a given human neuropsychiatric disorder" (p. 1161 in [25]). Similarly, in addiction research, mimicking addictive behaviors is limited and potentially confounded by the conditions of captivity for the animal used in the research: "Although drug self-administration by rodents has provided important information, it is difficult to argue that it truly models compulsion, when the alternative to self-administration is solitude in a shoebox cage" (p. 702 in [24]).

The remainder of this section will focus on research with animal models for stroke, where there has been a well-documented and well-studied failure of animal models to predict human responses to neuroprotective drugs, as well as substantive efforts to solve the problem. In §16.4 I will consider stroke research in canine models.

16.3.1 Stroke Models

A common perception of neuroprotection research is that everything works in animals but nothing works in people. This perception has been reinforced again and again by reports of unsuccessful or mixed outcomes in trials of candidate neuroprotectants in acute stroke patients. If animal experiments are indeed unable to inform clinical decision making, then serious doubts are raised about the utility of animal models of stroke and about the ethics of continuing current animal experimentation practices [16].

Stroke is the third leading cause of death among adults in industrialized countries. At present, there is one thrombolytic ("clot-busting") drug approved for use in acute ischemic stroke. Tissue-plasminogen activator (t-PA) must be administered within the first 3 to 4.5 h of stroke [26], limiting its clinical utility [27, 28].² Because stroke causes a great deal of human suffering through death and disability, experimental stroke treatments are a prime candidate for the kinds of harmful animal research that could potentially be adequately justified by the possible human benefits.

Moreover, the mechanisms and pathology of stroke are well understood, making it a seemingly ideal condition to replicate in animal models. About 85% of strokes

 $^{^{2}}$ t-PA was developed using a rabbit model of thromboembolic stroke [27]. The drug was FDA-approved in 1996.

are ischemic, caused by a blockage of blood flow in a major cerebral artery. Ischemic injuries can be global (involving major blood vessels and resulting in widespread injury across several regions of the brain) or focal (involving the blockage of specific vessels and localized injury). In humans, the middle cerebral artery (MCA) is the site of the majority of ischemic strokes. The remaining strokes are hemorrhagic, caused by a burst blood vessel in the brain [27]. Animals used as models for stroke include mice, rats, gerbils, rabbits, cats, dogs, pigs, sheep, and monkeys [29]. Methods for inducing stroke-like ischemic and hemorrhagic brain injuries in these animals include clipping blood vessels, or cuffing and cauterizing arteries, introducing chemical or mechanical "clots" to induce embolisms, inducing cardiac arrest and ventricular fibrillation, and inducing asphyxia using neck cuffs and tourniquets, potassium cyanide, nitrogen, and carbon dioxide [16, 29]. Inducing stroke-like brain injuries sometimes involves surgery, including craniotomy (opening the skull), or accessing blood vessels transorbitally (through the eye). The latter method requires removing the eye, which can limit post-"stroke" behavioral assessment; the former method results in exposing the brain and leaves a potentially painful incision. As is true across animal research, the majority of the animals used are rodents.

Replicating stroke in an animal model has proven difficult. Notably, many of the experimentally induced "strokes" do not actually replicate strokes but rather cause cardiac arrest with anoxia/hypoxia [29]. While cardiac arrests and anoxic/hypoxic brain injuries are also common in humans, they are not strokes. In humans, strokes afflict persons of both sexes, and especially the elderly, individuals with chronic hypertension, and smokers, and commonly individuals who take multiple medications for preexisting conditions. Animals used in research are generally young, healthy, and male. Replicating human stroke in an animal model would ideally involve reproducing the preexisting conditions of stroke, a task just as formidable as reproducing stroke, its pathology, and outcomes.

Since 1960, more than 1000 drugs and therapies for stroke have been tested, in thousands of experiments on animals [16]. Of these, 37 drugs have been tested in humans in 114 clinical trials. The translational failure of all of these experimental treatments has been widely studied and discussed in the scientific literature, making them an ideal case study of the failure of animal models to predict human outcomes. For example, one class of drugs, NMDA channel blockers, caused side effects including nausea, hallucinations, hypotension, and respiratory arrest when administered to humans [7]. The animal models did not predict these human responses. The failure of animal models to produce results in stroke research led to the adoption of a set of guidelines, the Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable (STAIR) recommendations, published in 1999 and updated in 2009 [15]. The guidelines were intended to standardize protocols, improve the methodological quality of preclinical animal research, and thereby improve the applicability of animal stroke experiments to humans.³ The experimental drug disodium

³The STAIR guidelines for testing drugs require (1) that the drug should have been tested in both transient and permanent occlusion models, (2) reproducibility, with efficacy demonstrable in at least

2,4-disulphophenyl-N-tert-butylnitrone (NXY-059) was the poster child for these new standards, and its failure in human clinical trials was a blow both to the search for effective neuroprotective agents and to the presumed efficacy of the STAIR guidelines [30]. To date, the STAIR recommendations have not been "closely followed nor rigorously validated" (p. 2244 in [15]), have failed to lead to an effective neuroprotective treatment in humans [28], and they have yet to have "recognizable impact in clinical translation" (p. 409 in [14]).

Numerous explanations for the failure of neuroprotective drug research have been considered in the scientific literature. At the most basic level, despite evolutionary continuity between many species, there are confounding anatomical and physiological differences. For example, most of the small animal models used in stroke research are lissencephalic-their brains are smooth and lack the convoluted fissures of gyrencephalic animals like humans and some of the larger NHPs. Gyrencephalic species generally possess brains that exhibit cortical organization, white/gray matter ratios, and vasculature that resemble human brains more closely than the brains of lissencephalic animals (among other things, the fissures increase the total surface area of the cortex). The human brain has a higher proportion of white matter relative to the rodent brain, so it is thought to be "unlikely that a treatment that targets only neurons and that does not also salvage white matter tracts would have widespread clinical relevance" [15]. NXY-059 was studied in lissencephalic species-mice, rats, rabbits, and marmosets⁴—and it is speculated that this might have been one factor in the drug's ultimate failure in humans [28, 31]. The STAIR guidelines recommend testing for efficacy in gyrencephalic species, specifically cats or gyrencephalic NHPs, but acknowledge that the advantages, including the predictive value of using gyrencephalic NHP models, are unproven [15]. Indeed, while NHP models are often proposed as a solution to the problem of attrition in neuroprotective drug research, "Research to date has not resolved which primate model of stroke most closely models the human condition, nor whether studies of neuroprotectants in NHPs suffice to predict the results of a human trial" [28]. In other words, NHP models are endorsed as a solution without sufficient empirical evidence that they would be better models.

An entirely different problem, however, is that experimental conditions used in animal studies, such as dosage and timing of drug administration, are not and often cannot be replicated in human clinical trials. One reason for this is that drug toxicities vary between species, and many of the experimental compounds brought to clinical trials produced adverse and sometimes dangerous side effects in humans when given at dosages that were neuroprotective in animal models [27]. Moreover,

² independent laboratories, (3) evidence for efficacy based both on histological and behavioral outcome measures, (4) characterization of a therapeutic time window relative to the time of onset of the ischemic injury during which the drug is effective, and (5) evidence for efficacy in at least 2 species, 1 of which is a cat or primate [10].

⁴As reported by Bath et al. [31], the animals used were 9 mice, 544 rats, 32 marmosets, and 89 rabbits, totaling 674 animals. Published results for animal studies in rats and marmosets were positive.

experimentally induced strokes and stroke-like injuries occur in a setting in which drugs can be administered according to a controllable timetable, while the timing of diagnosis and treatment for human stroke patients are subject to uncontrollable variables.

Regarding the methodological quality of animal stroke studies, a systematic study of experiments on neuroprotective agents by Savitz "found them to be almost uniformly wanting" and concluded that "animal studies have been of insufficient methodological quality with the result that limited conclusions can be drawn from the data" (p. 578 in [10]). Issues with methodological quality include "high risk of bias and the failure to adequately control for physiological variables" (p. 577 in [10]). Sena et al. found that publication bias is prevalent in animal stroke studies, "such that data from as many as one in seven experiments remain unpublished. The result of this bias is that systematic reviews of the published results of interventions in animal models of stroke overstate their efficacy by around one third" (p. 2 in [11]). Publication bias occurs when neutral or negative results from animal studies remain unpublished, while apparently positive results are published, leading to erroneous conclusions about efficacy. The NXY-059 studies are a case in point: half of the unpublished animal experiments on NXY-059 were neutral, showing no neuroprotective effect [11, 31]. Bath et al. found several flaws in the animal studies, including "the presence of several potential sources of bias in the preclinical work, especially performance, attrition and publication bias" (p. 1169 in [31]). Publication bias raises a number of ethical concerns in addition to scientific concerns. When study data are unpublished, the animals sacrificed do not contribute to knowledge. Those animals suffered and died in vain. Additionally, human participants in clinical trials may be placed at unjustifiable and unnecessary risk because a drug's efficacy and safety in animals has been overstated.

To date, no successful neuroprotective drug has emerged from thousands of animal experiments. It is not necessary for research to be a complete failure, however, for it to warrant both scientific and ethical concern. Where flawed scientific practices are at least partly responsible for the failure of experimental therapies to translate to humans, the lack of rigor in preclinical studies implies that the burdens and sacrifices of animals matters so little that they are essentially disposable. That is, using inappropriate models, in poorly designed and implemented experiments, or disregarding unfavorable data, implies that the experiences and deaths of animals are not even worth the trouble of doing the science well. We need care no more about the suffering of an animal in, for example, stroke research, than we care about gloves and test tubes. But suppose, for the sake of argument, that it is true that animals are disposable and fungible, mere things to be used as humans wish, and we need have no moral qualms about using them. The lack of scientific rigor in animal studies also has important negative consequences and costs for humans when animal models fail to be predictive. There are opportunity costs when resources and time are wasted pursuing flawed treatments or when promising treatments are abandoned after failed animal studies. And human subjects may suffer from unforeseen and avoidable risks in clinical research when unsafe or ineffective therapies are tested. Treating animals as disposable in research results in treating human lives in much the same way.

16.4 Brain Research and the Justificatory Dilemma

For many years, academics have tended to avoid the question of the subjective experience of a nonhuman animal, because it has generally been thought to be unanswerable. This has allowed scientists to sidestep the moral question of whether it is okay to use animals in medical research. When we see similar brain processes occurring in these animals, it becomes harder to ignore. And it isn't just dogs: Every week, I read about discoveries on the sophisticated cognitive abilities of other animals. Certainly they aren't automatons, like Descartes thought. (Neuroeconomist Gregory Berns quoted in [32])

Thus far, we have discussed how animals are *not* like humans in ways that may undermine the value and utility of using animal models in biomedical research and, specifically, brain research. Humans are not just big rats, and rats are not just tiny humans. If harmful research with animals is ethically justified by important benefits like reducing human suffering or saving human lives, and if those benefits are not and perhaps cannot be achieved by animal research, then the ethical justification for using animals in harmful scientific research fails [33]. However, if there is a sufficient difference in the moral status of humans and animals (or at least some animals), such that humans, and human needs and interests matter significantly more, it might still be possible to justify some harmful research, even if the human interests in doing so are rather remote, farfetched, or trivial. In this section, I will turn to the question of what moral differences exist between humans and other animals that make humans morally exceptional or that confer special moral status on humans, such that they matter morally and other animals either matter less or matter not at all.

One justification for human moral exceptionalism (i.e., moral difference) is that humans are simply humans, members of the species *Homo sapiens*. This justification fails because it is question-begging (or circular). Humans are *H. sapiens* so if the question is *Why are humans morally exceptional?* then it can be rephrased as *Why is* H. sapiens *morally exceptional?* without changing its meaning and without actually answering it. This justification is especially problematic for anyone who also wants to provide a *similarity-based scientific need* justification for animal research grounded in the similarities between other species and *H. sapiens*, as that claim would seem to be at odds with the exceptionalism (i.e., difference) claim. A more sophisticated response is to claim *biological similarity with moral difference*, which would require identifying the specific features of *H. sapiens* that account for its moral exceptionalism. Indeed, this is what Kant attempted when he claimed that humans and only humans are rational moral agents and eligible for membership in the moral community [34].

There are two pitfalls for this approach to justifying human moral exceptionalism. First, one would be hard-pressed to find any characteristics, traits, abilities, or capacities that are found exclusively in *H. sapiens*. Virtually any of the traits and capacities that arguably make humans special, such as intelligence, rationality, autonomy, consciousness, self-awareness, learning, sociality, emotionality, language or intentional communication, tool use, problem solving, future-oriented planning, decision making, culture, grief, mourning and death rituals, altruism, curiosity, playfulness and humor, sexuality, reciprocity, political activity, even

economic activity that appears to follow the same economic laws that govern human behavior, and moral agency [35–40], have been observed in other species, from fish and octopuses to birds, cetaceans, and apes, depending on the properties in question. Second, it is not obviously true that any of these traits or capacities have any relevance to moral status. But let us suppose that possessing some subset or quantity of these traits and abilities is enough to make a human, or an animal (or other entity) matter morally, at least to some extent.⁵ It is undeniably true that some humans exhibit none of these traits or capacities, some humans possess some or all, and many animals, including those used in research, exhibit at least some, if not many of them. It is not necessary to completely resolve the question of which animals matter morally or to what degree different animals matter. It will be sufficient for my purposes to show that when considering the traits and capacities generally thought to confer some degree of moral status (even if it is less than human status), many animals—and certainly the vertebrates used in research—matter morally.

Research from many fields, including zoology, biology, psychology, ethology, primatology, veterinary medicine, agricultural science, and economics, has contributed to our knowledge about animal minds and behaviors both through field observation of wild animals and in studies of captive animals (see, e.g., Boesch, Marino, Comstock, and Sneddon & Brown in this volume). Neuroscientific studies of animal brains and minds have likewise contributed to our knowledge of the differences and similarities between humans and other species. This includes research on the neuroanatomical, cognitive, and psychological features, knowledge about the impact of neurodevelopmental insults (e.g., maternal deprivation in infant monkeys), and knowledge about psychological disorders. The upshot is that centuries of research, including invasive and noninvasive neuroscientific research, demonstrates that there are animals who are more like humans than not in possessing many of the features thought to make humans exceptional.

16.4.1 Canine Minds and Models

One species that has been extensively studied is dogs (*Canis familiaris*). Dogs and humans have lived and worked together and have coevolved for several millennia, so it is no surprise that dogs have neuroanatomical structures and well-developed abilities that make them unusually attuned to human emotions and facial expressions [41], and they have the capacity to understand some human language, including processing both lexical and intonational information in human speech [42]. Indeed, dogs are unusually skilled at reading human social and communicative behavior and superior to our nearest primate relatives at this. They can use human toddlers can

⁵If possessing some subset or quantity of these traits or abilities is enough to matter morally, then it must be possible that nonhumans, whether animal or nonanimal (e.g., extraterrestrials, robots, or AIs), qualify.

master at around 14 months. Chimpanzees, our closest genetic relatives, show little skill in this task, despite their intelligence and problem-solving skills [43] (although the lengthy history of dog domestication and cohabitation with humans—and the captivity of laboratory chimpanzees—may explain the difference).

fMRI studies by Berns [44], involving trained, unrestrained, awake dogs, found that many of the same things that activate the human caudate nucleus, and which are associated with positive emotions, also activate the dog caudate (in what is known as a functional homology) providing evidence of canine emotions.⁶ "Dogs, and probably many other animals (especially our closest primate relatives), seem to have emotions just like us" (pSR5 in [45]). Dogs think, they feel, they have preferences and desires, and they solve problems. Dogs, like other social creatures, exhibit prosocial behaviors in play and, along with other species, exhibit the characteristics of being moral creatures [46–50]. The scientific evidence that dogs possess many of the traits and abilities sufficient to matter morally is substantial.

Canine models of ischemic stroke have been developed as a cheaper gyrencephalic alternative to using NHPs [51, 52]. There is an assumption that NHPs are superior as stroke models because they are more similar to humans, but practical and ethical considerations make it easier and less expensive to use dogs and rodents. The expense and the ethical barriers to using NHPs have been cited by some researchers as a reason to prefer dogs even though "canines are considered 'man's best friend', and society expresses concerns about the usage of canines when compared to other animals, such as rodents" (p. 135 in [52]). Ischemic strokes are induced in dogs by blocking arteries surgically, although features of the circulatory system in dogs complicate efforts to induce human-like strokes through MCA occlusion alone. The dogs who survive occlusion are assessed behaviorally for neurological deficits including level of consciousness, vocalization, gait, behavior, motor function, and sensory function [52] and then killed after assessment so their brains can be examined [51]. In dog models, it is not possible to assess the kinds of cognitive deficits that can occur chronically in human stroke patients, such as language impairments (aphasia), problems with thinking and memory (e.g., anosognosia and apraxia), and psychiatric disturbances such as anxiety, irritability, and suicidal ideation. Canine models of stroke are an example of how the choice of animal models is not always driven by scientific criteria, which undermines claims of similarity-based scientific need.

16.4.2 The Justificatory Dilemma

The differences between canine and the human brains, as well as differences in relevant capacities, reduce the value of canine models for stroke. At the same time,

⁶Berns' research with dogs is not invasive or harmful. The dogs are trained through positive reinforcement to enter the fMRI machine and to remain still during scanning, but they are never restrained or sedated and are free to get up and leave if they do not want to participate [42].

neuroscientific research on dogs has provided new insights into the canine mind and canine cognitive capacities—that is, the ways in which dogs are similar to humans—that generates the justificatory dilemma in brain research with dogs. Ferdowsian and Gluck sum up the justificatory dilemma as it arises in psychiatric experiments with animals:

The more researchers emphasize *similarities* between animals and humans, the more they threaten the prospects for ethically justifying the experiment in question; the more researchers emphasize *differences* between animals and humans, the more they threaten the prospects for scientifically justifying the experiment [1].

In other words, the *similarity-based scientific need* justification for the research undermines *human moral exceptionalism* as an ethical justification. Psychiatric and brain research in particular face this dilemma because the research implies the existence of the very mental and cognitive characteristics that seemingly make an animal matter morally, such as intelligence, emotionality, sociality, rationality, and mind. Indeed, that similarity is partly what makes the animal a relevant model to the extent that it is. Neuroscientific and other research on dogs, and their moral agency and intelligence (to name just two of their "human-like" qualities), undermines the ethical justification for using them in harmful, invasive research. In the case of using dogs as a stroke model, the acknowledged *inferiority of the species as a model* undermines the scientific justification, which also weakens the ethical justification. Of course, it is not just dogs: the accumulated knowledge about animal brains and minds from neuroscience and other fields reveals that many animals are "human-like" in ways that make them matter morally if the same characteristics make humans matter morally.

16.5 Conclusion

Brain research programs, like those described above, in which the sought-after benefits have not materialized after thousands of experiments, and in which the animal models are not selected on the basis of scientific criteria, are both ethically and scientifically questionable. The failure of the animal models, and the acknowl-edged inferiority of the chosen models, demonstrates that the use of animal models is not clearly *scientifically* justified. The lack of scientific justification undermines the ethical justification—there can be no moral imperative to pursue harmful research that inflicts suffering on sentient creatures when that research cannot reap benefits for humans.

Based on what we have learned from neuroscience and other fields about animal minds and brains, the degree to which the value of animal lives, their interests, and their suffering are currently discounted in comparison to the value of human lives, interests, and suffering is both scientifically and morally unsupported. That is, animals matter morally much more than is currently accounted for when the harms (to animals) and benefits (to humans) of animal research are weighed in a moral

calculus. If animals matter morally, then our reasons for inflicting harm on them must be *significantly stronger* than they currently are. Just as harming other humans cannot be justified by mere appeal to the benefits to other humans, the harming of animals cannot be justified by mere appeal to the benefits to humans [53]. Moreover, an honest accounting of harms and benefits must include the *harms to humans* caused by reliance on animal research. Those harms, as noted above, include opportunity costs, wasted resources, and risks to human research subjects.

It is not my view that a Utilitarian-type calculation of costs and benefits is the only, or best way to assess the ethical permissibility of brain research with animals (nor biomedical research generally). However, it is the dominant paradigm, one endorsed by animal welfare regulations and guidelines, and by researchers and research review committees [54–56]. My aim is to show that, working within this widely accepted paradigm, an *honest and complete* accounting of both the harms and benefits will not support the *status quo* and will not result in a blanket justification of harms to animals based on benefits to humans. Nor is it compatible with inflicting certain and predictable harms for what have so far been unreasonably speculative and frequently nonexistent benefits.

Together, the predictive failure of animal models and the justificatory dilemma generated by brain research with animals call for radical reconsideration of the use of animal models in a wide range of brain research. Consistent failure of a model is a reason to reconsider the appropriateness and scientific value of that model and perhaps reject it. Consistent failure of multiple models, as in some brain research, is a reason to consider better alternatives to doing research that is so vitally important. As a practical matter, it is likely that the use of animal models in neuroscientific research will continue, at least in the near future. It is possible that raising animal research to the demanding *scientific* and *ethical* standards used in human research would make that research more scientifically useful and beneficial. These would not be trivial changes, and they would have to include rigorously justifying the choice of animal models and considering how the genetic modification of animals and their captivity affect well-being in a way that diminishes their value as models of free-ranging, diverse human populations. Such changes would recognize the suffering endured and the sacrifice of the animals involved, and take more seriously the mandate to reduce the harms and burdens of research and increase the benefits across all species. If animals have any moral status at all, they cannot be used carelessly and treated as if they are mere tools.

Acknowledgement Many thanks to Pandora Pound for her helpful and generous comments on an earlier draft of this chapter.

References

 Ferdowsian HR, Gluck JP. The ethical challenges of animal research: honoring Henry Beecher's approach to moral problems. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2015;24(4):391–406. https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0963180115000067.

- Matthews RA. Medical progress depends on animal models doesn't it? J R Soc Med. 2008;101(2):95–8. https://doi.org/10.1258/jrsm.2007.070164.
- 3. Regalado A. First monkeys with autism created in China. MIT Technology Review. MIT; 2016.
- Watson KK, Platt ML. Of mice and monkeys: using non-human primate models to bridge mouse- and human-based investigations of autism spectrum disorders. J Neurodev Disord. 2012;4(1):21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1866-1955-4-21.
- 5. Shanks N, Greek R, Greek J. Are animal models predictive for humans? Philos Ethics Humanit Med. 2009;4(1):2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1747-5341-4-2.
- 6. Garner JP. The significance of meaning: why do over 90% of behavioral neuroscience results fail to translate to humans, and what can we do to fix it? ILAR J. 2014;55(3):438–56.
- 7. Xu S-y, Pan S-y. The failure of animal models of neuroprotection in acute ischemic stroke to translate to clinical efficacy. Med Sci Monit Basic Res. 2013;19:37.
- Henderson VC, Kimmelman J, Fergusson D, Grimshaw JM, Hackam DG. Threats to validity in the design and conduct of preclinical efficacy studies: a systematic review of guidelines for in vivo animal experiments. PLoS Med. 2013;10(7):e1001489.
- Riet G, Korevaar DA, Leenaars M, Sterk PJ, Noorden CFJ, Bouter LM. Publication bias in laboratory animal research: a survey on magnitude, drivers, consequences, and potential solutions. PLoS One. 2012;7:e43404. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043404.
- 10. Savitz SI. Methodological quality of animal studies of neuroprotective agents currently in phase II/III acute ischemic stroke trials. Stroke. 2009;40(2):577–81.
- Sena ES, Worp HB, Bath PM, Howells DW, Macleod MR. Publication bias in reports of animal stroke studies leads to major overstatement of efficacy. PLoS Biol. 2010;8(3):e1000344. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000344.
- 12. Würbel H. Ideal homes? Housing effects on rodent brain and behaviour. Trends Neurosci. 2001;24(4):207–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(00)01718-5.
- Hawkes N. Poor quality animal studies cause clinical trials to follow false leads. BMJ. 2015;351:h5453. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h5453.
- 14. Akhtar A. The flaws and human harms of animal experimentation. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2015;24(4):407–19. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0963180115000079.
- Fisher M, Feuerstein G, Howells DW, Hurn PD, Kent TA, Savitz SI, et al. Update of the stroke therapy academic industry roundtable preclinical recommendations. Stroke. 2009;40 (6):2244–50.
- O'Collins VE, Macleod MR, Donnan GA, Horky LL, van der Worp BH, Howells DW. 1,026 experimental treatments in acute stroke. Ann Neurol. 2006;59(3):467–77.
- Ahmed SH. Validation crisis in animal models of drug addiction: beyond non-disordered drug use toward drug addiction. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2010;35(2):172–84. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.neubiorev.2010.04.005.
- Markou A, Chiamulera C, Geyer MA, Tricklebank M, Steckler T. Removing obstacles in neuroscience drug discovery: the future path for animal models. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2008;34:74. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2008.173.
- Prescott MJ, Lidster K. Improving quality of science through better animal welfare: the NC3Rs strategy. Lab Anim. 2017;46(4):152.
- Mogil JS. Animal models of pain: progress and challenges. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2009;10:283. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2606.
- Xiong Y, Mahmood A, Chopp M. Animal models of traumatic brain injury. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2013;14(2):128.
- 22. Gardiner K, Fortna A, Bechtel L, Davisson MT. Mouse models of Down syndrome: how useful can they be? Comparison of the gene content of human chromosome 21 with orthologous mouse genomic regions. Gene. 2003;318:137–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1119(03) 00769-8.
- Ahmed SH. The science of making drug-addicted animals. Neuroscience. 2012;211:107–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.08.014.
- Hyman SE, Malenka RC. Addiction and the brain: the neurobiology of compulsion and its persistence. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2001;2:695. https://doi.org/10.1038/35094560.
- Nestler EJ, Hyman SE. Animal models of neuropsychiatric disorders. Nat Neurosci. 2010;13:1161. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2647. https://www.nature.com/articles/nn.2647#sup plementary-information
- Stroke Treatments. National Stroke Association. 2019. https://www.stroke.org/we-can-help/ survivors/just-experienced-stroke/stroke-treatments/. Accessed 22 May 2019.
- Green AR, Odergren T, Ashwood T. Animal models of stroke: do they have value for discovering neuroprotective agents? Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2003;24(8):402–8.
- Cook DJ, Tymianski M. Nonhuman primate models of stroke for translational neuroprotection research. Neurotherapeutics. 2012;9(2):371–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-012-0115-z.
- 29. Traystman RJ. Animal models of focal and global cerebral ischemia. ILAR J. 2003;44 (2):85–95.
- 30. Gawrylewski A. The trouble with animal models. The Scientist. 2007;21(7):45-51.
- 31. Bath P, Gray L, Bath A, Buchan A, Miyata T, Green A. Effects of NXY-059 in experimental stroke: an individual animal meta-analysis. Br J Pharmacol. 2009;157(7):1157–71.
- 32. Bekoff M. What it's like to be a dog. Psychol Today. 2017;
- Pound P, Nicol CJ. Retrospective harm benefit analysis of pre-clinical animal research for six treatment interventions. PLoS One. 2018;13(3):e0193758. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0193758.
- Kant I. Lectures on ethics. The Cambridge edition of the works of Immanuel Kant. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1997.
- 35. Noë R, Hammerstein P. Biological markets: supply and demand determine the effect of partner choice in cooperation, mutualism and mating. Behav Ecol Sociobiol. 1994;35(1):1–11.
- Bshary R, Schäffer D. Choosy reef fish select cleaner fish that provide high-quality service. Anim Behav. 2002;63(3):557–64. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.2001.1923.
- Bailey J, Pereira S. Advances in neuroscience imply that harmful experiments in dogs are unethical. J Med Ethics. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2016-103630.
- Andrews K, Comstock G, Crozier G, Donaldson S, Fenton A, John T, et al. Chimpanzee rights: the Philosophers' brief. New York: Routledge; 2019.
- 39. Beauchamp TL, Wobber V. Autonomy in chimpanzees. Theor Med Bioeth. 2014;35 (2):117–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11017-014-9287-3.
- Degrazia D. Human-animal chimeras: human dignity, moral status, and species prejudice. Metaphilosophy. 2007;38(2–3):309–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9973.2007.00476.x.
- Albuquerque N, Guo K, Wilkinson A, Savalli C, Otta E, Mills D. Dogs recognize dog and human emotions. Biol Lett. 2016;12(1) https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2015.0883.
- Andics A, Gábor A, Gácsi M, Faragó T, Szabó D, Miklósi Á. Neural mechanisms for lexical processing in dogs. Science. 2016;353(6303):1030–2.
- 43. Hare B, Tomasello M. Human-like social skills in dogs? Trends Cogn Sci. 2005;9(9):439-44.
- Berns GS, Brooks AM, Spivak M. Functional MRI in awake unrestrained dogs. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):e38027. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038027.
- 45. Berns G. Dogs are people, too. The New York Times. 2015 October 5, 2013.
- 46. Bekoff M. Play signals as punctuation: the structure of social play in canids. Behaviour. 1995;132(5):419–29.
- Bekoff M. Wild justice and fair play: cooperation, forgiveness, and morality in animals. Biol Philos. 2004;19(4):489–520. https://doi.org/10.1007/sBIPH-004-0539-x.
- Brosnan SF. Nonhuman species' reactions to inequity and their implications for fairness. Soc Justice Res. 2006;19(2):153–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/p100022136.
- Anderson JR, Bucher B, Chijiiwa H, Kuroshima H, Takimoto A, Fujita K. Third-party social evaluations of humans by monkeys and dogs. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2017;82:95–109. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.003.

- Chijiiwa H, Kuroshima H, Hori Y, Anderson JR, Fujita K. Dogs avoid people who behave negatively to their owner: third-party affective evaluation. Anim Behav. 2015;106:123–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2015.05.018.
- 51. Zu Q-Q, Liu S, Xu X-Q, Lu S-S, Sun L, Shi H-B. An endovascular canine stroke model: middle cerebral artery occlusion with autologous clots followed by ipsilateral internal carotid artery blockade. Lab Investig. 2013;93:760. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2013.65. https://www. nature.com/articles/labinvest201365#supplementary-information
- 52. Atchaneeyasakul K, Guada L, Ramdas K, Watanabe M, Bhattacharya P, Raval AP, et al. Large animal canine endovascular ischemic stroke models: a review. Brain Res Bull. 2016;127:134–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2016.07.006.
- 53. Harman E. The moral significance of animal pain and animal death. In: Beauchamp TL, Frey RG, editors. The Oxford handbook of animal ethics. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2011.
- 54. Institute for Laboratory Animal Research, National Research Council. Guidance for the description of animal research in scientific publications. Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences; 2011.
- 55. CIOMS. International ethical guidelines for biomedical research involving human subjects. CIOMS; 2002.
- 56. Bateson P, Johansen-Berg H, Jones DK. Review of research using non-human primates. London: Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council, Medical Research Council and Wellcome Trust; 2011.



Animal Models and the Search for Drug Treatments for Traumatic Brain Injury

Pandora Pound

Abstract

This chapter focuses on the use of animals in research into traumatic brain injury. It begins with a brief consideration of the epidemiology of human brain injury, before examining the various ways in which animals are used to "model" human brain injuries. The bulk of the chapter explores the impact of preclinical animal research on the treatment of human traumatic brain injury. Bearing in mind this impact, the ethics of animal research into traumatic brain injury are discussed, as is the adequacy of current regulatory frameworks. Before concluding, advances in human-relevant (non-animal) approaches to investigating human traumatic brain injury are briefly considered.

Keywords

Traumatic brain injury · Evidence · Clinical impact · Ethics · Human-relevant

17.1 Introduction

One of the many ways in which animals are used in biomedical research is as "models" of human conditions. In other words, because some kinds of experimental research are not supposed to be performed on humans for ethical reasons, animals are used instead as proxies. The assumption is that the knowledge gained as a result of experimenting on animals will be generalisable to humans. Animal models are used in all areas of biomedical research; for example, there are animal models of Alzheimer's disease, autism, hypothyroidism, stroke, depression, cancer, blindness, heart failure and bone fractures, amongst many others. This chapter will consider the use of animals as models of traumatic brain injury (TBI).

P. Pound (🖂)

Safer Medicines Trust, Kingsbridge, UK e-mail: pandora@safermedicines.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0_17

TBI is defined as an injury to the head by either blunt force or penetration from an external force, which damages the brain to the extent that the patient suffers a change in brain function or pathology [1]. This chapter begins with an overview of brain injury in humans, before considering the ways in which animals are used in brain injury research. The scientific evidence is then explored to determine the value of animal studies of TBI for the treatment of human brain injury. There follows a discussion of the ethics of this body of research, as well as a consideration of advances in human-relevant (non-animal) research methods for investigating human traumatic brain injury. The chapter concludes with a reflection on the adequacy of current ethical and regulatory frameworks.

17.2 Epidemiology of Human Brain Injury

The causes of brain injury amongst humans include sports accidents, road traffic accidents, falls and violence (e.g. fights, shaken baby syndrome, military combat). The most common causes are estimated to be traffic accidents and falls [1], with the latter being the most common cause of TBI amongst older adults [2]. Amongst children, the causes of injury vary by age, with infants suffering inflicted injuries and toddlers suffering fall-related injuries, whilst older children's injuries tend to be sports-related or due to road traffic accidents [2]. Men are at a higher risk of TBI than women [2], possibly due to a greater propensity amongst men for certain types of risk-taking [3].

In Europe, crude incidence rates range from 47 to 694 per 100,000 population per year, whilst crude mortality rates range from 9 to 28.10 per 100,000 population per year [1]. Internationally, the incidence rate is estimated at 295 per 100,000 persons [3]. The causes of TBI vary geographically; the most common cause of TBI in developing countries is road traffic accidents, whereas in developed countries it is falls [2]. Europe has the highest percentage of fall- and work-related TBIs, whilst North America has the highest percentage of sports-related TBIs. In high-income countries, individuals with TBI are generally automobile occupants, whereas in middle-income and low-income countries, they are often vulnerable pedestrians, cyclists, and motorcyclists [2].

As these studies indicate, the incidence and causes of TBI vary by gender, age and socioeconomic context. Most epidemiological studies conclude that better prevention programs, improved regulation and robust public health policies and initiatives are necessary. These might include, for example, traffic regulations, road safety education, fall prevention programs, the use of safety equipment such as airbags and child car seats, regulations such as those relating to seat belts and helmets, and health and safety improvements in homes, schools, institutions and sports centers. In Taiwan, for example, the implementation of a motorcycle helmet law was associated with a 33% decrease in the incidence of motorcycle-related TBI [2], whilst legislation concerning sports-related TBI and improved traffic and safety regulations are credited with contributing to a decline in TBI in high-income countries [3]. Clearly then, much TBI is preventable.

17.3 Medical Management of Human TBI

Acute care in the case of severe TBI consists of ensuring that the patient has sufficient oxygen and blood supply, minimizing secondary damage due to inflammation or bleeding, maintaining blood pressure, and preventing further injuries to the head or neck. Diuretics, anti-seizure or coma-inducing drugs may be given, or surgery may be performed to minimize additional damage to the brain (e.g. to remove blood clots, stop bleeding or repair skull fractures). However, there is currently no approved medication for halting or reversing the pathological consequences, or sequelae, of brain injury, despite nearly 70 years of animal research dedicated to finding one.

17.4 Overview of Brain Injury Research in Animals

Although some TBI animal research aims to investigate basic mechanisms, the aim of most animal models of TBI is to understand the pathology of the primary injury and its sequelae in order to identify and test pharmacological treatments that might benefit humans with TBI. In pursuit of this goal, animals are subjected to a brain injury, given an experimental drug, monitored and then killed, if they do not first die of their injuries. Mice, rats, rabbits, ferrets, cats, dogs, sheep, pigs and nonhuman primates have all been used in TBI experiments. Since the 1950s, numerous methods and devices have been developed for inflicting brain damage on laboratory animals. Most involve some sort of impact to the brain, but others may involve rapid rotation, penetration of the brain or explosive blasts. After being brain-injured, animals are usually subjected to tests in order to monitor the effect of the drugs on their behavior. For example, tests for rodents typically include being forced to walk along an elevated narrow beam, to balance on an elevated, horizontal rotating rod and to swim in a glass cylinder from which there is no escape.

The various animal models of TBI are designed to produce controlled, homogenous types of injury [4]. According to O'Connor et al. [5], the current, most commonly used methods include the following: (1) dropping weights on animals' heads, either onto the skull or through a hole in the skull (weight drop model); (2) dropping weights onto a steel plate glued to the animal's exposed skull (impact acceleration model); (3) driving a pneumatic impactor onto the exposed brain through a hole in the skull (controlled cortical impact model); and (4) generating pressure on the brain via the impact of a rapid fluid bolus which is forced through a hole in the skull (fluid percussion injury).

Additional models include "non-impact acceleration injury models", which are designed to mimic situations in which humans in road traffic accidents sustain brain injuries associated with rotational forces rather than direct impact to the head [5]. Gennarelli [6] developed a model in which nonhuman primates were fixed in a seated position to a chair that was rapidly rotated in a controlled manner along different planes (more on Gennarelli's research later). A recent variant is designed to combine components of cervical whiplash and acceleration head injury; it uses a

pneumatically driven piston to produce traumatic flexion of the animal's cervical spine and rotational acceleration of its head. It has been noted that this model produces protracted periods of inactivity, motor dysfunction, and temporary cessation of breathing in some animals [7].

The penetrating injury model aims to mimic missile wound injury to the brain and involves either firing a bullet into the brain of a restrained animal or using a captive bolt device to damage the brain [8], causing extensive intracerebral hemorrhage [4]. Blast TBI models attempt to simulate blast conditions by placing animals in the open air at specific distances from an explosive device which is then detonated [9]. For laboratory-based blast TBI research, animals are placed in "shock tubes" which are separated by a diaphragm from a device which generates high pressure and which, upon reaching a critical level, ruptures the diaphragm and creates a shock wave.

Other methods employed to inflict brain injury on animals include the use of leadtipped darts, bolts, pendulum devices, padded darts fired from pistols, vacuum pressure [5] and metal probes [8]. In some research, animals are subjected to repeated brain injuries (e.g. by dropping weights, detonating blasts) in order to mimic the clinical consequences of repeated mild brain injury [4].

17.5 The Impact of TBI Animal Research on Treatments for Humans

As noted above, despite almost 70 years of animal studies into potential TBI treatments, not one has translated into an approved medication for humans [4, 10]. The type of drug that researchers are most interested in are "neuroprotectives", which limit secondary tissue loss after the primary injury. However, more than 40 neuroprotective drugs have proceeded to clinical trials over the past 30 years, and all have failed [11, 12]. So what is going wrong? Why has animal research into TBI failed to result in even one medication for clinical use? One of the reasons is that animal studies of TBI pay insufficient attention to factors that can undermine scientific validity. These issues will now be explored.

17.6 Poor Internal Validity

In common with the vast majority of animal research [13–24], animal studies of TBI suffer from weaknesses in experimental design and scientific rigor. Internal validity refers to the scientific robustness of a study's design, conduct, analysis and reporting. For example, animal studies of TBI frequently fail to take standard measures to prevent bias, such as randomizing animals to treatment groups and conducting masked outcome assessments [25–27]. In addition, they commonly fail to take account of the potential effects of confounding variables, such as anesthesia [28], or to conduct adequate physiological monitoring before and after brain injury is inflicted [29]. Furthermore, calculations that are necessary to determine the optimum

sample size are frequently not performed, with the sample size instead being determined arbitrarily or, worse, the numbers of animals being increased until statistical significance is achieved [11]. Unfortunately, findings from studies that suffer from such weaknesses in experimental design cannot be relied upon, nor can they be reliably applied to other settings or populations [30]. The poor quality of TBI animal research therefore provides a potential explanation for the lack of clinical translation in this field.

17.7 Poor External Validity

External validity is the extent to which research findings derived in one setting, population or species can be reliably applied to other settings, populations and species [31]. External validity is a key criterion for assessing the credibility of scientific research and is of obvious relevance in animal research where the aim is to extrapolate animal study findings to human populations. Within the field of experimental TBI, there appears to be more attention to issues of external validity than to issues of internal validity, and four key concerns are identifiable within the animal model literature: the inability of animal models of TBI to mimic human pathophysiology, the failure of animal samples to represent the human TBI population, and differences in neuroanatomy between animals and humans. All of these are potential explanations for the lack of translation from animals to humans in the field of TBI.

17.7.1 Animal Models Do Not Recapitulate Human Pathophysiology

Human brain injury is an unpredictable event with a range of pathophysiological mechanisms, neurological sequelae (e.g. seizures, reduced consciousness, coma) and "secondary insults" (e.g. hypotension, hypoxia). Consequently, no single animal model is able to reproduce the pathological mechanisms and changes that are observed after human TBI, particularly since there is considerable heterogeneity in the human response to TBI [5, 29, 32–34]. No two human brain injuries are identical; each will vary regarding cause, location and severity, and furthermore, humans experience a range of emotional and higher cognitive deficits (e.g. language problems) that cannot be recapitulated in animal models [29]. It has also been observed that most animal models mimic either focal or diffuse brain injury, whereas humans have various combinations of focal and diffuse patterns of tissue damage which can be complicated by their age, gender and preexisting conditions [32]. Yet in contrast to the pathophysiological heterogeneity observed in humans with TBI, animal models of TBI produce homogenous injuries [4]; the vast majority are impact models resulting in cerebral contusion in rodents, which, as Johnson et al. [9] suggest, may not even capture the most basic biomechanical mechanisms of human TBI. Furthermore, it is unlikely that a single agent could ever prevent the array of injury processes involved in human TBI [10].

17.7.2 Animal Models Do Not Recapitulate the Clinical Context

In animal TBI models, drugs have traditionally been administered either early after the inflicted brain injury or before it. Neither of these are relevant to the clinical context; in humans it is challenging to administer a drug early after TBI, and it is obviously not possible to administer a drug before the injury. Only compounds that can be administered late after onset of TBI are likely to have clinical relevance [4].

17.7.3 Animal Samples Are Not Representative of the Human TBI Population

Although some rodent models are described as producing severe TBI, the injured animals are able to move about, eat, and groom within hours of brain injury, which is very different from the situation in humans with severe TBI [9]. Consequently, these animals do not represent the human population very well. Furthermore, age and gender have a significant impact on the outcome of human TBI; for example, female sex hormones may have a neuroprotective effect after TBI [4], yet most rodent studies have traditionally been performed in male rats within a very narrow age range [29]. Age and sex differences are, however, increasingly incorporated into experimental TBI models [29, 32].

17.7.4 Species Differences

Most recent TBI studies have been performed in rats and mice [29], yet the human brain is much more complex structurally and functionally than the brain of rodents [32]. The neuroanatomy of rodents and humans is vastly different; rodents have lissencephalic (smooth) brains, and humans have gyrencephalic brains (with folds and convolutions). Gyrencephalic brains have a higher proportion of white-to-grey matter compared with lissencephalic brains. Because the incidence of human TBI involving white matter regions is high, it does not make sense to use animals that have a different distribution of white-to-grey matter. Indeed, a plethora of neuroprotective agents has successfully reduced grey matter damage in rodents, only to fail in clinical trials [12]. Additionally, after an inflicted injury, the lissencephalic brain will experience far less brain damage than the gyrencephalic brain [8, 12], suggesting that animals with lissencephalic brains are not good models for human TBI. Indeed, the differences between humans and rodents in terms of brain structure and function, craniospinal angle and white-to-grey matter ratio [4] means that humans and animals may have substantially different responses to traumas of comparable severity. Consequently, it has been suggested that the use of rodent models in TBI has had a negative impact on the ability to translate experimental findings to humans [12, 35].

17.8 Researchers' Responses to the Failure of TBI Animal Models to Translate into Human Treatments

Animal model researchers have responded to the lack of clinical translation by suggesting that they will modify their research methods. Some suggestions are to improve the scientific rigor of animal studies by using established methods for minimizing bias (e.g. randomization, masked assessment of outcomes). Others, however, have significant ethical implications. Some researchers, for example, argue that animals with larger, gyrencephalic brains and a high proportion of white-to-grey matter should be used in preference to rodents [12]. These would be animals such as pigs, dogs, cats, sheep and some nonhuman primates. It is argued that large animals' brains are also similar to human brains with respect to developmental patterns, degree of myelination, cerebrovascular anatomy and physiology [35]. Others note that the longer lifespan of larger animals enables researchers to study the long-term effects of their injuries; that their larger brains enable more clinically relevant monitoring; and that variables such as intracranial pressure, brain tissue oxygen content, and cerebral blood flow can be monitored using the same instruments as are used in humans [8, 12].

Others suggest that animal models of TBI should be made more complex. Xiong et al. [4] suggest that because TBI in the clinical setting is heterogeneous, with a combination of hematomas, contusion, diffuse axonal injury, subarachnoid hemorrhage, hypoxia, and ischemia, some of these factors need to be integrated into animal models of TBI in order to more closely approximate the clinical situation. Xiong et al. [4] also recommend that animal models of TBI incorporate multiple injuries because these can result in a complex pathophysiological and immunological response; they note, for example, that a model of TBI combined with a tibial fracture initiated a robust systemic inflammatory response in rats. Morganti-Kossmann et al. [32] also note that current research in neurotrauma is focusing on combining TBI with additional physiological insults.

Finally, because anesthesia can confound the results of experiments, it has been suggested that some animal model protocols should be revised to include components without anesthesia [7]. Clearly all the above suggestions for improving the validity of TBI animal models have significant ethical implications as they involve using an extended range of animals and increasing the range and severity of harms experienced by these animals. Before coming to ethical issues, however, it is important to consider whether the suggested modifications are likely to increase the possibility of clinical translation.

17.9 Will Modifications to Animal Studies Improve Clinical Translation?

If researchers using animal models of TBI increased the scientific rigor of their studies by minimizing the risk of bias and improving experimental design, then the internal validity of their research would be improved, increasing the likelihood that the results would be robust and trustworthy. Suppose, for the sake of argument then, that after much effort all the problems of internal validity were resolved. This would leave researchers with the problems of external validity. Leaving aside the ethical arguments for a moment, suppose researchers addressed the issue of external validity by using animal models that more accurately represent the human TBI population, by developing more complex animal models and experimental scenarios that more closely mimic the clinical context and by using larger animals with gyrencephalic brains. What then? It would take decades to make such changes and millions of animals would be used, but would animal models of TBI finally result in drugs that would benefit humans with TBI?

This would be highly unlikely, because the problem of animal-human species differences would remain. Species differences will always make the translation from animals to humans unreliable – even in animals whose neuroanatomy appears very similar to that of humans (except perhaps for those processes that arose early in evolution and that humans share with other species) [36]. The sort of thinking, where animal-human species differences are dealt with by using animals that appear "closer" to humans, is problematic because it focuses on superficial similarities between animals and humans and fails to adequately acknowledge important differences. The crude assumption that if two systems appear similar then they are likely to function similarly is incorrect. Over millennia, human and nonhuman species have adapted to very different environments, toxins, and pathogens, which in turn have resulted in very different microbiomes and immune systems [36]. Even very minor differences can result in substantial variations in biological processes and outcomes. These variations matter when it comes to developing safe and effective drugs for humans. Therefore, whilst internal validity and some aspects of external validity can in theory be improved, the problem of species differences cannot be overcome. Species differences will always undermine the extent to which findings from animal studies can be reliably applied to humans, meaning that animal models will never be fully scientifically valid, no matter how many "improvements" and modifications are attempted [30].

17.10 Ethics of Animal Research into TBI

In 1984, a research laboratory at the University of Pennsylvania run by Thomas Gennarelli was the subject of an undercover expose by the Animal Liberation Front (ALF). The ALF raided the laboratory, stole videotapes that researchers had made of their experiments and passed the tapes on to People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals (PeTA). PeTA produced a film that showed researchers laughing, smoking

and behaving disrespectfully whilst a hydraulic device was used to inflict head injuries on baboons [37]. As a result, the university was fined and Gennarelli's funding was suspended. Because of ethical concerns regarding the use of nonhuman primates, the model was applied to pigs in the 1990s and later to rabbits [8]. Since then, however, there appears to have been little discussion about the ethics of TBI research.

This is bizarre because the harms that animals in TBI research suffer are particularly severe. As noted earlier, animals in TBI studies are restrained and have their brains deliberately damaged by a variety of means, including crushing, shooting, blasting, penetrating, probing, acceleration, rotation and spinal flexion. Many have surgical procedures performed in preparation for brain injury, and as noted above, many are followed up for varying periods and subjected to tests after being injured. Because of inadequate reporting, a phenomenon not specific to TBI animal research [16, 38], the extent to which animals receive anesthesia and pain relief is often unclear. It is also frequently unclear whether predetermined humane endpoints are established (i.e. points at which animals should be killed to end their suffering). Furthermore, as noted above, harms and their severity currently appear to be multiplying; suggestions for "improving" TBI animal models include making them more complex by adding in associated conditions or by increasing the injuries that each animal will be subjected to [4, 32]. Such modifications raise very loud alarm bells in ethical terms since, as noted above, these models are still bound to fail due to animal-human species differences [30].

Perhaps the current dearth of ethical discussion is due to ignorance about the type and extent of harms that animals experience as a result of TBI research. Little has been documented on these harms, but a retrospective analysis of 17 TBI research studies produced sobering results [39]. The studies were conducted between 1975 and 2005 in the USA, Israel, Turkey, Sweden, Germany, Mexico, South Korea and Taiwan. These TBI studies aimed to investigate whether corticosteroids could reduce intracranial pressure after brain injury. Between them the studies used at least 2296 animals (an accurate estimation of numbers was difficult due to poor reporting), including 1163 mice, 863 rats, 210 guinea pigs, 31 monkeys and 29 cats. For these studies, brain injuries were inflicted on animals, and the effect of corticosteroids on recovery was tested. The most common way of inducing brain injury (14 studies) was through the use of devices designed to drop weights or protruding rods onto restrained animals' heads. In one study, monkeys were attached to a sled that crashed at speed. In three studies, animals were not anesthetised, and in two studies, animals were only lightly anesthetised. No studies reported using painkillers, but one study that used only light anesthesia and inflicted injury by dropping weights on animals' exposed skulls reported that animals "did not seem to need any analgesics" (p. 396 in [40]). Animals were reported to die upon impact in eight studies, accounting for an estimated 10%-18% of animals in these studies. One study reported post-operative wound infections in two animals.

The animals were observed for varying lengths of time post injury, and some were tested for neurological status and grip. They were followed up for periods ranging from 2 h to 30 days. Nine studies reported that some animals died before the

experiments had ended, indicating a severe level of suffering. In one study, animals were left to die of their injuries rather than being killed at the end of the experiment. Only one study mentioned post-operative care. The majority of the studies (76%) made no ethical statement (i.e. it was unclear whether the study received ethical approval, underwent ethical review, or followed any ethical guidelines). The harms experienced by animals in these studies were scored by a panel of experts according to the EU's severity classification (Annex VIII), which is similar to the American system in that both classify pain, suffering and distress into categories of mild, moderate or severe. Most of the panel scored the harms experienced by animals in these studies as "severe".

Since this investigation was a reanalysis of research conducted by Perel et al. [25], who explored the quality and clinical relevance of the same animal studies, it was possible to ascertain that the scientific quality of the 17 TBI studies was poor and that they did not result in any benefits for humans [25]. In fact, when corticosteroids for TBI were taken to clinical trials, they were associated with increased human mortality [25]. All in all, then, these 17 studies involved severe harms to animals, were of poor scientific quality, did not result in benefits for humans, and were associated with human harms, including death.

In the European Union, research projects using animals have to be independently evaluated by a competent authority as part of the approval or licensing process. This prospective evaluation involves a harm benefit analysis (HBA) to assess "whether the harm to the animals in terms of suffering, pain and distress is justified by the expected outcome" and whether the research "may ultimately benefit human beings, animals or the environment" [41]. As such, animal research is situated within a Utilitarian [42], instrumentalist, goals-based or consequentialist [43] ethical framework, where the end is deemed to justify the means. The ethical context of this framework is one in which humans are seen to count more in moral terms than animals; consequently, it is considered acceptable to allow animals to be harmed if the outcome is beneficial to humans. In the 17 studies discussed above, however, the harms to animals were clearly not outweighed by any benefits to humans. According to HBA criteria then, they should not have been approved.

The HBA is one of two ethical frameworks intended to safeguard research animals and has been a legal requirement in the UK since the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 and in the European Union since 2013 [41]. In the USA, there is no legal requirement to perform a HBA, but in the USA the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee is obliged to weigh the objectives of each study against its potential harms to animals [44].

The second ethical framework governing research animals is the 3Rs (i.e. the replacement, reduction and refinement of the use of animals in research) [45]. The reduction component encourages the use of fewer animals but has so far been unsuccessful. The refinement component (i.e. the use of methods and techniques that minimize harms to animals) currently gains the most attention from scientists working on animal models, possibly because it does not question the ongoing use of animals in research. With the increasing development of new, non-animal

technologies and approaches, however [46], the concept of replacement is beginning to present a fundamental challenge to the animal model paradigm.

17.11 Advances in Human-Relevant (Non-animal) Research Methods for Investigating Human TBI

A variety of in vitro methods is being developed for investigating TBI. Single or mixed cell cultures and whole brain sections can be used to investigate the role of a single cell type in the pathophysiology of TBI. Cultured cells or tissues can be damaged by various means, including compression, load and acceleration, or by deforming the elastic substrate on which cells are cultured [32]. In vitro TBI models attempt to accurately reproduce each distinct mechanical component of TBI without systemic confounding factors such as inflammation, hypoxia and ischaemia [28], thus permitting tighter control of experimental variables and therefore greater experimental fidelity. Tissue models can be useful for understanding how tissue deformation (which, for example, can happen as a result of deceleration forces in car crashes) leads to brain damage [47]. The brain-on-a-chip system consists of 3D cell cultures that attempt to model the physiological responses of brain tissue in a microfluidic environment. These systems are currently used for high-throughput screening of chemicals to investigate whether any have a positive physiological effect on a micromodel of a neurological disease [28]. However, brain-on a-chip models also offer the potential of studying disease processes, although currently the ability to accurately model TBI on a chip is limited because of its complexity and incompletely understood pathophysiology [28]. Although study of the pathological sequelae of brain injury is more complex than study of the acute injury (involving as it does several processes such as inflammation and hypoxia), in vitro research is active in this area [28]. In vitro studies of TBI are clearly more ethical than animal studies, but it is argued that they are also more cost-effective [28, 48], allowing more data to be obtained in a shorter time frame, especially if a high-throughput format is used. Nevertheless, whilst in vitro studies appear to have enormous potential, there is clearly more work to be done in this developing field.

17.12 Conclusions

This chapter has shown that the traditional Utilitarianism argument in favor of TBI animal models (and animal research in general) appears to be gravely undermined by the evidence, namely that animal models of TBI lack scientific validity and have failed to lead to human benefit. Furthermore, the poor quality of animal TBI research renders that research invalid, meaning that the severe suffering endured by animals loses its moral justification because the animals' use cannot possibly contribute towards clinical benefit. Given that the Utilitarianism approach, which governs animal research regulation, appears to be no longer fit for purpose, a new ethics of animal research is required. It is vital that an updated ethical approach takes account of the

burgeoning evidence regarding the poor quality of much animal research [16, 20, 22, 23, 38, 49–54] and its lack of translation to clinical medicine [21, 25, 55–60].

Animal models of TBI appear to be deeply unethical, not only for the animals involved but also for humans with TBI who continue to lack any effective treatments. Nevertheless, animal studies of TBI continue to be approved by ethical review boards and licensing bodies, indicating that current regulatory systems are failing to safeguard animals and humans and failing to ensure that only beneficial, scientifically rigorous research is approved. At present, responsibility for the authorization of animal studies in the UK is shared amongst researchers, ethical review boards, peer reviewers of funding applications and licensing bodies such as the UK's Home Office [61]. Consequently, crucial checks relating to the scientific rigor of studies, their likelihood of benefit, the availability of non-animal technologies and the assessment and minimization of animal harms are conducted in an inconsistent and disparate manner, with no guarantee that all the bodies involved hold the appropriate expertise. As a result, key checks for safeguarding animals may fall between the cracks. There ought to be much greater scientific and ethical scrutiny of project applications involving animals, and this scrutiny would be more effective if it were more centralized and coordinated.

The level, range and consistency of expertise on ethical review boards must also be increased. Such boards should include an expert in statistics and experimental design to guarantee the scientific rigor of the study, as well as an expert in the relevant in vitro technologies to determine whether it is possible to use these instead of animals. Moreover, experts from a wide range of disciplines (e.g. epidemiology, public health, clinical research) should be involved in ethically reviewing and authorizing studies so that wider questions may be asked about the appropriateness of the research question and whether animal research is the best way to answer it. Funders, journal reviewers and licensing bodies should pay greater attention to the possibilities for reducing suffering by mandating the consistent use of anesthesia and analgesia. Shockingly, severe harms continue to be permitted within current regulatory frameworks. Both Directive 2010/63/EU [41] and current US policy [62] allow severe unalleviated pain, suffering or distress, although it is supposed to require strong justification. Clearly, if regulators are at all serious about animal welfare, there is a very pressing need to review regulations that permit animals to suffer severe harms.

Arguably, an expectation of sufficient net benefit to humans must be a condition of morally responsible animal research [63], yet little attention is given to the problem of prospectively assessing the benefit of animal studies [44]. An objective view of benefit is difficult since scientists tend to be overly optimistic about the potential benefits of their research, particularly when seeking funding [64, 65]. This optimism, together with an implicit confidence in animal research [24, 66], is likely to bias assessments towards a prediction of benefit. Yet increasing doubts about the validity of findings derived from animal studies and their translation to humans suggest that this confidence is unwarranted. To increase transparency and allow reviewers to assess the status and strength of the animal data, we recommend that funding and licensing bodies make it a requirement that project applicants, as part of their application, conduct a systematic review of existing animal studies in their field [56, 67, 68] and where possible compare the findings with the comparable human data. We also urge funding and licensing bodies, peer reviewers, and ethical review boards to adopt a precautionary approach when assessing animal studies so that—in line with the evidence—they assume that the research is *unlikely* to benefit humans. This would place the burden of proof on those submitting proposals and encourage them to make a much stronger case for any anticipated benefits.

Finally, it would be easier to assess the prospective benefits of individual animal research projects if the relevance to humans of preclinical animal research *in general* was systematically evaluated [63]. This is an undertaking that a previous UK government's chief scientific advisor also thought important. In his 2016 lecture to the animal research community, he asked: "To what extent have we as a community, ever subjected our claims about how vital animal research has been to human health to the same level of scrutiny we'd apply to those claiming to have discovered a new cure? And I think if not, we must" [69].

The evidence suggests that animal research into TBI is crude, harmful and ineffective. Given that animal models of TBI have used countless animals and resources yet have failed to result in even one beneficial drug for humans, surely a good argument could be made for refusing to approve any further animal studies of TBI and, instead, for investing resources into prevention—which is of proven effectiveness—and into developing and evaluating the potential of new, human-relevant technologies for drug discovery.

References

- Brazinova A, Rehorcikova V, Taylor MS, Buckova V, Majdan M, Psota M, Peeters W, Feigin V, Theadom A, Holkovic L, Synnot A. Epidemiology of traumatic brain injury in Europe: a living systematic review. J Neurotrauma. 2016;33:1–30. https://doi.org/10.1089/ neu.2015.4126.
- Li M, Zhao Z, Yu G, Zhang J. Epidemiology of traumatic brain injury over the world: a systematic review. Gen Med. 2016;4(5):e275.
- Nguyen R, Fiest KM, McChesney J, Kwon CS, Jette N, Frolkis AD, Atta C, Mah S, Dhaliwal H, Reid A, Pringsheim T. The international incidence of traumatic brain injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can J Neurol Sci. 2016;43(6):774–85.
- 4. Xiong Y, Mahmood A, Chopp M. Animal models of traumatic brain injury. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2013;14(2):128.
- 5. O'connor WT, Smyth A, Gilchrist MD. Animal models of traumatic brain injury: a critical evaluation. Pharmacol Ther. 2011;130(2):106–13.
- Gennarelli TA, Thibault LE, Adams JH, Graham DI, Thompson CJ, Marcincin RP. Diffuse axonal injury and traumatic coma in the primate. Ann Neurol. 1982;12(6):564–74.
- 7. Wojnarowicz MW, Fisher AM, Minaeva O, Goldstein LE. Considerations for experimental animal models of concussion, traumatic brain injury, and chronic traumatic encephalopathy—these matters matter. Front Neurol. 2017;8:240.
- 8. Vink R. Large animal models of traumatic brain injury. J Neurosci Res. 2018;96(4):527-35.
- 9. Johnson VE, Meaney DF, Cullen DK, Smith DH. Animal models of traumatic brain injury. Handb Clin Neurol. 2015;127:115–28.
- 10. Marshall LF. Head injury: recent past, present, and future. Neurosurgery. 2000;47(3):546-61.

- 11. Loane DJ, Faden AI. Neuroprotection for traumatic brain injury: translational challenges and emerging therapeutic strategies. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2010;31(12):596–604.
- Sorby-Adams AJ, Vink R, Turner RJ. Large animal models of stroke and traumatic brain injury as translational tools. Am J Phys Regul Integr Comp Phys. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpregu.00163.2017.
- Bebarta V, Luyten D, Heard K. Emergency medicine animal research: does use of randomization and blinding affect the results? Acad Emerg Med. 2003;10(6):684–7.
- Scott S, Kranz JE, Cole J, Lincecum JM, Thompson K, Kelly N, Bostrom A, Theodoss J, Al-Nakhala BM, Vieira FG, Ramasubbu J. Design, power, and interpretation of studies in the standard murine model of ALS. Amyotroph Lateral Scler. 2008;9(1):4–15.
- Crossley NA, Sena E, Goehler J, Horn J, van der Worp B, Bath PM, Macleod M, Dirnagl U. Empirical evidence of bias in the design of experimental stroke studies: a metaepidemiologic approach. Stroke. 2008;39(3):929–34.
- Kilkenny C, Parsons N, Kadyszewski E, Festing MF, Cuthill IC, Fry D, Hutton J, Altman DG. Survey of the quality of experimental design, statistical analysis and reporting of research using animals. PLoS One. 2009;4(11):e7824.
- Vesterinen HM, Sena ES, French-Constant C, Williams A, Chandran S, Macleod MR. Improving the translational hit of experimental treatments in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J. 2010;16(9):1044–55.
- van der Worp HB, Howells DW, Sena ES, Porritt MJ, Rewell S, O'Collins V, Macleod MR. Can animal models of disease reliably inform human studies? PLoS Med. 2010;7(3): e1000245.
- 19. Sena ES, Currie GL, McCann SK, Macleod MR, Howells DW. Systematic reviews and metaanalysis of preclinical studies: why perform them and how to appraise them critically. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2014;34(5):737–42.
- Hirst JA, Howick J, Aronson JK, Roberts N, Perera R, Koshiaris C, Heneghan C. The need for randomization in animal trials: an overview of systematic reviews. PLoS One. 2014;9(6): e98856.
- Pound P, Bracken MB. Is animal research sufficiently evidence based to be a cornerstone of biomedical research? BMJ. 2014;348:g3387.
- 22. Macleod MR, McLean AL, Kyriakopoulou A, Serghiou S, de Wilde A, Sherratt N, Hirst T, Hemblade R, Bahor Z, Nunes-Fonseca C, Potluru A. Risk of bias in reports of in vivo research: a focus for improvement. PLoS Biol. 2015;13(10):e1002273.
- Henderson VC, Demko N, Hakala A, MacKinnon N, Federico CA, Fergusson D, Kimmelman J. A meta-analysis of threats to valid clinical inference in preclinical research of sunitinib. elife. 2015;4:e08351.
- 24. Reichlin TS, Vogt L, Würbel H. The researchers' view of scientific rigor—survey on the conduct and reporting of in vivo research. PLoS One. 2016;11(12):e0165999.
- Perel P, Roberts I, Sena E, Wheble P, Briscoe C, Sandercock P, et al. Comparison of treatment effects between animal experiments and clinical trials: systematic review. BMJ. 2007;334 (7586):197.
- 26. Gibson CL, Gray LJ, Bath PM, Murphy SP. Progesterone for the treatment of experimental brain injury; a systematic review. Brain. 2007;131(2):318–28.
- 27. Bhatti J, Nascimento B, Akhtar U, Rhind SG, Tien H, Nathens A, da Luz LT. Systematic review of human and animal studies examining the efficacy and safety of N-Acetylcysteine (NAC) and N-Acetylcysteine amide (NACA) in traumatic brain injury: impact on neurofunctional outcome and biomarkers of oxidative stress and inflammation. Front Neurol. 2018;8:744.
- 28. Kumaria A. In vitro models as a platform to investigate traumatic brain injury. Alternatives to laboratory animals: ATLA. 2017;45(4):201–11.
- 29. Morales DM, Marklund N, Lebold D, Thompson HJ, Pitkanen A, Maxwell WL, Longhi L, Laurer H, Maegele M, Neugebauer E, Graham DI. Experimental models of traumatic brain injury: do we really need to build a better mousetrap? Neuroscience. 2005;136(4):971–89.

- Pound P, Ritskes-Hoitinga M. Is it possible to overcome issues of external validity in preclinical animal research? Why most animal models are bound to fail. J Transl Med. 2018;16(304) https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-018-1678-1.
- Bailoo JD, Reichlin TS, Würbel H. Refinement of experimental design and conduct in laboratory animal research. ILAR J. 2014;55(3):383–91.
- 32. Morganti-Kossmann MC, Yan E, Bye N. Animal models of traumatic brain injury: is there an optimal model to reproduce human brain injury in the laboratory? Injury. 2010;41:S10–3.
- Goldstein LE, McKee AC, Stanton PK. Considerations for animal models of blast-related traumatic brain injury and chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2014;6 (5):64.
- 34. Nyanzu M, Siaw-Debrah F, Ni H, Xu Z, Wang H, Lin X, Zhuge Q, Huang L. Improving on laboratory traumatic brain injury models to achieve better results. Int J Med Sci. 2017;14 (5):494.
- Dai JX, Ma YB, Le NY, Cao J, Wang Y. Large animal models of traumatic brain injury. Int J Neurosci. 2018;128(3):243–54.
- 36. Perlman RL. Evolution and medicine. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2013.
- Carbone L. What animals want: expertise and advocacy in laboratory animal welfare policy. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2004.
- Kilkenny C, Browne WJ, Cuthill IC, Emerson M, Altman DG. Improving bioscience research reporting: the ARRIVE guidelines for reporting animal research. PLoS Biol. 2010;8(6): e1000412.
- 39. Pound P, Nicol CJ. Retrospective harm benefit analysis of pre-clinical animal research for six treatment interventions. PLoS One. 2018;13(3):e0193758.
- Shapira Y, Davidson E, Weidenfeld Y, Cotev S, Shohami E. Dexamethasone and indomethacin do not affect brain edema following head injury in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1988;8 (3):395–402.
- European Union. European Union directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament and of the council of 22 September 2010 on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes. Off J Eur Union. 2010;276
- 42. Gregory RT. The failure of traditional arguments in the vivisection debate. Public Aff Q. 2000;14(2):159–82.
- Foster C. The ethics of medical research on humans. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2001.
- 44. Brønstad A, Newcomer CE, Decelle T, Everitt JI, Guillen J, Laber K. Current concepts of harm–benefit analysis of animal experiments–report from the AALAS–FELASA working group on harm–benefit analysis–part 1. Lab Anim. 2016;50(1_suppl):1–20.
- 45. Russell WM, Burch RL, Hume CW. The principles of humane experimental technique. London: Methuen; 1959.
- 46. Archibald K, Tsaioun K, Kenna JG, Pound P. Better science for safer medicines: the human imperative. J R Soc Med. 2018;111(12):433–8.
- Morrison B III, Cater HL, Benham CD, Sundstrom LE. An in vitro model of traumatic brain injury utilising two-dimensional stretch of organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. J Neurosci Methods. 2006;150(2):192–201.
- 48. Morrison B III, Elkin BS, Dollé JP, Yarmush ML. In vitro models of traumatic brain injury. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2011;13:91–126.
- 49. Sena ES, Van Der Worp HB, Bath PM, Howells DW, Macleod MR. Publication bias in reports of animal stroke studies leads to major overstatement of efficacy. PLoS Biol. 2010;8(3): e1000344.
- 50. Tsilidis KK, Panagiotou OA, Sena ES, Aretouli E, Evangelou E, Howells DW, et al. Evaluation of excess significance bias in animal studies of neurological diseases. PLoS Biol. 2013;11(7): e1001609.

- 51. Henderson VC, Kimmelman J, Fergusson D, Grimshaw JM, Hackam DG. Threats to validity in the design and conduct of preclinical efficacy studies: a systematic review of guidelines for in vivo animal experiments. PLoS Med. 2013;10(7):e1001489.
- Martić-Kehl MI, Wernery J, Folkers G, Schubiger PA. Quality of animal experiments in antiangiogenic cancer drug development–a systematic review. PLoS One. 2015;10(9):e0137235.
- 53. McGrath J, Curtis M. BJP is changing its requirements for scientific papers to increase transparency. Br J Pharmacol. 2015;172(11):2671–4.
- 54. Andrews NA, Latrémolière A, Basbaum AI, Mogil JS, Porreca F, Rice AS, et al. Ensuring transparency and minimization of methodologic bias in preclinical pain research: PPRECISE considerations. Pain. 2016;157(4):901–9.
- Contopoulos-Ioannidis DG, Ntzani EE, Ioannidis JP. Translation of highly promising basic science research into clinical applications. Am J Med. 2003;114(6):477–84.
- 56. Pound P, Ebrahim S, Sandercock P, Bracken MB, Roberts I. Where is the evidence that animal research benefits humans? BMJ. 2004;328(7438):514–7.
- 57. Hackam DG, Redelmeier DA. Translation of research evidence from animals to humans. JAMA. 2006;296(14):1727–32.
- Ioannidis JP. Extrapolating from animals to humans. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(151):151ps15– ps15.
- 59. Hawkes N. Poor quality animal studies cause clinical trials to follow false leads. BMJ. 2015;351:h5453.
- 60. Cohen D. Oxford TB vaccine study calls into question selective use of animal data. BMJ. 2018;360
- 61. NC3Rs. Responsibility in the use of animals in bioscience research: expectations of the major research council and charitable funding bodies. National centre for the replacement, refinement and reduction of animals in research (NC3Rs) 2017, April 2017.
- 62. Guidelines for assigning animals into USDA pain and distress categories, 2009.
- 63. DeGrazia D, Sebo J. Necessary conditions for morally responsible animal research. Camb Q Healthc Ethics. 2015;24(4):420–30.
- 64. Brown N. Hope against hype-accountability in biopasts, presents and futures. Sci Technol Stud. 2003;16(2):3–21.
- 65. Pollock N, Williams R. The business of expectations: how promissory organizations shape technology and innovation. Soc Stud Sci. 2010;40(4):525–48.
- 66. Vogt L, Reichlin TS, Nathues C, Würbel H. Authorization of animal experiments is based on confidence rather than evidence of scientific rigor. PLoS Biol. 2016;14(12):e2000598.
- 67. Hooijmans C, Ritskes-Hoitinga M. Progress in using systematic reviews of animal studies to improve translational research. PLoS Med. 2013;10(7):e1001482.
- Ritskes-Hoitinga M, Wever K. Improving the conduct, reporting, and appraisal of animal research. BMJ. 2018;360:j4935. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j4935.
- 69. Walport M. Animal research; then and now. Paget lecture 2016 (transcript of speech). 80th Stephen Paget Memorial Lecture. Understanding Animal Research. 2016;

Index

A

Abolitionism, 195, 201 Affective states emotions, 75, 158, 171, 202 feelings, 54, 164 pain, 54, 103 pleasure, 54 Agribusiness, 147 Allen, C., 24, 105, 106, 224, 225 Alternative models brain-on-a-chip, 297 in vitro, 297 tissue, 297 Amphibians frogs, 23 newts, 23 salamanders, 23 Andrews, K., 102, 110 Anecdote(s), 36, 41 Animal-animal admixtures, 206 Animal cognition intelligence, 34, 35 rationality, 198 shared intentionality, 40 sociality, 145 social learning, 58 Animal ethics, 2, 3, 6, 11, 100, 101, 137, 156, 191-195, 198, 199, 203 Animal models human-nonhuman animal chimeras, 7, 206-208 invasive research, 8 justificatory dilemma, 272, 281, 282 reproducibility, 272, 276 stroke, 9, 275–278, 287 toxicity testing, 196, 211 translational failure, 274, 276 traumatic brain injury blast TBI, 290

controlled cortical impact model, 289 fluid percussion injury, 289 impact acceleration model, 289 weight drop model, 289 validity ecological, 5, 43-45, 163 external, 10 internal, 10, 290, 291, 294 Animal welfare advocacy welfarism, 6 Anthropectomy, 110 Anthropocentric (anthropocentrism) reverse, 110 Anthropodenial, 4, 109 Anthropomorphism (anthropomorphic) biocentric, 109 critical, 109 sentimentalism, 110-111 Archaeoceti, 178 Argument from analogy, 86 Argument from marginal cases, 197, 198, 200 Aristotle, 54, 193 The Assertion (or expectation) of sufficient net benefit, 248, 298 Autism, 273, 287 Autonomy authority, 256, 259 bodily sovereignty, 9, 256, 259, 262, 265 diminished, 256, 265 nonhuman vs. human, 9 respect for, 259, 262, 263, 265 self determination, 262 self-ownership, 257

B

Bard, K., 42 Barrett, L., 160 Bayne, K., 213

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 L. S. M. Johnson et al. (eds.), *Neuroethics and Nonhuman Animals*, Advances in Neuroethics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31011-0 Beauchamp, T., 260 Behavior alliances, 182 alloparenting allonursing, 182 behavioral abnormalities stereotypy, 184 caching sequences, 162 consortships, 182 cooperative breeding, 56 dominance hierarchies, 169 epimeletic (helping) behavior, 182 fleeing, 62 foraging, 56, 159 freezing, 62, 63 murmuration, 167 olfactory imprinting, 64 phenotype matching, 64 plasticity, 165 risk sensitive hypothesis, 59 schooling, 59, 62 sociality, 282 thigmotaxis, 62 Behavioral ecology, 153, 164, 180 Behavioral economics, 153, 164 Behavioral flexibility, 59, 178 Behavioral research, 259, 262 Behaviorism classical conditioning, 152 noxious stimuli, 20, 104, 105 operant conditioning, 152 scototaxic (light vs. dark chamber) test, 62 skinner box, 157 stimulus-response, 80, 92 threatening stimuli, 61 Bekoff, M., 109, 167 Belcourt, B.-R., 100 Belmont Report National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 259 Bentham, J., 60, 194 Berns, G., 279 Berridge, K.C., 159, 163 Birch, J., 102, 226, 227 Bird(s), 3, 18, 19, 21-22, 25, 44, 45, 56-58, 61, 79, 121, 142, 160, 165-167, 170, 222, 261, 274, 280 Bischof-Kohler hypothesis, 76 Boesch, C., 5, 34-46, 280 Boysen, S., 42 Brain brain injury clinical setting, 293

brain plasticity, 5, 43 cerebral lateralization, 59 complexity, 159, 177 corticosteroids, 295 encephalization quotients (EQ), 179 neuroprotective, 290 Brain-computer interface (BCI), 246, 250 Brain-machine interface (BMI), 240 Brain/MINDS (Japan), 2, 206, 241, 242, 251 Brain Research through Advancing Neurotechnologies (BRAIN) Initiative, 238–241 Broom, D., 54, 55, 65 Brown, C., 4, 53–66, 280 Bshary, R., 56

С

Cabanac, M., 22 Cambridge Declaration on Consciousness, 264 Canadian Centre for Wolf Research (CCWR), 156.157 Capacities attention, 104 behavioral innovation, 181 decision-making, 260, 264 foreplanning, 181 intelligence, 7, 177 kin recognition, 64 memory, 100, 195, 211 mental representation, 181 metacognition, 181 motor control, 160, 240 perception, 240 reciprocity direct, 56 shared intentionality, 40 social learning (culture), 64 spatial navigation, 58, 59 vocal imitation, 181 working memory, 153, 275 Captive studies, 42 Captivity (confinement) aquariums, 177 circuses, 192 deprivation, 43, 178 farms, 125, 202 marine parks, 177 sanctuary, 178 zoos, 192 Carnivores, 160, 169, 170 Carruthers, P., 80, 90 Cell assembly, 154 Cephalopods, 3, 18, 25-27, 156, 225

Cetology, 169 Chimera research chimeric experiments, 211 human-nonhuman animal chimeras chimeric organism, 207 humanization, 207 humanized brains (minds), 214 moral humanization, 214 substantially humanized, 207 pig-human chimeras, 213 Chimpanzee(s), 5, 34, 36, 38–46, 64, 152, 164, 211, 238, 243, 245, 262, 281 "Chimpanzees in Biomedical and Behavioral Research: Assessing the Necessity", 211 China Brain Project, 239, 241, 242, 251 China's animal regulations Animal Protection Law (in development), 243 Guidelines on the Humane Treatment of Laboratory Animals, 243 Prevention of Cruelty to Animals Law (in development), 243 Regulations for Administration of Affairs Concerning Experimental Animals, 243 Chinese Institute for Brain Research, 241 Chomsky, N., 165, 166 Churchland, P., 76 Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-Cas9, 206 Cochrane, A., 146, 200 Cognition animal, 3, 4, 34-46, 59, 102, 111 Asian elephants, 64 birds (avian, corvids), 21 chimpanzees, 38-41, 45, 164 cow (bovine), 74, 75 dogs (African Wild Dogs, Bush Dogs, canids, canine, Dholes), 45, 170 dolphins (Bottlenose dolphins, Orcas), 177 eels (moray), 56 Eurasian magpie, 64 fish (archerfish, arctic char, cichlids, cleaner wrasses, damselfish, flathead minnows, gobies, groupers, guppies, rabbitfishes, Siamese fighting fish, sticklebacks, zebrafish), 24, 25, 56, 59, 101, 121 gorillas, 64 human, 4, 34, 44, 46 insects (bees), 164

orangutans, 64 primate, 35, 43, 45 whales (Belugas), 177 Cognitive disorders (psychiatric disorders), 146 Cognitive sciences computationalism, 160 connectionism, 160 functionalism, 152 hypothetical constructs, 152, 153, 159 information theory, 153, 160 Neural Network Theory, 160 Cognitive states beliefs second-order, 77 desires, 73, 80-82, 195 fear. 4. 61 learned helplessness, 125, 265 trauma, 154 valenced states, 225 Cognitivism neo-cognitivism, 156 post-cognitivism, 158 The Common Rule, 260 Communication, 46, 102, 165, 166, 178-180, 279 Conation (conative states), 152 Consciousness anoetic consciousness, 77, 90 non-consciousness/unconsciousness, 8, 18, 20-22, 24, 45, 54, 79, 82, 84, 85, 92, 210, 264 phenomenal, 4, 82, 105, 106, 223 self-consciousness (awareness) mirror self-recognition (MSR) test, 64, 101 olfactory mirror test, 101 sentience pain asymbolia, 103 Cooperation, 40-42, 158, 244 Coppinger, R., 166, 167 Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), 140, 145 Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS), 239 Cultured meat, 139-141 Cybernetics, 153, 161

D

Damasio, A., 77 Darwin, C., 57, 61, 152 Davenport, R., 41 Dawkins, M.S., 164 Decautionary pinciple, 111 Declaration of Helsinki, 256 Degrazia, D., 3, 197, 202, 251 Deprivation, 5, 25, 41, 43, 45, 144, 166, 178, 195, 249, 250, 280 Descartes, R. cartesian(s) automata, 54, 112 dualism, 160 cogito, 223 meditations on first philosophy, 222 method of doubt, 222 The Dickey-Wicker amendment, 209 Disability, 107, 144, 275 Disenhancement, 7, 136 Disodium 2,4-disulphophenyl-N-tertbutylnitrone (NXY-059), 276-278 Dobzhansky, T., 85 Domestication Aquaadvantage Salmon, 140 Enviropigs (University of Guelph), 148 farm animals cows (bovine), 3, 4, 73–94 hens (chickens), 121 pigs, 10, 108, 140, 145-148, 206, 208, 213, 274, 276, 289, 293, 295 selective breeding, 120, 121, 168, 169 Donaldson, S., 193

E

Ecological anthropology, 170 Ecology, 5, 36, 45, 58, 153, 164, 169, 179, 180 Ecotoxicology, 62 Effective Altruism, 229 Elwood, R., 26, 227, 228 Embodied (enactive) cognition affordance, 164 Gibsonian neo-Gibsonian, 160 Emmerman, K., 149 Enhancement, 2, 6, 7, 136, 145, 242 Environmental enrichment, 42, 43 Epidemiology, 288, 298 Epigenetics, 126, 127, 170 Ethology cognitive, 164, 170 ethogram, 169 fixed action patterns, 162 instinct, 157, 162 modal action patterns, 163 motor grammars, 163 natural action sequences, 162 neuroethology, 4, 154, 155, 159-162, 165 pop-, 165, 167-169

European animal regulations EU Directive 2010/63/EU, 243, 298 European Union (EU) Human Brain Project, 239, 242, 243 Evolution adaptation, 85, 178 exaptation, 85 natural selection, 58, 123–125 parallel, 26 phylogenetics, 240 Experimental validity, 5, 44, 45, 66, 202, 298 Explanation, 4, 18, 35, 42, 78–80, 102, 109, 157, 161, 223, 272, 274, 277, 291

F

Farrelly, C., 201 Feinberg, J., 199 Fenton, A., 7, 85, 94, 164 Fentress, J., 161, 165, 166 Ferdowsian, H., 9, 272, 282 Fish goldfish, 25, 61, 62 rainbow trout, 24, 25 sharks, 24 teleost, 24, 25, 104, 106, 110 Folk psychology, 79, 102 Force-free training, 169 Francione, G., 195 Freeman, W.J., 171 Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), 85, 87, 88, 281

G

Genetic engineering, 120, 126 Gennarelli, T., 289, 294, 295 Gluck, J., 211, 272, 282 Gombe, 36, 38, 41 Grandin, T., 94 Great apes, 178, 182, 197, 201, 243 Greek, J., 273 Greek, R., 273 Greenberg, B., 90, 91, 93

H

Habeas corpus Somerset v. Stewart (1772), 257
Harlow, H., 41, 211
Harrington, F.H., 161
Hasson, U., 87, 88
Health Research Extension Act (1985), 261
Hebb, D., 154
Home Office (UK), 298 Honig, W.K., 153, 161 Horowitz, A., 101 Human-animal admixtures, 206 Human Brain Project, 239, 241 Human cardiovascular system, 273 Humane, 7, 66, 74, 120–128, 210, 242, 243, 248, 295 Human pathophysiology, 10, 291, 292 Human uniqueness, 8 Hume, D., 112 Hursthouse, R., 194 Hyman, S., 275 Hypothetico-deductive method, 152

I

Institute of Medicine (US), 211, 262 Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC), 242 Intensive animal agriculture, 125-127, 137-140, 142 Interests distress, 123, 125, 126, 128, 202, 209-212, 242, 244, 247, 250, 261, 264, 296, 298 harm, 199 intrinsic, 146, 200 stress, 20 The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP), 102 International Guiding Principles for Biomedical Research Involving Animals, 239 International Society for Stem Cell Research (ISSCR), 207 Invasive chimpanzee research, 245 Invertebrates arthropods insects bees, 27 spiders, 27

J

James, W., 152, 155 John, S., 227 Joint attention, 42

K

Kantianism, 196 Kaplan, G., 101 Katz, J., 78 Key, B., 61, 106, 108, 110 Kim, C.J., 207 Kittay, E., 144 Köhler, W., 76 Korean Brain Initiative, 241 Krank, M., 161 Krechevsky, I., 153 Kymlicka, W., 193

L

Language, 76, 87, 89–92, 102, 153, 165, 166, 181, 198, 199, 207, 208, 279–281, 292 LeDoux, J., 79, 82, 83 Liberty, 6, 9, 183, 185, 192, 193, 195, 198–201, 257, 259–263, 265 Linguistics, 109, 165 Lorenz, K., 156, 157, 162, 163, 165

M

Macaque(s) rhesus, 240, 273 Mackintosh, N.J., 153 Maclean, P.D., 82 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) genotypes, 64, 65 Marino, L., 5 Mason, G.J., 164 Matthews, R.A., 273 Mcleod, P.J., 161, 166 Mcmahan, J., 146 Mech, L.D., 167–169 Memory episodic, 77 Menzel, E., 34, 36, 41 Merker, B.H., 61, 82 Mind, 1-4, 6, 9, 11, 18, 20, 26, 29, 34, 44, 45, 54, 57, 77, 78, 80, 91, 92, 100, 104, 110, 123, 126, 140, 141, 145, 153, 155, 157-160, 170, 178-180, 206, 214, 222-224, 241, 251, 257, 280 - 282Moore, B., 161 Moral responsibility action-inaction distinction, 121, 122 individual vs. collective, 122 Moral status (worth) capacity-oriented approach, 192 human moral exceptionalism, 279, 282 relational approach, 192, 193 virtue approach, 192, 193

Morgan, L., 111 Morgan's canon, 35, 78, 81, 92, 111

Ν

Nagel, T., 201 National Institutes of Health (NIH (US)) NIH's moratorium, 207-209, 212 National Primate Resource Center, 241 Nature-nurture, 35, 156 Natural vs. unnatural, 126 Neoceti, 178 Nestler, E., 275 Neural correlates, 77, 82, 84-89, 226, 232 Neuroanatomy amygdala, 61 anterior cingulate cortex, 21 avian dorsal pallium, 21 cerebral cortex, 19, 21, 25 forebrain, 25, 61 gyrencephalic, 277, 292 hippocampus, 62 insular cortex, 179 limbic system, 82 lissencephalic, 277, 292 medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), 87, 89 mesocortical dopamine pathway, 84, 87 mesolimbic dopamine pathway, 83-85 middle cerebral artery (MCA), 276 neocortex, 25, 28, 82 nucleus accumbens, 83-85, 87 paralimbic regions, 179 prefrontal cortex, 93, 240 somatomotor cortex, 21 telencephalon dorsomedial, 61 temporal operculum, 179 thalamocortical (thalamus-to-cortex) complex, 21 ventral tegmental area, 83 Neurobiology, 27, 154, 155 Neurocultural, 170 Neuroeconomics, 153, 154, 164 Neuroethics, 1-11, 73-94, 152 Neuroimmunology, 154 Neurons cortical, 240 Von Economo neuron, 179 spindle cells, 179 Neuroscience affective, 154, 155, 158 applied, 240 basic, 240

behavioral, 154, 155, 162, 164 cognitive, 154, 155, 240 comparative, 100-102, 109, 228 endocrinology, 154 pop-, 152, 155, 160 social, 154, 155, 158, 165, 170 Neurosemiotics, 154 Neurotypicalism ableism, 107, 111 Nissen, H., 41 NMDA channel blockers, 276 Nociception (nociceptors) nocifensive reflexes, 60 noxious stimuli, 19, 20, 24, 26, 27, 29, 103-105 Nonhuman primates (NHPs), 2, 6, 8, 10, 35, 41, 56, 60, 144, 206-208, 211, 215, 238-251, 273, 274, 277, 281, 289, 293, 295 Nonideal theory, 6, 192, 198, 200, 201, 203 The Non-identity problem, 142 Non-sentient, 209-211 No-unnecessary-harm condition, 248 Nozick, R., 196 Nuremberg Code, 256

0

O'Neill, W., 161 Oppression (domination), 107–108 Order cetaceans mysticeti, 178 odontoceti delphinids, 178 monodontids, 178 phocoenids, 178 physeterids, 178 platanistids, 178 ziphids, 178

Р

Palacios-González, C., 212 Palmer, C., 142 Panksepp, J., 76, 77, 82, 90, 158 Panpsychism, 223, 224 Pavlov, I., 152 People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals (PeTA), 294 Perfectionism, 144 Performing Animal Welfare Society, 185 Persons respect for, 260 Philosophers of Biology, 215 Piaget, J., 153 Pinker, S., 166 Precautionary principle, 8, 110-112, 226, 228, 229, 231 Primate(s), 34, 38, 41, 43-45, 56, 153, 160, 165, 166, 170, 171, 179, 207, 213, 215, 238, 277, 280 Primatology, 42, 169, 280 The Principles of Humane Experimental Techniaue Burch, R., 210, 261 Russell, W., 210, 261 Principles of Neural Science, 222 Problem of other minds, 18, 104, 110, 222-224 Proposition 12 (California), 139 Prospection autobiographical, 75, 77-80, 88, 91 intuitive, 75-77, 79, 80, 83-85, 90-94 nonconscious, 76 Psychology comparative, 1, 3, 9, 109, 111, 156, 157, 170 experimental, 41, 45, 152, 157 gestaltism, 152 Psychophysiology, 154, 164 Publication bias, 274, 278

R

Rachels, J., 198, 199 Rationality, 198, 199, 260, 272, 279 Rawls, J., 195 Regan, T., 191, 195, 196, 198, 200, 203 Religions Christianity New Testament, 206 Hinduism, 206 Judaism Tanakh, 206 Reptiles, 3, 18, 22, 23, 25, 101, 110, 167, 170 Research harmful, 34, 210, 212, 279, 282 Rights animal the sentience position (non-ideal theory), 201, 202 species egalitarianism, 198, 202, 203 negative, 257, 258 positive, 257, 258 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 258 Robotic limb, 240

Robots, 3, 11, 18, 29, 30, 54, 280 Rodents mice knock-in/knock-out, 211 transgenic, 274 rats, 274, 292 Rogers, L.J., 101 Rollin, B.E., 6, 111, 135, 215 Rose, J.D., 25, 60, 106

S

Sanbonmatsu, J., 100, 112 Sandøe, P., 137, 145 Scala naturae Great Chain of Being, 209, 214 SCHEER report, 245-247 Schultz-Bergin, M., 137, 143, 144, 148 Scruton, R., 194 SeaWorld, 183 Sebo, J., 251 Sentience/sentient animal suffering, 7, 102-104, 120, 123, 124, 127 animal welfare, 8, 53 animal well-being, 7, 8 precautionary accounts of, 230 precise accounts of, 8, 224-227, 231 probabilistic approaches to, 228-230 Shanks, N., 273 Shelley, M., 206 Shriver, A., 8, 144, 145, 211 Singer, P., 100, 194-196 Skepticism, 4, 19, 40, 104, 223 Skinner, B.F., 152 Sneddon, L., 4, 27, 60, 104, 105, 112, 280 Social matrilineal, 182 Somerset v. Stewart, 257 Sovereignty bodily sovereignty, 9, 256-258 National sovereignty, 257 Space programs, 238 Species essentialism human nature, 215 Speciesism human supremacism (exceptionalism), 112, 165, 279, 282 Steinbock, B., 196 Steward, H., 108 Stewart, I., 166, 167 Strain, G., 85 Stress/distress chronic, 62, 183, 184, 242, 264

Stroke, 9, 197, 275–278, 281, 282, 287
Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable (STAIR), 276, 277
Subjects-of-a-life, 195, 196
Sundowner Report, 261

Т

Taï forest, 37–40 Taylor, S., 107 Theory of mind/mind reading, 77, 82, 100, 159 Thompson, P., 137 Thorndike, E., 152 Three Rs (replacement, reduction, refinement), 261 Tolman, E., 153 Tool use, 39, 44, 46, 56, 279 Tulving, E., 76, 77 Tye, M., 21, 25, 27

U

UK Animal Regulations Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 296 United States Marine Mammal Inventory Report, 183 US Animal Regulations Animal Welfare Act, 242 Health Research Extension Act, 261 Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC), 242, 296 Laboratory Animal Welfare Act, 261 US Meat Animal Research Center, 141 Utilitarianism cost/benefit analysis, 196, 296 harm benefit analysis (HBA), 296

V

Varner, G.E., 20, 224–226 Vertebrates, 4, 24–27, 56, 59, 60, 104, 105, 112, 156, 158, 160, 167, 208, 225, 226, 230, 261, 264, 280 Von Uexküll, J., 99 Vygotsky, L., 153

W

War Crimes Trials Nuremberg Trials, 258 Tokyo War Crimes Trial, 258 Weaver, S., 206 The Worthwhile-life condition, 248 Würbel, H., 213

Y

Yerkes, R., 153

Z

Zoosemiotics, 153, 162, 163